Five-Year Review Report

Fourth Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site EPA ID MTD980502777

Butte Silver Bow and Deer Lodge Counties, Montana

January 2016

Prepared by: United States Environmental Protection Agency Region 8 Denver, Colorado

Approved by:

Martin Hestmark

Assistant Regional Administrator Office of Ecosystems Protection and Remediation Date:

8/30/16

11

List of	Acronyms	•••••• v
Execut	ive Summary	vi
Five-Y	ear Review Summary Form	viii
1.0 Int	roduction	1
2.0 Site	chronology	2
3.0 Bac	kground	4
3.1	PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS	
3.2	SITE-WIDE LAND AND RESOURCE USE	
3.3	SITE-WIDE HISTORY OF CONTAMINATION	
3.4	SITE-WIDE INITIAL RESPONSE	
3.5	SITE-WIDE BASIS FOR TAKING ACTION	10
4.0 Fiv	e-Year Review Process	
4.1	Administrative Components	11
4.2	COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT	
4.3	INTERVIEWS AND COMMUNITY RESPONSES	
4.4	DOCUMENT REVIEW	20
5.0 OU	1: SSTOU	
5.1	DESCRIPTION	23
5.2	REMEDIAL ACTIONS	23
5.3	OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE	
5.4	PROGRESS SINCE THE PREVIOUS FYR	
5.5	DOCUMENT REVIEW	
5.6	DATA REVIEW	
5.7	SSTOU SITE INSPECTION	
5.8	TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT	
5.9 5.10	ISSUES AND RECOMMENDATIONS PROTECTIVENESS STATEMENT FOR SSTOU (OU 1)	
	3: BMFOU	
6.1	DESCRIPTION	
6.2	REMEDIAL ACTIONS	
6.3	OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE	
6.4 6.5	PROGRESS SINCE THE PREVIOUS FYR DOCUMENT REVIEW	
6.6	DOCOMENT REVIEW	
6.7	SITE INSPECTION	
6.8	TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT	
6.9	Issues and Recommendations	
6.10	PROTECTIVENESS STATEMENT FOR BMFOU (OU 3)	
7.0 OU	s 4 and 12: Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive OUs	
7.1	Description	
7.1	Remedial Actions	
7.3	OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE	

Table of Contents

7.4	PROGRESS SINCE THE PREVIOUS FYR	62
7.5	DOCUMENT REVIEW	63
7.6	DATA REVIEW	64
7.7	SITE INSPECTION	69
7.8	TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT	69
7.9	Issues and Recommendations	70
7.10	PROTECTIVENESS STATEMENT FOR WARM SPRINGS PONDS ACTIVE AND INAC (OU 4 AND OU 12)	
8.0 OU	7: Rocker OU	72
8.1	DESCRIPTION	72
8.2	Remedial Actions	73
8.3	OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE	75
8.4	PROGRESS SINCE THE PREVIOUS FYR	76
8.5	DOCUMENT REVIEW	77
8.6	DATA REVIEW	78
8.7	SITE INSPECTION	83
8.8	TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT	83
8.9	Issues and Recommendations	85
8.10	PROTECTIVENESS STATEMENT FOR ROCKER OU (OU 7)	86
9.0 OU	8: BPSOU	87
9.1	DESCRIPTION	
9.2	Remedial Actions	
9.3	OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE	
9.4	PROGRESS SINCE THE PREVIOUS FYR	96
9.5	DOCUMENT REVIEW	
9.6	DATA REVIEW	
9.7	SITE INSPECTION	108
9.8	TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT	109
9.9	Issues and Recommendations	112
9.10	PROTECTIVENESS STATEMENT FOR BPSOU (OU 8)	113
10.0 Ne	xt Review	113
List of A	ppendices	
	x A: List of Documents Reviewed	A-1
Appendi	x B: Site Inspection Checklists	B-1
Appendi	x C: Photographs from Site Inspection Visit	C-1
	x D: ARARs	
••	x E: BMFOU Maps and Data Tables	
	x E: Warm Springs Ponds Montitoring	
	x G: Rocker OU Data and IC information	
	x H: BPSOU Maps and Supplemental Information	
Appendi	x I: Press Notice	I-1
Appendi	x J: Interview Forms and Community Correspondence	J-1

List of Tables

Table 1. Site OUs	2
Table 2. Chronology of Site Events	3
Table 3. Site-Wide History of Contamination	9
Table 4. PRPs by OU	10
Table 5. COCs and Media Exposure Concerns	11
Table 6. Summary of Community Involvement Activities	13
Table 7. Tailings and Impacted Soil Removal Goals	25
Table 8. Progress on SSTOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR	29
Table 9. Reach K, L, R, S and T Verification Sample Summary	
Table 10. Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues	
Table 11. Progress on BMFOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR	47
Table 12. BMFOU Institutional Control (IC) Summary Table	
Table 13. Berkeley Pit Filling Model Updates	52
Table 14. Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues	56
Table 15. Pond 2 Discharge Standards	62
Table 16. Progress on Recommendations from the 2011 FYR	63
Table 17. Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues	70
Table 18. Progress on Recommendations from the 2011 FYR	76
Table 19. Rocker OU Institutional Controls (ICs)	
Table 20. Comparison of Dissolved Arsenic in Well RH-44 Versus Surface Water	
Table 21. Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues	
Table 22. Soil, Dust and Vapor Action Levels	
Table 23. BPSOU Groundwater MCLs outside Technical Impracticability Zone	
Table 24. Progress on BPSOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR	
Table 25. BPSOU Institutional Control (IC) Summary Table	
Table 26. Summary of Residential Abatement Projects Completed from 2010 to 2014	
Table 27. Summary of Technical Impracticability Zone Perimeter Well BT-98-02 Results S	
2007 (µg/L)	
Table 28. Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues	
Table D-1. Previous and Current ARARs for Groundwater COCs	
Table D-2. Previous and Current ARARs for Surface Water COCs	
Table E-1. Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2010 Flow Totals	
Table E-2. Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2011 Flow Totals	
Table E-3. Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2012 Flow Totals	
Table E-4. Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2013 Flow Totals	
Table E-5. Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2014 Flow Totals	
Table E-6. Birds observed and Bird Fatalities Recorded at the Berkeley Pit (2010-2014)	
Table G-1. Mean Arsenic Concentrations by Year (Select Wells)	G-1

List of Figures

Figure 2. Detailed Site Map	8
Figure 3. SSTOU Subareas	26
Figure 4. BMFOU Features	43
Figure 5. WSPOU Site Plan	
Figure 6. WSPOU Daily Metals Monitoring	64
Figure 7. WSPOU pH Monitoring	65
Figure 8. Monthly Compliance Monitoring	66
Figure 9. Pond 2 Operating Elevations	67
Figure 10. Pond 3 Operating Elevations	68
Figure 11. Rocker Features	82
Figure 12. BPSOU Features	89
Figure 13. Summary of Blood Tests Resulting in Exceedance of Lead Reference Levels	103
Figure 14. Percent of Blood Tests Resulting in Exceedance of Lead Reference Levels	104
Figure E-1. BMFOU Three Camp System	E-7
Figure E-2. Potentiometric Map for the East Camp Bedrock Aquifer	E-8
Figure E-3. BMFOU Monitoring Well Locations West Camp and Outer Camp	E-9
Figure E-4. BMFOU Monitoring Well Locations East Camp Bedrock	. E-10
Figure E-5. BMFOU Monitoring Well Locations East Camp Alluvial	. E-11
Figure E-6. Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area	. E-12
Figure G-1. Wells with Arsenic Concentrations Greater than 10 µg/L since First Quarter 20	11
(source: 2014 ESD)	
Figure G-2. Rocker OU Controlled Groundwater Area	G-4
Figure G-3. Rocker OU Groundwater Closure Area	G-5
Figure G-4. Rocker OU Water Table Contour Map – Deep Alluvial Unit	G-6
Figure G-5. Rocker OU Water Table Contour Map - Shallow Alluvial Unit	G-7
Figure H-1. Butte Treatment Lagoon Sampling Locations	H-2
Figure H-2. BPSOU and BMFOU Water Collection Treatment System Flow Diagram	H-3
Figure H-3. Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area	
Figure H-4. Clark Tailings Controlled Groundwater Area	H-5
Figure H-5. BPSOU Groundwater Technical Impracticability Zone	H-6

List of Acronyms

ACMC ARAR	Anaconda Copper Mining Company Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirement
BMFOU	Berkeley Pit/Mine Flooding Operable Unit
BMP	Best Management Practices BPSOU
	Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit
BRES	Butte Reclamation Evaluation System
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as
	amended
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
COC	Contaminant of Concern
CTEC	Citizens Technical Environmental Committee
DNRC	Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation EPA
	United States Environmental Protection Agency
ESD	Explanation of Significant Differences
FYR	Five-Year Review
HSB	Horseshoe Bend
IC	Institutional Control
MCL	Maximum Contaminant Level
MDEQ	Montana Department of Environmental Quality
MTFWP	Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks
µg/dL	microgram per deciliter
μg/L	microgram per liter
μg/m ³	microgram per meter cubed
mg/kg	milligram per kilogram
mg/L	milligram per liter
NCP	National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan NPL
	National Priorities List
O&M	Operation and Maintenance
OU	Operable Unit
PRP	Potentially Responsible Party
RAO	Remedial Action Objective
RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976
RI/FS	Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study RMAP
	Residential Metals Abatement Program
ROD	Record of Decision
RPM	Remedial Project Manager SSTOU
TTD C	Streamside Tailings Operable Unit
TBC	To-Be-Considered
UAO	Unilateral Administrative Order WSPOUs
	Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units

Executive Summary

The Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund site (the Site) is a Superfund site in the upper Clark Fork River Basin, Silver Bow and Deer Lodge Counties, Montana. The Site includes approximately 26 miles of stream and streamside habitat, the urban centers of Butte and Walkerville, rural areas outside of Butte, the Berkeley Pit and the underground mine workings of the historic Butte Mining District, and the treatment/settling lagoons at the Warm Springs Ponds.

Historical mining activities in Butte, Montana, and the surrounding areas generated a variety of wastes. Mining waste disposal practices and mining activities contaminated soil, sediment, groundwater and surface water with arsenic and other heavy metals, leaving the natural landscape of the area void of vegetation and wildlife.

The selected remedies to date involve a variety of actions including removal of tailings and contaminated soils and sediment, treatment of contaminated areas, construction of water treatment plant and treatment of contaminated surface water, capping of contaminated areas, revegetation, installation of stormwater controls, groundwater capture and treatment, an alternative water supply system for the community of Rocker, institutional controls and a residential metals abatement program (RMAP) that provides a comprehensive cleanup of residential areas.

The triggering action for the Five-Year Review (FYR) was the signing of the previous FYR on June 27, 2011. The outstanding or ongoing issues and recommendations identified in that document will be monitored, and are expected to be addressed as the remedial actions are completed and final operation and maintenance plans are developed.

The remedy at SSTOU (OU 1) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

The remedy at BMFOU (OU 3) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks are being controlled.

The interim remedy at Warm Springs Pond Active OU (OU 4) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks. A final remedy will be issued.

The interim remedy at Warm Springs Ponds Inactive OU (OU 12) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks. A final remedy will be issued.

A protectiveness determination of the remedy at the Rocker OU (OU 7) cannot be made at this time until further information is obtained. Further information will be obtained by taking the following actions: completion of the updated conceptual site model and further investigation of private domestic area wells. It is expected that these actions will take approximately 18 months to complete, at which time a protectiveness determination will be made.

The remedy at BPSOU (OU 8) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks are being controlled.

Five-Year Review Summary Form

SITE IDENTIFICATION						
Site Name: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area						
EPA ID: MTD98	0502777					
Region: 8	State: MT	City/County: Butte/ Silver Bow				
		SITE STATUS				
NPL Status: Final						
Multiple OUs? Yes	Has t No	the site achieved construction completion?				
	R	EVIEW STATUS				
Lead agency: EPA						
Author name: Sara Sp from Ryan Burdge and	-	ne and Kristine Edwards with contractor support				
Author affiliation: EP	PA Region 8 and	Skeo Solutions				
Review period: 09/11	/2014 – 12/15/20	015				
Date of site inspection: 10/01/2014 – 10/02/2014						
Type of review: Statutory						
Review number: 4						
Triggering action date: 06/27/2011						
Due date (five years a	Due date (five years after triggering action date): 06/27/2016					

Five-Year Review Summary Form (continued)

Issues/Recommendations

OU(s) without Issues/Recommendations Identified in the Five-Year Review: None

Issues and Recommendations Identified in the Five-Year Review:

OU(s): SSTOU	Issue Category: Institutional Controls			
(OU 1)	U 1) Issue: An operation and maintenance plan has been subrapproved.			
	Recommendation plan.	n: Finalize and app	rove the operation a	and maintenance
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	State	EPA	9/30/2017

OU(s): SSTOU	Issue Category: Institutional Controls			
(OU 1)	Issue: Institutional controls are not yet implemented.			
	Recommendation: Develop and implement an institutional controls plan.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	State	EPA	9/30/2017

OU(s): SSTOU	Issue Category: Remedy Performance				
(OU 1)	1) Issue: Areas of vegetation failure remain.				
	Recommendation: Identify and remove all remaining hot spots.				
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date	
No	Yes	State	EPA	9/30/2017	

OU(s): SSTOU	Issue Category: I	Remedy Performa	nce		
(OU 1) Issue: The interaction between groundwater and surface water characterized.			e water is not fully		
	Recommendation: Conduct a more detailed assessment of how metal COC concentrations in groundwater influence metal COC concentrations in surface water.				
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date	
No	Yes	State	EPA	9/30/2017	

OU(s): SSTOU	Issue Category: Changed Site Conditions			
(OU 1)	Issue: The ecological risk assessment did not consider the current now present at remediated areas.			
	Recommendation: Evaluate risk to ecological receptors.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	State	EPA	9/30/2017

OU(s): BMFOU	Issue Category: Changed Site Conditions			
(OU 3)	Issue: Rotational sindicates there will		eley Pit and analysis	
	Recommendation: Complete implementation of the recommendations required by EPA regarding the 2014 slope stability study.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2017

OU(s): BMFOU	Issue Category: Monitoring			
(OU 3)	 Issue: Sampling of the water in the Berkeley Pit has been limited due to safety concerns of physically being on the surface of the water. Recommendation: Implement current alternatives that are being developed. 			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2017

OU(s): BMFOU	Issue Category: Changed Site ConditionsIssue: A portion of the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan has been modified due to safety concerns related to slope stability at the Berkeley Pit.Recommendation: After implementing recommendations required by EPA regarding the 2104 slope stability study, evaluate the remedy to determine any needed changes to the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan.			
(OU 3)				
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2019

OU(s): Warm	Issue Category: Remedy Performance			
Springs Ponds (OUs 4 and 12)	Issue: Arsenic sur	Issue: Arsenic surface water standard seasonally exceeded in effluent.		
(000 1 4.14 12)	Recommendation: Complete arsenic treatment optimization studies, and then determine if meeting RAOs is feasible.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA	9/30/2017

OU(s): Warm				
Springs Ponds (OUs 4 and 12)	Issue: New exposure pathways for wildlife/aquatic life may now be present.			
	Recommendation: Evaluate contaminant pathways.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	EPA	EPA	9/30/2017

OU(s): Rocker	Issue Category: Remedy Performance			
(OU 7)	Issue: There appears to be a gap in the monitoring network southwest of RH-05. In addition, during the most recent sampling event, arsenic was detected in tertiary well RH-72 at 230 μ g/L, significantly exceeding the arsenic cleanup standard of 10 μ g/L.			
	Recommendation: Upon completion of the conceptual site model, update, develop and review the conceptual site model to determine what additional investigation and/or action for this area is warranted to refine groundwater flow direction and to determine the extent of the plume in the southwest direction.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2016

OU(s): Rocker	Issue Category: Remedy Performance			
(OU 7)	Issue: Arsenic contamination in the alluvium beneath the remediated area appears to be a continuing source of arsenic to the groundwater.			
	Recommendation: Evaluate the situation and determine any needed updates to the selected remedy.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2016

OU(s): Rocker	Issue Category: Remedy Performance			
(OU 7)	Issue: A local private well has arsenic concentrations, at times, above the 10 μ g/L standard.			
	Recommendation: Determine whether or not this well and all other domestic wells in the area meet drinking water standards and are not having an effect on the groundwater plume.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
Yes	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2016

OU(s): Rocker	Issue Category: Monitoring			
(OU 7)	Issue: There is not a complete understanding of how the shallow groundwater interacts with surface water in Silver Bow Creek.			
	Recommendation: Update, develop and review the conceptual site model to determine the potential impact on Silver Bow Creek.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2016

OU(s): BPSOU	Issue Category: Monitoring			
(OU 8)		Issue: Annual reports on the Butte Reclamation Evaluation System were limited in their analysis and summary.		
	Recommendation: Provide a Butte Reclamation Evaluation System annual report that is timely, has adequate tracking to maintain the caps, performs required O&M and meets the program schedule.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	12/31/2016

OU(s): BPSOU	Issue Category: Remedy Performance Issue: Community members have information about site areas where damage from trespassing and stormwater occur without a centralized way to report this information.			
(OU 8)				
	Recommendation: Establish a means for community members to report illegal trespassing, significant stormwater damage and stormwater issues related to Superfund.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2018

OU(s): BPSOU	Issue Category: Remedy Performance			
(OU 8)	Issue: The community involvement process highlighted that there is a fair amount of concern in the community regarding remedy implementation and maintenance at BPSOU.			
	Recommendation: Provide a written response to issues raised by community members concerning the alluvial aquifer groundwater rate of flow, the stability of the contaminated plume in the alluvial aquifer, and the functioning of the subdrain capture system.			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRP	EPA/MDEQ	9/30/2017

Protectiveness Statement(s)

<i>Operable Unit:</i> SSTOU (OU 1)	<i>Protectiveness Determination:</i> Will be Protective	Addendum Due Date (if applicable): Click here to enter date.
---------------------------------------	--	--

Protectiveness Statement:

The remedy at SSTOU (OU 1) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

<i>Operable Unit:</i> BMFOU (OU 3)		
	(OU 3) is expected to be protective of letion. In the interim, exposure pathwa	

Operable Unit:		Protectiveness Determination:	Addendum Due Date
Warm Springs	Ponds	Will be Protective	(if applicable):
Active (OU 4)			Click here to enter date.

Protectiveness Statement:

The remedy at Warm Springs Ponds Active OU (OU 4) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

Operable Unit:	
Rocker OU (OU	7)

Protectiveness Determination: Protectiveness Deferred

Addendum Due Date (*if applicable*): 9/30/2017

Protectiveness Statement:

A protectiveness determination of the remedy at the Rocker OU (OU 7) cannot be made at this time until further information is obtained. Further information will be obtained by taking the following actions: completion of the updated conceptual site model and further investigation of private domestic area wells. It is expected that these actions will take approximately 18 months to complete, at which time a protectiveness determination will be made.

Operable Unit: BPSOU (OU 8)	<i>Protectiveness Determination:</i> Will be Protective	Addendum Due Date (if applicable): Click here to enter date.		
Protectiveness Statement:				

The remedy at BPSOU (OU 8) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks are being controlled.

Operable Unit:		Protectiveness Determination:	Addendum Due Date
Warm Springs	Ponds	Will be Protective	(if applicable):
Inactive (OU 12)			Click here to enter date.

Protectiveness Statement:

The remedy at Warm Springs Ponds Inactive OU (OU 12) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

Fourth Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site

1.0 Introduction

The purpose of a five-year review (FYR) is to evaluate the implementation and performance of a remedy in order to determine if the remedy is or will be protective of human health and the environment. FYR reports document FYR methods, findings and conclusions. In addition, FYR reports identify issues found during the review, if any, and document recommendations to address them.

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) prepares FYRs pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act as amended (CERCLA) Section 121 and the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan (NCP). CERCLA Section 121 states:

If the President selects a remedial action that results in any hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants remaining at the site, the President shall review such remedial action no less often than each 5 years after the initiation of such remedial action to assure that human health and the environment are being protected by the remedial action being implemented. In addition, if upon such review it is the judgment of the President that action is appropriate at such site in accordance with section [104] or [106], the President shall take or require such action. The President shall report to the Congress a list of facilities for which such review is required, the results of all such reviews, and any actions taken as a result of such reviews.

EPA interpreted this requirement further in the NCP, 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Section 300.430(f)(4)(ii), which states:

If a remedial action is selected that results in hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants remaining at the site above levels that allow for unlimited use and unrestricted exposure, the lead agency shall review such action no less often than every five years after initiation of the selected remedial action.

EPA Region 8 and Skeo Solutions, an EPA Region 8 contractor, conducted the FYR and prepared this report regarding the remedy implemented at the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund site (the Site) in Silver Bow and Deer Lodge Counties, Montana. EPA's contractor conducted this FYR from September 2014 to September 2015. EPA is the lead agency for overseeing and enforcing the cleanup at the Site with the exception of the Streamside Tailings Operable Unit (SSTOU). The Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) is the support agency representing the State of Montana for all OUs except the SSTOU, where it is the lead agency. EPA is responsible for conducting the site-wide FYR. Potentially responsible parties (PRPs) finance and implement cleanup at the Site, with the exception of the Streamside Tailings OU (SSTOU) where MDEQ is implementing the remedy using funds provided by the

PRP. MDEQ has reviewed all supporting documentation for this report and provided input to EPA during the FYR process.

This is the fourth FYR for the Site. The triggering action for this statutory review is the previous FYR. The FYR is required due to the fact that hazardous substances, pollutants or contaminants remain at the Site above levels that allow for unlimited use and unrestricted exposure. The Site currently consists of seven operable units (OUs).¹ This FYR report addresses six site OUs (Table 1).²

OU	OU Name	Included in	Notes
Number		FYR?	
1	Streamside Tailings OU (SSTOU) (State of	Yes	None
	Montana lead)		
3	Berkeley Pit/Mine Flooding OU (BMFOU)	Yes	None
4	Warm Springs Ponds Active OU	Yes	None
7	Rocker Timber Framing and Treating Plant OU	Yes	None
	(Rocker OU)		
8	Butte Priority Soils OU (BPSOU)	Yes	Includes previously separate
			OUs 2, 5, 6, 10 and 11
12	Warm Springs Ponds Inactive OU	Yes	None
13	West Side Soils OU	No	In the planning stages for the
			remedial
			investigation/feasibility
			study (RI/FS) stage

Table 1. Site OUs

Sections 1 through 4 provide site-wide overviews of information. Starting with Section 5, OU-specific information is provided as well as information supporting the technical assessment for each OU.

2.0 Site Chronology

Table 2 lists the dates of important events for the Site.

Table 2. Chronology of Site Events

Event	Date
Placer gold discovered in Silver Bow Creek	1864
Large-scale underground mining in Butte	1875-1955
Major smelting period in Butte	1879-1900
Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant operates	1909-1977
Open-pit mining at Berkeley Pit began	1955
Anaconda Copper Mining Company (ACMC) merged with Atlantic Richfield Company	1977
with a full assumption of liability	
Discovery of mining-related contamination along Silver Bow Creek between Butte and	September 1, 1979
Warm Springs, Montana	

¹ The Clark Fork River OU (OU 9) became part of the Clark Fork River Superfund site.

 2 EPA has formally deferred Superfund action at an additional operable unit, the Active Mining Area, which is regulated by MDEQ pursuant to an active mine permit.

Event	Date
Mining at the Berkeley Pit ceased; the underground dewatering pumps in the Kelley mine	1982
were shut off; underground workings and Berkeley Pit began flooding with groundwater	
EPA proposed Silver Bow Creek site (original portion) for listing on Superfund program's	December 30, 1982
National Priorities List (NPL)	
Mining at the Continental Pit ceased; water from the Horseshoe Bend (HSB) seep was	1983
diverted into Berkeley Pit	
EPA adds Silver Bow Creek site (original portion) to NPL	September 8, 1983
Mining resumed in Continental Pit by Montana Resources; operations included heap	1986
leaching of old Berkeley Pit waste rock	
EPA issued Silver Bow Creek (original portion) site-wide Phase I Remedial Investigation	January 1987
Final Report	-
Butte Area portion added to Silver Bow Creek site by Federal Register Notice	July 22, 1987
Walkerville time-critical removal action completed	February 1988
MDEQ directed cleanup of 1,000 cubic yards of contaminated soil at Rocker OU	1989
Timber Butte time-critical removal action completed	
West Camp non-time-critical removal action completed	
EPA completed RI/FS for Warm Springs Ponds Active Area OU4	
EPA issued Administrative Order on Consent for Mill-Willow Bypass removal action at	June 1990
Warm Springs Ponds	
EPA issued Interim Record of Decision (ROD) for Warm Springs Ponds Active Area OU4	September 28, 1990
BPSOU Soils time-critical removal action completed	1991
EPA issued Explanation of Significant Differences (ESD) for Warm Springs Ponds Active	June 24, 1991
Area OU. Errata Sheets for the ESD were issued on September 1991 and July 1992.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
PRP completed RI/FS for Rocker OU	August 2, 1991
EPA issued Unilateral Administrative Order for Warm Springs Ponds Active AreaOU	September 25, 1991
PRP completed RI/FS for the SSTOU	September 30, 1991
Colorado Smelter time-critical removal action completed	1992
Anselmo Mine Yard and Late Acquisition/Silver Hill time-critical removal action	1772
completed	
Lower Area One non-time-critical removal action completed	
Manganese time-critical removal action completed	
EPA issued Interim ROD for Warm Springs Ponds Inactive Area OU	June 30, 1992
PRP began remedial action for Warm Springs Ponds Active OU	
EPA issued Unilateral Administrative Order for Warm Springs Ponds Inactive AreaOU	June 17, 1993
ROD implementation	
Residential/source areas removal action: many residential yards and waste rock dumps	1994
throughout Butte and Walkerville have been or are being addressed	
PRP began remedial action for Warm Springs Ponds Inactive OU	May 18, 1994
PRP completed RI/FS for BMFOU in 1994; EPA issued a ROD for BMFOU	September 29, 1994
SSTOU RI/FS completed – 1995; EPA issued a ROD for SSTOU	November 29, 1995
Rocker OU RI/FS completed 1995; EPA issued a ROD for Rocker OU	December 22, 1995
HSB water diverted away from the Berkeley Pit and pumped up to the Yankee Doodle	1996
Tailings Pond	1770
Stormwater time-critical removal action began and continued until the BPSOU ROD was	1997
issued. This included the construction of catch basins and the reclamation of the Alice Pit	1771
Montana Resources ceased heap leaching and started pumping from the Berkeley Pit water	1998
to the precipitation plant to extract copper from the water	1))0
Old Butte Landfill/Clark Mill Tailings removal and Resource Conservation and Recovery	
Act action completed	
EPA issued ESD for SSTOU	August 31, 1998
The United States issued Consent Decree for SSTOU, which provided for implementation	November 13, 1998
of the 1996 SSTOU ROD as modified by 1998 ESD	110 veniber 15, 1990

Event	Date
Railroad beds time-critical removal action addressing contaminated soil on railroad beds	1999
and rail yards throughout Butte hills began	
Montana Resources temporarily ceased mining in Butte; HSB water started flowing into	2000
the Berkeley Pit, triggering planning and construction of the HSB water treatment plant	
EPA issued First FYR, with emphasis on Warm Springs Ponds OUs	March 23, 2000
Walkerville residential removal action	2000-2001
The United States issued Consent Decree for Rocker OU	November 7, 2000
EPA issued ESD for BMFOU	March 2002
The United States issued Consent Decree for BMFOU	August 14, 2002
PRP began construction of HSB water treatment plant	2002-2003
Montana Resources resumed mining; HSB water treatment plant started operating; treated	2003
HSB water recycled and used in mine operations	
Montana Resources resumed pumping Berkeley Pit water to the precipitation plant for	2004
copper extraction	
Railroad Beds time-critical removal action at BPSOU completed	2004
EPA issued Second FYR, with emphasis on Warm Springs Ponds OUs	September 30, 2005
PRP completed RI/FS for BPSOU	September 21, 2006
EPA issued a ROD for BPSOU	
HSB water treatment plant performance test conducted	November 2007
Residential Metals Abatement Program approved	March 2010
EPA issued Third FYR	June 27, 2011
EPA issued ESD for BPSOU	July 18, 2011
EPA issued Unilateral Administrative Order for remedy implementation at BPSOU	July 21, 2011
2010 Groundwater Data Analysis Report completed	February 2012
EPA issued a revised Community Involvement Plan for BPSOU	February 2013
EPA issued BPSOU Public Health Study Phase 1 Report	July 2014
EPA issues ESD for Rocker OU	September 30, 2014

3.0 Background

3.1 Physical Characteristics

Site-Wide

The Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund site (the Site) is one of four contiguous Superfund sites in the upper Clark Fork River Basin in southwestern Montana (Figure 1). The other sites are the Anaconda Smelter Superfund site, the Milltown reservoir/Clark Fork River Superfund site and the Montana Pole Treating Plant Superfund site. The Site covers about 85 square miles, including the entire length of the Silver Bow Creek and associated land contamination from Silver Bow Creek above the confluence with Blacktail Creek westward approximately 26 miles to the Warm Springs Ponds near Anaconda, Montana.³ The Site also includes the BerkeleyPit

³ EPA has called the surface area from Texas Avenue to the confluence with Blacktail Creek the "Metro Storm Drain" in prior Superfund removal and remedial documents and publications, including the 2006 Butte PrioritySoils Operable Unit Record of Decision (2006 BPSOU ROD) and the 2011 BPSOU ESD. MDEQ has requested that this document refer to this same area as Silver Bow Creek in light of the Montana Second Judicial District Court's order in Silver Bow Creek Headwaters Coalition v. State of Montana, DV-10-431 (August 17, 2015) regarding the appropriate name to be applied by the State for this area under state law. See Appendix J at page J-3. Reference to the area as "Silver Bow Creek" should not be construed as an EPA admission or determination on any procedural or substantive issue. The United States retains and reserves all its rights and authorities.

and the underground mine workings of the historic Butte Mining District, the urban centers of Butte and Walkerville, rural areas outside of Butte, Silver Bow Creek and streamside habitat, and the treatment/settling lagoons at the Warm Springs Ponds.

The landscape surrounding the Site is characterized by high mountain peaks reaching elevations above 10,000 feet. Surface water and groundwater resources receive the most recharge in the spring and early summer due to melting mountain snow pack and spring rains.

Historically, Silver Bow Creek began at the Continental Divide and flowed through the area that is now the Berkeley Pit and the Montana Resources permitted mine area. Mining activity has permanently altered this uppermost reach of Silver Bow Creek. Currently, there is no surface water flow in the Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek, except during storm runoff or snowmelt conditions. Downstream of Butte, Silver Bow Creek flows west into Durant Canyon. Within the canyon, the creek turns northward and enters the Southern Deer Lodge Valley and continues to flow for another 6.5 miles before entering the Warm Springs Ponds.

OU 1: Streamside Tailings OU (SSTOU)

The SSTOU surface area consists of about 26 linear miles of Silver Bow Creek and fluvially deposited tailings along the Creek, from just outside of Butte to the Warm Springs Ponds. It also includes associated groundwater contamination. Historically, the creek was used to impound smelter tailings and convey wastes out of Butte. Mining wastes carried from Butte were deposited in the floodplain, impacting water quality throughout Silver Bow Creek.

OU 3: Berkeley Pit/Mine Flooding (BMFOU)

The Berkeley Pit is BMFOU's major feature. It is 1,780 feet deep and encompasses 675 acres. The BMFOU consists of contaminated water in the Berkeley Pit, contaminated water in thousands of miles of associated underground mine workings (lying beneath the City of Butte and Town of Walkerville, as well as beneath the Montana Resources permitted active mine area), and other contaminated inflow to BMFOU. Active mining continues in the Continental Pit nearby, in Montana Resources' permitted area. The active mining operations use treated site water, which affects the water balance in the BMFOU.⁴

OUs 4 and 12: Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive OUs

The Warm Springs Ponds surface area include three ponds located at the downstream end of the Site that treat Silver Bow Creek water before discharge to Clark Fork. The Warm Springs Ponds OUs also include associated groundwater contamination and the nearby Mill-Willow Bypass. They cover about 2,500 acres.

OU 7: Rocker Timber Treating and Framing OU

The Rocker OU surface area covers approximately 16 acres and is located south of U.S. Interstate 15/90 near Rocker, Montana, approximately 3 miles west of Butte (Figure 2). It includes soil and groundwater contamination associated with the former Rocker Timber Framing and Treating Plant. The surface boundary of the Rocker OU adjoins the SSTOU on one side.

OU 8: Butte Priority Soils OU (BPSOU)

⁴ An active hardrock mining permit issued by MDEQ addresses reclamation of the active mining operations.

The BPSOU surface area covers a 5-square-mile area, and encompasses the Town of Walkerville and a large portion of the City of Butte, as well as associated alluvial aquifer contamination. It is located a few miles west of the Continental Divide at an elevation range of approximately 5,400 to 6,400 feet above mean sea level. The BPSOU is centered on Butte Hill, the location of the historic Butte Mining District.

Figure 1. Site Location Map



Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site.

Figure 2. Detailed Site Map



Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site. This map was amended from Silver Bow Creek/ Butte Soils Five Year Review 2011. CH2MHill

3.2 Site-Wide Land and Resource Use

The Site spans diverse land uses and resources. Uptown Butte, Walkerville, Rocker, and Ramsay include neighborhoods, commercial areas and industrial districts. The Site also encompasses the entire active mining area east of the Butte Hill. West and north of Butte, the Site includes stream and streamside habitat along the length of Silver Bow Creek between Butte and its confluence with Warm Springs Creek. Land in the Silver Bow Creek corridor is mostly privately owned and consists of sparsely populated open land used primarily for agriculture. The Warm Springs Ponds offer habitat for migrating waterfowl and breeding areas for dozens of songbird and osprey. The Warm Springs Ponds area is a designated wildlife management area administered by the Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks.

3.3 Site-Wide History of Contamination

Mining activities occurred in Butte, Montana, and the surrounding areas for over 100 years. Silver milling, as well as operation of copper and zinc smelters, generated a variety of wastes. By the late 1880s, Butte became one of the nation's prominent copper mining centers. Mining crews disposed of wastes generated from mining, milling and smelting operations directly into Silver Bow Creek and throughout the Butte Hill area. These waste disposal practices contaminated soil, sediment, groundwater and surface water with arsenic and heavy metals, leaving the natural landscape of the area void of vegetation and wildlife. Mining crews conducted waste disposal in this manner at the Site until the early 1970s. The largest flood in the area's history, which occurred in 1908, also contributed to the extensive dispersion of contaminants in the Creek and Clark Fork River from the cities of Butte to Milltown. Table 3 provides additional details.

	v v
1870	Dozens of silver and copper mining claims in place, leading to construction of mines and mills as well as smelters that refined arsenic-laden copper ores.
1881	Area has over 300 active copper mines, at least 10 silver mines, five smelters and over 4,000 posted claims.
1910	Butte was the largest producer of copper in North America. Large quantities of mine waste and tailings disposed of in ponds or dumped in Silver Bow Creek. Mining companies merged to form the Anaconda Copper Mining Company (Anaconda).
1920s	Milling and smelting in Butte continued; as Anaconda's copper smelting capacity grew, Butte became primarily a mining center. Butte's smelters and mills produced air emissions that contaminated yards and attics as well as large quantities of waste such as tailings and slag. Butte's mines also produced waste and overburden piles throughout Walkerville and Butte.
1955	Open pit mining began at the Berkeley Pit. All mining in Butte previously took place underground.
1964	Completion of Weed Concentrator (now the Montana Resources Concentrator) reduced the amount of ore sent to Anaconda. It also produced large quantities of waste in the active mining area and discharged large volumes of contaminated water to Silver Bow Creek above its confluence with Blacktail Creek.
1977	ARCO, now known as Atlantic Richfield Company (Atlantic Richfield), merged with ACMC. Open pit mining operations took place in Berkeley Pit until 1982 and in Continental Pit until 1983 when all mining operations were suspended.
1990s	Atlantic Richfield became a wholly-owned subsidiary that is part of the BP LLC collection of companies.

Table 3. Site-Wide History of Contamination

3.4 Site-Wide Initial Response

EPA designated the original Silver Bow Creek site as a Superfund site and listed it on the National Priorities List (NPL) in September 1983. Work began on a site-wide remedial investigation (RI) in 1984. Preliminary results indicated that upstream sources were partly responsible for the contamination observed in the creek. After a thorough analysis of the relationship between the two areas (Butte and Silver Bow Creek), EPA concluded that they should be treated as one site under CERCLA. EPA subsequently modified the existing Silver Bow Creek Site to include the Butte Area and the formal name was changed to the "Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area" Superfund Site in 1987.

A variety of enforcement actions and agreements have been undertaken at the Site. Table 4 gives a basic breakdown of current PRPs by OU.⁵

Operable Unit	PRP
OU 1: SSTOU	Atlantic Richfield Company
OU 3: BMFOU	Atlantic Richfield Company
	Montana Resources Incorporated
	Montana Resources
	Dennis Washington ⁶
OUs 4 and 12: Warm Springs Ponds (Active and	Atlantic Richfield Company
Inactive Areas) OU	
OU 7: Rocker OU	Atlantic Richfield Company
OU 8: BPSOU	Atlantic Richfield Company
	Butte-Silver Bow County
	Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) Railway
	Company
	Union Pacific Railroad Company
	Inland Properties Incorporated
	Rarus Railroad/Patriot Railway Company ⁷

Table 4	DDDg	hr	ου
Table 4.	PKPS	Dy	UU

3.5 Site-Wide Basis for Taking Action

Screening studies and risk assessments since the early 1990s have identified contaminants of concern (COCs) and quantified human health and environmental risks from these COCs in solid media (including tailings, waste, sediment, soils and indoor dust), surface water and groundwater. Action levels were established for site COCs. Site COCs and corresponding media are presented in Table 5.

⁵ Throughout site documents, the PRPs are often referred to as respondents or settling defendants. The BPSOU has two groups of respondents/settling defendants: Group 1 and Group 2.

⁶ Asarco, Incorporated and AR Montana Corporation were also PRPs for this OU. Their respective liabilities for the BMFOU were addressed in a bankruptcy proceeding.

⁷ Other parties were also named as PRPs for BPSOU through general notice letters, including Montana Resources Incorporated.

COC	Solid Media	Groundwater	Surface Water
Aluminum			X
Arsenic	Х	Х	X
Cadmium		Х	X
Copper		Х	X
Iron			X
Lead	Х	Х	X
Mercury	Х	Х	X
Silver			X
Zinc		Х	X

Table 5. COCs and Media Exposure Concerns

For humans, primary exposure pathways at the Site include:

- Ingestion of surface soils (for residents, commercial workers and railroad workers).
- Ingestion of interior dust (for residents and commercial workers).
- Dermal exposure to surface water (for recreational visitors).
- Ingestion of surface water (for recreational visitors).
- Ingestion of alluvial groundwater was calculated although there are currently no exposures.

Assessments of ecological risks focused on aquatic habitat in Silver Bow Creek (terrestrial habitat is limited in the urban environment of the BPSOU and was not evaluated in an ecological risk assessment). Animals in the aquatic environment may be exposed to toxic levels of contamination in the following ways:

- Fish and benthic macroinvertebrates may be exposed by breathing or touching surface water and sediment and by ingestion of prey or sediment.
- Waterfowl may be exposed by direct ingestion of surface water and sediments or by ingestion of contaminated prey.

4.0 Five-Year Review Process

4.1 Administrative Components

EPA Region 8 initiated the FYR in September 2014. EPA remedial project manager (RPM) Sara Sparks led the EPA site review team, which also included EPA RPMs Kristine Edwards and Nikia Greene and contractor support provided to EPA by Skeo Solutions. In September 2014, EPA held a scoping call with the review team to discuss the Site and items of interest as they related to the protectiveness of the remedy currently in place. The review schedule established consisted of the following activities:

- Community notification
- Document review
- Data collection and review
- Site inspection
- Community interviews

- PRP and contractor interviews
- Stakeholder interviews
- FYR report development and review

A site visit for each of the OUs included in this FYR took place from September 29 to October 3, 2014. On September 30, 2014, Skeo Solutions staff visited the site repository at the Citizens' Technical Environmental Committee (CTEC) as part of the site inspection. Site-related documents were available on site and CTEC staff was present to assist in locating specific documents.

4.2 Community Involvement

Community involvement is an important and meaningful component of the activities at the Site. EPA is aware that the size and location of the various parts of the Site have a range of potential effects on community members. Community members are in a position to share information that may not otherwise come to light during a FYR process. EPA maintains and implements a community involvement plan for the Site, maintains an EPA Web page for the Site, works with CTEC, and participates in ensuring information is provided for the PitWatch.org website and periodic fact sheets.⁸ As part of this FYR, EPA informed the community that the FYR was taking place and encouraged individuals to contact EPA staff with information that may help make a determination regarding the protectiveness and effectiveness of the implemented remedies at the Site. Table 6 summarizes these activities. Public notices published in local papers are available in Appendix I. Multiple people were interviewed, or provided comments, to EPA regarding their opinions on current site conditions, problems or related concerns. Various perspectives and points are summarized in Section 4.3.

⁸ <u>www.pitwatch.org</u> is a website dedicated to providing the community information and news on the Berkeley Pit.

Date	Activity	
10/07/2014	EPA replied to community correspondence with information on the dates	
	for the FYR process	
10/15/2014	Press notices announcing the FYR and inviting community participation	
	were published in the Montana Standard and Butte Weekly (Appendix I)	
November 2014	EPA announced the start of the FYR and invited community participation	
	on the Site's Web page, <u>http://www2.epa.gov/region8/silver-bow-creek-</u>	
	<u>butte-area</u>	
October 2014 – December 2014	EPA conducted interviews, in person and via phone, with individuals	
11/13/2014	EPA replied to community correspondence regarding FYR concerns	
12/17/2014	EPA replied to community correspondence with information on the FYR	
	process	
01/09/2015	EPA replied to community correspondence regarding FYR concerns	
01/12/2015	EPA replied to community correspondence regarding community	
	involvement in the FYR	
01/21/2015	EPA replied to community correspondence regarding the status of the FYR	
01/26/2015	EPA replied to community correspondence regarding the FYR	
	(institutional controls and community involvement)	
05/05/2015	EPA was interviewed by the Montana Standard and provided details about	
	the FYR	
05/07/2015	CTEC held a meeting to solicit input from the community for the FYR	
05/13/2015	EPA provided an update on the FYR to Senator Tester's office staff	
June 2015	Press notices describing the FYR and again inviting community	
	participation were published in the Montana Standard and Butte Weekly	
	(Appendix I)	
06/29/2015	EPA met with community members at CTEC offices to discuss their	
	concerns about the Site	

Table 6. Summary of Community Involvement Activities

EPA will make the final FYR Report available to the public. EPA will place copies of the document in the designated site repositories: CTEC, 27 West Park Street in Butte, Montana; the Montana Tech library, 1300 West Park Street in Butte, Montana; and the EPA Records Center in Helena, Montana. Upon completion of the FYR, EPA will place public notices in the local newspapers to announce the availability of the final FYR report in the Site's document repositories and post a notice of availability on the EPA Silver Bow Creek/Butte area website.

4.3 Interviews and Community Responses

The FYR process included interviews with parties affected by the Site, including community members, the current landowners and regulatory agencies involved in or affected by site activities. The purpose was to document the perceived status of the Site and any perceived problems or successes with the phases of the remedy implemented to date. EPA reached out to site visit participants and an additional list of 10 local individuals. Not all of the individuals chose to participate in interviews. Some of the interviews took place during the week of the site inspection on September 30, 2014, others took place via phone or email. In addition, over 20 letters with comments from additional community members were sent to EPA. Interview summaries are presented below. Appendix J provides the complete interviews.

Many comments received from the community are related to ongoing remedy selection and design that is occurring at the Site. Several of the residents' comments and questions have been

previously addressed by EPA.⁹ All issues raised were considered, reviewed and are incorporated as appropriate into evaluations during this FYR.

Following is a summary of concerns expressed by public officials and community groups.

<u>Matt Vincent:</u> Matt Vincent is the Chief Executive for Butte-Silver Bow County. He has worked around Silver Bow Creek in various capacities since 1995. He reported that most of the project has been successful, and that he hoped that the rest of the OUs could be as successful as SSTOU. He reported that there have not been any problems with the remedy, but is concerned that long-term operations and maintenance plans are not in place. Mr. Vincent hopes that any surplus from the Trust Account will be used to address remaining contamination at the creek's headwaters.

Mr. Vincent wishes EPA would provide more frequent updates about the remedy performance at the Rocker OU and the Warm Springs Pond OU. He also feels that removal of the arsenic- and organic-contaminated soils should be considered at Rocker.

Mr. Vincent stated that the public is most concerned about the status of the Berkeley Pit and they need more information about it. He asks if there is a contingency plan in the event of a failure of the pit wall. Mr. Vincent also feels that the Horseshoe Bend Plant should be operating at full capacity, and that plant technology should be updated to ensure the best available treatment method will be used.

Mr. Vincent hopes that water quality standards and performance measures for the BPSOU remedy will be consistent with the standards the City and County will have to meet in the long term. He stated that the remedy must take into consideration impacts to current and future municipal wastewater collection and treatment operations. Mr. Vincent feels that a greater commitment is needed to integrate the BPSOU's remedy and restoration components, and that the 2004 set of criteria for groundwater and surface water cleanup and restoration actions that the City developed should be heeded.

<u>Julia Crain</u>: Julia Crain is Butte-Silver Bow County's Special Project Manager. She supports Superfund and administers some of the site-related tasks for Butte-Silver Bow County. She stated that EPA has done a good job at the Site. She reported that she receives a lot of questions via the PitWatch.org website. She reported that there have not been any issues with the remedy, although in 2013 there was trespassing in the building at the Mountain Con and Foreman Park in the BPSOU. The trespasser was quickly captured by law enforcement.

<u>Albert Molignoni (Rocker OU):</u> Albert Molignoni is the Chairman of the Board for the Rocker Water and Sewer District. He stated that EPA and Atlantic Richfield have not had success with the work they have completed. The community was supposed to be able to regain access to groundwater after five years of cleanup, but it has already been 12 years and restrictions remain in place. He stated that the community is disappointed. Mr. Molignoni did not feel well informed regarding the cleanup. He said that the best way to communicate information to the community

⁹ EPA has addressed many of the issues raised by this resident in prior documents, including the 2002 RI/FS for BPSOU, the 2006 BPSOU ROD responsiveness summary and Appendix B of the 2014 Butte-Silver Bow Health Department's Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit Public Health Study Phase 1 Report.

is by having officials (EPA, MDEQ and Atlantic Richfield) meet with the Board. In particular, Mr. Molignoni felt that the Board had not received some well sampling information.

<u>Citizens Technical Environmental Committee (CTEC):</u> CTEC wrote a letter to EPA providing input for consideration during the FYR. CTEC recognizes that progress has been made at the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund site, but certain aspects of the remedy are still a concern. CTEC hopes that these issues will be addressed during the current FYR. The following points outline the Committee's concerns:

- The Parrott Tailings and other buried waste at Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek should be removed.
- Storm runoff needs to meet water quality standards.
- The ROD indicates that surface water standards shall be met at the BPSOU after 15 years. After 15 years, retention and lime treatment of storm runoff is required. CTEC opposes lime treatment, and recommends retention/detention basins be utilized immediately.
- Data from Atlantic Richfield shows that during wet weather, runoff total recoverable copper concentrations are always exceeding and commonly up to 40 times the standards.
- The downstream-first approach to remedy creates a risk of recontamination of restored areas:
 - Metals can migrate downstream and contaminate areas that have already been remediated. CTEC suggests including a section describing how the remedy is progressing site-wide, detailing how issues from one OU can affect remedy success at another OU.
- Remedial action levels/remedial goals need to be reviewed against current standards and science:
 - The FYR needs to describe how solid media action levels are being reviewed. New data from the CDC has been released, defining a new reference blood lead level of 5 micrograms per deciliter (μ g/dL), down from 10 μ g/dL. If solid media action levels are not changed by this information, the FYR needs to describe why and how public health is protected.
 - Residential areas sampled before the most recent ESD should be resampled under the new protocol.
- Environmental justice:
 - The FYR should address how the low-income residents of Butte are receiving information about the cleanup, and the challenges low-income residents face in minimizing exposure to toxins given limited financial resources, reliance on landlords, and run-down structures being prone to leaking toxic dust.
- Cap design should be improved where caps are compromised:
 - The FYR should update progress made on cap integrity. If cap integrity remains a problem, new design methods should be identified that would provide better protection. The FYR should also evaluate the effects that waste under the cap has on water quality.
- The community needs certainty that Berkeley Pit water treatment remedy is ready for use when the Pit reaches critical water level in 2023:

- A rigorous test of the Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant's capability is needed to ensure water quality standards will be met.
- The FYR should specifically address what is being done to prevent gypsum scaling of Silver Bow Creek.
- Remedial investigation of the Westside Soils OU must begin:
 - This OU is a popular recreation area in Butte, and the public is concerned that the area has not been evaluated for contaminates and risks to public health. The Agency should present a timeline for remedial investigation.
- 2011 Unilateral Administrative Order (UAO) and Remedy Work Plan:
 - The 2011 UAO guided work through 2013. The public needs to know what requirements and schedule are driving current and future work at the Site.
- The FYR Protectiveness Statement needs transparency:
 - Connections between data and conclusions presented from previous FYRs need to be made clear. The FYR needs to evaluate the current status of the remedy and identify risks to the public and environment that currently exist.

<u>Citizens for Labor and Environmental Justice (CLEJ):</u> CLEJ wrote a letter to EPA, commenting on the selected remedy for groundwater at the BPSOU and in particular on the "Technical Impracticability Zone" consisting of Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek, the Parrott Tailings, North Side Tailings and Diggings East. In the letter, CLEJ argues that the remedy selected in the ROD was based on an incorrect model of the alluvial aquifer in this area. CLEJ states that the State of Montana has responded to the situation and has proposed removal of the wastes, but CLEJ feels that EPA should amend the ROD to include removal of the threat wastes left in place.

<u>George Grant Chapter of Trout Unlimited:</u> Rich Day, President of the George Grant Chapter of Trout Unlimited, wrote a letter to EPA expressing the Chapter's concern about the groundwater remedy at BPSOU, Lower Area One. Mr. Day cites the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology study and indicates he thinks it shows that the original operational model for the proposed remedy as outlined in the current ROD is incorrect, and that leaving wastes in place would not be an effective remedy for improved water quality. He feels that if wastes are left in place, Silver Bow Creek and the Clark Fork River will need to be continually dredged. The Chapter requests that EPA amend the ROD to include removal of wastes to ensure the health of Silver Bow Creek and the upper Clark Fork River.

<u>Coalition of Community Organizations:</u> Project Green, CTEC, CLEJ and the Butte Natural Resource Damage Restoration Council (BNRC) wrote a joint letter to EPA requesting the removal of Parrot, Northside, and Diggings East Tailings so that a greenway for the public could be built. The groups feel that contamination left in place will continue to contaminate Silver Bow Creek and will negatively impact the restoration work that has already occurred. The coalition has reviewed plans of a greenway that would expand the Greenway Trail from Texas Avenue to Montana Street.

Following is a summary of issues raised by individual citizens in interviews or in written or oral comments given to EPA.

<u>Community Interviews and Correspondence:</u> Five residents were interviewed as part of the FYR process, using the interview form in Appendix J. In addition, extensive comments, letters and petitions were received from the community (Appendix J). There were mixed opinions and perceptions related to the cleanup at the Site. A common theme among the interviews was that EPA is not doing enough community outreach, and in particular is failing to reach younger residents and low-income residents. Residents feel that EPA should use social media and other electronic forms of communication to reach these residents.

The biggest concern among the residents is EPA's decision to leave the Parrott, Northside and Diggings East Tailings in place. Residents cite research by the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology that shows a large plume of copper that is moving 600 feet per day through the groundwater, and into the already cleaned up Silver Bow Creek below Butte. Residents express concern that the subdrain that was installed will not catch this contamination, and that it will make its way into the creek. Residents do not feel that installation of a cap on the waste is a sufficient remedy for this area. In addition, some residents feel that the local government and EPA are not enforcing stormwater controls, resulting in heavy metals and other toxins draining into Silver Bow Creek.

Another major concern is the future discharge of Berkeley Pit. The residents are concerned that the lime used in treating pit water will result in gypsum coating the creek bed of Silver Bow Creek when the water is discharged in five years. In addition, there was concern expressed regarding the stability of the Berkeley Pit wall and its potential danger to Butte.

Some highlights of additional concerns raised by community members include:

- Stormwater runoff is causing heavy metals and other toxins to drain into Silver Bow Creek.
- Local government and EPA are not enforcing stormwater controls.
- EPA does not consider the public's opinion on how best to deal with stormwater runoff. This resident suggests a stormwater runoff citizens' group to hold EPA, MDEQ and Butte-Silver Bow County accountable, and to inventory problematic stormwater runoff areas. The resident also suggests that EPA designate a compliance officer.
- Use of lime to treat the Berkeley Pit's water will result in carbonate scaling in Silver Bow Creek.
- The Berkeley Pit wall is unstable.
- The margin of error used in evaluating the filling of the Berkley Pit is too small and EPA will not consider alternative cleanup technologies.
- The migration of Parrott Tailings water is not conforming to EPA's model, and EPA is not changing its model to adapt to the migration.
- The use of caps and institutional controls in the BPSOU are not adequate or permanently protective.
- Some properties that are contaminated may be ignored due to absentee landlords/property owners.
- The medical monitoring program should be mandatory so that everyone is screened for contaminants.
- It is not clear if enough funds are available to complete the remedy.

- The remedy fails to consider the synergistic effects of site contaminants.
- The remedy does not address other toxins of concern (boron, lithium and manganese).
- The remedy fails to recognize and accommodate the unique health problems of lowincome citizens, thus failing to meet the environmental justice mandate.
- There have been no outreach programs that target low-income citizens and EPA should develop a specific, targeted environmental justice community involvement plan for Butte.
- Traditional agency-conducted public hearings and informational meetings are inadequate.
- The success of the public outreach program needs to be measured, since public outreach is an integral part of the remedy.

Following is a summary of issues raised by MDEQ or PRP representatives.

<u>Daryl Reed (BMFOU)</u>: Daryl Reed is the Remediation Division Project Officer at MDEQ, working on the BMFOU. Mr. Reed stated that the project team is working well together to evaluate the water treatment plant's efficacy. While he is currently satisfied with the remedy, future remedy protectiveness remains a concern. Reed felt that taking action now on items identified in the FYR Report would be a beneficial, proactive approach toward long-term protectiveness. He stated that citizens are concerned about the Berkley Pit wall slope failures that they think could potentially cause overflow of the pit water. Also of concern is the water treatment plant operating at a less-than-full capacity, resulting in insufficient evaluations of the long-term remedy. Reed is comfortable with the institutional controls and feels the project team is working well together to address the water treatment plant.

Atlantic Richfield (Tim Hilmo) and Montana Resources (Steve Walsh) (BMFOU): Tim Hilmo of Atlantic Richfield and Steve Walsh of Montana Resources represent the Site's PRPs. Mr. Hilmo and Mr. Walsh indicated that the PRPs believe the remedial action is effective. They also stated that they felt well informed about site activities and remedial progress, and indicated that the PRPs communicate frequently with EPA and MDEQ project managers. They stated that groundwater monitoring has been effective, the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant operations have been effective, waterfowl mitigation efforts have been effective and institutional controls are protective. They noted that some community members question EPA's remedy strategy. They stated that the issues raised – the draining of the Berkeley Pit water and the Critical Water Level – are similar to those raised by the public in 1994 and have already been documented and considered by the agencies. They also mentioned recent renewed public interest in the slope stability of the walls of the Berkeley Pit. Site PRPs, at EPA's direction, have conducted investigations to provide additional information about this topic this year.

Josh Bryson (BPSOU): Josh Bryson is an engineer at Pioneer Technical Services, Inc, and is the operation and maintenance (O&M) contractor for the BPSOU. O&M duties are shared between Atlantic Richfield, Butte-Silver Bow County and Pioneer Technical Services. Mr. Bryson stated that, based on surface water monitoring results, the reclamation-driven cleanup has been successful. The maintenance program has continuously improved due to upgrades in instrumentation and controls. The upgrades allow O&M contractors to maintain consistency throughout all operations. Mr. Bryson stated that there is need for improvement in regard to meeting wet weather in-stream water quality standards for dissolved copper, but the majority of the site remedy has been effective. Recent monitoring data of surface water indicates that levels

of zinc, copper, silver, iron and arsenic have decreased over time. Overall lime usage has also been decreased, resulting in a reduction of the amount of dredging material. Mr. Bryson recommends remaining consistent with the current O&M activities.

Loren Burmeister (BPSOU): Loren Burmeister is the Project Manager at BPSOU, representing Atlantic Richfield. Mr. Burmeister stated that the groundwater remedy has been effective in protecting surface water, while the surface water remedy is continuing to be improved upon. The solid media remedy at the Site is complete and is in compliance with the BPSOU ROD. He indicated that remedial activities have had a positive effect on the surrounding community due to the redevelopment of areas of the Site for public use and enjoyment. Residents have expressed concerns regarding the results and communication of the 2014 Butte-Silver Bow Health Department's Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit Public Health Study Phase 1 Report, as well as the completeness and effectiveness of the remedy completed to date. Mr. Burmeister feels that programs associated with the remedy should be continually evaluated for effectiveness, and that programs and inspections that do not support remedy improvement should be discontinued.

<u>Joe Griffin (BPSOU)</u>: Joe Griffin formally represented MDEQ at the BPSOU. Mr. Griffin stated that the remedy has resulted in significant improvements towards protection of human health and the environment and compliance with applicable or relevant and appropriate requirement (ARARs) at the Site. However, further refinements are necessary. These include ensuring exposure standards conform to the most current information regarding protective human health levels, ongoing evaluations of the capping program and performance evaluations of revegetation efforts, and further removals on the banks and beds of Silver Bow Creek. Mr. Griffin disagrees with the groundwater remedy that left major sources of groundwater contamination in place and that further removal of these wastes would increase the permanence and long-term effectiveness of the remedy. He also recommends installation of detention/retention basins at the base of Buffalo Gulch and the Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek and BPSOU subdrain areas to reduce the suspended-contaminant load. State water quality standards have not been met. Thus, additional technically practicable actions are necessary.

Mr. Griffin states that local citizens have expressed concerns regarding stormwater management at the Site, particularly water quality, the need for additional action and the long-term stewardship of waste left in place. Mr. Griffin recommends updating the institutional control program so that contaminated substances that may eventually affect future construction and infrastructure projects are managed effectively.

<u>Brian Wilkins (Warm Springs Ponds OUs)</u>: Brian Wilkins is an engineer at Pioneer Technical Services, Inc. and was formerly the remedial contractor for the Warm Springs Ponds OUs. He stated that the remedy works as intended and the lime treatment system is efficient in precipitating heavy metals. He stated that Atlantic Richfield has incorporated routine inspection procedures for equipment and is updating equipment as needed.

<u>Tim Hilmo (Warm Springs Ponds OUs):</u> Tim Hilmo is a Project Coordinator at Atlantic Richfield Co., and is a representative of the PRP at the Warm Springs Ponds OUs. He stated that the Site has become a popular recreation area for the community. The remedy has helped support flourishing wildlife populations at the Site. He stated the majority of the community views the

Site as a recreational asset, but there are a few individuals in the community who provide critical comments at public meetings or in newspaper articles.

Daryl Reed (Warm Springs Ponds OUs): Daryl Reed is the Remediation Division Project Officer at MDEQ, working at the Warm Springs Ponds OU. Reed stated that the ponds have been mostly effective at removing divalent metals from the surface water, but that recent studies are showing elevated levels of arsenic, pH and ammonia in the discharge from the ponds. The cause of the elevated arsenic levels is known, and Atlantic Richfield is currently working toward a solution. The causes of the elevated pH and ammonia are not known, and concerns over this are heightened by recent trout density studies that show a decrease in trout population downstream from the Ponds. Reed feels that the remedy is being performed in a diligent manner, but he also encourages further investigation into the Ponds discharges to uncover the cause of the elevated pH and ammonia levels.

Daryl Reed (Rocker OU): Daryl Reed is the Remediation Division Project Officer at MDEQ, working at the Rocker OU. He stated that the remedy has failed to meet the remedial action objectives (RAOs), but that the rebounded arsenic found in groundwater has not been expanding. A group working with Atlantic Richfield is updating the conceptual site model and optimizing groundwater monitoring. Mr. Reed stated that the Rocker Water and Sewer District would like the Controlled Groundwater Area to be revised to release some of the groundwater for use by the community. Due to an ARARs change for arsenic, EPA signed the 2014 Rocker OU ESD that changed the ARAR for arsenic in groundwater standard from 18 micrograms per liter (μ g/L) to 10 μ g/L. Mr. Reed is comfortable with the current institutional controls at the Site, and feels that the collaborative efforts by the working group are encouraging.

<u>Tina Donovan (Rocker OU)</u>: Tina Donovan is the Project Engineer at TREC, Inc., and is the O&M contractor for the Rocker OU. She stated that the project is well run and the Site is well maintained. She indicated that groundwater arsenic concentrations at 50 wells and four surface water sites have decreased, and recommends moving toward a semi-annual monitoring schedule, rather than the current quarterly monitoring schedule.

<u>Tim Hilmo (Rocker OU):</u> Tim Hilmo is a Project Coordinator at Atlantic Richfield Co., and is a representative of the PRP at the Rocker OU. He stated that there have not been any issues with the remedy, but the Rocker Water and Sewer District has expressed concerns regarding Butte-Silver Bow County tax rate increases, as well as the timeframe that their groundwater would be available again. Mr. Hilmo recommends moving toward a semi-annual water monitoring program, rather than the current quarterly program.

4.4 Document Review

This FYR included a review of relevant, site-related documents, including the RODs, remedial action reports and recent monitoring data. Appendix A provides a complete list of the documents reviewed.

ARARs Review

CERCLA Section 121(d)(1) requires that Superfund remedial actions attain "a degree of cleanup of hazardous substance, pollutants and contaminants released into the environment and of control of further release at a minimum which assures protection of human health and the environment." The remedial action must achieve a level of cleanup that at least attains those requirements that are legally applicable or relevant and appropriate, unless waivers of those standards are appropriate.

- Applicable requirements are those cleanup standards, standards of control and other substantive requirements, criteria or limitations promulgated under federal environmental or state environmental or facility siting laws that specifically address a hazardous substance, remedial action, location or other circumstance found at a CERCLA site.
- Relevant and appropriate requirements are those standards that, while not "applicable," address problems or situations sufficiently similar to those encountered at the CERCLA site that their use is well suited to the particular site. Only those state standards more stringent than federal requirements may be applicable or relevant and appropriate.
- To-Be-Considered (TBC) criteria are non-promulgated advisories and guidance that are not legally binding, but should be considered in determining the necessary remedial action. For example, TBCs may be particularly useful in determining health-based levels where no ARARs exist or in developing the appropriate method for conducting a remedial action.

Chemical-specific ARARs are health- or risk-based numerical values or methodologies that, when applied to site-specific conditions, result in the establishment of numerical values. These values establish an acceptable amount or concentration of a chemical that may remain in, or be discharged to, the ambient environment. Examples of chemical-specific ARARs include maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) under the federal Safe Drinking Water Act and similar standards enacted under the State of Montana Safe Drinking Water Act, and ambient water quality criteria promulgated under the federal Clean Water Act and similar standards promulgated under the State Water Quality Act.

Action-specific ARARs are technology- or activity-based requirements or limits on actions taken with respect to a particular hazardous substance. These requirements are triggered by a particular remedial activity; such as discharge of contaminated groundwater or in-situ remediation.

Location-specific ARARs are restrictions on hazardous substances or the conduct of the response activities solely based on their location in a special geographic area. Examples include restrictions on activities in wetlands, sensitive habitats and historic places.

Remedial actions are required to comply with the chemical-specific ARARs identified in the ROD unless waived. In performing the FYR for compliance with ARARs, only those ARARs that address the protectiveness of the remedy are reviewed. The purpose of the ARARs review is to determine whether regulations, laws or criteria identified in decision documents for the various OUs at the Site have been updated or changed, and whether these changes alter the
protectiveness of the selected remedy. ARARs reviewed during this process were established in the ROD for each OU.

Groundwater ARARs

Site decision documents established federal MCLs and the Montana Water Quality Standards as ARARs for groundwater at the Site. Changes to the standards identified in the RODs are recorded in the 2014 ESD for the Rocker OU. The BPSOU ROD waived groundwater quality ARARs for the alluvial aquifer at BPSOU. The BMFOU waived groundwater quality ARARs for the bedrock aquifer in Butte. A controlled groundwater area (Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area – Butte-Silver Bow County 2009) prohibits domestic use of this water and prohibits any well development that would exacerbate or spread existing contamination.

Numerical values listed in decisions documents were compared to current federal and state standards to identify any changes that could affect protectiveness of the remedy (Table E-1). No changes were identified.

Surface Water ARARs

The decision documents established federal ambient water quality criteria and Montana Water Quality Standards as ARARs for surface water at the Site. Numerical values listed in decision documents were compared to current federal and state standards to identify any changes that could affect protectiveness of the remedy (Table E-2). No changes were identified.

The pH standard for the discharge from the Warm Springs Ponds, which is based on a state water quality standard, was waived.

Institutional Controls Review

Institutional controls are a critical component of the remedies selected for each of the OUs. OUspecific institutional controls are discussed as part of each individual OU below. In addition to OU specific institutional controls, the Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation (DNRC) also established three controlled groundwater areas that are part of several OUs. These controlled groundwater areas serve the Rocker OU and parts of the SSTOU, BMFOU and BPSOU. These areas are discussed in more detail in the review of each specific OU.

5.0 OU 1: SSTOU

5.1 Description

SSTOU consists of about 26 linear miles of Silver Bow Creek and fluvially deposited tailings along the Creek. The surrounding areas include private residences and ranches. Silver Bow Creek originates in Butte and flows west and north before entering Warm Springs Ponds. Historically, the creek was used to impound smelter tailings and convey wastes out of Butte. The SSTOU boundary begins at the upstream end just outside of the Butte city limits, and continues until Silver Bow Creek enters the Warm Springs Ponds.

Mining wastes and contamination carried from Butte were deposited in the floodplain, impacting water quality throughout Silver Bow Creek. Results from the initial 1984 RI indicated that upstream sources were at least partly responsible for contamination in the creek. This was confirmed in later studies, including the 1993 RI/FS report. The 1995 SSTOU ROD estimated that 2.5 million to 2.8 million cubic yards of tailings and contaminated soils covered about 1,300 acres. In some areas, the tailings were several feet thick. Mining wastes caused acidic conditions and contaminated the stream and floodplain with arsenic and metals, including cadmium, copper, lead, mercury and zinc. The human health risk assessment conducted during the RI/FS identified the primary carcinogenic risk to people living in or near the area as potential exposure to arsenic in soil and groundwater.

5.2 Remedial Actions

Remedy Selection

EPA and MDEQ selected the remedy for SSTOU in the November 1995 ROD. SSTOU RAOs identified in the ROD include:

- Meet the more restrictive of the aquatic life or human health standards for surface water identified in MDEQ-7 Circular (formerly MDEQ Circular WQB-7) through application of I-classification requirements.
- Meet the applicable MDEQ-7 Circular, federal MCLs and federal non-zero MCL goals for groundwater.
- Prevent exposure of humans and aquatic species to in-stream sediments having concentrations of inorganic contamination in excess of risk-based standards. A physical criterion is used to define sediments posing the greatest risk to receptor species. A contingency is established to develop metal-specific concentrations that would be risk-based, and allow sediment cleanup standards if the physical criterion standard cannot be employed appropriately.
- Attain the RAO to improve the quality of Silver Bow Creek's surface water and in-stream sediments to the point that the creek could support the growth and propagation of fishes and associated aquatic life, including a self-sustaining population of trout species.

The major components of the SSTOU remedy, as described in the ROD, include:

- Removal of tailings and impacted soils from most areas in the 100-year floodplain. Excavated tailings/impacted soils will be placed in mine waste relocation repositories at locations to be determined during the remedial design/remedial action. To meet RAOs, removal will include tailings and impacted soils where: (a) they are saturated by groundwater; (b) in-place treatment would not be effective because of thickness of tailings or lack of buffer material between the tailings and groundwater; or (c) treated tailings/impacted soils could be eroded into Silver Bow Creek.
- All waste left in place will be treated in place and protected from washout or erosion from lateral stream migration and flood flows.
- Fine-grained in-stream sediments in depositional areas are to be removed and placed in repositories with the excavated tailings and impacted soils. After removal of contaminated in-stream sediments, the channel bed and streambank will be reconstructed.
- All contaminated railroad materials that pose a risk to human health or the environment will be excavated, treated and/or capped. Excavated railroad materials will be placed in repositories.
- No separate remedial action is planned for groundwater or surface water. Remedial activities for SSTOU tailings and impacted soils and for sources of contaminants upstream or off site under other cleanup actions are expected to reduce contaminant releases to groundwater and surface water with the goal of ultimately attaining state water quality standards.
- The ROD called for an institutional controls program.

EPA and MDEQ updated the remedy in a 1998 ESD. Changes included:

- The volume of SSTOU tailings and impacted soil was increased based on additional information.
- Modifications to the alignment and channel profile of Silver Bow Creek were documented.
- Use of a temporary stream diversion to facilitate dewatering and excavation of nearstream tailings and to enhance floodplain and streambank revegetation efforts was allowed.
- Changes in in-stream sediment removal criteria based on other remedial design changes were documented.
- Modifications to the mine waste relocation repository design were documented.
- Inclusion of sediment basins to capture contaminated overland flows from off-site mine waste sources were allowed.
- Elimination of treatment wetlands as the final land use in Subarea 1 was documented.
- Revision of the proposed schedule for SSTOU remedy implementation was shown.
- Revision and increase in the estimated cost of the SSTOU remedy was documented.

No remedy was applied to surface water or groundwater, since their cleanup is directly dependent on the successful remediation of the floodplain soils. The target remedial action goal for soil and sediments is to remove 90 percent of tailings/impacted soils with 95 percent

confidence. Removal goals are considered achieved if at least four out of six of the COCs achieve the removal goal (Table 7).

The 1998 ESD adopted new criteria for sediment removal, which provided for removal of the streambed and replacement with clean material throughout the OU.

Table 7. Tanings and impacted bon Kemoval Obals						
Removal Goal						
milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg)						
200						
20						
1,000						
10						
1,000						
1,000						

Table 7. Tailings and Impacted Soil Removal Goals

Remedy Implementation

The State of Montana, with approval from EPA, assumed the lead for implementation of remedial design and remedial action. Remedial construction has generally proceeded from upstream to downstream (Subarea 1 through Subarea 4) across the 26-mile OU (Figure 3). SSTOU is divided into four subareas based upon geologic and topographic features that control soil, hydrogeologic, geomorphic, surface water, ecologic, demographic and land use characteristics of the SSTOU. Each remedial subarea is further divided into remedial reaches, each approximately one mile in length.

The remedy includes excavation to a predetermined depth, established during design through test pitting and sampling, and off-site disposal of the material. Verification sampling to confirm acceptable removal of contaminated material took place within each reach before application of replacement soil, top soil and revegetation. The remedial action goal guiding the excavations was to remove 90 percent of the floodplain tailings and impacted soils with 95 percent confidence.



Figure 3. SSTOU Subareas

Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site. Source: MDEQ 2014.

Subarea 1

Construction in Subarea 1 began in 1999 and finished in 2003.

Subarea 2

Construction in Subarea 2 began in 2004 and finished in 2010.

For Subarea 1 and Subarea 2, MDEQ will implement a "final pass" remedy to address very small deposits of remnant tailings-impacted soils. The goal is to improve and enhance the remediation

as a whole before transitioning into O&M status. Wetlands enhancement work will be implemented in key areas. Characterization efforts for the "final pass" finished in 2014. Additional excavations to address "failure areas" (the small deposits of remnant tailings) will start in 2015.

Subarea 3

During the previous five years, remedial action projects within Subarea 3, Reach K and Reach L have been completed. The volume of the tailings deposited in Subarea 3 is less than in the other subareas. However, the narrow canyon combined with the constraints of two active railroads make tailings removal complicated and time consuming. In 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015, remedial action efforts included four large-scale stream diversions where MDEQ diverted Silver Bow Creek into a large pipe to provide safe access to work areas in the narrowest part of the canyon. Work along railroad embankments included tailings removal followed by installation of railroad embankment treatments such as gabion mattresses to protect the completed remedy.

At the time of the field visit, remedial construction was underway in Reaches M, N and O of Subarea 3. Work was nearly complete to the confluence of German Gulch Creek and Silver Bow Creek. This construction was completed by the end of August 2015. This design segment includes a large-scale fish barrier that will isolate native cutthroat trout in German Gulch Creek from other species in the greater Clark Fork River drainage basin. Subarea 3 also includes a large box-culvert system. It reroutes the stream through a portion of the historical floodplain, lengthening the channel by 0.3 miles, providing access to an additional 19 acres of floodplain, simplifying stream diversion for cleanup, and providing a future trail underpass through one of the active railroads.

Subarea 4

During the previous five years, remedial action projects for Reaches R&S and Reach T in Subarea 4 have been completed. Remedial action began in 2004 and was substantially completed in 2014. Tailings removal and new stream channel construction have been completed from Fairmont Road north to the Warm Springs Ponds OUs. Tailings excavation and new stream channel construction in the area from Highway 1 north to Stewart Street finished in the fall of 2012. The remedial action for the area from Stewart Street north to the Warm Springs Ponds finished in spring 2014. This area incorporates many remedy and restoration plan features, including a series of ponds (approximately 22 acres) and wetlands next to the newly constructed Silver Bow Creek channel. In 2013 and 2014, MDEQ also removed areas of isolated remnant tailings in Subarea 4 extending from Fairmont Road north to Stewart Street. These areas were seeded and planted in 2014 and transitioned into care and maintenance status.

5.3 Operation and Maintenance

The 1995 ROD describes SSTOU O&M activities, including a long-term plan to monitor, manage and maintain reclaimed areas and on-site repositories. MDEQ conducts regular inspections for erosion and monitors surface water, sediments, groundwater, macroinvertebrates, periphyton and fish. The monitoring, management and maintenance program addresses vegetative performance on treatment areas, on-site repositories, remediated streambanks, streambank stability and channel meander. It also addresses in-stream sediment sampling for both contaminant concentrations and macroinvertebrate abundance and diversity. Repairs to areas damaged or eroded over time are completed as needed. Vadose zone, saturated zone and overland flow monitoring will promote documentation of metals immobilization in all remediated areas of the SSTOU.

5.4 Progress Since the Previous FYR

The protectiveness statement from the Site's 2011 FYR stated:

The remedy at OU 01 is not protective. Source areas within the OU that can recontaminate the remedy must be identified, evaluated, and mitigated if appropriate. These include salt patches appearing on remediated areas that impede vegetation, and inadequately vegetated stream banks, as well as tributary sources. An [institutional control (IC)] plan must be developed and approved. Enforceable elements should be added to the IC program to ensure interim protectiveness, and the formal IC program should be approved by [MDEQ] and EPA in coordination with appropriate County and local agencies and organizations. The existing monitoring plan also needs to be revised into a comprehensive groundwater, surface water, sediment, vadose zone, revegetation, macroinvertebrates, and fish monitoring plan to adequately demonstrate protectiveness. The plan also does not provide for maintenance of the remedy.

In-stream cleanup standards have not been met, although substantial progress towards these standards has been made and will likely continue. Environmental exposures continue. To be protective, the remedy must be more completely implemented, data gaps must be filled, enforceable ICs put in place, and the monitoring and maintenance plan updated and implemented.

The 2011 FYR included six issues and recommendations. This report summarizes each recommendation and its current status below. The outstanding issues and recommendations identified in that document will be monitored, and are expected to be addressed as the remedy is completed and final operation and maintenance plans are developed. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

Section	Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
5.4.1	All spots within the remediated areas with little or no vegetation should be inventoried and remediated.	MDEQ	12/31/2013	Ongoing	NA
5.4.2	An inventory and evaluation of major tributary gulches with historical mining activity should be performed. Inventory should be field verified and noted for regulatory action, restoration work or West Side Soils OU evaluation and remediation. Remedial progress by the U.S. Forest Service on the Beal Mountain Heap Leach Pad project should be monitored until complete.	MDEQ	12/31/2012	Ongoing	NA
5.4.3	A formal institutional control Plan needs to be prepared and approved.	MDEQ	12/31/2012	Ongoing	NA
5.4.4	Ongoing evaluation and implementation efforts to control upstream stormwater should continue, as is currently required.	MDEQ and EPA	12/31/2013	Ongoing	NA

 Table 8: Progress on SSTOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR

Section	Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
5.4.5	Align existing, and design new monitoring station locations, to comprehensively monitor remediated media within each subarea. The monitoring network should be designed to accurately assess the performance of the remedy in surface water and groundwater, as well as vegetation, macroinvertebrates and fish, and help identify areas not responding as intended so they can be quickly addressed.	MDEQ	12/31/2013	Ongoing	NA
5.5.6	Stormwater best management practices should be applied to disturbed areas along reconstructed streambanks during and after final construction activities to prevent erosion and transport of sediment (possibly with residual metals) into Silver Bow Creek. Effective management practices should be maintained and monitored until streambanks are stabilized by deep rooted vegetation, and robust vegetative cover can be established in the reconstructed floodplain.	MDEQ	12/31/2013	Ongoing	NA

5.4.1 Bare Areas

Most of the bare soil and failure areas are located in Subareas 1 and 2 in areas where in-field screening was not used to direct additional removals. All work completed from 2010 through 2015 has used the field screening technology. The number and size of failure areas in Subarea 4 and the completed areas of Subareas 3 are greatly reduced.

MDEQ has completed a sampling and surveying effort to map and characterize the remaining failure areas throughout the SSTOU. In spring 2014, MDEQ completed removal of additional areas identified in Subarea 4. MDEQ completed mapping of Subareas 1 and 2 in the summer of 2014 and will complete removal of those remnant tailings areas between 2015 and 2017.

MDEQ will continue to monitor the Site to locate and address additional areas if needed.

5.4.2 Tributary Inventory

MDEQ is in the process of completing an initial assessment of compliance with performance standards for the Site. As part of the assessment, MDEQ is evaluating surface water quality at several locations throughout the SSTOU, including samples upstream and downstream from tributaries. At the current time – before the remedy is complete – water quality in Silver Bow Creek is approaching compliance with performance standards. The sampling data collected to date show that concentrations generally decrease downstream of each potential tributary area, except for below the West Side Soils OU. MDEQ is completing additional monitoring to determine if tributaries are contributing contaminant loads that would prevent the SSTOU from meeting applicable performance standards.

At the current time it is not clear if metals loads to Silver Bow Creek are from the remnant tailings in previously excavated areas (failure areas) in Subareas 1 and 2 or from unremediated areas in the upstream off-site sources. MDEQ plans to address the failure areas first (beginning in late fall of 2015) and then complete additional monitoring to determine if additional measures are needed to address potential sources from upstream areas.

5.4.3 Institutional Controls

MDEQ is in the process of completing an initial assessment of compliance with performance standards for the Site. As part of the assessment, MDEQ is evaluating the need for institutional controls as contemplated in the 1995 ROD. The work completed at the SSTOU included removal of additional tailings in coordination with the Natural Resource Damage Program and other changes that may reduce the overall need for institutional controls at the Site. Once the major cleanup operations are complete, MDEQ will re-evaluate the institutional controls described in the 1995 ROD and develop a suite of institutional controls for the Site.

As a part of the assessment, MDEQ has prepared a site-wide monitoring, inspection and maintenance plan that identifies key components of the remedy and known areas of waste left in place.

5.4.4 Upstream Stormwater

MDEQ is in the process of completing an initial assessment of compliance with performance standards for the Site. As part of the assessment, MDEQ is evaluating surface water quality at several locations throughout the SSTOU, including water entering upstream of the Site. At the current time, water from upstream exceeds SSTOU performance standards for several COCs during wet weather. MDEQ expects that the PRP will implement appropriate actions upstream to be protective of the SSTOU remedy, but MDEQ will track the process and participate as needed to ensure protection of the SSTOU remedy.

5.4.5 Monitoring

MDEQ is in the process of completing an initial assessment of compliance with performance standards for the Site. As needed, MDEQ will add or modify surface and groundwater monitoring stations to better define the potential sources in areas of insufficient data to make a firm determination whether the areas contain a significant source of COCs.

Habitat monitoring is also ongoing in cooperation with the Natural Resource Damage Program. MDEQ and the Natural Resource Damage Program will update and modify the monitoring plan as needed.

5.4.6 Stormwater Management

Designs implemented by MDEQ have included enhanced use of designed overbank flow control areas, flood control berms, flood control swales, fabric protected meander tabs, additional stabilization fabrics, coir logs, clear water diversions and other measures to minimize erosion during construction and the early vegetation-recovery period. Post-event inspections and monitoring indicate that these measures have been successful in minimizing erosion during vegetation establishment.

MDEQ has implemented robust railroad embankment treatments in Subarea 3 to provide both short- and long-term erosion and protection to prevent transport of contaminated sediments from the railroad embankments.

5.5 Document Review

ARARs Review

Site-wide ARARs are reviewed in Section 4.4. Certain Montana surface water and groundwater standards are now more stringent. Revisions to the cleanup goals will be considered by MDEQ as it assesses performance standard compliance. A decision document addressing ARAR updates may be needed.

Institutional Controls Review

MDEQ is in the process of completing an initial assessment of compliance with performance standards for the Site. As part of the assessment, MDEQ is evaluating the need for institutional

controls as contemplated in the ROD. The work completed at the SSTOU included removal of additional tailings in coordination with the Natural Resource Damage Program and other changes that may reduce the overall need for institutional controls at the Site. Once the major cleanup operations are complete, MDEQ will re-evaluate the institutional controls described in the 1995 ROD and develop a suite of institutional controls for the Site.

As a part of the assessment, MDEQ has prepared a site-wide monitoring, inspection and maintenance plan that identifies key components of the remedy and known areas of waste left in place.

5.6 Data Review

Post-Removal Soil Sampling

Table 9 summarizes verification sampling results for Subarea 3, Reach K and L. Verification samples came from the final excavation surface at 147 locations. Of the initial samples collected, 60 (41 percent) passed, 29 (20 percent) were uncertain and 57 (39 percent) failed. All areas generating samples that "failed" the action levels established in the quality assurance standards were excavated to additional depth to effectively remove the tailings. After the excavation to additional depth (additional removal), these areas were sampled again to ensure that sample results passed quality assurance standards and the removal criteria were achieved.

Twenty-nine of the "uncertain" XRF samples were submitted to a laboratory for analysis. Twenty-two of the 29 laboratory samples "passed" (were below) the criteria. Seven samples exceeded the action levels for at least three of the six metals or failed at least one ceiling level. Based on laboratory results, it is assumed that the majority of the area (as much as 76 percent, or 22 of 29 samples) represented by the "uncertain" samples would in fact pass.

For Reaches K and L, when combining the areas represented by the 60 initially passing samples, the 57 samples that led to additional removals until the criteria were met, and the 22 uncertain field samples that passed laboratory analysis, 95.2 percent of the areas (139 out of 146 sampled areas) may be considered to pass confirmation sampling. In this area, however, even areas showing "uncertain" field screening results were subject to substantial additional removals, so the actual percentage of removal would have been higher. Remaining areas may be contaminated with residual arsenic, copper, lead or zinc.

	Total	Total Pass Uncertain		Fa	ail			
	Samples	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Reach K and L								
Prior to additional removal	146	60	41	29	20	57	39	
After additional removal	146	117	80	29	20	0	0	

Table 9: Reach K, L, R, S and T Verification Sample Summary

After additional removal, assume 76 percent of uncertain samples pass	146	139	95.2	0	0	7	4.8			
	Reach R and S									
		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent			
Prior to additional removal	300	191	63.7	79	26.3	30	10			
After additional removal	300	205	68.3	78	26	17	5.7			
After additional removal and lab results	300	251	83.7	28	9.3	21	7			
After additional removal and lab results, assume 94 percent of uncertain samples pass	300	277	92.3	0	0	23	7.7			
			Reach	Т						
		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent			
Prior to additional removal	326	247	75.8	43	13.2	36	11			
After additional removal	326	265	81.3	47	14.4	14	4.3			
After additional removal and lab results	326	284	87.1	27	8.3	15	4.6			
After additional removal and lab results, assume 94 percent of uncertain samples pass	326	310	95.1	0	0	16	4.9			

Verification samples came from the final excavation surface at 300 Reach R and S locations. Of the initial samples collected, 191 (64 percent) passed, 79 (26 percent) were uncertain and 30 (10 percent) failed. Additional removal took place in most areas represented by the "failed" samples; most of these areas are considered "passing" after the additional removal. Fifty of the uncertain XRF samples were submitted to Energy Laboratories in Helena, Montana, for confirmation analysis. Analytical results for 47 of the 50 laboratory samples (94 percent) are below the criteria and can be considered as passing. Three samples exceeded the action levels for at least three of the six metals; thus, the samples failed. In this case, all three samples failed for arsenic, copper and zinc. Based on these data, it is probable that the majority of the areas represented by the uncertain samples would in fact pass, based on laboratory confirmation samples, and as much as 92.3 percent of the areas may be considered to pass confirmation sampling. Remaining areas may be contaminated with residual arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead, mercury or zinc. Table 9 summarizes verification samplingresults.

Verification samples came from the final excavation surface at 326 Reach T locations. Of the initial samples collected, 247 (76 percent) passed, 43 (13 percent) were uncertain and 36 (11 percent) failed. Additional removal took place in most areas represented by the failing samples; most of these areas can be considered as "passing" after the additional removal.

Twenty of the "uncertain" XRF samples were submitted to a laboratory confirmation analysis. Analytical results for 19 of the 20 laboratory samples (95 percent) were below the criteria and can be considered as "passing." Based on these data, it is probable that the majority of the areas represented by the "uncertain" samples would in fact pass based on results from laboratory confirmation samples. These results indicate as much as 95.1 percent of the areas may be considered to pass confirmation sampling. Remaining areas may be contaminated with residual arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead, mercury or zinc. Table 9 summarizes verification sampling results.

Environmental media monitored includes surface water, instream sediment, groundwater, vadose zone water, terrestrial vegetation, soils, birds, small mammals, macroinvertebrates, periphyton and fish.

Surface Water Monitoring

Water quality in Silver Bow Creek is approaching performance standards. Surface water monitoring results indicate improved water quality in the SSTOU at all sites where remediation has been completed. Metal COC concentrations at un-remediated sites are generally substantially higher (often by an order of magnitude or more) than concentrations at sites where remediation is complete. However, metal COC concentrations at all SSTOU sample locations still frequently exceed performance goals. Of the metal COCs, copper most commonly exceeded performance goals in 2013. In 2013, total recoverable copper concentrations exceeded the performance goal in 81 percent (39 of 48) of the SSTOU samples. Exceedances for other total recoverable metal COC concentrations in the SSTOU were mercury (21 percent), cadmium (15 percent), lead (15 percent), zinc (2 percent) and arsenic (2 percent). At the two background sites upstream from the SSTOU, total recoverable copper and lead concentrations exceeded performance goals in 25 percent (two of 12) of the samples. However, no other metal COCs exceeded performance goals

in the background sites. No metal COCs exceeded performance goals at either of the reference sites.

In-Stream Sediments

Sediment samples were analyzed for wet-weight COC concentrations in three size fractions and for the weighted-mean concentration among those size fractions. Weighted-mean sediment COC concentrations in the SSTOU commonly exceeded performance goals in 2013. However, at background sites located in previously contaminated and remediated areas upstream from the SSTOU, the proportion of samples exceeding performance goals was higher than for those samples within the SSTOU.

Groundwater Monitoring

Groundwater is monitored at 30 wells in nine well clusters: 21 monitoring wells and nine reference wells. Well clusters were located in remedial Subareas 1, 2 and 4 of the SSTOU. Eight well clusters were located in the Silver Bow Creek floodplain and one cluster was located near the Mine Waste Relocation Repository. Wells in the Mine Waste Relocation Repository area were monitored during June and October of 2013, while the rest of the sites were monitored during October only.

Concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead and zinc continue to exceed state and federal standards in various locations within the SSTOU. Zinc is the metal COC that has consistently had the highest groundwater concentrations relative to the MDEQ standards. In the upstream Subareas 1 and 2, where remediation has been complete since 2008, arsenic, cadmium, copper and zinc concentrations have exceeded the performance standards at various monitoring wells. Zinc and cadmium concentrations in Subareas 1 and 2 at some monitoring wells exceed the standards by as much as five times. Copper concentrations only have exceeded the standard at one well in the monitoring network, which is located in Subarea 2 in the Miles Crossing cluster. Although groundwater monitoring only began in Subarea 4 in 2013, results thus far suggest that the remedy has been effective at reducing groundwater concentrations in Subarea 4. No metal COCs exceeded standards at well clusters where remediation had been completed. At the Stuart well cluster, where remediation was in progress in 2013, only cadmium and zinc exceeded standards and the magnitude of those exceedances was relatively low compared to the exceedances for those COCs at some wells in Subareas 1 and 2.

Biological Monitoring

The remedy does not require biological monitoring of SSTOU. However, MDEQ, Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, and the Montana Natural Resource Damage Program initiated biological sampling because of the potential for improved water quality associated with remediation and restoration activities. The continued impairment of the water quality entering the SSTOU remains a limiting factor in the recovery of the biological community in remediated stream reaches. Macroinvertebrate, periphyton and fish monitoring occurred in 2013. Overall, most sampling failed to meet the performance goals. None of the sites upstream of the SSTOU met this goal, indicating poor water quality from the upper watershed may limit the ability of the remediated sites to attain performance goals.

Fish sampling began in 2002 to monitor and document fish response to ongoing remediation activities. Fish population sampling suggest increasing trout abundance. Sensitive trout species (brook trout, westslope cutthroat trout and rainbow trout) were present at all sites in 2013 and indigenous westslope cutthroat trout (or hybridized cutthroat trout) were present at five of those sites. Since 2007, brook trout have been documented in at least one or more sampling years at all of the current sampling sections. While the continued presence or appearance of trout in all of the current monitoring sections in Silver Bow Creek is an improvement over past years when no fish could be detected, the rarity of these species still suggests water quality remains a concern downstream of Butte.

5.7 SSTOU Site Inspection

On October 1, 2014, EPA, MDEQ and Skeo Solutions met at the Montana Resources site entrance. The group toured the entire length of SSTOU, including subareas 1, 2, 3 and 4. The various stages of remedial work were observed, including completed vegetated areas in Subarea 2, recently graded and seeded areas in Subarea 3, and active removal and stream bank restoration in Subarea 4. The Site was well maintained overall. No issues were noted. The complete site inspection checklist is available in Appendix D. Photographs from the site inspection are available in Appendix E.

5.8 Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

Yes. The remedy is expected to function as intended by the 1995 SSTOU ROD and the 1998 SSTOU ESD once complete. In the meantime, no complete exposure pathways are present due to soil removals and the fact that there is no domestic consumption of contaminated water. The removal of tailings-impacted soils and the remedial activities for sources upstream or off site under other OUs' cleanup actions are expected to reduce contaminant levels in groundwater and surface water. MDEQ completed removal of additional areas identified in Subarea 4 in 2014 and in Subarea 3 in 2015. MDEQ will continue to monitor the Site to locate and address additional areas if needed.

Water quality in Silver Bow Creek is approaching performance standards. At the time of this FYR, MDEQ is in the process of evaluating the SSTOU remedial action, including assessment of compliance with removal standards, upstream and downstream surface water sampling, identification of potential upstream source areas, and the need for institutional controls. Currently, it is not clear how groundwater and surface water interact in the SSTOU. Better understanding of the relationship between groundwater flow and surface water flow would provide a more detailed assessment of how metal COC concentrations in groundwater influence metal COC concentrations in surface water.

MDEQ intends to develop an institutional control plan after the remedial actions are considered complete. SSTOU includes a mix of public and private lands, which will require various institutional controls. Currently, access to SSTOU is limited by on-site contractor presence and interim fencing.

Following the identification of failure areas in Subareas 1 and 2, MDEQ inventoried and mapped areas requiring additional removals in 2014. For Subareas 1 and 2, MDEQ will implement a "final pass" remedy to address very small deposits of remnant tailings-impacted soils. The goal is to improve and enhance the remediation as a whole before transitioning into care and maintenance status. Wetlands enhancement work will be implemented in key areas. Remedial action work to address the small deposits of remnant tailings will start in 2015. MDEQ intends to continue to locate and address additional areas as needed.

Contaminant concentrations measured in groundwater samples collected since 2005 exceed the MCL at some sample locations. However, groundwater is not used for potable consumption within the SSTOU. Institutional controls to prohibit groundwater use will be implemented, as necessary.

MDEQ recently submitted an SST Site Inspection Monitoring and Maintenance Plan (January 2015) to EPA. MDEQ's intent is for this plan to function as the Operation and Maintenance Plan for the SSTOU. EPA is currently reviewing MDEQ's submittal in accordance with the terms of the SST Site Superfund Memorandum of Agreement, and will work with MDEQ to finalize an SSTOU Operation and Maintenance Plan.

Question B: Are the exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of remedy selection still valid?

No. The exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and RAOs used at the time of the remedy are generally still valid; however, remedial actions have enhanced instream conditions and upland/riparian habitat at areas previously devoid of vegetation. The remedy selection assumed that wildlife exposures would be limited as they were not expected to frequent the SSTOU. Cleanup and restoration activities have increased the likelihood that wildlife and recreationists will use the SSTOU area. Additional assessment of risk to environmental receptors may be needed.

Current and anticipated future land and water uses at, or near, the SSTOU have not changed since the ROD. Groundwater is not used for potable consumption within the SSTOU.

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

No. No other information has come to call into the question the protectiveness of the remedy. Late in the five-year review process, EPA did receive information regarding waste materials removed under remedy implementation and placed on Parcel 26 near the Solvay plant near Butte. MDEQ has ensured that the temporary repository for this waste on Parcel 26 is adequately fenced and protected. Permanent disposal for this waste is an issue that will need resolution in the future.

Technical Assessment Summary

The remedy is expected to function as intended once complete. The removal of tailings-impacted soils and the remedial activities for sources upstream or off site under other OUs' cleanup actions are expected to reduce contaminant levels in groundwater and surface water. At the time of this FYR, most targeted removals have been completed. Water quality in Silver Bow Creek is approaching performance standards. MDEQ intends to develop an institutional control plan after the remedial actions are considered complete. The original ecological risk assessment and remedy assumed that wildlife exposures would be limited as they were not expected to frequent the SSTOU. Cleanup and restoration activities have increased the likelihood that wildlife and recreationists will use the SSTOU area. Additional assessment of risk to environmental receptors may be needed. MDEQ has developed a plan to function as an operation and maintenance plan, and this plan was recently provided to EPA for review and approval under the SST Site Superfund Memorandum of Agreement.

5.9 Issues and Recommendations

Table 10 provides recommendations to address the current site issues.

Issue	Recommendation / Follow-Up Action	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affects Protectiveness?	
					Current	Future
An O&M plan has been submitted but not yet approved.	Finalize and approve the O&M plan.	MDEQ	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes
Institutional controls are not yet implemented.	Develop and implement an institutional controls plan.	MDEQ	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes
Areas of vegetation failure remain.	Identify and remove all remaining hot spots.	MDEQ	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes
The interaction between groundwater and surface water is not fully characterized.	Conduct a more detailed assessment of how metal COC concentrations in groundwater influence metal COC concentrations in surface water.	MDEQ	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes
The ecological risk assessment did not consider the current fauna now present at remediated areas.	Evaluate risk to ecological receptors.	MDEQ	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes

5.10 Protectiveness Statement for SSTOU (OU 1)

The remedy at SSTOU (OU 1) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

6.0 OU 3: BMFOU

6.1 Description

BMFOU is located in the Butte mining district and lies beneath Butte and Walkerville as well as Montana Resources' permitted active mine area. Its boundaries are the Continental Divide to the east, Silver Bow Creek to the south, Missoula Gulch to the west, and the Yankee Doodle Tailings Pond and upper Silver Bow Creek to the north (Figure 4).

The BMFOU 1994 ROD and 2002 Consent Decree described BMFOU as:

- The waters in the Berkeley Pit.
- Underground mine workings hydraulically connected to the Berkeley Pit.
- The alluvial aquifer near the Berkeley Pit that drains into it.
- The bedrock aquifers, including the bedrock aquifer water in and near the Continental Pit.
- Other contributing sources of inflow to the Berkeley Pit/East Camp system, including surface runoff, leach pad, stormwater that enters the Berkeley Pit from BPSOU, tailings slurry circuit overflows, and Horseshoe Bend surface water flows.
- The Travona/West Camp groundwater system, except if that groundwater discharge becomes part of BPSOU response actions (upon EPA approval, in consultation with the State).
- The surface area designated for the potential development of a sludge repository.

The West Camp System is located in the southwest corner of the BMFOU. It includes the Travona, Emma and Ophir mines and associated underground workings. The East Camp and West Camp systems are separated by bulkheads, installed in the late 1950s, to reduce the amount of pumping necessary to dewater the mines. The West Camp is considered a separate hydrologic system. Remediation and maintenance of the West Camp groundwater (through the Butte Treatment Lagoon System) was transferred to the BPSOU in the 2006 BPSOU ROD.

The Berkeley Pit is BMFOU's major feature. It is 1,780 feet deep and encompasses 675 acres. BMFOU also encompasses thousands of miles of underground mine workings. Groundwater in the East Camp system has been rising since 1982 when mine dewatering pumping ceased. Active mining – primarily for copper and molybdenum – continues in the Continental Pit nearby, in Montana Resources' permitted area. The mining operations use Silver Lake water and treated site water (i.e., water from Horseshoe Bend drainage that has been treated in the BMFOU treatment plant), which reduces the amount of water entering the Berkeley Pit in the BMFOU.¹⁰

The upper reach of Silver Bow Creek above the Yankee Doodle Tailings Pond is the main stream drainage in the BMFOU. Discharge from the localized area surrounding the Berkeley Pit does not reach Silver Bow Creek below Blacktail Creek and will not until treated to meet surface water quality standards. Mining and other activities in the area have greatly changed the original channel alignment. Surface water in the active mining area is controlled by a series of ditches and ponds that convey runoff and mine process water to various locations, including the

¹⁰ An active hardrock mining permit issued by MDEQ addresses reclamation of the active mining operations.

Berkeley Pit and concentrator area. From the Montana Resources Concentrator to the confluence with Blacktail Creek, the historical Silver Bow Creek channel has been reconfigured over decades of mining and waste disposal. At the confluence with Blacktail Creek, Silver Bow Creek flows west and then north, terminating at the Warm Springs Ponds.

The two main aquifers in the area are the bedrock, which is a large part of the BMFOU, and the alluvium, which was deposited over the bedrock in valleys and drainages. Groundwater in the bedrock occurs in fractures, joints and mine workings. Groundwater levels in the surrounding bedrock aquifer are currently higher than the water level in the Berkeley Pit, resulting in radial flow of groundwater from the bedrock toward the pit.

Groundwater in the alluvium flows south from the leach pads area and then west toward the Berkeley Pit. There is an alluvial groundwater divide approximately one mile south of the Berkeley Pit (in the vicinity of Continental Drive). North of this divide, groundwater flows toward the Berkeley Pit; south of the divide, groundwater flows to the BPSOU subdrain (which runs approximately underneath the Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek), where it is captured and sent to the Butte Treatment Lagoons system for treatment (BPSOU).

Early EPA technical evaluations of the Berkeley Pit and West Camp workings indicated that it would be necessary to control the rate of Berkeley Pit filling to prevent future impacts to the alluvial aquifer and Silver Bow Creek. The evaluations further demonstrated the need to treat the Berkeley Pit water prior to discharge to Silver Bow Creek.

A 1989 removal action in the West Camp Area prevented flooding of basements and discharge of contaminated groundwater to Silver Bow Creek as a result of rising mine waters. Water was pumped from the Travona shaft to the Butte Metro Sewage Treatment Plant for treatment and discharge into the Silver Bow Creek. This action helped established the critical water level within the West Camp System below 5,435 feet.

BMFOU's RI/FS was conducted from July 1990 through January 1994.

Figure 4: BMFOU Features



6.2 Remedial Actions

Remedy Selection

The remedy selected in the Site's 1994 BMFOU ROD, and revised by the 2002 BMFOU ESD, addresses contaminated water in the Berkeley Pit, contaminated water in associated underground mine workings and other contaminated inflow to Berkeley Pit and BMFOU. Its primary objective is to protect human health and the environment from risks posed by contaminated water in the bedrock aquifer and the rising contaminated waters within the OU.

The RAO established for the OU in the 1994 BMFOU ROD is to prevent human and aquatic exposure to contaminated groundwater and surface water.

The remedy selected in the 1994 BMFOU ROD, as amended by the 2002 BMFOU ESD, included the following components:

- Control of inflow from Horseshoe Bend, with exceptions for short-term flows to the Berkeley Pit.
- Routing of stormwater runoff from upper areas of BPSOU to the Berkeley Pit.
- Treatment of surface water and groundwater from the Horseshoe Bend and Continental Pit water through treatment at the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant and the potential use of water in the mining process or discharge to Silver Bow Creek.
- Placement of Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant sludges in the Berkeley Pit.
- Treatment of West Camp water in the Butte Treatment Lagoons in 2002.¹¹
- If water is discharged to Silver Bow Creek after treatment at the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant (instead of being used in active mining operations), it must meet all applicable surface water discharge standards identified in the ROD and ESD.
- Thorough evaluation of the ability of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant to treat additional water from the Berkeley Pit four years prior to the East Camp System reaching the critical water level (5,410 feet above mean sea level); and pumping or other efforts to divert water from the Berkeley Pit to the Horseshoe Bend treatment plant when the critical water level is approached.
- Design and implementation of a long-term, comprehensive monitoring program.
- Waiver of groundwater ARARs for the bedrock aquifer and implementation of an institutional control program to restrict use of contaminated groundwater using land and water use restrictions, along with access controls.
- A public education program on the BMFOU remedial action.

A technical impracticability waiver for the bedrock aquifer ARAR standards was established for the BMFOU in the 1994 ROD. The focus of the BMFOU selected remedy is on containment of the contaminated water; there are no water quality standards to be met in the affected BMFOU aquifer.

The Berkeley Pit is filling with water originating from surrounding bedrock and alluvial aquifers and also from surface inflows. Water accumulating in the pit and in the bedrock aquifer is acidic

¹¹ This change in remedy was documented in the 2002 BMFOU ESD and the 2006 BPSOU ROD.

from the formation of acid mine drainage and contains high concentrations of metals. Because the water level in the Berkeley Pit is the lowest groundwater elevation in the bedrock system, all bedrock groundwater in the area flows toward the Berkeley Pit. Therefore, the selected remedy ensures contaminated mine water is contained and prevented from migrating off site. However, if water levels were to continue to rise in an uncontrolled manner, the hydraulic gradient could change and contaminated water could begin to flow out of the East and West Camps into surrounding alluvial groundwater and eventually to Silver Bow Creek. To prevent this, the selected remedy determined critical water level elevations for the East Camp (5,410 feet above mean sea level) and the West Camp (5,435 feet above mean sea level).

Remedy Implementation

Site PRPs instituted the inflow control program in 1996, capturing and integrating the Horseshoe Bend discharge into the mining process at the active Montana Resources mining operations. However, a stop in mining activities from July 2000 until September 2003 required construction of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant. Currently, all surface water from the Horseshoe Bend area is intercepted and treated using a high-density lime precipitation treatment system. This treated water is then recycled back into Montana Resources' mining operations. Section 6.6 provides additional discussion of available data and its relation to future remedy implementation.

The 2002 BMFOU Consent Decree between EPA, MDEQ, ARCO (now Atlantic Richfield), Dennis Washington, Montana Resources and Montana Resources Inc. contains a statement of work that describes the necessary steps to implement the ROD as modified by the ESD. These steps include remedial design, remedial action and O&M for the BMFOU.

The implemented BMFOU monitoring plan tracks the elevations and quality of water inflows into the East Camp and West Camp systems and compares them to the critical water level, which was set in the original 1994 BMFOU ROD, for both the East Camp, including Berkeley Pit, and the West Camp. This information is updated annually and used in models of the Berkeley Pit and West Camp to provide EPA and MDEQ with a projected date by which critical water levels will be met. The BMFOU monitoring plan is discussed further in Section 6.6.

The Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area was established in 2008 as the required institutional controls for the BMFOU.¹² This action under state law prohibits the construction of new groundwater wells in the bedrock aquifer for domestic or other purposes. Existing wells in the bedrock aquifer are tested semi-annually, and are currently below MCL standards. For further discussion of institutional controls, see Section 6.5.

Remedy design and implementation continues. The PRPs have initiated the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review to evaluate and ensure the ability of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant to treat additional water from the Berkeley Pit or surrounding bedrock aquifer four years prior to the East Camp System reaching the critical water level.

¹² <u>http://dnrc.mt.gov/divisions/water/water-rights/controlled-ground-water-areas/butte-alluvial-and-bedrock-site.</u>

The public education program centers on the PitWatch.org website. It provides detailed and regularly updated information on BMFOU-related activities.

6.3 Operation and Maintenance

The Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant is BMFOU's primary remedy component with an ongoing O&M component. The Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant is a two-stage high-density sludge lime precipitation water treatment system consisting of two primary treatment units and five ancillary process systems. The treatment facility is fully automated with remote alarm indication. The major treatment components all have redundant systems to eliminate downtime due to equipment failure.

The water treatment plant is also equipped with an automated treated water control loop. If treated water exceeds the acceptable pH range, this system will automatically recycle water through the plant until it does.

Quarterly reporting on Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant system performance and O&M activities has continued since the previous FYR. Annual summaries of these reports resumed in 2014. Routine O&M activities have continued since the previous FYR. Upgrades and system enhancements have also occurred. The original lime unloading system installed during plant construction did not perform to design specifications. Modifications required to correct this issue were completed on May 21, 2014, increasing the lime unloading rate from about 640 to 960 pounds of dry lime per minute. During 2014, additional efforts were made to reduce scaling and gypsum formation to reduce the single stage operation time and associated increased unit lime addition and allow for improved sludge density control.

During 2014 annual cleanout and maintenance, the PRPs discovered a crack in the concrete floor of the Stage One Reactor. After investigation, a concrete specialty company identified the likely cause of the crack as a cold joint pour during construction in 2002. The crack was successfully repaired and ground penetrating radar scans and impulse response testing of the floors in both the Stage One Reactor and Clarifier were conducted and no indication of damage or deterioration was found in either vessel. Minor seepage into the Stage Two Reactor was observed along a construction joint in the floor of the vessel when it was empty. This joint has been repaired and the Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant Groundwater Level Reduction Project will continue to improve control of groundwater in the local vicinity of the plant. Dewatering will become a part of the ongoing operation and maintenance for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant. Additional details on maintenance activities are available in the BMFOU Annual Report 2014.

Operating costs for the BMFOU were not available for review in this FYR. Data from the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant is evaluated in Section 6.6.

6.4 **Progress since the Previous FYR**

The protectiveness statement from the Site's 2011 FYR stated:

The remedy at BMFOU is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion, and in the interim, exposure pathways that could cause unacceptable risk are being controlled by water treatment, routing water for remaining use, land use access controls, and an IC preventing groundwater use. In order to be protective in the long term, water quality issues in the treated effluent will have to be resolved before discharge to Silver Bow Creek becomes necessary.

West Camp water treatment has been formally transferred to the BPSOU.

The 2011 FYR included seven issues and recommendations for the BMFOU. Some of the issues were considered and not implemented because none of the BMFOU contaminated ground and surface water is being released into Silver Bow Creek. The current adequacy review for Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant will address these issues. Remedy implementation and normal O&M activities are expected to resolve these issues as part of the ongoing remedy design and implementation. This report summarizes each recommendation and its current status below.

Recommendations	Party	Milestone	Action Taken and	Date of
	Responsible	Date	Outcome	Action
Conduct an additional performance test to investigate solutions to exceedance of the final pH standard prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. All treated water is currently being utilized in active mining operations. As remedy design and implementation continues, evaluation of the water treatment plant will include evaluation of solutions to meet the final pH standard prior to release of treated water to the Silver Bow Creek. As part of continuing remedy implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014

Table 11: Progress on BMFOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR

Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
Conduct an additional performance test to investigate solutions to gypsum supersaturation issues prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. All treated water is currently being utilized in active mining operations. As remedy implementation continues, evaluation of the water treatment plant will include evaluation of solutions to supersaturation issues. As part of continuing remedy implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review.	09/11/2014
Conduct an additional performance test to investigate solutions to ensure reliable cadmium compliance prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. All treated water is currently being utilized in active mining operations. As remedy implementation continues, evaluation of the water treatment plant will include evaluation of solutions to ensure reliable cadmium standard compliance prior to release of water to Silver Bow Creek. As part of continuing remedy design and implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014

Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
Conduct an additional performance test to treat Berkeley Pit water prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. As part of continuing remedy design and implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014
Conduct an additional performance test to investigate the effect of scale inhibitors on metals removal prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. As part of continuing remedy design and implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014
Perform Whole Effluent Toxicity testing on representative effluent prior to the next FYR.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. As part of continuing remedy design and implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014
Determine a more practical approach to analyzing radionuclides to determine compliance with the beta-photon emitter discharge criteria.	EPA, MDEQ, Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	12/31/2014	Considered and not implemented. As part of continuing remedy design and implementation, the PRPs completed the activity schedule for the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review, which will address this issue.	09/11/2014

6.5 Document Review

ARARs

Site-wide ARARs are reviewed in Section 4.4. There have been no changes to groundwater or surface water ARARs since the 2011 FYR. As discussed in the 2011 FYR, there have been ARAR changes in ARARs since the 1994 BMFOU ROD. The 2002 BMFOU ESD documents and adopts those changes as appropriate.

Institutional Controls Review

The 2010 Institutional Control Implementation Plan describes the types of institutional controls implemented and planned for both the BPSOU and the BMFOU. The already enacted well ban for the bedrock aquifer and the creation of the Water Quality District, which monitors the ban satisfies 1994 BMFOU ROD as amended requirements and ensures the selected remedy is protective upon completion.

Controlled Groundwater Area: The Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area was established in 2008 as part of required institutional controls for the BMFOU.¹³ (See map of area in Appendix E).

Since the controlled groundwater area regulation does not prevent the use of existing wells, the 2010 Institutional Control Implementation Plan calls for the Butte-Silver Bow Water Quality District to implement an education, testing and well abandonment program designed to: a) discourage inappropriate uses of groundwater from existing wells; and b) encourage owners to take existing wells out of service voluntarily. To date, testing of existing private wells has shown they meet water quality standards. The Technical Infeasibility Well Sampling Study identified several wells recommended for abandonment that are not being used for drinking or irrigation purposes. The water district has had funding issues that have prevented full implementation of the well abandonment program. Butte-Silver Bow County and the water district are in the process of obtaining additional funding to proceed with implementation of these institutional controls.

¹³ http://dnrc.mt.gov/divisions/water/water-rights/controlled-ground-water-areas/butte-alluvial-and-bedrock-site.

	Area of Interest – BMFOU								
Media	ICs Needed	ICs Called for in the Decision Documents	Impacted Area	IC Objective	Instrument in Place	Notes			
Ground water	Yes	Yes	BPSOU and BMFOU	Restrict all new appropriation of groundwater. Ensure that existing wells are part of an education and abandonment program.	Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area	The testing, education and well abandonment program needs to be implemented for the BPSOU, but the IC is complete for the BMFOU.			

Table 12: BMFOU Institutional Control (IC) Summary Table

6.6 Data Review

Water

Long-term monitoring of the Berkeley Pit and all ancillary mine shafts and monitoring wells is ongoing, as required in the BMFOU Consent Decree. The monitoring program consists of 63 monitoring wells, 11 mine shafts and four surface water sites, as well as the Berkeley Pit and the Continental Pit (Figures E-1 through E-6). The Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology (the Bureau) provides monthly and annual summary reports to site agencies. The reports share monitoring data and trends; data from some of the monitoring locations date back to 1983 when the Site was first listed on the NPL. Data through the end of 2014 are included in this FYR report.

The 1994 BMFOU ROD, as amended, established critical water levels for the East Camp and West Camp bedrock systems. In the West Camp bedrock system, the maximum water level cannot exceed an elevation of 5,435 feet above mean sea level at well BMF96-1D (near the Travona mine). In the East Camp bedrock system (which includes the Berkeley Pit and hydraulically connected mine workings), the maximum water level cannot exceed an elevation of 5,410 feet above mean sea level at any of the eight compliance points. In addition to these compliance points, the East Camp bedrock system must be maintained at a level lower than West Camp water levels.

Alluvial wells overlying the East Camp bedrock aquifer are also monitored. The East Camp alluvial system includes the alluvial aquifer within the active mine area and a portion of the alluvial aquifer outside of the active mine area to the south. The alluvial groundwater divide between the BMFOU and the BPSOU is included in this monitoring. Water levels and water quality vary throughout the alluvial system. Areas closer to mining operations exhibit elevated metal concentrations (e.g., leaching from waste dumps and historical tailings impoundments). Areas outside of mining operations more reflect regional water quality and hydrology.

The Bureau continually monitors and reviews water levels to ensure that future remedial components are completed on time and account for the current characterization of the system. During this review period, there was a rotational slump in the southeast corner of the Berkeley

Pit. This slope failure led to a rise in the pit water level. In addition, sampling of the water in the pit was cancelled due to safety concerns associated with pit wall stability. Based on the Bureau's 2014 Berkeley Pit model filling update, the estimated dates of reaching the critical water levels at both the East Camp (the Anselmo Mine is currently the compliance point in the East Camp with the highest water level) and the Berkeley Pit have moved later in time (Table 13). Based on this shift, remedy requirements for the completion of the review of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant adequacy now moves to July 2019 and the date by which any needed upgrades must be completed moves to July 2021. Overall, the data and model updates indicate that the remedy implementation is working as predicted to control groundwater inflow.

Water levels were temporarily suspended at the West Camp System in 2013 to allow for a study of the system's critical water level. This is described in more detail in the data analysis section for the BPSOU (Section 9.6), since this affected influent rates at the Butte Treatment Lagoons.

Model Year	Date East Camp Critical Water Level, Anselmo Mine	Change from Previous Year, Month ¹	Date Review Water Treatment Plant Adequacy	Date Complete Any Upgrades	Date Critical Water Level, Berkeley Pit
2014	July 2023	+1.7	July 2019	July 2021	August 2027
2013	May 2023	-1.3	May 2019	May 2021	June 2027
2012	July 2023	+3	July 2019	July 2021	August 2027
2011	April 2023	+2	April 2019	April 2021	May 2027
2010	February 2023	+2	February 2019	February 2021	February 2027
37					

Table 13: Berkeley Pit Filling Model Updates

Notes:

¹ Minus sign signifies date moved sooner than previous projection; plus sign signifies date moved later in time. Table extracted from Bureau 2014 Berkeley Pit filling model update.

Groundwater throughout the BMFOU is sampled for water quality and these data and trends are tracked and reported by the Bureau in their annual reports. A technical impracticability waiver was established for the BMFOU groundwater in 1994. The focus of the BMFOU selected remedy is on containment of the contaminated water; there are no water quality standards to be met in the affected BMFOU aquifers. The variability in water chemistry among different wells throughout the OU is most relevant for planning water treatment activities and for tracking the extent of contamination, and is the main purpose of the sampling.¹⁴ Noteworthy water quality results from 2010 through 2013 include moderate increases in sulfate, copper and zinc in East Camp alluvial well LP-16. However, based on the selected remedy and the technical impracticability waiver, these findings have no bearing on the protectiveness of the remedy.

Berkeley Pit Slope Stability Evaluation

On August 22, 2012, a rotational-like slump occurred through alluvial sediments in the southeast portion of the Berkeley Pit. On November 4, 2012, another slope displacement occurred, expanding the slump zone slightly to the west. As a result, Montana Resources initiated a slope stability study in November 2012. On February 8, 2013, another slope failure occurred. EPA has reviewed and commented on the study and is awaiting final revisions.

¹⁴ Water quality data from the BMFOU groundwater monitoring program are publicly available in the State of Montana's Groundwater Information Center.

The draft slope stability study report concludes rising pit water level is expected to have the greatest influence on potential slope instability in the extreme eastern part of the Berkeley Pit where the thickest sequence of in-situ alluvium and overlying fill occurs in the Southeast Corner, Pittsmont, Northeast Corner sectors and the Concentrator sector. The Neversweat sector (along the southwest pit wall) contains other potential instability areas of mine backfill, not influenced by pit water levels.¹⁵

As a result of the slope stability study, EPA and MDEQ will require that Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources implement certain recommendations as a result of the report. Some of those tasks may include:

- Additional review of slope stability around the Berkeley Pit.
- Laboratory testing of subsurface samples and updated slope stability analysis for the Pittsmont sector.
- Oriented-core data analysis in the Concentrator sector.

Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant

With a few exceptions (infrequent and short-duration bypass events to the Berkeley Pit), all Horseshoe Bend flows have been used within Montana Resources' current mining operations. Data tables from 2010 through 2014 were reviewed and are presented in Appendix E. The only noteworthy finding in the data was extremely high water usage levels in June and July 2012. The 10 million gallons of water purchased from Butte was mistakenly used for special projects at Montana Resources mining operations and was not associated with site remedial efforts. The data supports the effective and consistent operation of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant over the past five years. Improvements at the plant continued over the past five years (Section 6.3). A plant evaluation is currently underway to evaluate the ability of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant to treat additional water from the Berkeley Pit or surrounding wells to ensure full implementation of the selected remedy and to ensure that the critical water level is not reached. It is clear that the implementation of the BMFOU remedy will not allow for contaminated groundwater to reach the critical water level.

Waterfowl Mitigation

A Waterfowl Mitigation Plan was developed because of potential impacts to birds from exposure to Berkeley Pit water. Birds potentially land on the surface of the water during migration seasons and most fly off unharmed. The 2002 BMFOU Consent Decree recognized that birds exposed to Berkeley Pit water for less than four to six hours are not at substantial risk of suffering effects of water toxicity. Waterfowl mitigation efforts began in 1998 and include using rifles, shotguns and three Phoenix Wailers (high tech devices that emit predator and electronic sounds to scare birds off the surface of the water) to haze birds off the surface and keep them from landing on the surface of the Berkeley Pit water. Mitigation efforts have continued over the last five years in compliance with the Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Plan, Observation and Hazing Program. Table E-6 in Appendix E includes a table with the number of birds observed and the number of bird fatalities recorded from 2010 through 2014. After the February 8, 2013 slope

¹⁵ For additional details, see the draft Geotechnical Engineering Evaluation Berkeley Pit Southeast Corner Stability Report, dated August 13, 2014.

failure at the Berkeley Pit, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service granted a variance to the plan to ensure that workers involved in these efforts are not put in unsafe conditions. Therefore, the surface of the water in the pit has not been checked by boat for the number of bird fatalities since 2013.

6.7 Site Inspection

On October 2, 2014, EPA RPM Nikia Greene, staff from EPA contractor Skeo Solutions, PRP representatives, and MDEQ and Montana Bureau of Mines staff met at the Montana Resources site entrance. The group toured the Montana Resources property to observe the condition of remedial components, including the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant, the Berkeley Pit, the bird mitigation lookout station and the monitoring well network. Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources representatives discussed the interaction of the BMFOU with the BPSOU, current operations, difficulties relating to the February 8, 2013 pit slope failure and the effects on activities such as pit monitoring and waterfowl mitigation efforts.

The Site was well maintained overall. The remedy appeared to be in working order. The property is an active mining operation with secured access. The complete site inspection checklist is available in Appendix B. Photographs from the site inspection are available in Appendix C.

6.8 Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

Yes. The remedy is expected to function as intended by the 1994 BMFOU ROD as modified by the 2002 BMFOU ESD. In the meantime, contaminated mine water is contained and prevented from migrating off site and institutional controls are in place to restrict all new appropriations of groundwater. The Berkeley Pit is filling with contaminated water originating from the surrounding bedrock and alluvial aquifers and also from surface inflows. As the Berkeley Pit is the lowest elevation in the bedrock system, contaminated mine water is contained and prevented from migrating off site. As noted, an institutional control in the form of a controlled groundwater district rule from DNRC (October 2009), which prevents use of the bedrock aquifer for domestic use has been enacted, and no domestic wells currently use the bedrock aquifer. The Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology, in cooperation with the Butte Silver Bow Health Department, collect annual water quality samples for wells associated with the Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area to ensure contaminants associated with historical mining operations are not present in harmful concentrations in groundwater supplies.

Based on the Bureau's 2014 Berkeley Pit model filling update, the estimated dates of reaching the critical water level at both the East Camp System and the Berkeley Pit have moved later in time. This shifts the remedy review date requirements for evaluation of Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant adequacy to July 2019. Any upgrades must be completed by July 2021. The PRPs have initiated the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant remedial action adequacy review. Overall, the data and model updates indicate that remedy implementation continues in a manner in line with current model estimates.

No water has been discharged to Silver Bow Creek from the BMFOU. With a few exceptions (infrequent and short-duration bypass events to the Berkeley Pit), all Horseshoe Bend flows have been used within Montana Resources' current mining operations. The data supports the effective and consistent operation of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant over the past five years.

PRPs conducted a pit stability study after slumps in 2012 and 2013. Areas of concern remaining are the Concentrator and Pittsmont sectors. Additional studies and analysis are needed in these areas. Safety concerns resulting from stability issues has resulted in ceasing of surface water sampling in the Berkeley Pit. Waterfowl mitigation efforts have continued since the 2011 FYR in compliance with the Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Plan, Observation and Hazing Program and the variance issued by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. To ensure future protectiveness, the slope stability study recommendations should be implemented, sampling of the Berkeley Pit water should be resumed and an evaluation of the remedy should be conducted to determine any needed changes to the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan.

Question B: Are the exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of remedy selection still valid?

Yes. The exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and RAOs used at the time of remedy selection are still valid.

Current State of Montana water quality standards (Circular MDEQ-7) are reflective of the surface water quality discharge standards identified in the 1994 BMFOU ROD and revised by the 2002 BMFOU ESD. No additional exposure pathways were identified during this review that should be addressed in order to evaluate remedy protectiveness.

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

No. There is no other information at this time that calls into question the protectiveness of the remedy. However, the community involvement process highlighted that there is a fair amount of misinformation around the community regarding remedy implementation at BMFOU. Additional community outreach may be needed to further explain the selected remedy and to reach community members with misunderstandings regarding the plan for remedy implementation as well as the interaction of the remedy at BMFOU and current mining operations.

Technical Assessment Summary

The remedy is functioning as intended by the 1994 BMFOU ROD and the 2002 BMFOU ESD. The data supports the effective and consistent operation of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant. Currently no water is being released from the BMFOU into the Silver Bow Creek. Remedy design and implementation is continuing with the adequacy review of the Horseshoe Bend water treatment plant which will ensure compliance with discharge standards and resolve the potential for gypsum release. The implementation of institutional controls for BMFOU has been completed. To ensure future protectiveness, the slope stability study recommendations should be implemented, sampling of the Berkeley Pit water should be resumed and an evaluation of the remedy should be conducted to determine any needed changes to the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan.

6.9 Issues and Recommendations

Table 14 provides recommendations to address the current site issues.

Issue	Recommendation / Follow-Up Action	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affects Protectiveness?	
					Current	Future
Rotational slumps have occurred at the Berkeley Pit and analysis indicates there will continue to be future slumps.	Complete implementation of the recommendations required by EPA regarding the 2014 slope stability study.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2017	No	Yes
Sampling of the water in the Berkeley Pit has been limited due to safety concerns of physically being on the surface of the water.	Implement current alternatives that are being developed.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2017	No	Yes
A portion of the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan has been modified due to safety concerns related to slope stability at the Berkeley Pit.	After implementing recommendations required by EPA regarding the 2104 slope stability study, evaluate the remedy to determine any needed changes to the Waterfowl Mitigation Plan.	Atlantic Richfield and Montana Resources	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2019	No	Yes

Table 14: Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues

The following additional items, though not expected to affect protectiveness, warrant additional follow up:

• Additional community outreach may be needed to further explain the selected remedy and to reach community members with misunderstandings regarding the plan for remedy implementation as well as the interaction of the remedy at BMFOU and current mining operations.

6.10 Protectiveness Statement for BMFOU (OU 3)

The remedy at BMFOU (OU 3) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks are being controlled.
7.0 OUs 4 and 12: Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive OUs

7.1 Description

The WSPOUs are located in southwestern Montana, at the lower end of Silver Bow Creek, approximately 27 miles downstream of Butte. The OUs consist of a series of three sediment settling ponds (Figure 5). OU 4 consists of Ponds 2 and 3, also called the Active Area of WSP. OU 12 consists of Pond 1, also known as the Inactive Area. Pond 1 was never involved in the active treatment of water from Silver Bow Creek by the addition of lime and no longer plays a role in settling sediments. OU 12 is essentially isolated from the active treatment portion of the pond system.

The Warm Springs Ponds system is addressed by EPA due to large areas of sediment contamination located within the Ponds. Prior to response actions, large areas of contaminated material existed outside of the Ponds and in the Mill-Willow Bypass. The Ponds also present the possibility of a catastrophic release of contaminated material, if the berms surrounding the Ponds give way due to a flood or an earthquake.

The Warm Springs Ponds complex covers approximately 2,600 acres. U.S. Interstate 90 and the Mill-Willow Bypass (stream diversion around the Warm Springs Pond) border the area to the west. The Clark Fork River borders the area to the north. Hills border the area to the east, and marsh lands and incoming streams border the area to the south.

Before remedial action, the Inactive Area OU contained an estimated 3.4 million cubic yards of contaminated sediments, tailings and soils. Approximately 2.9 million cubic yards of contaminated sediments, tailings and soils were contained within Pond 1. Approximately 475,000 cubic yards of these materials were within the area downstream of Pond 1. These source materials consisted of over-bank deposits that settled out along Silver Bow Creek before the construction of Pond 1.

Silver Bow Creek flows from the south and enters Pond 3 near the southern end of the OU. Tailings and other sediments and contaminants from Silver Bow Creek physically settle to the bottom as the velocity of the incoming water decreases. Water flowing out of Pond 3 goes primarily into Pond 2, with a smaller volume used to maintain several wildlife ponds between Ponds 2 and 3. The effluent from Pond 2 flows into the Mill-Willow Bypass as a regulated point-source discharge. It then flows down the bypass to the Clark Fork River.

No domestic wells are located within the WSPOUs. However, several wells are located within a mile east of the pond system. These wells are in bedrock aquifers that do not appear to be affected by the pond system. The Town of Warm Springs pumps its water from supply wells in unconsolidated tertiary deposits from depths of approximately 200 feet. These wells are supplied with water from groundwater resources west of and hydraulically isolated from the WSPOU.



Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site.

7.2 Remedial Actions

Following a removal action that addressed the Mill-Willow bypass and surrounding area contamination, EPA signed the WSPOU's interim ROD on September 28, 1990. In June 1991, EPA signed an ESD that identified the Inactive Area of Pond 1 and the area beneath Pond 1 as a separate action to be addressed under a separate ROD (OU 12). The 1990 WSPOU Active Area (OU 4) ROD addresses Pond 2 and Pond 3, the Mill-Willow Bypass and berms, inlet and outlet structures, treatment improvement features, and monitoring systems. The selected remedy is an interim cleanup measure that provides the highest degree of certainty that it will be successful and permanent. The final remedy will be selected following completion of upstream OU cleanups or as otherwise appropriate.

The overall RAOs established for the WSP Active OU are:

- Prevent releases of pond bottom sediments due to earthquakes or floods.
- Meet Montana Water Quality Act ambient chronic water quality standards for arsenic, cadmium, lead, mercury, copper, iron and zinc at a compliance point just above the defined starting point of the Clark Fork River, and comply with discharge standards for the Pond 2 discharge after implementation of the Warm Springs Ponds response actions and the upstream cleanup actions.
- Prevent ingestion of water above concentrations deemed safe by the Montana Public Water Supply Act for arsenic, cadmium, lead, mercury and silver and above established reference doses for copper, iron, lead, zinc and cadmium. Also, prevent ingestion of water containing arsenic concentrations that would cause risk greater than one chance in 10,000.
- Inhibit the migration of tailings from the Mill-Willow Bypass to the Clark Fork River to reduce the potential for future exceedances of ambient water quality standards in the Clark Fork River.
- Inhibit the migration of tailings from the upper reaches of Silver Bow, Mill and Willow Creeks to the Clark Fork River, to reduce the potential for re-contamination of the Mill-Willow Bypass and future exceedances of ambient water quality standards in the Clark Fork River.
- Reduce the potential for direct human contact, inhalation and ingestion of exposed tailings and contaminated soils and tailings posing excess cancer risks above one chance in 10,000.
- Reduce the levels of arsenic, cadmium and other contaminant concentrations in the groundwater of the Pond 1 Inactive Area to achieve compliance with groundwater performance standards at the designated point of compliance.

Major components of the selected interim remedy for the Warm Springs Ponds Active Area OU are:

• Allow the ponds to remain in place; Ponds 2 and 3 will continue to function as treatment ponds until upstream sources of contamination are cleaned up and standards can be met without treatment.

- Raise and strengthen all pond berms according to specified criteria to protect against dam failure in the event of major earthquakes or floods, and increase the storage capacity of Pond 3 to receive and treat flows up to the 100-year flood.
- Construct new inlet and hydraulic structures to prevent debris from plugging the Pond 3 inlet and to safely route flows in excess of the 100-year flood around the ponds.
- Comprehensively upgrade the treatment capability of Ponds 2 and 3 to fully treat all flows up to 3,300 cubic feet per second (cfs) (100-year peak discharge) and construct spillways for routing excess flood water into the bypass channel.
- Remove remaining tailings and contaminated soils from the Mill-Willow Bypass, consolidate them over existing dry tailings and contaminated soils within the Pond 1 and Pond 3 berms, and provide adequate cover material, which will be revegetated.
- Reconstruct the Mill-Willow Bypass channel and armor the north-south berms of all ponds to safely route flows up to 70,000 cfs (one-half of the previously estimated probably maximum flood).
- Flood (wet-close) all dry portions of Pond 2.
- Establish surface and groundwater quality monitoring systems and perform all activities necessary to ensure compliance with all ARARs.
- Implement institutional controls to prevent future residential development, swimming and consumption of fish by humans.
- Defer, for not more than one year after the effective date of the ROD, decisions concerning the remediation of contaminated soils, tailings and groundwater in the area below Pond 1, pending evaluation of various wet- and dry-closure alternatives and public review.

The Warm Springs Ponds Inactive Area OU interim remedy, selected in June 1992, may be summarized as follows.

- Remove all tailings and contaminated soils from the adjacent portion of the bypass channel and from the area below Pond 1 not planned for wet-closure. Consolidate the wastes over existing dry tailings within the western portion of Pond 1.
- Modify, or enlarge if necessary, the adjacent portion of the bypass channel to safely route flood flows up to 70,000 cfs, which is one-half the previously estimated probable maximum flood for the combined flows of Silver Bow Creek, Willow Creek and Mill Creek.
- Raise, strengthen and armor with soil cement the north-south aspect of the Pond 1 berm.
- Stabilize the east-west aspect and extend and armor the north-south aspect of the Pond 1 berm.
- Relocate the downstream portion of the bypass channel and convert the present channel into a groundwater interception trench.
- Deepen the converted groundwater interception trench and install pumps to allow for a pump-back system. Pump intercepted water that fails to meet specified standards back to the Active Area for treatment.
- Construct wet-closure berms to enclose the submerged and partially-submerged tailings and contaminated soils.

- Chemically fix (immobilize) the tailings and contaminated soils, now enclosed by smaller berms, by incorporating lime and lime slurry onto or into them.
- Implement long-term ecological monitoring.
- Implement institutional controls to prevent residential development, swimming, domestic well construction and disruption of dry-closure caps.

Atlantic Richfield conducted the interim remedial actions under UAOs and EPA enforcement and oversight from July 1990 through September 1995. Initial cleanup began with the Mill-Willow Bypass expedited response action in 1990 and 1991, and work continued through both the Active and Inactive Areas in 1992 through 1995. EPA has determined that Atlantic Richfield has met all interim remedial action construction requirements. A final remedy will be selected following completion of upstream OU cleanups or otherwise as appropriate. Discharge standards for Pond 2 discharge of treated water are included in Table 15.

Constituent	Daily Maximum (mg/L)	Monthly Average (mg/L)
Total Recoverable Arsenic	0.02	0.02
Total Recoverable Cadmium	0.0062	0.0016
Total Recoverable Copper	0.026	0.017
Total Recoverable Iron	1.5	1.0
Total Recoverable Lead	0.137	0.0053
Total Mercury	0.0002	0.0002
Total Recoverable Selenium	0.26	0.035
Total Recoverable Silver	0.0082	0.00012
Total Recoverable Zinc	0.16	0.15
Total Suspended Solids	45.0	30.0
рН	6.5 to 9.5 standard units	

Table 15. Pond 2 Discharge Standards

7.3 **Operation and Maintenance**

Currently, the Warm Springs Ponds treatment system is operated by Atlantic Richfield. Pond 1 is not used in the treatment process at the Site, because the pond is largely filled with sediment. Lime is added to Silver Bow Creek upstream of Pond 3, primarily during the winter months, to raise the pH of the influent to facilitate metals precipitation.

7.4 **Progress Since the Previous FYR**

The protectiveness statement from the 2011 FYR for the Site stated:

The remedy at WSPOUs 04 and 12 is not protective because the arsenic standard is not met in the Pond discharge. In order to ensure protectiveness, full remedy implementation must progress at other OUs upstream. Further, it is unknown if additional human or wildlife exposures are occurring within these OUs.

The 2011 FYR included three issues and recommendations. This report summarizes each recommendation and its current status below. The outstanding issues and recommendations identified in that document will be monitored, and are expected to be addressed as the remedy is completed and final operation and maintenance plans are developed. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

Section	Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
5.1	Complete arsenic treatment optimization studies, and then determine if meeting RAOs is feasible.	PRP	12/31/2014	In progress.	NA
5.2	Evaluate contaminant pathways. New exposure pathways for wildlife/aquatic life may now be present.	PRP	12/31/2014	Not yet completed.	NA
5.3	Begin forward planning for the final ROD (including data collection efforts, updated risk assessments and feasibility studies).	PRP	12/31/2014	Not completed. Will be completed after upstream OUs are completed or otherwise as appropriate.	NA

Table 16: Progress on Recommendations from the 2011 FYR

7.5 Document Review

ARARs Review

Site-wide ARARs are reviewed in Section 4.4. Montana surface water and groundwater standards are now more stringent. Revisions to the cleanup goals will be considered in the final remedy selection.

Institutional Controls Review

The ROD called for institutional controls to prevent future residential development, swimming and consumption of fish by humans. ARCO currently owns all property within the WSPOUs. The area is a designated wildlife management area administered by the Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP). Currently, MTFWP operates the wildlife management area under a 2005 lease with ARCO. The lease allows recreational use of the area, but restricts swimming and limits fishing to catch-and-release only. Signage is posted at entry points to the ponds describing the MTFWP fishing regulations.

It was originally envisioned that restrictions on future development would be accomplished through a conservation easement with restrictive covenants, but that approach proved difficult to implement. Instead, the implementation of land use restrictions has involved Atlantic Richfield working with Anaconda-Deer Lodge County to use other instruments that prevent the Warm Springs Ponds from being used for residential habitation or in other ways that could disturb the remedy.

Atlantic Richfield submitted a petition to DNRC for designation of the Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive Area OUs as a controlled groundwater area pursuant to Section 85-2-506(2)(f), Montana Code Annotated. The petition included a request that DNRC issue an order establishing a permanent water well ban for potable water supply within these OUs. DNRC approved the petition and established a controlled groundwater area at the WSP, effective May 25, 1995.

7.6 Data Review

During the April through June 2014 reporting period, Pond 2 discharge was in compliance with the Final Daily Maximum Standards for all constituents, with the exception of nine arsenic, two copper and five pH exceedances (Figures 6 and 7).

- The highest measured arsenic value was 0.0292 mg/L, which occurred in June 2014. This value exceeded the discharge standard of 0.0200 mg/L by 0.0092 mg/L.
- The highest measured copper value was 0.0423 mg/L, which occurred in April 2014. This value exceeded the final discharge standard of 0.0318 mg/L by 0.0105 mg/L.
- The highest measured pH value was 9.84, which occurred in June 2014.



Figure 6. WSPOU Daily Metals Monitoring

Note: Selenium and silver compliance evaluation not included; however, daily compliance was achieved.

Figure 7. WSPOU pH Monitoring



The monthly averages for all constituents were in compliance with the Monthly Final Standard for the months of April, May and June, with the exception of copper and arsenic (Figure 8). The following supplemental observations were made:

- The pH at the Pond 2 discharge (SS-5) ranged from 8.2 to 9.8 during the reporting period.
- The pH within the system (SS-3E and SS-5) was maintained above 7.0 during the entire reporting period.



Figure 8. Monthly Compliance Monitoring

In general, constituent concentrations decreased through the Warm Springs Ponds system, in the order of inflow (SS-1) > Pond 3 discharge (SS-3E) > Pond 2 discharge (SS-5) for most constituents the majority of the time. Monthly sampling results applicable to the Mill-Willow Bypass are presented in Appendix F.

Semi-annual groundwater monitoring activities were conducted during the reporting period. Groundwater quality data from these activities are presented in Appendix F. Groundwater measured at the point of compliance does not exceed performance standards and is not used for drinking water. Pond 2 and Pond 3 dewatering elevations are included in Figures 9 and 10.

Figure 9. Pond 2 Operating Elevations







7.7 Site Inspection

On October 2, 2014, EPA RPM Kristine Edwards, staff from EPA contractor Skeo Solutions, PRP representatives, and MDEQ and Montana Bureau of Mines staff met at the WSPOU lime treatment building. The group toured the ponds to observe the condition of remedial components, including the treatment plant, pond, berms and spillways. Fencing and MTFWP signage were observed at all property entrances. The Site was well maintained overall. The remedy appeared to be in working order. The complete site inspection checklist is available in Appendix B. Photographs from the site inspection are available in Appendix C.

7.8 Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

Yes, the interim remedy is functioning as intended. The selected remedy is an interim cleanup measure that provides the highest degree of certainty that it will be successful and permanent. The final actions at this OU will be determined following completion of upstream areas.

While the ambient water quality standards for cadmium, lead, mercury, copper, iron and zinc have been in compliance with discharge standards for the Pond 2 discharge, arsenic continues to exceed standards on a seasonal basis, mainly during the summer and fall months. Atlantic Richfield is continuing to study and better understand the arsenic cycling at the Site. It is possible that the Warm Springs Ponds are operating at their maximum potential given the inherent limitations of alkaline precipitation and settling technology and the physical limitation of the size of the ponds.

Revegetation efforts have proven to be successful at both the dry closures and along the Mill-Willow Bypass. The removal of tailings in combination with the reconstruction of the Mill-Willow Bypass has prevented erosion of tailings from the Mill-Willow Bypass into the Clark Fork River. In general, the revegetation effort prevents exposure of COCs associated with tailings to human and ecological receptors via direct contact, ingestion or inhalation.

The Inactive Area at the northern boundary of the Site continues to achieve RAOs, except the ambient water quality standard for arsenic. Off-site migration of groundwater exceeding performance standards is prevented. The wet closures remain inundated and biologically active. The wet closures are functioning as intended to prevent mobilization or direct exposure to COCs.

Dam safety inspections have confirmed that the Warm Springs Ponds facilities comply with the State of Montana Dam Safety Regulations.

DNRC's controlled groundwater area, and the fact that all land parcels within the boundary of the WSPOUs are owned and controlled by Atlantic Richfield or the MTFWP collectively and legal agreements contain prohibition on residential land use or fish consumption at the Site, continue to effectively prevent the use of contaminated groundwater, swimming in the ponds, or another use that could compromise the remedy.

Question B: Are the exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of remedy selection still valid?

No, the cleanup levels are no longer valid. Montana surface water and groundwater standards are now more stringent. In addition, the ecological risk assessment called for in the 2011 FYR has not been completed. Revisions to the cleanup goals will be considered in the final remedy selection. Current land use restrictions are preventing any unacceptable exposures.

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

No other information has come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy.

Technical Assessment Summary

Yes, the interim remedy is functioning as intended. The selected remedy is an interim cleanup measure that provides the highest degree of certainty that it will be successful and permanent. The final actions at this OU will be determined following completion of upstream areas. Arsenic continues to exceed standards on a seasonal basis, mainly during the summer and fall months. Atlantic Richfield is continuing to study and better understand the arsenic cycling at the Site. Additionally, water quality coming into the ponds continues to improve which may result in consistent compliance with standards eventually. DNRC's controlled groundwater area, and the fact that all land parcels within the boundary of the WSPOUs are owned and controlled by Atlantic Richfield or the MTFWP collectively, continue to effectively prevent the use of contaminated groundwater, swimming in the ponds, or another use that could compromise the remedy. Current land use prevents any unacceptable exposures.

7.9 Issues and Recommendations

Table 17 provides recommendations to address the current site issues.

Issue	Recommendation / Follow-Up Action	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affec Protective	
					Current	Future
Arsenic surface water standard seasonally exceeded in effluent.	Complete arsenic treatment optimization studies, and then determine if meeting RAOs is feasible.	PRP	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes
New exposure pathways for wildlife/aquatic life may now be present.	Evaluate contaminant pathways.	PRP	EPA	09/30/2017	No	Yes

Table 17: Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues

7.10 Protectiveness Statement for Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive OUs (OU 4 and OU 12)

The remedy at Warm Springs Ponds Active OU (OU 4) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

The remedy at Warm Springs Ponds Inactive OU (OU 12) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

8.0 OU 7: Rocker OU

8.1 Description

The Rocker OU 1995 ROD provides a comprehensive description of the OU's history, contamination, risks and remedy. This section summarizes that information.

The Rocker OU covers about 16 acres and includes the contaminated groundwater resulting from site operations under and near the land surface. It is located south of U.S. Interstate 15/90 near Rocker, Montana, about 3 miles west of Butte, in Silver Bow County (Figure 11). Silver Bow Creek borders the OU's surface area to the north. Railroad lines and sidings owned by the Butte, Anaconda, & Pacific Railway Company border the area to the south. The Butte, Anaconda, & Pacific Railway Company has two small storage sheds in the western end of the OU. A historic office building east of the repository also remains in place. The small community of Fredericksburg is located to the south. The community of Rocker is just north of Silver Bow Creek. The Rocker OU sits next to the SSTOU at its northern boundary.

The Rocker Timber Framing and Treating Plant was built in 1909 and operated until the plant's closure around 1957. The Anaconda Company, predecessor to Atlantic Richfield Company, owned and operated the plant. Initially, the facility treated mining timbers with a creosote solution. Later, it used arsenic trioxide solutions for treatment.

During plant operations, spilled process materials (arsenic trioxide powder), treated wood chip residues, and dripped or leaked process solutions (creosote and caustic heated arsenic brines) resulted in contaminated soils and significant groundwater contamination. Rocker Timber Framing and Treating Plant wood treating wastes intermixed with contaminated tailings when other mining waste washed downstream to Rocker from mining and smelting facilities in Butte.

Arsenic in soils and groundwater at the Rocker OU is the primary COC. Other metals contamination from mine waste was also present at various locations at the Rocker OU.

About 200 people live in Rocker. Most of Silver Bow County is forest and range land. The community of Rocker is zoned for residential, commercial and agricultural uses. Land uses in the Rocker OU are currently industrial and railroad uses with some recreational use on the Greenway Trail along Silver Bow Creek. There are many wells in the area that are not currently in use due to the potential for contaminant migration to private wells.

AR, Rarus Railroad, Butte-Silver Bow County, and various private and corporate entities own all property in and near the Rocker OU. The three parcels that make up the Rocker OU are owned by AR and Rarus Railroad. The property currently includes a repository of treated materials contoured to promote proper surface drainage, leaving a 15-foot-high knoll vegetated with drought-resistant grasses. The area of treated materials was fenced to limit access and trespassing. Riprap along a portion of the north side of the excavated area protects against erosion during flood events in Silver Bow Creek.

The Rocker OU properties are currently zoned for commercial and industrial purposes. Institutional controls exclude residential development. Recent changes in land uses in the vicinity include a new recreation trail next to Silver Bow Creek that passes by the Rocker OU.

The Rocker OU overlies three aquifers that are hydraulically connected to each other.

For surface soils, more than 95 percent of the cancer and non-cancer risk was due to the presence of arsenic. No other contaminant (including other metals, creosote and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons) was determined to pose unacceptable cancer or non-cancer risk in excess of EPA's acceptable risk range. For groundwater, arsenic contributed over 99 percent of the future potential cancer risk of consuming groundwater from the shallow, intermediate and deep alluvial groundwater systems. ARARs were not met for several other contaminants.

8.2 Remedial Actions

Remedy Selection

The remedy selected in the 1995 Rocker OU ROD, addresses surface soil, alluvium and groundwater contaminated by wood-treating compounds and mining waste in the Rocker OU.

RAOs for the Rocker OU are:

- Attain groundwater standards (ARARs) or other risk-based levels for inorganic (primarily arsenic) and organic COCs for groundwater underlying and adjacent to the OU, and protect human health during and after cleanup. Owing to the nature of the groundwater contamination, the aquifers of preferred use, and the quality/quantity of water available from water-producing zones within the Rocker OU, this RAO is primarily intended to prevent further contamination of the two lower aquifers. A secondary part of the RAO is to attain ARAR levels outside of waste unit boundaries in the upper aquifer.
- Prevent release of contaminated groundwater to Silver Bow Creek that would result in a violation of surface water ARARs or other risk-based contaminant levels.
- Prevent migration of contaminated groundwater from areas where levels exceed groundwater standards into regions where levels are within groundwater standards.

The remedy selected for the Rocker OU in the 1995 ROD and amended by the 2014 Rocker ESD included:

- Groundwater Source Material Removal and Treatment of Shallow Groundwater: Excavate contaminated soils in areas where groundwater arsenic concentrations exceed 10,000 μg/L. Treat excavated soils with iron sulfate and lime amendments, and dispose of treated soils in an on-site repository. Treat contaminated groundwater. Rely on natural attenuation to achieve cleanup standards outside of the waste unit boundary. The 2014 ESD changed the ARAR for arsenic in groundwater from 18 μg/L to 10 μg/L.
- *Contaminated Surface and Near-Surface Soils:* Excavate surface soils with arsenic concentrations in excess of 1,000 mg/kg to a depth of 18 inches. Treat excavated soils with iron sulfate and lime amendments, and dispose of treated soils in an on-site repository. Cover soils with arsenic concentrations ranging from 380 mg/kg to 1,000

mg/kg with 18 inches of clean soil and revegetate. Implement institutional controls to protect the remedy, prevent future residential use, and to prevent domestic groundwater use until cleanup is achieved.

- *Well Ban and Alternative Water Supply:* Implement a groundwater well ban for new wells within a quarter-mile radius of the OU in any of the three aquifer units. Construct an expanded capacity water supply system for the community of Rocker.
- *Groundwater Monitoring:* Monitor and demonstrate that the requirements of the ROD have been met. Return the groundwater resource to the community after cleanup levels are achieved and provide O&M of the repository and soil covers.

The Statistical Evaluation and Implementation Plan, which is part of the work plan attached to the Rocker OU Consent Decree, established a trigger action level for implementing a contingent groundwater remedy. That trigger action level is an arsenic concentration of 18 μ g/L in groundwater in certain wells. The 2014 Rocker ESD further calls for evaluation of technologies to address the groundwater plume. After the evaluation of technologies, the contingent remedy trigger will be re-evaluated.

Remedy Implementation

The PRP began Rocker OU remedy construction in April 1997 and finished in October 1997. PRPs excavated 48,000 cubic yards of soils contaminated with arsenic above 1,000 μ g/L to a depth of 5 feet below the seasonally low groundwater level. Excavated soil was then treated in a pug mill with iron sulfate and lime amendments. Soil sampling confirmed treated soils had leachable arsenic concentrations below 0.30 mg/L. Treated soils were disposed of in an on-site repository.

The PRP treated groundwater contaminated with arsenic above 1,000 μ g/L in open excavation trenches using iron sulfate, lime and potassium permanganate amendments. During remedy implementation, additional areas of contamination were identified and treated. Groundwater contamination on the south side of the Site was treated with ferrous iron through a groundwater injection trench. Additional soils were excavated, treated and stored in the on-site repository. Monitored natural attenuation was expected to address remaining groundwater contamination. The Rocker OU reached construction complete status in October 1997.

The PRP covered other soils above 380 μ g/L with clean cover soil and revegetated the entire area.

More than 40 monitoring wells were installed during the remedial investigations. During remedy implementation, seven wells were constructed within the remediation footprint as treated source materials were backfilled into excavated areas. Those wells were designated as interior "gravel wells" because their screened intervals were within the treated groundwater that was backfilled with clean gravel. In addition, exterior and contingency (point of compliance) wells in each of the three aquifer zones were installed.

As part of the remedy implementation, a new water main was constructed to connect the existing Butte-Silver Bow County water supply line to Rocker. A 300,000-gallon water supply reservoir

was also constructed to supplement the increased water usage. Institutional controls were implemented and are discussed in Section 8.5. In 2011, the nearby Town Pump truck stop installed two adsorptive arsenic media treatment tanks on their well to ensure the water meets current drinking water standards.

Recent post-remedy monitoring information shows that arsenic concentrations in groundwater were increasing and that the groundwater plume appeared uncontained. In 2014, PRPs began to develop an updated conceptual site model to help understand these issues identified at the Site. After completion, EPA will re-evaluate technologies to address the issue that the concentrations are increasing in certain areas and groundwater plume is potentially not contained. The analysis will also determine whether the implemented remedy can meet the goals and requirements of the remedy selected in the 1995 Rocker OU ROD and revised by the 2014 Rocker OU ESD or whether further remedial action is required.

8.3 Operation and Maintenance

PRPs began quarterly O&M activities in 1998. The specific objectives of the quarterly Rocker OU groundwater monitoring program are as follows:

- Confirm treatment results and track groundwater quality trends.
- Document the long-term efficacy of the iron/lime/oxidant groundwater treatment process carried out in 1997.
- Document potential migration of the arsenic plume.
- Document that nearby public and domestic water supplies remain unaffected by the Rocker OU arsenic plume.
- Document changes in water table elevation and flow patterns following excavation and treatment of the shallow alluvial hydrostratigraphic unit.
- Monitor compliance with groundwater performance standards.

Quarterly sampling events include:

- Measuring the water level in all Rocker OU monitoring wells and staff gages in Silver Bow Creek. Sampling of three private wells and 31 monitoring wells.
- Measuring field parameters in Silver Bow Creek.

Initial surface water sampling was done in 2011 and again in 2014 at Silver Bow Creek.

An annual qualitative inspection of general site conditions evaluates the uniformity of vegetation cover, presence of bare areas, identification of noxious weed infestations, location of erosive areas, condition of ditches, damage due to trespassing, and other conditions. Recommendations are made based on the overall condition of individual components (e.g., vegetation, erosion, security, channels, etc.) of the reclaimed area.

O&M costs were not available for review during this FYR, as those costs are not shared by the PRP.

8.4 **Progress Since the Previous FYR**

The protectiveness statement from the 2011 FYR for the Rocker OU stated:

The remedy at OU7 is not protective because the Town Pump well exceeds the arsenic MCL of 10 µg/L and was being used for drinking water. Additionally, prolonged use of this well could enlarge the existing plume and otherwise adversely affect remediation of the site. Action to prevent domestic/public use of this well and to prevent extensive pumping is needed to ensure protectiveness. Further, it is unknown whether site contaminants are reaching Silver Bow Creek. Other aspects of the remedy currently protect human health and the environment because land use controls are in place to prevent residential development on the OU and a ban on well use within the Rocker OU is still in place. The DNRC instituted a [controlled groundwater area] for the Rocker area and the Rocker residents were provided with an alternate community water system. Existing wells within the [controlled groundwater area] can still be utilized, however well owners have been notified of the potential risks. RAOs were prioritized according to actual or potential use of these groundwater zones. Progress is taking place in lowering the arsenic concentrations in the high quality lower aquifers which are currently used (tertiary groundwater system) and that have the potential to be used (deep alluvium). A [technical impracticability] waiver is under consideration. Ongoing monitoring, continued implementation of institutional controls, controlling site access, and O&M activities are required to ensure long-term protectiveness.

The 2011 FYR included seven issues and recommendations. This report summarizes each recommendation and its current status below.

Issue	Recommendation	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
7.1, 7.2	Evaluate whether additional treatment or a technical impracticability waiver is needed. Review the technical impracticability waiver petition submitted in 2007.	Atlantic Richfield/EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2012	Implemented. The 2007 technical impracticability request was retracted at EPA's request while additional data is collected and alternatives are considered.	08/21/2013
7.3	Follow up to ensure Town Pump continues to use the community water supply and not groundwater.	EPA/MDEQ	12/31/2011	Complete. The recommendation was revised and Town Pump installed an arsenic treatment system on its well to address the issue.	12/28/2011

Table 18: Progress on Recommendations from the 2011 FYR

Issue	Recommendation	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
7.4	Evaluate the current or potential contribution, if any, of arsenic contamination to Silver Bow Creek from shallow groundwater.	Atlantic Richfield	09/30/2011	Ongoing. Atlantic Richfield revised the sampling plan to collect additional data, but EPA is still evaluating whether or not there are additional data gaps that need to be filled.	Ongoing
7.5	Evaluate the protectiveness and continuation of the quarter-mile-radius well ban.	EPA/MDEQ/ Butte- Silver Bow County	09/30/2011	Ongoing. Consideration of reducing the size of the groundwater control area must wait until the conceptual site model is complete.	Ongoing
7.6	Update the monitoring plan to optimize groundwater sampling.	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2011	Ongoing. Once the conceptual site model is updated, the monitoring plan will be revisited.	Ongoing
7.7	Write a decision document to update the arsenic standard.	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2012	Complete. An ESD was issued updating the arsenic standard.	9/30/2014

8.5 Document Review

ARARs

Site-wide ARARs are reviewed in Section 4.4. Site decision documents established federal MCLs and the Montana Water Quality Standards as ARARs for groundwater at the Site. Changes to the standards identified in the RODs are recorded in the 2014 ESD for the Rocker OU. There have been no regulatory changes to groundwater or surface water ARARs since the 2011 FYR. The 2014 ESD incorporated the prior change to the arsenic groundwater ARAR.

Institutional Control Review

Future development and use of groundwater resources in the area was restricted via a well ban, implemented under state law as a controlled groundwater area, which prohibits direct consumption of groundwater via wells in order to prevent migration of the contaminated

groundwater into the deeper, high quality groundwater systems in the area. Land use restrictions in place prohibit interference with or adverse effects to the integrity or protectiveness of the remedial measures implemented pursuant to the Rocker Consent Decree. These restrictions exclude use of any portion of the OU for residential purposes and ban installation of any new groundwater wells. Table 19 describes the institutional controls in place at the Rocker OU.

			Area of Inte	erest – Rocker O	U	
Media	ICs Needed	ICs Called for in the Decision	Impacted Area	IC Objective	Instrument in Place	Notes
Groundwater	Yes	Yes (1995 ROD)	A quarter-mile buffer around the Rocker OU and a small portion of the SSTOU.	Restrict all new appropriation of groundwater.	DNRC- controlled groundwat er area	Institutional control established in 1997. It was expected to be temporary until groundwater in the area was effectively mitigated and the Butte-Silver Bow County Health Department re- petitioned DNRC to remove the designation. The controlled groundwater area remains in place. No petition has been submitted to remove it or reduce its size.
Soil	Yes	Yes (1995 ROD)	Rocker OU	Restrict residential development and protect soil repository.	Butte-Silver Bow County zoning restricts use to commercial/indu strial. In addition, deed restricitons are in place restricting land use.	None

Table 19:	Rocker	OU	Institutional	Controls	(ICs)
I UDIC I/I	Rocher	$\mathbf{v}\mathbf{v}$	monutational	Controls	

8.6 Data Review

Groundwater

Arsenic is the primary groundwater COC at the Rocker OU, so it is the only COC addressed in this data review. Since the 2011 FYR, 21 of the 24 wells that are part of the regular monitoring

program, have had quarterly arsenic concentrations exceeding the new standard of $10 \mu g/L$ at some point since the first quarter of 2011 (Figure G-1 in Appendix G). Some wells are showing an increase in arsenic concentrations over time (refer to the 2013 Annual Monitoring Report for arsenic concentration plots). Three contingency (point of compliance) wells also have reported arsenic concentrations equal to or greater than the new standard during the FYR period. Table G-1 in Appendix G includes a summary of mean arsenic concentrations in select wells since 1998.

EPA noted in the 2014 ESD that the remedy has failed to meet the RAOs for the Rocker OU regarding groundwater and additional remedial technologies need to be considered. Maps should also be developed to depict the current extent of the arsenic plume based on the new 10 μ g/L standard to ensure that the evaluated technologies consider the expanded plume boundaries.

The highest arsenic concentrations continue to occur in the shallow interior wells installed in the gravel zone created by remediation (e.g., RH-62) (which is within the waste unit boundary). Concentrations in some of these wells have declined since the post-remediation rebound event observed between 2002 and 2006 when concentrations exceeded 10,000 μ g/L, but concentrations in many of the gravel zone wells are higher than concentrations detected immediately after remediation.

In November 2014, wells RH-32 (shallow alluvial) and RH-72 (tertiary) were sampled to investigate the upward trend in arsenic concentrations at RH-44. Arsenic was detected in RH-32 at 37 μ g/L and at RH-72 at 230 μ g/L, which both exceed the arsenic cleanup standard of 10 μ g/L. The detection in RH-32 is consistent with the elevated detections observed historically – detections of 30.5 μ g/L in November 1991, 387 μ g/L in September 1992 and 148 μ g/L in July 1993. The detected concentration in RH-72 was the highest arsenic concentration detected in a tertiary sediment well at the Rocker OU during the November 2014 sampling event. This detection suggests that arsenic has migrated beyond its known limits, and vertically into the tertiary sediments. The detection at shallow alluvial well RH-32 is much lower than historical levels but still above the new standard of 10 μ g/L. Additional investigation of arsenic southwest of the Rocker OU boundary, near RH-72, and in the eastern portion of the Site, near RH-32, is warranted to delineate the extent of contamination in these areas and to monitor contaminant trends in these wells.

Arsenic contamination in the alluvium beneath the remediated area appears to be a continuing source of arsenic to the groundwater, as shown by the elevated concentrations in the gravel zone wells. Downward gradients in the northern and western portion of the remediated area are also a concern due to potential for vertical contaminant migration. The 2013 Annual Monitoring Report indicates that a forthcoming conceptual site model will address the potential for remaining arsenic contamination below and within the remediated area.

Arsenic concentrations also remain elevated above 1,000 μ g/L in shallow exterior monitoring wells RH-05 and RH-41. Mean arsenic concentrations in RH-41 have steadily decreased over time, while arsenic concentrations in RH-05, which increased substantially from 1997 to 2006, have remained fairly constant between 2006 and the present. There appears to be a gap in the monitoring network southwest of RH-05. Additional investigation of this area is warranted to refine groundwater flow direction and to determine the extent of the plume in this area.

The 2014 ESD changed the arsenic cleanup standard from 18 μ g/L to 10 μ g/L. During this FYR period, three contingency wells (Ayers, RH-53 and Town Pump) have reported arsenic concentrations equal to or greater than the new standard. At EPA's request and working through the State of Montana drinking water program, the Town Pump well has had a treatment system installed to ensure the water meets the current standard. Recent water sampling by MDEQ at the Town Pump well confirmed the treated water meets the new 10 μ g/L standard. Continued sampling and monitoring is required by the State drinking water authorities to ensure the Town Pump treatment system is functional. Continued sampling under the Superfund program is needed to determine if additional action is required to ensure the Ayers well, and all other domestic wells in the area, meet drinking water standards.

Although the arsenic cleanup standard was changed, the contingent remedy trigger value for action has not been changed from the $18 \mu g/L$ value specified in the Statistical Evaluation and Implementation Plan for the Contingent Remedy, which is part of the work plan attached to the Rocker OU Consent Decree. This trigger value may require additional evaluation in light of the new arsenic standard and based on the forthcoming conceptual site model update.

Surface Water

Because of increasing arsenic concentrations at shallow alluvial well RH-44, located about 100 feet east of Silver Bow Creek, the previous FYR recommended surface water sampling to determine if the plume is migrating and if the contaminated shallow groundwater is having (or has the potential to have) an impact on the creek. Surface water samples were collected in November 2011, February 2014 and February 2015 at one upstream location (RSG-1), one location within the Site (RSG-3) and one downstream location (RSG-4), and analyzed for total and dissolved arsenic. Radon analysis was also included to assist in assessing groundwater gains and losses.

The dissolved arsenic in groundwater concentrations in well RH-44 during 2011, 2014 and 2015 exhibited a continued increase, with concentrations ranging from 430 μ g/L in 2011 to 610 μ g/L in 2015. The surface water data does not exhibit the same trend. The 2011 data show there was minimal change in the dissolved arsenic concentration between RSG-01 (upstream) and RSG-04 (downstream) (Table 20). The dissolved concentrations ranged from 3.1 μ g/L (upstream) to 3.3 μ g/L (downstream). The 2011 radon data collected at RSG-03 and RSG-04 are reported to demonstrate a limited gain to the stream in this reach and that flow measurements indicate that Silver Bow Creek continually gains water as it passes through the Rocker Site. The PRP reported a significant flow increase between RSG-03 and RSG-04 with a small arsenic load increase between the two sampling locations but this increase was reported to be within the calculated measurement error. Further, the surface water results support the small load increase since the surface water data collected in 2014 and 2015 show that the dissolved arsenic concentrations in the upstream sample (RSG-01) are nearly the same with concentrations observed in the downgradient sample (RSG-04) (Table 20).

		Dissolved Arsenic Concentrations (µg/L)				
		Surface Water Groundwater				
Sample Date	RSG-1	RSG-1 RSG-3 RSG-4 RH-44				
11/21/2011	3.1	3.1	3.3	430		
2/21/2014	3	3.2	3	560		
2/11/2015	3.7	3.5	3.8	610		

 Table 20: Comparison of Dissolved Arsenic in Well RH-44 Versus Surface Water

The 2015 surface water data indicate a slight increase in dissolved arsenic concentrations from 2011 and 2014, but this increase was also observed in the upgradient sample. Concentrations in the upstream sample are similar to the downstream sample, so no appreciable contribution from the Rocker site is occurring based on current data. The dissolved arsenic surface water concentrations at the downstream location (RSG-4) also does not reflect the overall increasing trend in well RH-44. However, additional evaluation and characterization of the area is currently being conducted to further determine if the shallow groundwater has the potential to impact Silver Bow Creek.

Figure 11: Rocker Features



Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site.

8.7 Site Inspection

On October 2, 2014, EPA RPM Nikia Greene, staff from EPA contractor Skeo Solutions, PRP representatives, staff from the O&M contractor, and MDEQ and Montana Bureau of Mines staff met at the Site. The group toured the Site to observe the condition of all remedial components, including site fencing, on- and off-site monitoring wells, and the capped landfill area. The Site was well maintained overall; the remedy appeared to be in working order. Chain-link fencing surrounds the Site. The O&M contractor regularly inspects the Site. The capped area of the landfill and non-capped area were well vegetated. One of the wells inside the fenced area of the Site had damage from frost heaves. The complete site inspection checklist is available in Appendix D. Photographs from the site inspection are available in Appendix E.

8.8 Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

No. RAOs for the Rocker OU related to groundwater have not been fully met with the current selected remedy. It has not succeeded in attaining groundwater standards for groundwater underlying and adjacent to the OU. Surface water sampling should continue to assist in completing the updated site model. Additional data is needed to fully determine whether migration of contaminated site groundwater is occurring. EPA has requested that PRPs complete an updated conceptual site model.

The shallow groundwater system in the area of the Rocker OU is not currently used as a drinking water source. Institutional controls are in place to prevent new wells from being installed into the contaminated aquifers. DNRC instituted a controlled groundwater area in the Rocker area and Rocker residents were provided with an alternate community water system. Although there are existing wells within the controlled groundwater area, well owners have been notified of the potential risks and only one currently used domestic well has shown arsenic levels at or slightly above the drinking water standard. Some land use restrictions are in place preventing residential use of the Site and protecting the implemented remedy.

Two existing wells – Town Pump and Ayers – may be impacted by the revised drinking water standard selected in the 2014 Rocker ESD. The Town Pump well has two adsorptive arsenic media treatment tanks installed to ensure the water meets current drinking water standards. Recent water sampling by MDEQ at the Town Pump well confirmed the treated water meets the new 10 μ g/L standard. The Ayers well has arsenic concentrations below the old 18 μ g/L standard, but may have concentrations, at times, just above the 10 μ g/L standard. Continued sampling and monitoring is required to ensure the Town Pump treatment system is functional and to determine if additional action is required to ensure the Ayers well and all other domestic wells in the area meet drinking water standards. Additional information is also needed to understand the potential impact of these wells on the groundwater plume.

The data analysis revealed that additional investigation of the Rocker OU is warranted to refine groundwater flow direction and to determine the current extent of the plume. Arsenic contamination in the alluvium beneath the remediated area, appears to be a continuing source of

arsenic to the groundwater. Given that the contaminant plume is not currently contained, EPA has requested additional data and data characterization from the PRPs. The remedy needs to be re-evaluated to identify changes that will ensure it is protective over the long term and meets RAOs.

Question B: Are the exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of remedy selection still valid?

Yes. The exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and RAOs used at the time of remedy selection in the 1995 Rocker ROD, and revised by the 2014 Rocker ESD, are still valid (the 2014 Rocker ESD incorporated a revised arsenic ARAR).

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

No. There is no other information that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy.

Technical Assessment Summary

RAOs for the Rocker OU have not been met with the current selected remedy. It has not succeeded in attaining groundwater standards for groundwater underlying and adjacent to the OU. Additional data and an updated conceptual site model are needed to fully determine whether migration of contaminated site groundwater is occurring.

Additional continued sampling and monitoring is required to ensure the Town Pump treatment system is functional and to determine if additional action is required to ensure the Ayers well and all other domestic wells in the area meet drinking water standards. Additional information is also needed to understand the potential impact of these wells on the groundwater plume.

Additional investigation of the Rocker OU is warranted to refine groundwater flow direction and to determine the extent of the plume. Given that the contaminant plume is not currently contained, EPA is currently requesting additional data and data characterization from the PRPs. The remedy needs to be re-evaluated to identify changes that will ensure it is protective over the long term and meets RAOs, or whether an ARARs waiver is appropriate.

8.9 Issues and Recommendations

Table 21 provides recommendations to address the current site issues.

Issue	Recommendation / Follow-Up Action	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affects Protectiveness?	
			85		Current	Future
There appears to be a gap in the monitoring network southwest of RH-05. In addition, during the most recent sampling event, arsenic was detected in tertiary well RH- 72 at 230 µg/L, significantly exceeding the arsenic cleanup standard of 10 µg/L.	Upon completion of the conceptual site model, update, develop and review the conceptual site model to determine what additional investigation and/or action for this area is warranted to refine groundwater flow direction and to determine the extent of the plume in the southwest direction.	Atlantic Richfield	EPA/ MDEQ	09/30/2016	No	Yes
Arsenic contamination in the alluvium beneath the remediated area appears to be a continuing source of arsenic to the groundwater.	Evaluate the situation and determine any needed updates to the selected remedy.	Atlantic Richfield	EPA/ MDEQ	09/30/2016	No	Yes
A local private well has arsenic concentrations, at times, above the 10 μ g/L standard.	Determine whether or not this well and all other domestic wells in the area meet drinking water standards and are not having an effect on the groundwater plume.	Atlantic Richfield	EPA/ MDEQ	09/30/2016	Yes	Yes
There is not a complete understanding of how the shallow groundwater interacts with surface water in Silver Bow Creek.	Update, develop and review the conceptual site model to determine the potential impact on Silver Bow Creek.	Atlantic Richfield	EPA/ MDEQ	09/30/2016	No	Yes

 Table 21: Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues

8.10 Protectiveness Statement for Rocker OU (OU 7)

A protectiveness determination of the remedy at the Rocker OU (OU 7) cannot be made at this time until further information is obtained. Further information will be obtained by taking the following actions: completion of the updated conceptual site model and further investigation of private domestic area wells. It is expected that these actions will take approximately 18 months to complete, at which time a protectiveness determination will be made.

9.0 OU 8: BPSOU

9.1 Description

The BPSOU includes impacted soils, mine wastes and contaminated attic dust within portions of the City of Butte and the Town of Walkerville, along with mining-impacted alluvial groundwater and surface water associated with the historical and current Silver Bow Creek floodplain in Butte. Previously identified Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Site OUs 2, 5, 6, 10 and 11 were incorporated into BPSOU.

The BPSOU is situated in a predominantly urban setting. It includes neighborhoods, schools and parks as well as commercial and industrial areas. The communities of Butte and Walkerville were established close to the silver and copper mining and milling centers and facilities as a matter of convenience. Operations of mines, mills, concentrators and smelters in this area generated tailings, related wastes and a variety of other materials that were deposited on-location, in the midst of residential areas. Land use within the BPSOU is subject to county government regulation through local ordinances. The population of Butte peaked in 1920 at 60,313. As of the 2010 U.S. Census, 33,525 people lived in Butte and 675 people lived in Walkerville.

The two primary streams in the valley are Blacktail Creek, which begins in the Highland Mountains to the south, and Silver Bow Creek. As mining production increased, mills and smelters were located along the creek. To accommodate mineral processing activities, Silver Bow Creek was rerouted as needed and used for waste disposal. Tailings impoundments were placed in the floodplain and wastes were discharged directly into the creek. With the advent of open pit mining, most of the original Silver Bow Creek channel and floodplain were fundamentally altered by the Berkeley Pit and Yankee Doodle Tailings Pond. Today, many of the waste deposits along historic Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek remain in place. Most are capped.

Screening studies, remedial investigations and risk assessments have been conducted in Butte since the early 1990s to identify COCs and to quantify actual and potential human health and environmental risks from COCs in tailings, waste, soils, indoor dust, surface water and groundwater.

Possible exposure pathways for humans at the BPSOU include:

- Ingestion of surface soils.
- Ingestion of interior dust.
- Dermal exposure to surface water.
- Ingestion of surface water.

Assessments of ecological risks focused on aquatic habitat in Silver Bow Creek and identified the following potential exposure pathways:

- Fish and benthic macroinvertebrates may be exposed by breathing and touching the surface water and sediment and by ingesting prey or sediment.
- Waterfowl may be exposed by direct ingestion of surface water and sediments or by ingesting contaminated prey.

Previous response actions using Superfund removal authorities and the Butte-Silver Bow Lead Intervention and Abatement Program have significantly reduced some the human health risks. Metal-laden mine waste within the BPSOU has contaminated local groundwater and surface water resources. There were multiple removal actions within the BPSOU from the late 1980s through 2004.¹⁶ The response actions were completed in a manner consistent with the final selected remedy.

The following is a list of previously implemented response actions conducted within the BPSOU.

- Walkerville Time-Critical Removal Action (1988)
- Timber Butte Time-Critical Removal Action (1989)
- Butte Priority Soils Time-Critical Removal Action (1990 and 1991)
- Colorado Smelter Time-Critical Removal Action (1992)
- Anselmo Mine Yard and Late Acquisition/Silver Hill Time-Critical Removal Action (1992)
- Walkerville II Time-Critical Removal Action (1994)
- Railroad Beds Time-Critical Removal Action (1999-2004)
- Storm Water Time-Critical Removal Action (1997-2006). This removal action was incorporated into the 2006 BPSOU ROD.
- Walkerville Time-Critical Removal Action (2000)
- Lower Area One Emergency Response Action (1992-2006). This removal action was incorporated into the 2006 BPSOU ROD.
- Butte Priority Soils OU Emergency Response Action Residential Soils/Source Areas (1994-2006). This removal action was incorporated into the 2006 BPSOU ROD.
- Lower Area One Manganese Removal (1992)
- Old Butte Landfill/ Clark Mill Tailings (1998)

¹⁶ For a detailed summary, see the 2006 BPSOU ROD and the 2011 FYR.



Figure 12: BPSOU Features

Disclaimer: This map and any boundary lines within the map are approximate and subject to change. The map is not a survey. The map is for informational purposes only regarding EPA's response actions at the Site.

9.2 Remedial Actions

Remedy Selection

The remedy selected in the 2006 BPSOU ROD and amended by the 2011 ESD includes components to address contaminated solid media (waste rock piles, smelter wastes, milling wastes, contaminated soil and contaminated dust), surface water base flow and stormwater runoff, and alluvial groundwater. A brief description of the RAOs and components of the remedy selected are presented below. For more information, see the 2006 ROD and 2011 ESD for BPSOU.

Solid Media

The RAOs established for BPSOU solid media are:

- Prevent the ingestion of, direct contact with, and the inhalation of, contaminated soils, indoor dust, waste rock and/or tailings or other process waste that would result in an unacceptable risk to human health assuming current or reasonably anticipated future land uses.
- Prevent releases of contaminated solid media to the extent that they will not result in an unacceptable risk to aquatic environmental receptors.
- Prevent releases of contaminated water from solid media that would result in exceedances of the Montana State Water Quality Standards for surface water.
- Prevent releases of contaminated water from solid media that would result in exceedances of the Montana State Water Quality Standards for groundwater, except where ARAR waivers are appropriate and other means to protect from associated risks are available.
- Remediate contaminated solid media to the extent that it will not result in an unacceptable risk to human health and/or aquatic environment receptors.
- Prevent release of contaminated water from solid media that would result in degradation of surface water, in accordance with the surface water remedial goals.

The action levels selected for COCs in soils, dust and vapor are presented in Table 22.

COC	Exposure Scenario	Action Level (mg/kg)
Lead	Residential	1,200
	Non-residential	2,300
Arsenic	Residential	250
	Commercial	500
	Recreational	1,000
Mercury	Residential	147
	Residential (vapor)	0.43 micrograms per cubic meter
		$(\mu g/m^3)$

 Table 22: Soil, Dust and Vapor Action Levels

Residential Metals Abatement Program (RMAP) aims to reduce risk from exposure to high metals. The RMAP includes comprehensive procedures for sampling, remediation, medical monitoring, community outreach and overall property characterization and remedial status tracking. Contaminated solid media located in non-residential areas include waste rock piles,

smelter wastes, milling wastes and contaminated soils. Major components of the selected remedy for BPSOU solid media are described below for both the residential contamination and the non-residential contamination.

- Continuation and expansion of the Butte-Silver Bow Lead Intervention and Abatement Program, in a way that requires sampling and assessment of all residential properties within and near the BPSOU and abatement if action levels are exceeded for arsenic, lead and/or mercury.
- Addressing contaminated solid media through a combination of source removal, capping and land reclamation.
- Reclaimed areas, including cover soil caps, must achieve the performance standards described by EPA in the Butte Reclamation Evaluation System (BRES). This system is a site-specific tool to evaluate the stability, integrity and degree of human and environmental protectiveness afforded by EPA-sanctioned response actions, or other past reclamation actions on lands impacted by mining within the BPSOU. The system also sets corrective action "triggers," based on the evaluation criteria, for corrective actions.
- Institutional controls are required to protect capped and waste-in-place areas, restrict removal and disposal of contaminated dirt, and determine land use requirements.

Groundwater

The RAOs established for BPSOU groundwater are:

- Prevent ingestion of, or direct contact with, contaminated groundwater that would result in unacceptable risk to human health.
- Prevent groundwater discharge that would lead to violations of surface water ARARs and remedial goals for the BPSOU.
- Prevent degradation of groundwater that does not exceed current standards.

The BPSOU groundwater remedy is summarized as follows:

- The groundwater component requires the continued use of the Hydraulic Control Channel and the BPSOU Subdrain capture and interception system to capture and pump contaminated groundwater (and some surface water) into the Butte Treatment Lagoon facility for treatment prior to discharge.
- Additional groundwater control measures such as infiltration barriers, groundwater diversion or other measures may also be needed and are to be evaluated.
- The groundwater aquifer must be further evaluated and characterized to ensure the effectiveness of the interception and pumping systems.
- Groundwater monitoring and data reporting is required.
- The wetlands demonstration area near Kaw Avenue and George Street will be used for the construction of an emergency overflow pond.
- A five-year shakedown period for operation of the BPSOU Subdrain interception and pumping facility and the Butte Treatment Lagoons is required.
- Treated water discharged to Silver Bow Creek from the Butte Treatment Lagoon facility shall meet all discharge requirements set forth in the ARARs.

• Institutional controls are required to prevent the domestic use of contaminated groundwater.

The 2006 BPSOU ROD contained a waiver of ARAR standards for the alluvial groundwater within the defined technical impracticability Waiver Area described in the 2006 BPSOU ROD. The selected remedy will not, and is not intended to, clean up groundwater to meet groundwater performance standards within the boundary of the waived standards. Therefore, there are no performance standards for groundwater in the area of the BPSOU alluvial aquifer covered by the technical impracticability waiver boundary (Figure H-4 in Appendix H).

Since the selected remedy requires the prevention of contaminated plumes from migrating outside the established technical impracticability zone, the boundary for the technical impracticability zone represents the point of compliance boundary for groundwater. Groundwater performance standards must be met at these points of compliance (Table 23).

COC	MCL (µg/L)			
Arsenic	10			
Cadmium	5			
Copper	1,300			
Lead	15			
Mercury	2			
Zinc	2,000			

 Table 23: BPSOU Groundwater MCLs outside Technical Impracticability Zone

Surface Water and Stormwater

The RAOs established for BPSOU surface water are:

- Prevent ingestion or direct contact with contaminated surface water that would result in an unacceptable risk to human health.
- Return surface water to a quality that supports its beneficial uses.
- Prevent source areas from releasing contaminants to surface water that would cause the receiving water to violate surface water ARARs and remedial goals for the BPSOU and prevent degradation of downstream surface water sources, including during storm events.
- Ensure that point source discharge from any BPSOU Superfund water treatment facility meet ARARs.
- Prevent further degradation of surface water.
- Meet the more restrictive of chronic aquatic life or human health standards for surface water identified in Circular MDEQ-7 through the application of B-1 class standards.
- Institutional controls are required for stormwater controls.

The BPSOU surface water remedy included the removal of in-stream sediments and near-stream contamination in the reach of Silver Bow Creek and certain areas of Blacktail Creek not addressed in the prior Lower Area One non-time-critical removal action. It also required that discharge from the Butte Treatment Lagoons facility meet performance standards for discharges in a permanent manner. For more details, see the 2006 BPSOU ROD and the 2011 BPSOU ESD.

The evaluation and implementation of wet weather control best management practices (BMPs) on a yearly basis to control wet-weather runoff under a variety of scenarios and flows such that surface water performance standards are met is required. If BMPs do not meet surface water performance standards within a 15-year period, the selected remedy provides for contingency measures such as the construction of a collection and treatment plant system for stormwater and/or flow augmentation in Silver Bow Creek.

The selected remedy requires an EPA-approved, comprehensive, long-term surface water monitoring program. It will include collection of compliance and diagnostic flow and chemistry data for normal flow and wet weather conditions in receiving surface waters and within intermittent stormwater conveyances at the BPSOU.

Remedy Implementation

BPSOU remedy design and implementation began in 2007 using existing order authority. EPA issued a UAO for remedy implementation in 2011. Response actions started are summarized below. For a detailed history of the response actions, see the 2011 FYR, Volume 6: Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Design and implementation of many remedial components are still ongoing.

Solid Media Residential

As noted above, substantial cleanup of solid media in residential areas occurred prior to the ROD using Superfund removal authority. After extensive remedial design efforts, EPA and MDEQ approved the Butte-Silver Bow RMAP in 2010. The RMAP requires a multi-pathway approach to address arsenic, lead and mercury above action levels in yard soil, indoor dust (living space and direct exposure to non-living space dust), interior and/or exterior lead paint, and lead solder in household drinking water pipes. Major components include:

- Homes adjacent to the BPSOU that have lead, arsenic or mercury in attic dust will also be addressed in the same manner as homes within the BPSOU (the RMAP defines the area for which attics with elevated levels will be addressed in Appendix A of the RMAP. The area is known as the Residential Metals Expanded Area).
- Properties whose owners refuse access, properties without current exposure pathways and vacant properties will be flagged and tracked in the RMAP database for future action.
- The RMAP requires developing and implementing community awareness and educational programs in conjunction with a medical monitoring program.
- The RMAP has completed 838 abatement projects and has sampled 2,487 residential parcels as of December 31, 2014.

Completed residential contamination remediation activities include:

- Final Multi-Pathway RMAP Plan
- Anaconda Sampling Worksite 137
- PA012 Dump Site 113
- 33 West Missoula
Ongoing residential contamination remediation activities include:

- RMAP assessments
- RMAP cleanups, including attic dust
- Community outreach and education
- Health studies and medical monitoring
- Long-term tracking methods (database)

Non-Residential Contamination

After many years of work under pre-ROD removal actions, and extensive post-ROD remedial design work under orders from EPA, these contaminated areas in BPSOU have now been addressed and have either been removed or have working caps and revegetation. The integrity of the caps is now being evaluated and maintained, which includes corrective actions. These areas are addressed using the BRES evaluation and corrective action tool. The BRES system is being implemented to evaluate and correct where necessary the condition of source area caps. Sites at which non-residential contamination remedial activities occurred include:

- Goldsmith Dump Site 161
- Arctic Site 1530
- Wake Up Jim Site 161 moved to Granite Mountain Area and will not be reclaimed
- Small waste areas surrounding Clark Mill Tailings repository
- Caledonia Street
- Moose Dump Site 12
- Back Fill 007 Site 65
- New and Mahoney Street
- 413 Boardman Street
- Jenny Dell Site 33
- Kelly Mine Yard Entrance
- North Wyoming Street
- 800 North Main
- North Corner of Granite and Arizona
- Green Mountain Shaft
- Streambanks and over bank deposits from the Blacktail Creek/Silver Bow Creek confluence area to Lower Area One
- 424 North Washington Street
- 131 West Copper Street
- 20 additional sites identified in 2010
- Sites within the Granite Mountain Memorial Area
- Syndicate Pit
- Butte Mine Waste Repository
- Colorado Smelter
- Lower Railroad Yard Site 1

Groundwater

Above the confluence of Silver Bow Creek and Blacktail Creek, groundwater is currently being captured by a subdrain (French drain) installed under the Silver Bow Creek channel. The captured groundwater is transported to the Butte Treatment Lagoons for treatment. The

performance of the subdrain is being evaluated and will be improved as needed. Improvements made to date include Lower Area One contaminated alluvial groundwater, along with Missoula Gulch base flow, and the West Camp groundwater is being routed to the hydraulic control channel and the Butte Treatment Lagoon System for treatment. The Butte Treatment Lagoon System at Lower Area One was substantially upgraded in accordance with ROD requirements and those upgrades were completed in 2013. It is now a fully functional and modern treatment facility. In addition, activities including the Butte Reduction Works East End Grading and Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek/ Butte Reduction Works Upgrades work plans, culvert removals in Silver Bow Creek, wetland demonstration area and the localized groundwater study are complete.

The comprehensive groundwater monitoring program throughout the alluvial aquifer is being developed as part of ongoing remedial design efforts. It is intended to ensure proper functioning of the groundwater control and capture system. A draft interim groundwater monitoring plan is in place, giving the agencies access to substantial data to assess groundwater components of the remedy. Ongoing remedial activities include:

- Irrigation controls and monitoring at the Parrott Tailings.
- Groundwater flow monitoring at Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek.
- Butte Reduction Works groundwater and surface water monitoring.
- Conduction of an abandoned aqueduct study and implementation of resulting recommendations.
- Preparation of the BPSOU Subdrain Groundwater Management Report.
- Implementation of selected BPSOU subdrain improvement actions.
- Implementation of the revised groundwater monitoring program.

Surface water and stormwater

As noted above, substantial surface water cleanup work and wet weather control cleanup work was done under Superfund removal authorities pre-ROD. This work included the removal of substantial portions of the Colorado Tailings and Butte Reduction Work tailings in the Lower Area One removal action, and the construction of catch basins in the Missoula Gulch area, as well as controls on railroad facility run-off. Surface water monitoring is occurring under a draft interim surface water monitoring plan. Since 2009, the responsible parties have implemented two cycles of upfront stormwater control BMPs to mitigate contaminated stormwater run-off. These actions included the reclamation and revegetation of areas identified as contamination contributors to stormwater runoff, initiation of stormwater system sediment cleanout activities on a periodic basis, the expansion and improvement of existing catch basins and the initiation of a curb and gutter program.

BMPs completed under the third cycle include:

- Clean out of the Butte-Silver Bow stormwater system.
- Disconnection of illicit connections.
- Continuation of full implementation of the curb and gutter program in Butte.
- Installation of hydrodynamic devices.
- Development and implementation of a Butte-Silver Bow street maintenance and snow management plan.

Ongoing BMP implementation includes the construction of stormwater catch basins at the base of Buffalo Gulch. Additional stormwater data has also been collected and evaluated as part of the current remedial design and implementation process. The full Surface Water Management Program has not been finalized but will be as the remedial design is completed. Surface water data is available to show current water quality and trends in Silver Bow Creek. See Section 9.6 for discussion of the results.

Institutional Controls

Some of the institutional controls have been implemented. They are discussed in Section 9.5.

9.3 Operation and Maintenance

The BPSOU is still in the remedy implementation phase, and with routine O&M on certain components ongoing. Although some of the existing remedial components (Butte Treatment Lagoon System, existing stormwater projects and non-residential soil remedial projects) have O&M components, they are currently part of the continuing remedial design and remedial action phase.

9.4 Progress Since the Previous FYR

The protectiveness statement for the BPSOU (OU 8) from the 2011 FYR stated:

The remedy at OU8 is not protective because aquatic life standards are not met in the stream. Environmental exposures continue. Short-term protectiveness is provided for all other potential exposures by the recently enacted [controlled groundwater area], information/educational ICs, and engineering and access controls of source areas. To ensure protectiveness, remedy implementation must be completed, and municipal storm water contributions to Silver Bow Creek must be abated.

Releases of arsenic and heavy metal contaminants in alluvial groundwater to Silver Bow Creek have been reduced through a comprehensive groundwater control, capture, and treatment system, such that water quality standards are being met much of the time during base flow conditions. The design of a more effective capture system is very important for completion of the surface water component of the remedy. Storm water continues to be a significant source of contaminant loading to Silver Bow Creek during runoff events, and additional remedial actions are necessary.

The RMAP program will continue to obtain access to residential properties within the BPSOU that have not previously been sampled to complete indoor and outdoor assessments (i.e., residential yard soil, indoor and outdoor dust, attic dust, lead-based paint, drinking water, and mercury vapor) and perform clean up actions where necessary. The program anticipates completing these goals by about 2020.

For non-residential areas, engineering and institutional controls effectively isolate identified waste materials, thus preventing human and environmental exposures. Protection of human

health is expected to be strengthened as the BRES evaluation and cover maintenance programs are improved and mature, and as the IC Plan is fully implemented, tested, and enforced. It is important that follow-up on BRES findings be tracked and implemented.

The 2011 FYR included six issues and recommendations. This report summarizes each recommendation and its current status below. The outstanding issues and recommendations identified in that report will be monitored, and are expected to be addressed as the remedy is completed and final operation and maintenance plans are developed. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

Recommendations	Party	Milestone	Action Taken and	Date of
Issue a decision document to	Responsible	Date	Outcome Complete. EPA issued	Action
acknowledge changes in sampling and removal depths for residential properties.	EPA/MDEQ	12/31/2011	ESD modifying soil sampling and removal depths.	07/18/2011
Develop a program to follow up on Butte Reclamation Evaluation System related recommended corrective actions and other O&M for reclaimed areas. Include corrective action tracking, annual work plans, updates to the source area database and an annual audit of the schedule and accomplishments.	Butte-Silver Bow County	12/31/2011	In progress. Butte- Silver Bow County is working on updating the BRES system.	Ongoing
Construct new BMPs on Butte Hill to control runoff. Continue water quality monitoring during storm events to measure progress and long-term trends in stormwater quality. Include careful monitoring and coordination with Butte-Silver Bow County with the stormwater conveyance system in this process.	Atlantic Richfield / Butte-Silver Bow County	12/31/2014	In progress. New BMPs, such as the installation of hydrodynamic devices at stormwater outflows, were installed. EPA, MDEQ, Atlantic Richfield and Butte- Silver Bow County are working together to develop BMPs to control runoff. This is part of ongoing remedial actions.	Ongoing
Evaluate and optimize municipal stormwater collection system in concert with upgrades to the Superfund collection and treatment system.	Atlantic Richfield / Butte-Silver Bow County	12/31/2014	In progress. Butte Silver Bow County continues to upgrade its municipal system. A surface water characterization report that is expected to be complete by the end of 2016.	Ongoing

 Table 24: Progress on BPSOU Recommendations from the 2011 FYR

Recommendations	Party Responsible	Milestone Date	Action Taken and Outcome	Date of Action
Implement an enforceable Institutional Control Plan.	Atlantic Richfield /Butte-Silver Bow County	12/31/2014	In progress. The 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plan has been completed. It is being implemented as part of ongoing remedial actions. A final plan will be produced.	Ongoing
Update the monitoring plan to include ecological monitoring.	Atlantic Richfield	12/31/2014	Complete. Ecological monitoring of Silver Bow Creek occurs as part of the SSTOU. Data collections and analysis addressing BPSOU will continue under SSTOU.	09/30/2015

9.5 Document Review

ARARs

Site-wide ARARs are reviewed in Section 4.4. There have been no changes to groundwater or surface water ARARs since the 2011 FYR.

Institutional Controls Review

The 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plans include details on the types of institutional controls planned and implemented. These institutional control plans are subject to revision and final approval as remedial design continues to meet the requirements of the 2006 BPSOU ROD and ensure the selected remedy is protective upon completion.

Controlled Groundwater Areas. Two controlled groundwater areas established by DNRC serve areas of the BPSOU (Appendix H).

Hook-Up Ordinance/Education and Well Abandonment Program. Butte-Silver Bow County has adopted a "hook-up" ordinance that requires all prospective potable water users to hook into the Butte-Silver Bow County water system where municipal service is available. This institutional control enhances the effectiveness of the controlled groundwater areas and private covenants already in place.

Since the controlled groundwater area does not prevent the use of existing wells, the 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plan calls for the Butte-Silver Bow Water Quality District to implement an education, testing and well abandonment program designed to: a) discourage inappropriate uses of groundwater from existing wells; and b) encourage owners to take existing wells out of service voluntarily. To date, testing of existing domestic private wells have shown they meet water quality standards. The 2014 draft Data Summary Report of Groundwater Quality of Private, Industrial, and Irrigation Wells in the Technical Impracticability Waiver Zone Well Sampling Study identified several wells recommended for abandonment that are not being used for drinking or irrigation purposes. The water district has had funding issues that have prevented implementation of the well abandonment program. Butte-Silver Bow County is in the process of obtaining additional funding to proceed with implementation of these institutional controls.

Excavation and Dirt-Moving Protocols Ordinance and Enforcement. In 2013, Butte-Silver Bow County passed an ordinance (number 13-6, 9-7-2013) that outlines the procedures for the enforcement of the 2009 Excavation and Dirt-Moving Protocols for all dirt-work to be performed in and near the Butte-area Superfund Sites. It is located in Chapter 8.28 - Excavations and Dirt Moving – of the Butte-Silver Bow County Municipal Codes.¹⁷

Stormwater Management Ordinance and Enforcement. In 2011, Butte-Silver Bow County passed an ordinance (number 10-13, 4-20-2011) that outlines the procedures, protocols and requirements for implementing and enforcing effective stormwater management within the Site. It is located in Chapter 32 – Stormwater Management – of the Butte-Silver Bow County Municipal Codes.¹⁸

GIS (and other) Database Description and Management. Butte-Silver Bow County operates and maintains a GIS system that stores information and runs applications pertinent to ensuring institutional controls are implemented and maintained.

Deed Notices on Properties where Waste Was Left in Place or where Engineering Controls Were Constructed. All source area property on which Superfund stormwater structures are located, or on which land use restrictions are required, will have Developable Property or Dedicated Use Property Covenants. For sample language for the covenants, see the 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plans. These restrictions have been put in place on some properties. Implementation is ongoing. With such a large and complex area requiring individual restrictive covenants on multiple properties, a centralized database of these records should be made publicly available via a public website. In addition, annual reporting, as required by the 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plans, needs to be implemented and completed.

In addition, engineering controls and access controls are used throughout the BPSOU to ensure the integrity of remedy components, ensure public safety, and prevent unauthorized use and access to source area properties or stormwater control basins.

¹⁷ <u>https://www.municode.com/library/mt/butte-</u> <u>silver_bow_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT8HESA_CH8.28EXDIMO</u>, accessed on April 17, 2015. ¹⁸ https://www.municode.com/library/mt/butte-

silver bow county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT13PUUT_CH32STMA, accessed on April 17, 2015.

Area of Interest – BPSOU							
Media	ICs Needed	ICs Called for in the Decision Documents	Impacted Area	IC Instrument in Objective Place		Notes	
Solid media	Yes	Yes (2006 ROD)	BPSOU	Protect remedy components associated with areas where waste was left in place. Educate residents regarding the RMAP program and risks associated with residential contamination.	Butte-Silver Bow earth-moving ordinance, restrictive covenants, zoning ordinances, community awareness and education, Butte- Silver Bow County database/GIS tracking system.	A centralized database of all areas with restrictions or needing restrictions will ensure that, upon completion of remedy implementation, a complete review is possible and that annual reporting can occur, as required by the 2010 Institutional Control Implementation Plan.	
Ground water	Yes	Yes (2006 ROD)	BPSOU and BMFOU	Restrict all new appropriation of groundwater. Ensure that existing wells are part of an education and abandonment program.	Butte Alluvial/ Bedrock controlled groundwater areas were enacted. Butte Silver Bow County also enacted a "hook-up" ordinance.	The well abandonment program needs to be implemented.	
Surface and storm water	Yes	Yes (2006 ROD)	BPSOU	Ensure protocols and requirements are implemented and enforced to ensure effective stormwater management. Ensure Butte- Silver Bow County has perpetual access to inspect and maintain water conveyance structures and enact penalties for anyone damaging these structures.	Stormwater management ordinance was enacted.	None	

Table 25: BPSOU Institutional Control (IC) Summary Table

9.6 Data Review

There are a variety of data sources for the BPSOU. Data is collected primarily by three entities: Butte-Silver Bow County, Atlantic Richfield, and the BNSF and Union Pacific railroad companies. This data collection covers the RMAP program, a variety of solid media remedial projects ongoing throughout the OU, surface water drainage and collection, and water treatment at the Butte Treatment Lagoons in Lower Area One.

Residential Metals Abatement Program (RMAP)

According to the 2006 BPSOU ROD and 2011 BPSOU ESD, soil abatements of residential yards in the BPSOU take place when soil lead concentrations exceed 1,200 mg/kg or arsenic concentrations exceed 250 mg/kg. A multi-pathway program is also implemented to abate other hazards (attic dust, interior dust and paint) associated with lead, arsenic and mercury. The program also provides biological testing, education and community outreach. This program requires an assessment of all residential properties within the BPSOU within 10 years and remediation of all contaminated residential properties within the BPSOU within 20 years.

Yard and attic cleanup actions are done annually and summarized in annual Construction Completion Reports prepared by the Butte-Silver Bow Health Department on the behalf of the PRPs. Environmental assessments are also done annually to develop a list of potential abatement projects for the following year. If the contamination is only surficial (less than 12 inches in depth), then institutional controls are typically not necessary for a property after cleanup. If contamination is at depth and not removed, institutional controls may be needed, depending on the use of the property. The text below summarizes the results of annual Construction Completion Reports from 2010 to 2014.

Table 26 shows that all abatement projects were conducted due to the detection of lead above 1,200 mg/kg or arsenic above 250 mg/kg. In 2011, seven additional residences that had received environmental assessments and qualified for soil abatement activities, opted to not allow the Residential Metals Program to perform abatement activities for various reasons. In cases where remediation needs are identified but property owners are unwilling to allow work to be completed, Butte-Silver Bow County is providing education and continuing attempts to convince property owners to comply. Where this fails, Butte-Silver Bow County is tracking these properties to ensure that work is eventually completed as needed, sometimes as part of a property transfer.

From 1990 through December 2014, a total of 2,723 yards within the BPSOU have been sampled (out of 4,000 total properties estimated in Section 5.2.1 of the 2006 ROD). In addition, during this same period, a total of 520 yards within the BPSOU were determined to have exceeded action levels and have been abated. At each removal location, prior to backfilling, a layer of lightweight geotextile fabric is placed over the exposed surface as a marker of the extent of soil removal/replacement and as a visual indicator that the underlying soil may contain arsenic, lead or mercury concentrations above action levels. Backfill material may include replacement soil for yard and garden areas, pit-run gravel base for driveways, sod or seeding.

	Ab	atement F	Projects Co	mpleted	Total	Residences	Number of Environmental Assessments Completed	
Year	Yards	Attics ^b	Interior Living Space	Other	Abatement Projects Completed	Opting Out of Abatement Activities		
2010	24	38	3	NA	65	0	251	
2011	28	41	5	NA	74	7	244	
2012	32	50	1	2 stormwater projects	85	0	251	
2013	33	76	4	1 stormwater project	114	0	208	
2014	26	89	1	2 basements ^c	118	0	305	
FYR Totals	143	294	14	5	456	7	1259	
Since 1990	520	386	43	10	959	7	2,723	

Table 26: Summary of Residential Abatement Projects Completed from 2010 to 2014

Notes:

a. NA – not applicable.

b. Attic insulation is removed in conjunction with any contaminated attic dust.

c. Soils from earthen basements that exceed actions levels are encapsulated with a surfactant, as

appropriate for the space.

In addition to the abatement activities, a clinical and educational intervention program is completed each year. Blood lead screening is available to all Butte-Silver Bow residents. Butte's Women, Infant, and Children Program conducts the testing. In addition to blood testing, families are educated about potential lead exposures in and around their homes. Since the start of the program, 8,568 total blood lead tests have been conducted. Prior to 2013, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommended 10 μ g/dL as a blood lead "level of concern." The Butte-Silver Bow Health Department used this level of concern as a risk management tool to identify children who might have elevated lead exposures so that actions could be taken to reduce such exposures.

Children with confirmed venous blood lead results exceeding 9.9 μ g/dL were referred for case management, including home visits when appropriate, intensive education for the family, environmental investigation and follow-up blood lead testing. Figure 13 provides a summary of the number of blood lead tests conducted by year with the corresponding number of blood level test results greater than 9.9 μ g/dL. As shown, the number of blood lead test greater than 9.9 μ g/dL decreased significantly from 1990 to 2012. Starting in 2013, the Butte-Silver Bow Health Department starting using the new blood lead reference level – 5 ug/dL – issued by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Based on the new reference level, the number of children exceeding this level has increased from 0.1 percent in 2010 to 1 percent in 2014 (Figure 14).

The Butte-Silver Bow Health Department completed a Phase 1 health study in July 2014. It evaluated Butte blood lead records for nearly 3,000 children from 2003 to 2010 along with additional records collected in 2011 and supplemental information about RMAP assessments and

abatements. The Butte-Silver Bow Health Department concluded that blood lead levels in Butte children have declined dramatically since 2003. Average values for 2010 were less than half of the values for 2003, with geometric means having declined from $3.5 \ \mu g/dL$ in 2003 to $1.6 \ \mu g/dL$ in 2010. The geometric means over these time periods are below the new Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reference level of $5.0 \ \mu g/dL$ The percent of blood lead levels above 10.0 $\ \mu g/dL$ declined by a similar magnitude, while the percent of blood lead levels above $5.0 \ \mu g/dL$ declined by an even greater margin, decreasing from 33.6 percent in 2003, to 9.5 percent in 2010.



Figure 13: Summary of Blood Tests Resulting in Exceedance of Lead Reference Levels



Figure 14: Percent of Blood Tests Resulting in Exceedance of Lead Reference Levels

The 2014 Butte-Silver Bow Health Department's Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit Public Health Study Phase 1 also examined the effectiveness of the RMAP for the BPSOU. The Butte-Silver Bow County Health Department found that "the RMAP has been an important community-wide mechanism for identifying and reducing lead exposures from a variety of sources" and their primary recommendation was that the RMAP should be continued.

Stormwater

While the remedy in the BPSOU 2006 ROD is still being implemented, EPA is currently working on a Surface Water Characterization Report that will fully evaluate data from 2008 to 2013. This FYR provides a preliminary summary of the stormwater data that will be more fully presented in that report.

Using all available stormwater data from 2001 to 2014, there has been an overall decrease in total recoverable copper and zinc concentrations at station SS-06G (located inside the western boundary of the BPSOU). From 2005 to 2013, there has been a 96 percent decrease in copper and a 97 percent decrease in zinc total recoverable concentrations. Exceedances of acute standards for copper and zinc continue to occur despite this reduction.

There are clear improvements since 2002. Although Silver Bow Creek has had large improvements in water quality during storm events, stormwater still presents a challenge. Since 2007, the decreases in copper and zinc have been variable. There was a downward trend from 2007 to 2011. The years 2012 and 2013 showed increases and 2014 was lower again. The upstream station, SS-01 (located outside the eastern boundary of the BPSOU), also showed increases in 2012 and 2013. The difference between SS-01 and SS-06G reflects contributions from the BPSOU.

Butte Reclamation Evaluation System (BRES)

Annual reports for 2012 and 2013 were available for review during this FYR. Reports include BRES Field Evaluations and recommended Corrective Action Plans. Annual reports do not include summaries or analysis of the activities at BRES sites within the BPSOU. As remedy implementation continues, EPA is working with Butte-Silver Bow County to ensure future annual reports are more comprehensive and provide a better overview and analysis of BPSOU activities, institutional control status and operation and maintenance activities. In addition, EPA is working with Butte-Silver Bow County in the railroads to centralize all project information and data into a data base.

Butte Treatment Lagoon System

Atlantic Richfield provides quarterly and annual reports on the Butte Treatment Lagoon System. This FYR reviewed the annual reports from 2010 to 2013 and the 2014 quarterly reports. The Butte Treatment Lagoon System went from a full-scale pilot system (required under the Lower Area One removal action) to an upgraded, fully functional, modern treatment facility in November 2013 (required under the BPSOU ROD). The remedy captures, controls and treats groundwater in sufficient quantities to meet performance standards. The Hydraulic Control Channel captures and transports contaminated groundwater to cell-D4 of the Butte Treatment Lagoons for treatment and discharge into Silver Bow Creek. The lagoon system also addresses BPSOU alluvial groundwater as well as West Camp groundwater. As required by the ROD, the effectiveness of current alluvial groundwater capture system at the BPSOU subdrain continues to be evaluated by EPA through the installation of additional groundwater monitoring wells, tracer studies, pumping tests and other evaluations in the BPSOU subdrain, and a dense network of surface water monitoring locations in Blacktail and Silver Bow Creeks. EPA is also evaluating percolation barriers in this area as required by the ROD. Thus, the focus of the data review is to evaluate the effectiveness of groundwater capture through a review of surface water chemistry.

At the Butte Treatment Lagoon System, groundwater is treated with lime and then flows through a series of three settling ponds for the settling of sludge. The review evaluated results from influent location CT-IN04, effluent sample location CT-EFS7 and field grab samples at station MSD-HCC. COCs analyzed during 2010 include aluminum, arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, mercury, lead, silver and zinc. Only those COCs exceeding the MDEQ-7 total recoverable chronic standards (MDEQ chronic criteria) are summarized below.

During 2010, exceedances of the MDEQ copper chronic standard (0.0305 mg/L) in the Butte Treatment Lagoon System effluent occurred five times for copper (maximum of 0.051 mg/L) from April through May. The PRP made temporary changes in routing within the system due to low channel pH and an increase in influent metals concentration related to BPSOU subdrain pumping. Though a direct correlation cannot be made, copper exceedances fall within the period that additional water was handled at the Butte Treatment Lagoons from Butte-Silver Bow County sewage treatment plant dewatering and when brief lime shutdowns occurred for general maintenance. Operators worked to minimize the impact of events. Outside of these instances, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System performed effectively throughout 2010.

During 2011, a slight exceedance of the MDEQ copper chronic standard (0.0305 mg/L) in the Butte Treatment Lagoon effluent occurred once for copper (0.033 mg/L) in November. No correlation could be made between site events and the copper exceedance. Operators worked to

optimize treatment. Outside of this instance, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System performed effectively throughout 2011.

During 2012, a slight exceedance of the MDEQ iron chronic standard (1.0 mg/L) in the Butte Treatment Lagoon effluent occurred once for iron (1.1 mg/L) in March. No correlation could be made between site events and the iron exceedance. Operators worked to optimize treatment. Outside of this instance, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System performed effectively throughout 2012.

During 2013, exceedance of MDEQ chronic standards in the Butte Treatment Lagoon System effluent occurred for arsenic, cadmium and copper. Exceedences of the human health standard of 1.1 mg/L for arsenic occurred 22 times from May through October (maximum of 0.021 mg/L). Three exceedances of the MDEQ chronic criterion of 0.00076 mg/L occurred for cadmium once each in January, May and June (maximum of 0.00097 mg/L). Exceedance of the MDEQ chronic criterion for copper of 0.0305 mg/L, also occurred four times during 2013 in January, and three times in September (maximum of 0.039 mg/L). Copper exceedances followed increased influent concentrations and flows. The 2013 annual report concluded that the overall increases in analytic concentration are likely due to construction activities and resulting reduced lagoon capacities. Operations personnel adjusted the temporary systems to maintain adequate water treatment through construction and continued to optimize treatment after upgrades. Outside of the instances described, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System performed effectively throughout 2013.

Since construction upgrades finished in November 2013, no exceedances of MDEQ water quality criteria were observed in the Butte Treatment Lagoon System effluent samples during all four quarters of 2014. The Butte Treatment Lagoon System performed effectively throughout the year and operators continued to optimize treatment.

Groundwater Capture Systems

In June 2015, EPA completed a groundwater data analysis report evaluating data collected from 2011 to 2013 in support of evaluating the effectiveness of the two groundwater capture systems (the BPSOU subdrain capture system and the Lower Area One capture system) and one treatment system (Butte Treatment Lagoons). EPA evaluates the effectiveness of the capture systems by reviewing surface water data near and downstream of the capture systems where impacts to surface water due to groundwater inflow would be expected to be seen as increases in dissolved metals concentrations.

Silver Bow Creek above Blacktail Creek – Direct impacts to Silver Bow Creek near the BPSOU subdrain pump vault were evaluated by EPA by noting any increases in metals concentrations in surface water between stations SS-04 and SS-05. Overall, slight differences were observed between dissolved copper and zinc concentrations between the two stations, but neither station is reported to be consistently higher or lower. Overall, EPA concludes that surface water monitoring data under base flow and normal high flow conditions do not indicate above-standard impacts by metals in the reach where contamination could potentially escape the capture system in the vicinity of the subdrain. Groundwater elevations data are reported to demonstrate that the water in the Technical Impracticability Zone, east of the pump vault, is being captured by the BPSOU subdrain. Monitoring wells near the pumping vault allow evaluation of changes in

groundwater quality and help evaluate whether contaminated water collected in the subdrain is being released back into the groundwater. Based on the results of the water quality data, the lack of surface water impacts and the hydraulic indications of capture, EPA concludes that the BPSOU subdrain capture system appears to be adequately preventing contaminated groundwater within the Technical Impracticability Zone in the BPSOU subdrain area from significantly impacting surface water at this time.

Lower Area One – Due to construction activities related to upgrades of the Butte Treatment Lagoons system and upgrades to the nearby municipal sewage treatment plant, dewatering has occurred in the Lower Area One area for the period of 2011 to 2013. Therefore, hydraulic capture could only be evaluated based on water quality results. According to the 2010 Groundwater Data Analysis Report, EPA reported groundwater quality at the west end of Lower Area One has historically been poor and the monitoring with wells BPS07-18A and BPS07-18B reported to be likely representative of groundwater quality not captured. Except for zinc and cadmium, groundwater quality at these wells met groundwater remedial goals in 2010. Except for unusually high zinc concentrations in October 2011, EPA reported that the concentrations of cadmium, copper and zinc in these wells were stable to slightly declining from 2011 to 2013 while arsenic appeared to be increasing at BPS07-18A. EPA reported that arsenic significantly exceeded the ROD groundwater remedial goal in wells BPS07-18A and BPS07-18B in 2013; the only other exceedance was zinc in well BPS07-18B. EPA reported that the west end of Lower Area One experienced significant disturbances to the local groundwater system due to construction dewatering for the sewage treatment plant upgrades and Butte Treatment Lagoon upgrades. Following completion of construction activities, EPA expects the groundwater to adjust to post-construction conditions and monitoring data will be evaluated to determine if these wells are suitable for points of compliance or if additional actions or replacement wells are needed.

Technical Impracticability Zone Perimeter Monitoring – The Alluvial Aquifer Technical Impracticability Zone was established in the BPSOU ROD. Since 2007, additional wells have been drilled to better define the perimeter boundary. In late 2011 and early 2012, wells BPS11-11A1, BPS11-11A2, BPS11-11B, BPS11-11C, BPS11-12, BPS11-15, BPS11-16, BPS11-19A2 and BPS11-19B were installed to the south of the existing Technical Impracticability Zone boundary. Results for wells near the Technical Impracticability Zone boundary from 2007 through 2012 for the six COCs with exceedances of the ROD groundwater performance standards are summarized as follows:

- **BT-98-02:** Consistent exceedances of ROD groundwater standards for cadmium and zinc are noted in this well (Table 27). The metals concentrations appear to have increased from 2008 to 2012 and cadmium and zinc concentrations declined in 2012 and 2013.
- **AMW-13:** A single exceedance of the arsenic standard occurred in 2013.Water levels and metals concentrations in this well are influenced by a local source of water and tailings.
- **BPS07-05A**: A single exceedance of the arsenic standard occurred in 2013. A boundary adjustment may be needed to place this well inside the Technical Impracticability Zone.

• **BPS11-04:** All arsenic results have been slightly above the standard in this new well. Since it is inside the Technical Impracticability Zone, EPA determined that it supports the location of the ROD boundary.

EPA reports that the data from the perimeter wells indicate that the Technical Impracticability Zone needs some slight adjustment, to accurately reflect where groundwater performance standards are being met and where they are not. Point of compliance wells can then be clearly determined and installed where necessary.

Table 27: Summary of Technical Impracticability Zone Perimeter Well BT-98-02 Results
Since 2007 (µg/L)

Sample Date	Arsenic	Cadmium	Copper	Mercury	Lead	Zinc
12/21/2007	0.888	4.66	7.73	0.03	0.047	1,750
09/03/2008	1	5.3	5	< 0.1	< 0.05	2,200
10/00/0000	1.0			0.1	0.07	
10/08/2009	1.2	7	5.8	<0.1	< 0.05	2,550
10/20/2010	0.963	7.28	7.05	0.014	< 0.055	2,580
10/20/2010	0.905	1.20	7.05	0.014	<0.035	2,300
10/10/2011	1.27	10.4	6.97	< 0.02	< 0.06	2,590
04/20/2012	0.814	11.9	8.28	0.025	< 0.06	2,940
	1.0.7					
09/24/2012	1.05	9.59	6.92	0.089	< 0.06	2,760
04/15/2013	1.03	10.9	8.04	< 0.02	< 0.02	2,670
Remedial Goals	10	5	1,300	2	15	2,000
Notes:			•			
Well BT-98-02 is outside the ROD Technical Impracticability Zone.						
Concentrations in Bold indicate concentrations that exceed the ROD cleanup goal.						

9.7 Site Inspection

EPA RPMs Sara Sparks and Nikia Green, staff from EPA contractor Skeo Solutions and stakeholder representatives conducted a site inspection of key features at the BPSOU on October 2, 2014. RPM Sara Sparks and staff from Skeo Solutions met at the Granite Mountain memorial area and traveled to various components of the BPSOU remedy on Butte Hill. The inspection then continued with remaining site visit participants with of an overview of the Lower Area One groundwater collection and treatment system and a tour of representative reclaimed source areas on Butte Hill. Reclaimed areas were well vegetated. The site inspection checklist and site photos can be found in Appendices B and C. At the Lower Area One, the inspection consisted of a tour of the new water treatment system and the ponds used for settling and polishing the treated water. Sludge is currently removed using a floating dredge and then allowed to settle and dry in a nearby location.

9.8 Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

Yes. The remedy is expected to function as intended by the 2006 BPSOU ROD and the 2011 BPSOU ESD once complete. In the interim, the RMAP program, currently implemented institutional controls, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System and ongoing remedial activities are ensuring that unacceptable risks are being controlled.

The upgrades at the Butte Treatment Lagoon System have improved effluent conditions for treated water released into Silver Bow Creek.

Stormwater BMPs and other remedial construction projects need to be completed and implemented to make sure there are no completed environmental exposure pathways.

The 2010 draft Institutional Control Implementation Plans includes details on the types of institutional controls planned. These institutional control plans are subject to revision and final approval as remedial design continues to meet the requirements of the 2006 BPSOU ROD and ensure the selected remedy is protective upon completion. With such a large and complex area requiring individual restrictive covenants on multiple properties, a centralized database should be made publicly available via a public website. In addition, annual reporting, as required by the 2010 Institutional Control Implementation Plan, needs to be implemented and completed.

RMAP implementation continues to remove contaminated soil, dust and other material from residential properties throughout Butte and remains on schedule for timely completion. The number of blood lead test results greater than 9.9 μ g/dL decreased significantly from 1990 to 2012. Starting in 2013, the Butte-Silver Bow Health Department started using the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's revised blood lead reference level of 5.0 μ g/dL in their analysis of the RMAP. The 2014 Butte-Silver Bow Health Study concluded that blood lead levels in Butte children have declined dramatically from 2003 to 2010.

Limited documentation is available that identifies progress toward implementing BRES recommendations. PRPs are working toward including all projects in the BRES database. Annual reporting has begun as part of BRES but needs to be improved. As remedy implementation continues, adequate tracking must be established to maintain records showing that corrective actions have been taken to maintain the caps, perform required O&M and meet the program schedule. Community members raised concerns about trespassing and vandalism (all-terrain vehicle riding) on capped areas that were potentially affecting the protectiveness of the remedy.

Concerns raised during community interviews and review of the BRES field forms (see Appendix J) highlighted the link between the BRES system and the surface water management program. At specific source areas, cap erosion was occurring due to stormwater run-on and runoff issues originating outside of the immediate site boundaries. If a source area experiences erosion problems due to stormwater routing, an engineering evaluation is required. Appendix A of the BRES document indicates that the BRES system and the Surface Water Management Program are interactive. Therefore, the engineering evaluation will need to coordinate with any municipal stormwater construction to address such issues.

Question B: Are the exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of remedy selection still valid?

Yes. The exposure assumptions, toxicity data, cleanup levels and RAOs used at the time of remedy selection are still valid.

The findings of the ARARs review found that neither state nor federal aquatic and human health standards have changed since the 2006 BPSOU ROD. Current State of Montana water quality standards (Circular MDEQ-7, published in 2008) are reflective of the surface water quality standards identified in the 2006 BPSOU ROD. No additional exposure pathways were identified during this review that should be addressed in order to evaluate remedy protectiveness. A review of exposure assumptions used in the BPSOU site risk assessments compared to current guidance indicates that previous exposure assumptions remain conservative and reasonable in evaluating risk and developing risk-based cleanup levels.

EPA evaluates lead exposure by using blood-lead modeling for evaluating child and adult exposures since chronic health effects associated with lead exposure have been related to elevated blood lead levels. EPA established a national health criterion that specifies that no more than 5 percent of the population exceed a blood lead level of 10 ug/dL. The blood lead level of 10 μ g/dl continues to be used by the EPA as a basis for risk management decisions at Superfund sites. There have not been any changes in the IEUBK model since the 2011 FYR that call into question the exposure assumptions or cleanup levels established at the time of remedy selection.

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

No, the community involvement process highlighted that there is a fair amount of concern in the community regarding remedy implementation and maintenance at BPSOU. Additional community outreach may be needed to further explain the selected remedy, as well as to reach and inform all community members about the RMAP program. In addition, providing regular ways for community members to report issues with capped areas or stormwater conveyance systems may improve remedy performance. Providing a written response to issues raised by community members concerning the alluvial aquifer groundwater rate of flow, the stability of the contaminated plume in the alluvial aquifer, and the functioning of the subdrain capture system would help to address community concerns surrounding these issues.

Technical Assessment Summary

Once completed, the remedy is expected to function as intended by the 2006 BPSOU ROD and the 2011 BPSOU ESD. In the meantime, the RMAP program, currently implemented institutional controls, the Butte Treatment Lagoon System and ongoing remedial activities are ensuring that there are no completed human exposure pathways. The upgrades at the Butte

Treatment Lagoon System have improved effluent conditions for treated water released into Silver Bow Creek.

Stormwater BMPs and other remedial construction projects need to be completed and implemented to make sure there are no completed environmental exposure pathways.

The BRES system and the surface water management program continue to be the focus of remedy design and implementation efforts. BRES annual reports need to be completed in a timely manner and adequate tracking must be established to ensure caps are maintained, required O&M is conducted and the program schedule is met.

The outstanding issues and recommendations identified in this FYR report will be monitored, and are expected to be addressed as the remedy is completed and final operation and maintenance plans are developed. In the interim, remedial activities completed to date have adequately addressed exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks.

9.9 Issues and Recommendations

Table 28 provides recommendations to address the current site issues.

Issue	Recommendation / Follow-Up Action	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affects Protectiveness?	
	I ono # op monon	poinciore	gj	2	Current	Future
Annual reports on the Butte Reclamation Evaluation System were limited in their analysis and summary.	Provide a Butte Reclamation Evaluation System annual report that is timely, has adequate tracking to maintain the caps, performs required O&M and meets the program schedule.	Butte-Silver Bow County	EPA/MDEQ	12/31/2016	No	Yes
Community members have information about site areas where damage from trespassing and stormwater occur without a centralized way to report this information.	Establish a means for community members to report illegal trespassing, significant stormwater damage and stormwater issues related to Superfund.	Atlantic Richfield, Butte-Silver Bow County, BNSF and Union Pacific railroads	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2018	No	Yes
The community involvement process highlighted that there is a fair amount of concern in the community regarding remedy implementation and maintenance at the BPSOU.	Provide a written response to issues raised by community members concerning the alluvial aquifer groundwater rate of flow, the stability of the contaminated plume in the alluvial aquifer, and the functioning of the subdrain capture system.	Atlantic Richfield	EPA/MDEQ	09/30/2017	No	Yes

Table 28: Recommendations to Address Current Site Issues

The following additional items, though not expected to affect protectiveness, warrant additional follow up:

• Conduct additional community outreach to further explain the selected remedy, as well as to reach and inform all community members about the RMAP program.

9.10 Protectiveness Statement for BPSOU (OU 8)

The remedy at BPSOU (OU 8) is expected to be protective of human health and the environment upon completion. In the interim, exposure pathways that could result in unacceptable risks are being controlled.

10.0 Next Review

The next FYR will be due within five years of the signature/approval date of this FYR.

Appendix A: List of Documents Reviewed

2010 Construction Completion Report, Butte-Silver Bow Residential Metals Program. Butte-Silver Bow Health Department, Environmental Health Division.

2010 Groundwater Data Analysis Report, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area National Priorities List Site. CDM Federal Programs Corporation. January 2012.

2011 Construction Completion Report, Butte-Silver Bow Residential Metals Program. Butte-Silver Bow Health Department, Environmental Health Division.

2011 Warm Springs Ponds Five-Year Dam Safety Inspection Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 3, 2012.

2012 Annual Report, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

2013 Butte Reclamation Evaluation System Technical Recommendation Report, BNSF Railway Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. May 29, 2014.

2012 Construction Completion Report, Butte-Silver Bow Residential Metals Program. Butte-Silver Bow Health Department, Environmental Health Division.

2013 Construction Completion Report, Butte-Silver Bow Residential Metals Program. Butte-Silver Bow Health Department, Environmental Health Division.

2014 Butte Reclamation Evaluation System Technical Recommendation Report, BNSF Railway Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. March 20, 2015.

2014 Construction Completion Report, Butte-Silver Bow Residential Metals Program. Butte-Silver Bow Health Department, Environmental Health Division. February 2015.

2014 EPA Five-Year Review Questions and Responses. MDEQ. November 2014.

Administrative Order for Partial Remedial Design/Remedial Action Implementation and Certain Operation and Maintenance at the Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit/Butte Site. U.S. EPA. July 21, 2011.

Approval of Variance to Consent Decree Concerning Waterfowl Mitigation. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. May 6, 2013.

Arsenic Sample Results. Alpine Analytical, Inc. December 20, 2013.

Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Monthly Report. Montana Resources, LLP. November 2014.

Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Monthly Report. Montana Resources, LLP. December 2014.

Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Monthly Report. Montana Resources, LLP. January 2015.

Berkeley Pit Migratory Waterfowl Mitigation Monthly Report. Montana Resources, LLP. February 2015.

BNSF and UPRR Institutional Controls Plan, Group 2 Draft. March 18, 2010.

BPSOU Press Release. U.S. EPA. September 18, 2015.

BPSOU Surface Water Monitoring Stations Map. Atlantic Richfield Company. 2012.

BPSOU & BMFOU Water Collection & Treatment System Flow Diagram. Pioneer Technical Services. January 5, 2011.

BTL Peripheral Site Systems General Plan View. Pioneer Technical Services, Inc. January 21, 2010.

Building on Mining History: Cleanup, Reuse and Community Resilience at the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site in Butte, Montana. U.S. EPA. May 2014.

Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit, Water-Level Monitoring and Water-Quality Sampling 2009 Consent Decree Update, Butte, Montana 1982-2009. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2011.

Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit, Water-Level Monitoring and Water-Quality Sampling 2010 Consent Decree Update, Butte, Montana 1982-2010. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2011.

Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit, Water-Level Monitoring and Water-Quality Sampling 2011 Consent Decree Update, Butte, Montana 1982-2011. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2012.

Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit, Water-Level Monitoring and Water-Quality Sampling 2012 Consent Decree Update, Butte, Montana 1982-2012. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2013.

Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit, Water-Level Monitoring and Water-Quality Sampling 2013 Consent Decree Update, Butte, Montana 1982-2013. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2014. Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Public Health Study, Phase 1. ENVIRON International Corporation. July 2014.

Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Remediation, Bulletin #19. U.S. EPA. July 11, 2013.

Comments on the Draft Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit Berkeley Pit Slope Stability Evaluation, STRATA Report. U.S. EPA. August 15, 2014.

Community Involvement Plan, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Butte, Montana. U.S. EPA. February 2013.

Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site. U.S. EPA. March 2002.

Data Summary Report of Groundwater Quality of Private, Industrial, and Irrigation Wells in the Technical Impracticability (TI) Waiver Zone, Butte, Silver-Bow County, Montana. MSE Technology Applications, Inc. December 2014.

Draft Final Design Report, Third Cycle Best Management Practices, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. September 27, 2013.

Draft Geotechnical Engineering Evaluation, Berkeley Pit Southeast Corner Stability, Montana Resources, LLP, Butte, Montana. STRATA Services. August 13, 2014.

EQ# 11-1811 Rocker Town Pump Arsenic Treatment (MT0003746), Letter from Denver C. Fraser to Casne & Associates. September 21, 2011.

EPA Superfund Explanation of Significant Differences: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 1, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. June 24, 1991.

EPA Superfund Explanation of Significant Differences: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 1, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. August 31, 1998.

EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 1, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. November 29, 1995.

EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 3, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. September 29, 1994.

EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 4, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. September 28, 1990.

EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 7, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. December 22, 1995.

EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area, EPA ID: MTD980502777, OU 12, Butte, MT. U.S. EPA. June 30, 1992.

Explanation of Significant Differences, Butte Mining Flooding Operable Unit Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site, Silver Bow County, MT. U.S. EPA. March 2002.

Explanation of Significant Differences Rock Timber Framing and Treating Plant Operable Unit (OU 7), Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site (Original Portion), Silver Bow County, Montana. U.S. EPA. September 2014.

Explanation of Significant Differences to the 2006 Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit Record of Decision. U.S. EPA. July 2011.

Final Annual Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- 2010, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. January 20, 2014.

Final Annual Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- 2011, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. January 20, 2014.

Final Annual Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- 2012, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. February 27, 2014.

Final Annual Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- 2013, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. May 27, 2014.

Final Order in the Matter of Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Petition for Controlled Groundwater Area No. 76G-30043832. Department of Natural Resources and Conservation, Water Resources Division. October 30, 2009.

Final Order in the Matter of Petition No. 76G-107614 to the Department of Natural Resources and Conservation for Designation of a Controlled Groundwater Area. Department of Natural Resources and Conservation. December 1999.

Final Order in the Matter of Petition No. 100828-76G to the Department of Natural Resources and Conservation for Designation of a Controlled Groundwater Area. Department of Natural Resources and Conservation. May 1997.

Final Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- First Quarter 2014, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. June 2014.

Final Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- Second Quarter 2014, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. October 2014.

Final Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- Third Quarter 2014, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2015.

Final Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report, Butte Treatment Lagoon System- Fourth Quarter 2014, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU). Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2015.

First Quarter 2012, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

First Quarter 2013, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Fourth Quarter 2012 Operations and Maintenance Report, BNSF Railway Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. January 10, 2013.

Fourth Quarter 2012, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Fourth Quarter 2013, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Groundwater Monitoring Network Map, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Atlantic Richfield Company. 2012.

Group 1 Settling Defendants' Institutional Controls Implementation Plan. U.S. EPA. March 2010.

Horseshow Bend Water Treatment Plant, 2010 Flow Totals. Montana Resources. 2011.

Map of BTL Peripheral Site Systems General Plan View. Pioneer Technical Services. January 21, 2010.

Map of BTL Water Treatment System Routine Sampling Locations. Pioneer Technical Services. February 25, 2015.

Map of Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Site Groundwater Closure Area. Montana DNRC. 2013. Map of Old Butte Landfill-Clark Tailings Groundwater Closure Area. Montana DNRC. 2013. Map of Rocker Groundwater Closure Area. Montana DNRC. 2013.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 19, 2009.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 9, 2011.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 29, 2012.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 25, 2013.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 16, 2014.

MBMG Berkeley Pit Filling Model Update. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 21, 2015.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2009. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35.Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. December 2009.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2010. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. December 2010.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2011. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. December 2011.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2012. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. December 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2013. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35 Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. October 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. November 2013.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. January 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. February 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. March 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. April 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. May 2014. MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. July 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. August 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Remedial Action- Monitoring Program, Contract No. 400022-TO-35. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. September 2014.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monthly Report, BMFOU Consent Decree 02-35-BU-SEH, Data Summary. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. 2012.

MBMG Butte Mine Flooding Monitoring 2002 Consent Decree Program. Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology. June 18, 2013.

Montana's Basin Closures and Controlled Groundwater Areas. Water Resources Division, Water Rights Bureau. December 2003.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. May 2014.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. June 2014.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. July 2014.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. December 2014.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. January 2015.

Monthly Activity Report for BNSF and Union Pacific, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. February 2015.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. May 2014.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. June 2014.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. July 2014.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. December 2014.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. January 2015.

Monthly Report- Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Unilateral Administrative Order. Butte-Silver Bow Planning Board. February 2015.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. May 2014.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. June 2014.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2014.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. December 2014.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2015.

Monthly Report of Activities, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Unilateral Administrative Order. Atlantic Richfield Company. February 2015.

Pond 2 and Pond 3 Dewatering Elevations. Pioneer Technical Services. September 9, 2014.

Record of Decision, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. September 2006.

Responsiveness Summary for 2013 Butte Reclamation Evaluation System Technical Recommendation Report, BNSF Railway Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. May 29, 2014.

Revised Draft Addendum to Design Report, Third Cycle Best Management Practices, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. Prepared by Kennedy/Jenks Consultants. September 11, 2014. Revision to Rocker Fourth Quarter 2011 O&M Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. September 2014.

Second Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. September 2005.

Second Quarter 2012, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Second Quarter 2013, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Settling Defendants BMFOU Quarterly Report, Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site CD, CV 02-35-Bu-RFC Remedial Action-Implementation of the Remedy, Quarter 1, 2014. Montana Resources. April 16, 2014.

Settling Defendants BMFOU Quarterly Report, Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site CD, CV 02-35-Bu-RFC Remedial Action-Implementation of the Remedy, Quarter 2, 2014. Montana Resources. August 14, 2014.

Settling Defendants BMFOU Quarterly Report, Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site CD, CV 02-35-Bu-RFC Remedial Action-Implementation of the Remedy, Quarter 3, 2014. Montana Resources. October 17, 2014.

Settling Defendants BMFOU Quarterly Report, Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site CD, CV 02-35-Bu-RFC Remedial Action-Implementation of the Remedy, Quarter 1, 2014 and Annual Report. Montana Resources. March 20, 2014.

Settling Defendants BMFOU Quarterly Report, Consent Decree for the Butte Mine Flooding Site CD, CV 02-35-Bu-RFC Remedial Action-Implementation of the Remedy, Quarter 1, 2014 and Annual Report. Montana Resources. Revised April 16, 2014.

Signed Cover Letter for Surface Water Sampling Work Plan. Atlantic Richfield Company. November 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, 2010 Annual Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, 2011 Annual Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2012.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, 2012 Annual Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2013.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, 2013 Annual Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. February 2015.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, First Quarter 2010 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2010.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Second Quarter 2010 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2010.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Third Quarter 2010 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. October 2010.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Fourth Quarter 2010 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, First Quarter 2011 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Second Quarter 2011 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Third Quarter 2011 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. October 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Fourth Quarter 2011 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2012.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, First Quarter 2012 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2012.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Second Quarter 2012 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2012.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Third Quarter 2012 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. October 2012.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Fourth Quarter 2012 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2013.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, First Quarter 2013 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2013.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Second Quarter 2013 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2013.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Third Quarter 2013 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. October 2013.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Fourth Quarter 2013 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2014.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Final First Quarter 2014 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. February 2015.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Second Quarter 2014 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2014.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Third Quarter 2014 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. February 2015.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit, Final Fourth Quarter 2014 Operations & Maintenance Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2015.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Storm Water off the Butte Hill, Bulletin #20. U.S. EPA. March 2, 2014.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Summer Summary 2011, Bulletin #15. U.S. EPA. September 21, 2011.

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area 2011 Winter Updates, Bulleting #16. U.S. EPA. November 28, 2011.
Streamside Tailings Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Site. RESPEC. January 2015.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 1: Site-Wide Review Summary. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 2: Stream Side Tailings Operable Unit. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 3: Butte Mine Flooding Operable Unit. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 4: Warm Springs Ponds Active and Inactive Operable Units. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 5: Rocker Timber Framing and Treating Plant Operable Unit. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Five-Year Review Report for Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site, Volume 6: Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8. June 2011.

Third Quarter 2010 Revisions. Atlantic Richfield Company. January 2011.

Third Quarter 2012, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Third Quarter 2013, Mann-Kendall Revisions.

Warm Springs Ponds Lime Rate Optimization Pilot Study Work Plan. Atlantic Richfield Company. September 2013.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Monthly Discharge Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2014.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Monthly Discharge Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. April 2014.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Monthly Discharge Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. July 2014.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Monthly Discharge Monitoring Report. Atlantic Richfield Company. February 2015.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Transmittal of Annual Summary Graphs and Tables. Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2013.

Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Transmittal of Annual Summary Graphs and Tables.Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2014.Warm Springs Ponds Operable Units Transmittal of Annual Summary Graphs and Tables.Atlantic Richfield Company. March 2015.

Warm Springs Ponds Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report, April 1 through June 30, 2014. Atlantic Richfield Company. October 10, 2014.

Work Plan for Water Level Measurements in Domestic Wells at the Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit. November 2011.

Work Plan for Water Level Measurements in Domestic Wells at the Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit. February 2014.

Work Plan for Water Level Measurements in Domestic Wells at the Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit. January 2015.

Appendix B: Site Inspection Checklists

	FIVE-YEAR REVIEW SITE INSPECTION CHECKLIST							
<u></u>	I. SITE INFORMATION							
	me: Silver Bow Creek/Butt side Tailings Operable Uni	Date of Inspection: 10/1/	2014					
Locatio	on and Region: Butte, MT F	Region 8	EPA ID: MTD98050277	7				
Agency Review	r, Office or Company Leadi : EPA	ng the Five-Year	Weather/Temperature:	Upper 40's, part	ly cloudy.			
Remed	Remedy Includes: (Check all that apply) Monitored natural attenuation Landfill cover/containment Monitored natural attenuation Access controls Ground water containment Institutional controls Vertical barrier walls Ground water pump and treatment Surface water collection and treatment Other: Other:							
Attach	ments:	roster attached	Site map attached					
]	II. INTERVIEWS (check all that apply)					
Repo	ort attached: See section 4.3 a	nd Appendix J						
	III. ON-SITE DOCU	JMENTS AND REC	ORDS VERIFIED (chec	k all that apply)				
1.	O&M Documents							
	O&M manual	🗌 Readily availabl	e Dp to date	\boxtimes N	J/A			
	As-built drawings	⊠Readily available	Up to date	te 🗌 N/A				
	Maintenance logs	⊠Readily available	Up to date		N/A			
	Remarks:							
2.	Site-Specific Health and	Safety Plan	⊠Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Contingency plan/emer	rgency response	⊠Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Remarks:							
3.	O&M and OSHA Traini	ng Records	⊠Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Remarks:							
4. Permits and Service Agreements								
	Air discharge permit		Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Effluent discharge		Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Waste disposal, POTW	7	Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Other permits:		Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
	Remarks:							

5.	Gas Generation Reco	ords	Readily available	Up to date	N/A	
	Remarks:					
6.	Settlement Monume	nt Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A	
	Remarks:					
7.	Ground Water Mon		Readily available	Up to date	N/A	
	Remarks:					
8.	Leachate Extraction	Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A	
	Remarks:					
9.	Discharge Complian	ce Records				
	Air	Readily available	Up to date	\boxtimes N	[/A	
	Water (effluent)	Readily available	Up to date	\boxtimes N	[/A	
	Remarks:					
10.	Daily Access/Securit	y Logs	Readily available	Up to date	N/A	
	Remarks:					
	IV. O&M COSTS					
1.	O&M Organization					
	State in-house	[Contractor for state			
	PRP in-house	[Contractor for PRP			
	Federal facility in-	house	Contractor for Federa	l facility		
	SSTOU is not yet c	onstruction complete. there	fore, it has not yet entered	ed the O&M phase	<u>.</u>	
2.	O&M Cost Records					
	Readily available	[Up to date			
	Funding mechanis	m/agreement in place	Unavailable			
	Original O&M cost es	timate: 🗌 Breakdo	wn attached			
		Total annual cost by year	for review period if avai	lable		
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		reakdown attache	d	
	Date	Date	Total cost			
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		reakdown attache	đ	
	Date	Date	Total cost			
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		reakdown attache	b	
	Date	Date	Total cost			
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		reakdown attache	d	
	Date	Date	Total cost			
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		breakdown attache	d	
	Date	Date	Total cost			

3.						
	Describe costs and reasons:					
	V. ACCESS AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS	pplicable N/A				
A. F	Pencing					
1.		es secured N/A				
D 0	Remarks: <u>Those areas under construction were fenced off from the p</u>					
	Other Access Restrictions					
1.	Signs and Other Security Measures Location sh Remarks:	nown on site map $\square N/A$				
C. I	nstitutional Controls (ICs)					
1.	Implementation and Enforcement					
	Site conditions imply ICs not properly implemented	☐ Yes ☐ No ⊠N/A				
	Site conditions imply ICs not being fully enforced	Yes No N/A				
	Type of monitoring (e.g., self-reporting, drive by):					
	Frequency:					
	Responsible party/agency: <u>State</u>					
	Contact	mm/dd/yyyy				
	Name Title	Date Phone no.				
	Reporting is up to date	☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ N/A				
	Reports are verified by the lead agency	Yes No N/A				
	Specific requirements in deed or decision documents have been met	Yes No N/A				
	Violations have been reported	Yes No N/A				
	Other problems or suggestions: Report attached					
2.	Adequacy \Box ICs are adequate \boxtimes ICs are inad	equate 🗌 N/A				
	Remarks: <u>ICs are not yet in place to prohibit activities that would disturb capped areas. The majority of capped areas are on properties owned by the state.</u>					
D. G	Seneral					
1.	Vandalism/Trespassing Decation shown on site map No Remarks:	o vandalism evident				
2.	Land Use Changes On Site					
	Remarks:					
3.	Land Use Changes Off Site N/A Remarks:					

	VI. GENERAL SITE CONDITIONS					
A.	Roads Applicable	□ N/A				
1.	1. Roads Damaged □ Location shown on site map ⊠Roads adequate □ N/A Remarks:					
B.	Other Site Conditions					
	Remarks:					
	VII. LA	ANDFILL COVERS Applicab	le 🖾 N/A			
A.	Landfill Surface					
1	. Settlement (low spots)	Location shown on site map	Settlement not evident			
	Arial extent:	Depth:				
	Remarks:					
2		Location shown on site map	Cracking not evident			
	Lengths:	Widths:	Depths:			
	Remarks:					
3	. Erosion	Location shown on site map	Erosion not			
	evident Arial extent:		Depth:			
	Remarks:					
4	. Holes	Location shown on site map	Holes not evident			
	Arial extent:		Depth:			
	Remarks:					
5	. Vegetative Cover	Grass	Cover properly established			
	No signs of stress	Trees/shrubs (indicate size and lo	ocations on a diagram)			
	Remarks:					
6	Alternative Cover (e.g	., armored rock, concrete)	N /A			
	Remarks:					
7	. Bulges	Location shown on site map	Bulges not evident			
	Arial extent:		Height:			
	Remarks:					
	8. Wet Areas/Water					
	Wet areas	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:			
	Ponding	\Box Location shown on site map	Arial extent:			
	Seeps	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:			
	Soft subgrade	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:			
	Remarks:					

9.	Slope Instability Slides		Location shown on site map	
	No evidence of slope in			
	Arial extent:			
	Remarks:			
B. B	enches Applic	able 🗌 N/A		
			ndfill side slope to interrupt the slope in convey the runoff to a lined channel.)	
1.	Flows Bypass Bench	Location shown on site map	N/A or okay	
	Remarks:			
2.	Bench Breached	Location shown on site map	N/A or okay	
	Remarks:			
3.	Bench Overtopped	Location shown on site map	N/A or okay	
	Remarks:			
C. L		Applicable N/A		
		low the runoff water collected by the	ions that descend down the steep side benches to move off of the landfill	
1.	Settlement (Low spots)	Location shown on site map	No evidence of settlement	
	Arial extent:		Depth:	
	Remarks:			
2.	Material Degradation	Location shown on site map	No evidence of degradation	
	Material type:		Arial extent:	
	Remarks:			
3.	Erosion	Location shown on site map	No evidence of erosion	
	Arial extent:		Depth:	
	Remarks:			
4.	Undercutting	Location shown on site map	No evidence of undercutting	
	Arial extent:		Depth:	
	Remarks:			
5.	Obstructions	Туре:	No obstructions	
	Location shown on site	map Arial extent:	_	
	Size:			
	Remarks:			

б.	Excessive Vegetative Grow	rth Ty	pe:		
	No evidence of excessive growth				
	Vegetation in channels does not obstruct flow				
	Location shown on site m	ap Ar	ial extent:		
	Remarks:				
D. Cov	ver Penetrations	Applicable 🗌 N	//A		
1.	Gas Vents	Active	Passi	ive	
	Properly secured/locked	Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition	
	Evidence of leakage at pe	netration	Needs maintenance	N/A	
	Remarks:				
2.	Gas Monitoring Probes				
	Properly secured/locked	Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition	
	Evidence of leakage at pe	netration	Needs maintenance	N /A	
	Remarks:				
3.	Monitoring Wells (within su	rface area of landfill))		
	Properly secured/locked	Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition	
	Evidence of leakage at pe	netration	Needs maintenance	N /A	
	Remarks:				
4.	Extraction Wells Leachate				
	Properly secured/locked	Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition	
	Evidence of leakage at pe	enetration	Needs maintenance	□ N/A	
	Remarks:				
5.	Settlement Monuments	Located	Routinely surveyed	N/A	
	Remarks:				
E. Gas	Collection and Treatment		N/A		
1.	Gas Treatment Facilities				
	☐ Flaring	Thermal destru	ction	Collection for reuse	
	Good condition	Needs mainten	ance		
	Remarks:				
2.	Gas Collection Wells, Manif	folds and Piping			
	Good condition	Needs mainten	ance		
	Remarks:				
3.	Gas Monitoring Facilities (e	.g., gas monitoring o	of adjacent homes or building	ngs)	
	Good condition	Needs mainten	ance 🗌 N/A		
	Remarks:				

F. C	over Drainage Layer	Applicable N/A			
1.	Outlet Pipes Inspected	Functioning	□ N/A		
	Remarks:				
2.	Outlet Rock Inspected	Functioning	N/A		
	Remarks:				
G. D	etention/Sedimentation Pond	ls Applicable	□ N/A		
1.	Siltation Area	extent: Depth:	N/A		
	Siltation not evident				
	Remarks:				
2.		extent: Depth:	_		
	Erosion not evident				
	Remarks:				
3.	Outlet Works	nctioning	N /A		
	Remarks:				
4.	Dam 🗌 Fu	nctioning	N /A		
	Remarks:				
H. R	etaining Walls	Applicable N/A			
1.	Deformations	Location shown on site map	Deformation not evident		
	Horizontal displacement:	Vertical di	splacement:		
	Rotational displacement:				
	Remarks:				
2.	Degradation	Location shown on site map	Degradation not evident		
	Remarks:				
I. Pe	rimeter Ditches/Off-Site Disc	charge Applicable	□ N/A		
1.	Siltation	Location shown on site map	Siltation not evident		
	Area extent:		Depth:		
	Remarks:				
2.	Vegetative Growth	Location shown on site map	□ N/A		
	Vegetation does not imp	ede flow			
	Area extent:		Туре:		
	Remarks:				
3.	Erosion	Location shown on site map	Erosion not evident		
	Area extent:		Depth:		
	Remarks:				

4.	Discharge Structure	Functioning		N/A
	Remarks:			
VIII.	VERTICAL BARRIE	R WALLS	Applicable	⊠N/A
1.	Settlement	Location show	n on site map	Settlement not evident
	Area extent:			Depth:
	Remarks:			
2.	Performance Monito	ring Type of monitorin	g:	
	Performance not m	nonitored		
	Frequency:			Evidence of breaching
	Head differential:			
	Remarks:			
IX. C	GROUND WATER/SU	RFACE WATER REME	DIES App	licable N/A
A. G	round Water Extractio	on Wells, Pumps and Pipe	lines	Applicable N/A
1.	Pumps, Wellhead Plu	umbing and Electrical		
	Good condition	All required wells pro	operly operating	g \square Needs maintenance \square N/A
	Remarks:			
2.	Extraction System Pi	ipelines, Valves, Valve Bo	exes and Other	Appurtenances
	Good condition	Needs maintenance		
	Remarks:			
3.	Spare Parts and Equ	ipment		
	Readily available	Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good	Requires	upgrade 🗌 Needs to be
	Remarks:			
B. Sı	urface Water Collection	n Structures, Pumps and 1	Pipelines	\square Applicable $\square N/A$
1.	Collection Structures	s, Pumps and Electrical		
	Good condition	Needs maintenance		
	Remarks:			
2.	Surface Water Collection System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances			
	Good condition	Needs maintenance		
	Remarks:			
3.	Spare Parts and Equ	ipment		
	Readily available	Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good	Requires	upgrade Needs to be
	Remarks:			

C. T	atment System Applicable N/A					
1.	Treatment Train (check components that apply)					
	Metals removal Oil/water separation Bioremediation					
	Air stripping Carbon adsorbers					
	Filters:					
	Additive (e.g., chelation agent, flocculent):					
	Others:					
	Good condition					
	Sampling ports properly marked and functional					
	Sampling/maintenance log displayed and up to date					
	Equipment properly identified					
	Quantity of ground water treated annually:					
	Quantity of surface water treated annually:					
	Remarks:					
2.	Electrical Enclosures and Panels (properly rated and functional)					
	N/A Good Needs maintenance condition Needs					
	Remarks:					
3.	Tanks, Vaults, Storage Vessels					
	N/A Good Proper secondary containment Needs maintenance condition Needs Needs					
	Remarks:					
4.	Discharge Structure and Appurtenances					
	N/A Good Needs maintenance condition Needs					
	Remarks:					
5.	Treatment Building(s)					
	N/A Good condition (esp. roof and doorways) Needs repair					
	Chemicals and equipment properly stored					
	Remarks:					

6.	Monitoring Wells (pump and treatment remedy)			
	Properly secured/locked	☐ Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition
	All required wells located Remarks:	Needs mainter	nance	□ N/A
D. M	onitoring Data			
1.	Monitoring Data			
	Is routinely submitted on tir	ne	Is of acceptable qual	lity
2.	Monitoring Data Suggests:			
	Ground water plume is effect contained	ctively	Contaminant concent	rations are declining
	onitored Natural Attenuation			
1.	Monitoring Wells (natural atte	•		
	Properly secured/locked	Functionii		
	All required wells located Needs maintenance N/A			
	Remarks:			
	re are remedies applied at the site and condition of any facility asso		ove, attach an inspection sh nedy. An example would be	
А.	Implementation of the Remed			
	Describe issues and observations relating to whether the remedy is effective and functioning as designed. Begin with a brief statement of what the remedy is designed to accomplish (e.g., to contain contaminant plume, minimize infiltration and gas emissions). The majority of the SSTOU has been completed and the remaining areas are expected to be completed in the next year. The stream appears well contoured and the covered areas are well vegetated.			
В.	Adequacy of O&M			
	Describe issues and observations related to the implementation and scope of O&M procedures. In particular, discuss their relationship to the current and long-term protectiveness of the remedy. The SSTOU is not yet construction complete. therefore, it has not yet entered the O&M phase.			
C.	Early Indicators of Potential			
	Describe issues and observations such as unexpected changes in the cost or scope of O&M or a high frequency of unscheduled repairs that suggest that the protectiveness of the remedy may be compromised in the future. None noted.			
D.	Opportunities for Optimization			
	Describe possible opportunities None noted.	for optimization ir	n monitoring tasks or the op	eration of the remedy.

Site Inspection Participants Kristine Edwards, EPA

Kristine Edwards, EPA Joel Chavez, MDEQ Treat Suomi, Skeo Solutions Ryan Burdge, Skeo Solutions Emily Chi, Skeo Solutions

	FIVE-YEAR REVIEW SITE INSPECTION CHECKLIST						
	I. SITE INFORMATION						
	ne: Silver Bow Creek/Butte he Flooding Operable Unit ()		Date of Inspection: 10/2/	2014			
Location	n and Region: Butte, MT Re	egion 8	EPA ID: MTD98050277	7			
Agency, Review:	Office or Company Leadin EPA	g the Five-Year	Weather/Temperature: party cloudy.	Upper 40's to low	v 50's,		
Remedy	Remedy Includes: (Check all that apply) Image: Monitored natural attenuation Image: Landfill cover/containment Monitored natural attenuation Image: Access controls Ground water containment Image: Institutional controls Vertical barrier walls Image: Ground water pump and treatment Surface water collection and treatment Image: Other Other						
Attachm	nents: [Inspection team r	oster attached	Site map attached				
	II	. INTERVIEWS (check all that apply)				
Repor	t attached: See section 4.3 an	d Appendix J					
III. (ON-SITE DOCUMENTS A	ND RECORDS VE	RIFIED (check all that ap	oply)			
1.	O&M Documents						
	⊠O&M manual ⊠As-built drawings ⊠Maintenance logs Remarks:	⊠Readily available ⊠Readily available ⊠Readily available	Up to date		/A /A /A		
2.	Site-Specific Health and S	afety Plan	⊠Readily available	Up to date	N/A		
	⊠Contingency plan/emerge plan	ency response	⊠Readily available	Up to date	N/A		
	Remarks:						
3.	O&M and OSHA Trainin Remarks:	g Kecords	Readily available	Up to date	N/A		
I							

4.	Permits and Service Agreements	
	Air discharge permit	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date $\bigotimes N/A$
	Effluent discharge	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date $\boxtimes N/A$
	🗌 Waste disposal, POTW	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \Box N/A
	Other permits:	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date $\boxtimes N/A$
	Remarks: <u>Current mining operations are authors</u> Superfund Site.	prized by the State of Montana, outside the scope of the
5.	Gas Generation Records	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A
	Remarks:	
6.	Settlement Monument Records	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A
	Remarks:	
7.	Ground Water Monitoring Records	\boxtimes Readily available \boxtimes Up to date \square N/A
	Remarks:	
8.	Leachate Extraction Records	☐ Readily available ☐ Up to date ⊠ N/A
	Remarks:	
9.	Discharge Compliance Records	
	Air Readily availa	ble \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A
	Water (effluent)	ble \square Up to date \square N/A
	Remarks: No water was discharged to Silver E	Bow Creek during the past five years.
10.	Daily Access/Security Logs	\square Readily available \square Up to date \square N/A
	Remarks:	
IV. 08	&M COSTS	
1.	O&M Organization	
	State in-house	Contractor for state
	PRP in-house	Contractor for PRP
	Federal facility in-house	Contractor for Federal facility
2.	O&M Cost Records	
	Readily available	Up to date
	⊠Funding mechanism/agreement in place	⊠Unavailable
	Original O&M cost estimate: Dreal	kdown attached
	Total annual cost by ye	ear for review period if available
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u> To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	Breakdown attached
	Date Date	Total cost
Remark	ks: O&M costs were not available for review duri	ingthis FYR.

3.	3. Unanticipated or Unusually High O&M Costs during Review Period						
	Describe costs and reasons:						
	V. ACCESS AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS Applicable N/A						
A. Fe	encing						
1.	Fencing Damaged Location shown on site map	Gate	s secured	□ N/	A		
1 · 1	Remarks: <u>BMFOU is part of a highly secure active mining</u>	g operation.	Access is r	estricted a	and security is		
<u>high.</u>							
	B. Other Access Restrictions						
1.		Location sho	own on site	map	□ N/A		
	Remarks: Appropriate signs are posted at mine area access	<u>s points.</u>					
C. In	stitutional Controls (ICs)						
1.	Implementation and Enforcement						
	Site conditions imply ICs not properly implemented		Yes	🖂 No	N/A		
	Site conditions imply ICs not being fully enforced		Yes	🔀 No	N/A		
	Type of monitoring (e.g., self-reporting, drive by): Check of	of deed recon	rds during	the FYR j	process.		
	Frequency: Every five years						
	Responsible party/agency: <u>EPA</u>						
	Contact		<u>mm/dd/yy</u>	<u>/yy</u>			
	Name Title		Date	Р	hone no.		
	Reporting is up to date		Yes Yes	🗌 No	N/A		
	Reports are verified by the lead agency		Yes	🗌 No	N/A		
	Specific requirements in deed or decision documents have b	been met	Yes	No	N/A		
	Violations have been reported		Yes	No	N/A		
	Other problems or suggestions: Report attached						
	Remarks: See section 6.5 of the current FYR for further of	discusion of	ICs.				
2.	Adequacy SICs are adequate	ICs are inade	equate		N/A		
	Remarks: See section 6.5 of the current FYR for further dis	cusion of IC	<u>s.</u>				
D. Ge	eneral						
1.	Vandalism/Trespassing Location shown on site map	o 🛛 No	vandalism	evident			
2.	Land Use Changes On Site						
Reman	rks: The BMFOU includes the Berkely Pit, Horsehoe Bend w	ater treatme	nt plant an	d active a	reas of the MR		
3.	Land Use Changes Off Site						
Rema	_						

		VI. GENERAL SITE CONDITIONS
A. R	oads 🛛 🖂 Applicabl	e 🗌 N/A
1.	Roads Damaged Remarks:	\Box Location shown on site map \square Roads adequate \square N/A
	B. Other Site Condit	ions
	Remarks:	
	VII	. LANDFILL COVERS Applicable N/A
	VIII. VER	TICAL BARRIER WALLS Applicable N/A
	IX. GROUNI	D WATER/SURFACE WATER REMEDIES Applicable N/A
A. G	round Water Extractio	n Wells, Pumps and Pipelines
1.	Pumps, Wellhead Plu	imbing and Electrical
	Good condition	\Box All required wells properly operating \Box Needs maintenance \Box N/A
	WTP is currently under	be Bend Water Treatment Plant is currently operating at less than capacity. The ergoing an optimization plan. The reactors have formed cracks and arecurrently rs were taken out of operation.
2.	Extraction System Pi	pelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances
	Good condition	Needs maintenance
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equ	ipment
	⊠Readily available	Good Requires upgrade Needs to be provided condition
	Remarks:	
B. Su	rface Water Collection	A Structures, Pumps and Pipelines Applicable N/A
1.	Collection Structures	s, Pumps and Electrical
	Good condition	Needs maintenance
	Remarks:	
2.	Surface Water Colle	ction System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances
	Good condition	Needs maintenance
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equ	ipment
	Readily available	Good Requires upgrade Needs to be provided condition
	Remarks:	

С. Т	C. Treatment System						
1.	1. Treatment Train (check components that apply)						
	Metals removal Oil/water separation Bioremediation						
	Air stripping Carbon adsorbers						
	Filters:						
	Additive (e.g., chelation agent, flocculent):						
	□ Others:						
	Good condition						
	Sampling ports properly marked and functional						
	Sampling/maintenance log displayed and up to date						
	Equipment properly identified						
	Quantity of ground water treated annually: <u>Between 1.5 and 2 billion gallons</u>						
	Quantity of surface water treated annually:						
2.	Electrical Enclosures and Panels (properly rated and functional)						
	□ N/A ⊠Good □ Needs maintenance condition						
	Remarks:						
3.	Tanks, Vaults, Storage Vessels						
	N/A Good Proper secondary containment Needs maintenance condition						
	Remarks:						
4.	Discharge Structure and Appurtenances						
	□ N/A Good □ Needs maintenance condition						
	Remarks:						
5.	Treatment Building(s)						
	□ N/A ⊠Good condition (esp. roof and □ Needs repair doorways)						
	Chemicals and equipment properly stored						
	Remarks:						

6.	Monitoring Wells (pump and treatment remedy)					
	Properly secured/locked	⊠ Functioning	⊠Routinely sampled	Good condition		
	All required wells located Remarks:	□ Needs mainte	enance	□ N/A		
D. M	onitoring Data					
1.	Monitoring Data					
	SIs routinely submitted on tim	ie	⊠ Is of acceptable qua	lity		
2.	Monitoring Data Suggests:					
	Ground water plume is effect contained	ctively	Contaminant concer	trations are declining		
Е. М	onitored Natural Attenuation					
1.	Monitoring Wells (natural atte	enuation remedy)	ing 🗌 Routinely samp	led 🗌 Good condition		
	All required wells located	Needs m	aintenance	⊠N/A		
	Remarks:					
		X. OTHER	REMEDIES			
	re are remedies applied at the site e and condition of any facility ass	ociated with the re				
А.	Implementation of the Ren		JOSEK VALIONS			
	Describe issues and observation Begin with a brief statement of plume, minimize infiltration an <u>The Berkeley Pit is filling with</u> <u>aquifers and also from surface</u> <u>contaminated mine water is cor</u>	ns relating to wheth what the remedy in d gas emissions). <u>contaminated wate</u> inflows. As the Be	is designed to accomplish (e	e.g., to contain contaminant		
			uacy of O&M			
	Describe issues and observations related to the implementation and scope of O&M procedures. In particular, discuss their relationship to the current and long-term protectiveness of the remedy. Not Applicable					
			Potential Remedy Proble			
	Describe issues and observation frequency of unscheduled repair in the future. <u>None noted.</u>					
	D. Opportunities for O	ptimization				
	Describe possible opportunities <u>None Noted.</u>	for optimization i	n monitoring tasks or the o	peration of the remedy.		

Site Inspection Participants

Nikia Greene, EPA Treat Suomi, Skeo Solutions Ryan Burdge, Skeo Solutions Emily Chi, Skeo Solutions Daryl Reed, MDEQ Tim Hilmo, Atlantic Richfield Company Steve Walsh, Montana Resources, LLP Mary Anne Antonioli, Montana Resources, LLP Tom Kloker, Montana Resources, LLP Ted Duaime, Montana Bureau of Mines Gary Icopini, Montana Bureau of Mines

Г

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW SITE INSPECTION CHECKLIST						
	I. SITE INFO	ORMATION				
Site Name: Silver Bow Creek Springs Ponds Active and In (WSPOU)		Date of Inspection: 10/1/	2014			
Location and Region: Butte,	MT Region 8	EPA ID: MTD98050277	7			
Agency, Office or Company Leading the Five-Year Review: EPAWeather/Temperature: Upper 40's, partly cloudy.						
Remedy Includes: (Check all that apply) Monitored natural attenuation Landfill cover/containment Monitored natural attenuation Access controls Ground water containment Institutional controls Vertical barrier walls Ground water pump and treatment Surface water collection and treatment Other: Other:						
Attachments:	n team roster attached	Site map attached				
	II. INTERVIEWS	(check all that apply)				
Report attached: See section	n 4.3 and Appendix J					
III. ON-SITE	DOCUMENTS AND REC	CORDS VERIFIED (chec	k all that apply)			
1. O&M Documents						
O&M manual	Readily availab	le Dp to date	X/A			
As-built drawing	s	e 🗌 Up to date	N/A			
☐ Maintenance log	s Readily availabl	e Dp to date	N/A			
Remarks:						
2. Site-Specific Healt	h and Safety Plan	⊠Readily available	Up to date N/A			
Contingency plat plan	n/emergency response	⊠Readily available	Up to date N/A			
Remarks:						

3.	O&M and OSHA Training Records	Readily available D Up to date N/A			
	Remarks:				
4.	Permits and Service Agreements				
	Air discharge permit	🗌 Readily available 🗌 Up to date 🛛 N/A			
	Effluent discharge	🗌 Readily available 🗌 Up to date 🛛 N/A			
	Waste disposal, POTW	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A			
	Other permits:	\square Readily available \square Up to date \square N/A			
	Remarks:				
5.	Gas Generation Records	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A			
	Remarks:				
6.	Settlement Monument Records	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A			
	Remarks:				
7.	Ground Water Monitoring Records	\boxtimes Readily available \boxtimes Up to date \square N/A			
	Remarks:				
8.	Leachate Extraction Records	☐ Readily available ☐ Up to date ⊠ N/A			
	Remarks:				
9.	Discharge Compliance Records				
	Air Readily availabl	e \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A			
	Water (effluent) Readily availabl	e \Box Up to date \boxtimes N/A			
	Remarks:				
10.	Daily Access/Security Logs	\Box Readily available \Box Up to date \Box N/A			
	Remarks:				
	IV. O&M	COSTS			
1.	O&M Organization				
	State in-house	Contractor for state			
	PRP in-house	Contractor for PRP			
	Federal facility in-house	Contractor for Federal facility			
	WSPTOU is not yet construction complete. therefore, it has not yet entered the O&M phase.				

2.	O&M Cost Records						
	Readily available		Up to date				
	Funding mechanis	m/agreement in place	Unavailable				
	Original O&M cost es	stimate: 🗌 Breal	kdown attached				
		Total annual cost by y	ear for review perio	d if available			
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		Breakdown attached			
	Date	Date	Total cost				
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		Breakdown attached			
	Date	Date	Total cost				
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		Breakdown attached			
	Date Date		Total cost				
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		Breakdown attached			
	Date	Date	Total cost				
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		Breakdown attached			
	Date	Date	Total cost				
3.	Unanticipated or Uni	isually High O&M Cos	sts during Review I	Period			
	Describe costs and reas	sons:					
	V. ACCESS A	AND INSTITUTIONAL	L CONTROLS	Applicable 🗌 N/A			
A. Fer	ncing						
1.	Fencing Damaged	Location shown	on site map	ates secured \square N/A			
	Remarks: Access to se	nsitive areas limit vehicl	e and public access.	_			
B. Ot	her Access Restrictions						
1.	Signs and Other Secu	rity Measures	Location	shown on site map $\square N/A$			
	Remarks:						
C. Ins	titutional Controls (ICs						

1.	Implementation and Enforcement								
	Site conditions imply ICs not properly implemented	Yes	🗌 No 🖾 N/A						
	Site conditions imply ICs not being fully enforced	🗌 Yes	No N/A						
	Type of monitoring (e.g., self-reporting, drive by):								
	Frequency:								
	Responsible party/agency: <u>State</u>								
	Contact	<u>mm/dd/y</u>	<u> </u>						
	Name Title	Date	Phone no.						
	Reporting is up to date	Yes Yes	□ No □ N/A						
	Reports are verified by the lead agency	Yes	No N/A						
	Specific requirements in deed or decision documents have been met	Yes	No N/A						
	Violations have been reported	Yes	No N/A						
	Other problems or suggestions: Report attached								
2.	Adequacy ICs are adequate ICs are inad	equate	□ N/A						
	Remarks: The property is leased and managed by the state.								
D. G	General								
1.	Vandalism/Trespassing Location shown on site map No Remarks:	o vandalism	evident						
2.	Land Use Changes On Site \N/A Remarks:								
3.	Land Use Changes Off Site N/A Remarks:								
	VI. GENERAL SITE CONDITIONS								
A. R	Roads Applicable N/A								
1.	Roads Damaged Location shown on site map Ro Remarks:	ads adequat	te 🗌 N/A						
B. C	Other Site Conditions								
	Remarks:								
	VII. LANDFILL COVERS Applicable	e 🖂 N/A							
	VIII. VERTICAL BARRIER WALLS	plicable	⊠N/A						
1.	Settlement Location shown on site map	Settleme	nt not evident						
	Area extent:	Depth:							
	Remarks:								

2.	Performance Monitoring Type of monitoring:	
	Performance not monitored	
	Frequency: Evidence of breach	ing
	Head differential:	
	Remarks:	
	IX. GROUND WATER/SURFACE WATER REMEDIES	N/A
A. G	Ground Water Extraction Wells, Pumps and Pipelines	
1.	Pumps, Wellhead Plumbing and Electrical	
	Good condition All required wells properly operating Needs maintenance	N/A
	Remarks:	
2.	Extraction System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances	
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equipment	
	Readily available Good Requires upgrade Needs to provided condition	be
	Remarks:	
B. Su	urface Water Collection Structures, Pumps and Pipelines	
1.	Collection Structures, Pumps and Electrical	
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
2.	Surface Water Collection System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtena	nces
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equipment	
	Readily available Good Requires upgrade Needs to provided condition	be
	Remarks:	

C. TI	C. Treatment System						
1.	1. Treatment Train (check components that apply)						
	Metals removal	Oil/water	r separation	Bioremediation			
	Air stripping	Carbon a	dsorbers				
	Filters:						
	Additive (e.g., chelat	ion agent, flocculen	t):				
	Others:						
	Good condition	Needs ma	aintenance				
	Sampling ports prope	erly marked and fun	ctional				
	Sampling/maintenan	ce log displayed and	l up to date				
	Equipment properly i	dentified					
	Quantity of ground w	vater treated annuall	y:				
	Quantity of surface w	vater treated annuall	y:				
	Remarks:						
2.	Electrical Enclosures and Panels (properly rated and functional)						
	□ N/A [Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good	n Need	S			
	Remarks:						
3.	Tanks, Vaults, Storage	Vessels					
	N/A Good maintenan	P P	Proper secondary	v containment 🗌 Needs			
	Remarks:						
4.	Discharge Structure an	d Appurtenances					
	□ N/A [Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good	On Need	S			
	Remarks:						
5.	Treatment Building(s)						
	□ N/A [Good condition (loorways)	esp. roof and	Needs repair			
	Chemicals and equip	ment properly stored	d				
	Remarks:						

6.	Monitoring Wells (pump and treatment remedy)				
	Properly secured/locked	☐ Functioning	Routinely sampled	Good condition	
	All required wells located Remarks:	Needs mainter	ance	□ N/A	
D. Me	onitoring Data				
1.	Monitoring Data				
	Is routinely submitted on tin	ne	Is of acceptable qual	ity	
2.	Monitoring Data Suggests:				
	Ground water plume is effect contained	ctively	Contaminant concent	rations are declining	
	onitored Natural Attenuation				
1.	Monitoring Wells (natural atte		_	_	
	Properly secured/locked	Functionir	ng Routinely sample	ed Good condition	
	All required wells located	Needs ma	intenance	N/A	
	Remarks:				
		X. OTHER R			
	re are remedies applied at the site and condition of any facility asso	ociated with the ren	nedy. An example would be		
A.	Implementation of the Remed	XI. OVERALL O	BSERVATIONS		
	Describe issues and observation Begin with a brief statement of plume, minimize infiltration an The overall property and the res	ns relating to whether what the remedy is d gas emissions).	designed to accomplish (e.		
В.	Adequacy of O&M				
	Describe issues and observation particular, discuss their relation <u>The WSPOU is not yet construe</u>	ship to the current a	and long-term protectivenes	ss of the remedy.	
C.	Early Indicators of Potential				
	Describe issues and observation frequency of unscheduled repai in the future. <u>None noted.</u>				
D.	Opportunities for Optimization				
	Describe possible opportunities None noted.	for optimization in	monitoring tasks or the op	eration of the remedy.	

Site inspection participants Kristine Edwards, EPA Sara Spark, EPA Daryl Reed, MDEQ Treat Suomi, Skeo Solutions

Ryan Burdge, Skeo Solutions Emily Chi, Skeo Solutions Chris Hagan, JCI Tim Hilmo, Atlantic Richfield Company S. Donald, Atlantic Richfield Company Jean Harris, Atlantic Richfield Company

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW SITE INSPECTION CHECKLIST								
	I. SITE INFORMATION							
	ne: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Treating and Framing (Roc		Date of Inspection: 10/2	/2014				
Location	n and Region: Butte, MT Re	egion 8	EPA ID: MTD98050277	7				
Agency, Review:	Office or Company Leading EPA	g the Five-Year	Weather/Temperature: party cloudy.	Upper 40's to lo	w 50's,			
Remedy	Remedy Includes: (Check all that apply) Monitored natural attenuation Landfill cover/containment Monitored natural attenuation Access controls Ground water containment Institutional controls Vertical barrier walls Ground water pump and treatment Surface water collection and treatment Other: Other:							
Attachm	nents: Inspection team read	oster attached	Site map attached	l				
	II.	. INTERVIEWS (check all that apply)					
Repor	t attached: See section 4.3 and	d Appendix J						
			ORDS VERIFIED (che	ck all that apply)				
1.	O&M Documents							
	As-built drawings	⊠Readily available ⊠Readily available	E With the date	1	V/A V/A V/A			
		Readily available	\square Up to date					
2.	Remarks: Site-Specific Health and S	afaty Plan			∏ N/A			
2.	Contingency plan/emerg plan	•	⊠Readily available □ Readily available	Up to date	N/A			
2	Remarks:							
3.	O&M and OSHA Training	g Kecords	⊠Readily available	Up to date	□ N/A			
	Remarks:							

4.	Permits and Service Agreements			
	Air discharge permit	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Effluent discharge	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	☐ Waste disposal, POTW	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Other permits:	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
5.	Gas Generation Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
б.	Settlement Monument Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
7.	Ground Water Monitoring Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
8.	Leachate Extraction Records	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
9.	Discharge Compliance Records			
	Air Readily available	Up to date	\boxtimes N	J/A
	Water (effluent) Readily available	Up to date	\boxtimes N	J/A
	Remarks:			
10.	Daily Access/Security Logs	Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:			
	IV. 0&M (COSTS		
1.	O&M Organization			
	State in-house	Contractor for state		
	PRP in-house	Contractor for PRP		
	Federal facility in-house	Contractor for Federal	facility	
2.	O&M Cost Records			
	Readily available	Up to date		
	Funding mechanism/agreement in place	Unavailable		
	Original O&M cost estimate: Breakdor			
	Total annual cost by year	- 		
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u> To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>	B:	reakdown attache	d
	Date Date	Total cost		

3.	Unanticipated or Unusually High O&M Costs during Review Per Describe costs and reasons:	riod
	V. ACCESS AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS \square A	pplicable 🗌 N/A
A. F	lencing	
1.	Fencing Damaged Isocation shown on site map Gat Remarks:	es secured \square N/A
B. C	Other Access Restrictions	
1.	Signs and Other Security Measures Location sh Remarks:	nown on site map N/A
С. І	nstitutional Controls (ICs)	
1.	Implementation and Enforcement	
	Site conditions imply ICs not properly implemented	Yes No N/A
	Site conditions imply ICs not being fully enforced	\Box Yes \Box No \Box N/A
	Type of monitoring (e.g., self-reporting, drive by): Check of deed rece	ords during the FYR process.
	Frequency: Every five years	
	Responsible party/agency: <u>EPA</u>	
	Contact	mm/dd/yyyy
	Name Title	Date Phone no.
	Reporting is up to date	Yes No N/A
	Reports are verified by the lead agency	\bigvee Yes \Box No \bigotimes N/A
	Specific requirements in deed or decision documents have been met	Yes No N/A
	Violations have been reported	Yes No N/A
	Other problems or suggestions: Report attached	
	Remarks:	
2.	Adequacy ICs are adequate ICs are inadequate Remarks: See section 8.5 of the current FYR for further discussion of Ics	· _
D. (General	
1.	Vandalism/Trespassing Location shown on site map No	o vandalism evident
2.	Land Use Changes On Site N/A Remarks:	
3.	Land Use Changes Off Site N/A Remarks:	

		VI. GENERAL SITE CONDITIO	NS
A.	Roads Applicable	⊠N/A	
1.	Roads Damaged Remarks:	Location shown on site map] Roads adequate XA
B.	Other Site Conditions		
	Remarks:		
	VII. LA	ANDFILL COVERS Applica	ble 🗌 N/A
A.	Landfill Surface		
1.	. Settlement (low spots)	Location shown on site map	Settlement not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
2	. Cracks	Location shown on site map	Cracking
	not evident Lengths:	Widths:	Depths:
	Remarks:		
3.	Erosion	Location shown on site map	Erosion not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
4	Holes	Location shown on site map	Holes not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
5.	Vegetative Cover	Grass	Cover properly established
	No signs of stress	Trees/shrubs (indicate size and	locations on a diagram)
	Remarks:		
6	Alternative Cover (e.g	., armored rock, concrete)	⊠N/A
	Remarks:		
7.	Bulges	Location shown on site map	Bulges not evident
	Arial extent:		Height:
	Remarks:		

3. Wet Areas/Water		ident		
Damage				
Wet areas	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:		
Ponding	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:		
Seeps	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:		
Soft subgrade	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:		
Remarks:				
9. Slope Instability	Slides	Location shown on site map		
No evidence of slope instabi	lity			
Arial extent:				
Remarks:				
B. Benches Applicable	e N/A			
		fill side slope to interrupt the slope in		
	of surface runoff and intercept and co	onvey the runoff to a lined channel.)		
_	applicable N/A			
(Channel lined with erosion control mats, riprap, grout bags or gabions that descend down the steep side slope of the cover and will allow the runoff water collected by the benches to move off of the landfill cover without creating erosion gullies.)				
D. Cover Penetrations	pplicable $\sum N/A$			
E. Gas Collection and Treatment	Applicable N/A			
F. Cover Drainage Layer	Applicable N/A			
G. Detention/Sedimentation Ponds	Applicable	ΆA		
H. Retaining Walls	pplicable			
I. Perimeter Ditches/Off-Site Discharg	ge 🗌 Applicable 🖾 N/	Ϋ́Α		
VIII. VERTICAL BA	RRIER WALLS	pplicable 🖂 N/A		
IX. GROUND WATER/SU	RFACE WATER REMEDIES [Applicable 🗌 N/A		
A. Ground Water Extraction Wells, P	umps and Pipelines	pplicable N/A		
B. Surface Water Collection Structures, Pumps and Pipelines Applicable				
C. Treatment System	pplicable N/A			
D. Monitoring Data				
1. Monitoring Data				
S routinely submitted on time	⊠ Is of accepta	able quality		
2. Monitoring Data Suggests:		- •		
Ground water plume is effection contained	ively Contaminant co	oncentrations are declining		

Remarks: Additional data is needed to fully determine whether migration of contaminated site groundwater is occurring.				
E. Monitored Natural Attenuation				
1.	Monitoring Wells (natural attenuation remedy)			
	Properly secured/locked Functioning Routinely sampled Good condition			
	\Box All required wells located \boxtimes Needs maintenance \Box N/A			
	Remarks: One well on site was damaged due to frost heave.			
	X. OTHER REMEDIES			
	re are remedies applied at the site and not covered above, attach an inspection sheet describing the physical			
nature	e and condition of any facility associated with the remedy. An example would be soil vapor extraction. XI. OVERALL OBSERVATIONS			
A.	Implementation of the Remedy			
A .	Describe issues and observations relating to whether the remedy is effective and functioning as designed.			
	Begin with a brief statement of what the remedy is designed to accomplish (e.g., to contain contaminant			
	plume, minimize infiltration and gas emissions).			
	RAOs for the Rocker OU have not been met. The implemented remedy has not succeeded in attaining			
	groundwater standards. Surface water sampling data is needed to determine if there is a continued release			
	to Silver Bow Creek.			
В.	Adequacy of O&M			
	Describe issues and observations related to the implementation and scope of O&M procedures. In			
	particular, discuss their relationship to the current and long-term protectiveness of the remedy.			
	The data analysis revealed that additional investigation of the Rocker OU is warranted to refine			
C.	groundwater flow direction and to determine the extent of the plume.			
C.	Early Indicators of Potential Remedy Problems Describe issues and observations such as unexpected changes in the cost or scope of O&M or a high			
	frequency of unscheduled repairs that suggest that the protectiveness of the remedy may be compromised			
	in the future.			
	RAOs for the Rocker OU have not been met. The implemented remedy has not succeeded in attaining			
	groundwater standards. Surface water sampling data is needed to determine if there is a continued release			
	to Silver Bow Creek.			
D.	Opportunities for Optimization			
	Describe possible opportunities for optimization in monitoring tasks or the operation of the remedy.			
	None Noted.			
	nspection Participants			
	Nikia Greene, EPA			
Treat	Treat Suomi, Skeo Solutions			
Ryan	Ryan Burdge, Skeo Solutions			
Emily Chi, Skeo Solutions				
•	Darvl Reed, MDEO			

Daryl Reed, MDEQ Tim Hilmo, Atlantic Richfield Company Ted Duaime, Montana Bureau of Mines

Gary Icopini, Montana Bureau of Mines Chapin Storrar, CDM Smith

Jenni Harris, Pioneer

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW SITE INSPECTION CHECKLIST					
		I. SITE INFO	ORMATION		
	Site Name: Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area: Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU) OU8Date of Inspection: 10/2/2014				
Locatio	n and Region: Butte, MT R	egion 8	EPA ID: MTD98050277	7	
Agency, Office or Company Leading the Five-Year Review: EPAWeather/Tempera party cloudy.		Weather/Temperature: party cloudy.	Upper 40's to lo	w 50's,	
Remedy	Remedy Includes: (Check all that apply) Image: Monitored natural attenuation Image: Monitored natural attenuation Image: Monitored natural attenuation Image: Monitored natural attenuation				
Attachn	nents: Inspection team	roster attached	Site map attached		
	Π	I. INTERVIEWS	(check all that apply)		
Report	rt attached: See section 4.3 an	d Appendix J			
	III. ON-SITE DOCU	MENTS AND REC	CORDS VERIFIED (chec	k all that apply)	
1.	O&M Documents				
	⊠O&M manual	Readily available	\bowtie Up to date		J/A
	As-built drawings	Readily available	e		J/A
	Maintenance logs	Readily available	\square Up to date		J/A
	Remarks:				
2.	Site-Specific Health and S	Safety Plan	🔀 Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Contingency plan/emerge	ency response	🔀 Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:				
3.	O&M and OSHA Trainin	g Records	🔀 Readily available	\bigcup Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:				
4.	Permits and Service Agre	ements			
	Air discharge permit		Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Effluent discharge		Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Waste disposal, POTW		Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Other permits:		Readily available	Up to date	N/A
	Remarks:				

5.	Gas Generation Records	Readily available	Up to date N/A
	Remarks:		
6.	Settlement Monument Records	Readily available	\Box Up to date \bigotimes N/A
	Remarks:		
7.	Ground Water Monitoring Records	🔀 Readily available	\Box Up to date \Box N/A
	Remarks:		
8.	Leachate Extraction Records	Readily available	\Box Up to date \bigotimes N/A
	Remarks:		
9.	Discharge Compliance Records		
	Air Readily ava	ailable Dp to date	N/A
	Water (effluent)	ilable	N/A
	Remarks:		
10.	Daily Access/Security Logs	⊠Readily available	$\bigcup Up \text{ to date } \square N/A$
	Remarks:		
	IV. C)&M COSTS	
1.	O&M Organization		
	State in-house	Contractor for state	
	PRP in-house	Contractor for PRP	
	Federal facility in-house	Contractor for Federal	l facility
2.	O&M Cost Records		
	Readily available	Up to date	
	Funding mechanism/agreement in place	⊠Unavailable	
	Original O&M cost estimate: D Br	reakdown attached	
	Total annual cost by	y year for review period if avail	able
	From: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u> To: <u>mm/dd/yyyy</u>		reakdown attached
	Date Date	Total cost	
	Remarks: <u>O&M costs werer not available for</u>		
3.	Unanticipated or Unusually High O&M C Describe costs and reasons:	Costs during Review Period	
A Ear	V. ACCESS AND INSTITUTION	Application Application	ble N/A
A. Fen			
1.	Fencing Damaged Location show Remarks: Fencing around the water treatmer		
	condition.	it plant at Lower area one was	

B. Other Access Restrictions				
1. Signs and Other Security Measures	on shown on site map N/A			
Remarks: Appropriate signs are posted at restricted areas such as	s the Lower Area One treatment plant.			
C. Institutional Controls (ICs)				
1. Implementation and Enforcement				
Site conditions imply ICs not properly implemented	Yes No N/A			
Site conditions imply ICs not being fully enforced	Yes No N/A			
Type of monitoring (e.g., self-reporting, drive by):				
Frequency:				
Responsible party/agency:				
Contact	mm/dd/yyyy			
Name Title	Date Phone no.			
Reporting is up to date	Yes No N/A			
Reports are verified by the lead agency	\Box Yes \Box No \boxtimes N/A			
Specific requirements in deed or decision documents have been me	et 🗌 Yes 🖾 No 🗌 N/A			
Violations have been reported	Yes No N/A			
Other problems or suggestions: Report attached				
Remarks: See section 9.5 of the current FYR.				
2. Adequacy □ ICs are adequate ⊠ICs are i Remarks: See section 9.5 of the current FYR.	inadequate 🗌 N/A			
D. General				
1. Vandalism/Trespassing Decation shown on site map	No vandalism evident			
Remarks:				
2. Land Use Changes On Site				
Remarks: <u>The BPSOU includes active areas of Walkerville and Bunoted or are expected</u> , although there is continual contstruction an <u>Site</u> .				
3. Land Use Changes Off Site				
Remarks:				
VI. GENERAL SITE CONDITIONS				
A. Roads Applicable N/A				
1. Roads Damaged □ Location shown on site map Remarks:] Roads adequate $\square N/A$			
B. Other Site Conditions				
Remarks:				

	VII. LAN	DFILL COVERS Applicabl	e 🗌 N/A
A. Lar	ndfill Surface		
1.	Settlement (low spots)	Location shown on site map	Settlement not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
2.	Cracks	Location shown on site map	Cracking not evident
	Lengths:	Widths:	Depths:
	Remarks:		
3.	Erosion	Location shown on site map	Erosion not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
4.	Holes	Location shown on site map	Holes not evident
	Arial extent:		Depth:
	Remarks:		
5.	Vegetative Cover	Grass	Cover properly established
	No signs of stress	Trees/shrubs (indicate size and lo	ocations on a diagram)
	Remarks:		
6.	Alternative Cover (e.g.,	armored rock, concrete)	N/A
	Remarks:		
7.	Bulges	Location shown on site map	Bulges not evident
	Arial extent:		Height:
	Remarks:		
8.	Wet Areas/Water	Wet areas/water damage not ev	vident
Dama			A 1
	Wet areas	Location shown on site map	
	Ponding	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:
	Seeps	\Box Location shown on site map	Arial extent:
	Soft subgrade	Location shown on site map	Arial extent:
	Remarks:		
9.	Slope Instability		Location shown on site map
	\square No evidence of slope in	stadiffty	
	Arial extent:		
	Remarks:		

B.	Benches \Box Applicable $\bigotimes N/A$	
	(Horizontally constructed mounds of earth placed across a steep landfill side slope to interrupt the slope in order to slow down the velocity of surface runoff and intercept and convey the runoff to a lined channel.)	
C.	Letdown Channels Applicable N/A	
	(Channel lined with erosion control mats, riprap, grout bags or gabions that descend down the steep side slope of the cover and will allow the runoff water collected by the benches to move off of the landfill cover without creating erosion gullies.)	
D.	Cover Penetrations Applicable N/A	
E.	Gas Collection and Treatment Applicable N/A	
F.	Cover Drainage Layer Applicable N/A	
G.	Detention/Sedimentation Ponds Applicable N/A	
H.	Retaining Walls Applicable N/A	
I.	Perimeter Ditches/Off-Site Discharge	
1.	Siltation Location shown on site map Siltation not evident	
	Area extent: Depth:	
	Remarks:	
2.	Vegetative Growth □ Location shown on site map □ N/A	
	Vegetation does not impede flow	
	Area extent: Type:	
	Remarks:	
3.	Erosion Location shown on site map Erosion not evident	
	Area extent: Depth:	
	Remarks:	
4.	Discharge Structure Functioning N/A	
	Remarks:	
	VIII. VERTICAL BARRIER WALLS	
	IX. GROUND WATER/SURFACE WATER REMEDIES Applicable N/A	
A.	Ground Water Extraction Wells, Pumps and Pipelines	
1	Pumps, Wellhead Plumbing and Electrical	
	\square Good condition \square All required wells properly operating \square Needs maintenance \square N/A	
	Remarks: <u>The water treatment plant at Lower Area One has had a full upgrade since the last FYR. All</u> componenets are functioning properly.	
2	. Extraction System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances	
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equipment	
--	--	--
	Readily available Good Requires upgrade Needs to be provided condition	
	Remarks:	
B. Surface Water Collection Structures, Pumps and Pipelines Applicable N/A		
1.	Collection Structures, Pumps and Electrical	
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
2.	Surface Water Collection System Pipelines, Valves, Valve Boxes and Other Appurtenances	
	Good condition Needs maintenance	
	Remarks:	
3.	Spare Parts and Equipment	
	Readily available Good Requires upgrade Needs to be provided condition	
	Remarks:	
C. TI	reatment System Applicable N/A	
1.	Treatment Train (check components that apply)	
	Metals removal Oil/water separation Bioremediation	
	Air stripping Carbon adsorbers	
	Filters:	
	Additive (e.g., chelation agent, flocculent):	
	□ Others:	
	Good condition	
	Sampling ports properly marked and functional	
	Sampling/maintenance log displayed and up to date	
	Equipment properly identified	
2.	Electrical Enclosures and Panels (properly rated and functional)	
	N/A Good Needs maintenance condition	
	Remarks:	
3.	Tanks, Vaults, Storage Vessels	
	□ N/A ☐Good ☐Proper secondary containment □ Needs maintenance condition	
	Remarks:	

4.	Discharge Structure and Appurtenances	
	□ N/A ⊠Good □ Needs maintenance condition	
	Remarks:	
5.	Treatment Building(s)	
	N/A Good condition (esp. roof and doorways) Needs repair	
	Chemicals and equipment properly stored	
	Remarks:	
6.	Monitoring Wells (pump and treatment remedy)	
0.		
	Properly secured/locked Supervised Routinely sampled Good condition Functioning	
	□ All required wells located □ Needs maintenance □ N/A	
	Remarks:	
D. M	onitoring Data	
1.	Monitoring Data	
	\square Is of acceptable quality	
2.	Monitoring Data Suggests:	
	Ground water plume is effectively Contaminant concentrations are declining contained	
E. M	onitored Natural Attenuation	
1.	Monitoring Wells (natural attenuation remedy)	
	Properly secured/lockedFunctioningRoutinely sampledGood condition	
	\square All required wells located \square Needs maintenance \square N/A	
	Remarks:	
X. OTHER REMEDIES		
	re are remedies applied at the site and not covered above, attach an inspection sheet describing the physical	
nature	and condition of any facility associated with the remedy. An example would be soil vapor extraction.	
•	XI. OVERALL OBSERVATIONS Implementation of the Remedy	
A.	Describe issues and observations relating to whether the remedy is effective and functioning as designed.	
	Begin with a brief statement of what the remedy is designed to accomplish (e.g., to contain contaminant	
	plume, minimize infiltration and gas emissions).	
	The remedy is expected to function as intended by the 2006 BPSOU ROD and the 2011 BPSOUESD	
В.	once complete. In the interim, ongoing remedial activities continue. Adequacy of O&M	
D .	Describe issues and observations related to the implementation and scope of O&M procedures. In	
	particular, discuss their relationship to the current and long-term protectiveness of the remedy.	
	remedy design and implementation are continuing.	
C.	Early Indicators of Potential Remedy Problems	

 Describe issues and observations such as unexpected changes in the cost or scope of O&M or a high frequency of unscheduled repairs that suggest that the protectiveness of the remedy may be compromised in the future.

 Full implementation and accessibility of the BRES system are necesary to ensure future remedial success.

 D.
 Opportunities for Optimization

 Describe possible opportunities for optimization in monitoring tasks or the operation of the remedy.

 None Noted.

Site Inspection Participants

Sara Sparks, EPA Nikia Greene, EPA Treat Suomi, Skeo Solutions Ryan Burdge, Skeo Solutions Emily Chi, Skeo Solutions Tim Hilmo, Atlantic Richfield Company Thomas Hicky, Pioneer Dave Griffis, Pioneer DJ Renz, Pioneer Brad Hollamon, Pioneer

Appendix C: Photographs from Site Inspection Visit



SSTOU: Subarea 2, looking south



SSTOU: Staging area for construction



SSTOU: Beginning of Reach M, looking upstream



SSTOU: Reach M, recently seeded area



SSTOU: Subarea 3, truck with contaminated soil



SSTOU: Subarea 3, looking downstream



SSTOU: View of sediment pond construction (subarea 3) from bridge. Formerly full of tailings





BMFOU: Montana Resources South Gate



BMFOU: Continental Ditch roadside project



BMFOU: Montana Resources entrance



BMFOU: Active mining area



BMFOU: Active mining area



BMFOU: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant



BMFOU: Treatment Plant Control Room



BMFOU: Lime receiving room



BMFOU: Blowers-reinstalled. They run one at a time.



BMFOU: Crack in reactor



BMFOU: Well #2 – Interceptor



BMFOU: Clarifier - Recently emptied to clean



BMFOU: Horseshoe Bend



BMFOU: Horseshoe Bend- where the flow comes down to go to the equalizer



BMFOU: Waterfowl Mitigation station above Berkeley Pit



BMFOU: Berkeley Pit



BMFOU: Berkeley Pit



BMFOU: Horseshoe Bend from across Berkeley Pit



BMFOU: Berkeley Pit Viewing Stand



BMFOU: Berkeley Pit



BMFOU: Truck and chutes active at Montana Resources mining operation



BMFOU: At the water surface of Berkeley Pit – two pumps had gotten disconnected



BMFOU: Pipes that were disconnected from the pump



BMFOU: Pipes that were disconnected from the pump



BMFOU: Boat used on Berkeley Pit that was taken out due to slope instability



BMFOU: Outfall of Tailing system – 24 million gallons/day recycled back to concentrator



BMFOU: Yankee Doodle Tailings



BMFOU: Terramac RT9 and the Argo (smaller-more of a reconnaissance vehicle)



Warm Springs Ponds: Lime treatment silos



Warm Springs Ponds: Level sensor with an alarm



Warm Springs Ponds: Pond 3 with waterfowl



Warm Springs Ponds: Where the bypass spillway exits



Warm Springs Ponds: Hog Hole and Pond 2



Warm Springs Ponds: Discharge from Pond 2



Warm Springs Ponds: Pump station



Warm Springs Ponds: Water level pumps



Rocker: Unlocked Rocker well (in closed-off space behind Town Pump)



Rocker: Town Pump well (everything in Town Pump has built-in arsenic filter. McDonalds and the Casino are on Rocker municipal water).



Rocker: View of Rocker OU from Town Pump back parking lot



Rocker OU Well RH-25



Rocker OU Sign on gate



Rocker OU walking into fenced area



Looking toward Town Pump from Rocker fenced area



Rocker well with frost heave



Locked gate at Rocker OU



BPSPOU: Landscape renewal sign



Diamond head frame



Granite Mountain Mine Memorial



BPSOU: Mine waste repository with cap



BPSOU: Mining head frame



BPSOU: fenced-in repository



BPSOU: 11th and Excelsior beginning of a curb and gutter project



BPSOU: looking downhill from 11th and Excelsior



BPSOU: WTP at Butte Treatment Lagoons



BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons Chemical Addition Building – everything is new except stairs and platform



BPSOU: distribution tank



BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons B Series



BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons A Series


BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons dredging equipment in B series



BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons HCC (hydraulic control channel)



BPSOU: Butte Treatment Lagoons HCC (hydraulic control channel)



BPSOU: discharge point to creek



BPSOU: D4- lowest point in valley (5410 water level – surface)



BPSOU: backup power generator next to D4



BPSOU: hoist at D4



BPSOU: two pumps for D-4



BPSOU: some test revegetation



BPSOU: discharge point with view of highway (Butte Silver Bow Wastewater Treatment Plant discharge point is under the highway)



BPSOU: discharge end of MSD pipe (groundwater collection system); also the upper end of HCC



BPSOU: telemetry station at MSD discharge



BPSOU: drying bed – bigger cell



BPSOU: BRW 01 west



BPSOU: discharge out of drying bed



BPSOU: drying bed



BPSOU: West Camp pump station



BPSOU: locked gate





BPSOU: view of Butte Hill



BPSOU: recently completed trail



BPSOU: Silver Bow Creek above the confluence with Blacktail Creek¹

¹ EPA has called the surface area from Texas Avenue to the confluence with Blacktail Creek the "Metro Storm Drain" in prior Superfund removal and remedial documents and publications, including the 2006 Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit Record of Decision (2006 BPSOU ROD) and 2011 BPSOU Explanation of Significant Differences. The Montana Department of Environmental Quality has requested that this document refer to this same area as Silver Bow Creek in light of the Montana Second Judicial District Court's order in Silver Bow Creek Headwaters Coalition v. State of Montana, DV-10-431 (August 17, 2015) regarding the appropriate name to be applied by the State for this area under State law. See Appendix J at page J-3. Reference to the area as "Silver Bow Creek" should not be construed as an EPA admission or determination on any procedural or substantive issue. The United States retains and reserves all its rights and authorities.



BPSOU: Wardell Bridge on Silver Bow Creek



BPSOU: "Golden Triangle" -revegetated

Appendix D: ARARs

	2015 Sta	ndards	2011	FYR	2005 FYR		
Compound	State (µg/L) ¹	Federal (µg/L) ²	State (µg/L) ¹	Federal (µg/L) ²	State (µg/L) ¹	Federal (µg/L) ²	
Aluminum	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Arsenic	10	10	10	10	20	10	
Cadmium	5	5	5	5	5	5	
Chromium	100	100	100	100	100	100	
Copper	1,300	1,300	1,300	1,300	1,300	1,300	
Iron	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Lead	15	15	15	15	15	15	
Manganese	N/A	N/A	50a	N/A	50a	N/A	
Mercury	2	2	2	2	2	2	
Selenium	50	50	50	50	50	50	
Silver	100	N/A	100	N/A	100	N/A	
Zinc	2,000	N/A	2,000	N/A	2,000	N/A	

Table D-1. Previous and Current ARARs for Groundwater COCs

2. Safe Drinking Water Act contaminants and federal MCLs.

		Current S	urface Wa	ater Standa	rds			2011 FYF	2		2005 FYR						
		State(1)		Fede	eral(2)		State(1)	1	Federal(2)			State(1)	Fe	deral(2)		
	Aquat	ic Life	Huma n Health	CMC (Acute)	CCC (Chronic) (4)	Aquatic Life		Huma n Health	CMC (Acut e) (3)	CCC (Chron ic) (4)	Aqua	tic Life	Huma n Health	CMC (Acute)	CCC (Chronic) (4)		
Compou nd	Acu te (µg/L)	Chro nic (µg/L)	Stand ard (µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	Acut e (µg/ L)	Chro nic (µg/L)	Stand ard (µg/L)	(μg/L)	(µg/L)	Acut e (µg/ L)	Chro nic (µg/L)	Stand ard (µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)		
Aluminu m	750	87	N/A	750	87	750	87	N/A	750	87	750	87	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Arsenic	340	150	10	340	150	340	150	10	340	150	340	150	18	340	150		
Cadmiu m	0.52*	0.097 *	5	2***	0.25***	0.52 *	0.097 *	5	2***	0.25** *	1.05 **	0.16* *	5	3****	0.33* ***		
Chromiu m	16 (Cr- VI) 579 (Cr- III)*	11 (Cr- VI) 27.7 (Cr- III)*	100	570	74	N/A	N/A	100	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	100	N/A	N/A		
Copper	3.79*	2.85*	1,300	Freshwa ter criteria calculat ed using the biotic ligand model	Freshwa ter criteria calculat ed using the biotic ligand model	3.79 *	2.85*	1,300	2.337 #	1.45#	7.3* *	5.2**	1,300	19.7** **	12.7*		
Iron	N/A	1,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1000	300a	N/A	N/A	N/A	1000	300a	N/A	N/A		

Table D-2. Previous and Current ARARs for Surface Water COCs

Lead	13.98 *	0.545 *	15	65***	2.5***	13.9 8*	0.545 *	15	65** *	2.5***	82** *	3.2** *	15	100.1* ***	3.9 ****
Mangan ese	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	50a	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	50a	N/A	N/A
Mercury	1.7	0.91	0.05	1.4***	0.77***	1.7	0.91	0.05	1.4** *	0.77** *	1.7	0.91	0.05	N/A	N/A
Seleniu m	20	5	50	N/A	5	20	5	50	N/A	5	20	5	50	N/A	N/A
Silver	0.374 *	N/A	100	3.2	N/A	0.37 4*	N/A	100	3.2	N/A	4.1* **	N/A	100	N/A	N/A
Zinc	37*	37*	2,000	120***	120***	37*	37*	2,000	120* **	120** *	67**	67**	2000	N/A	N/A

µg/L - micrograms per liter

* - Value indicated is for a hardness of 25 mg/L as CaCO3.

** - Value indicated is for a hardness of 50 mg/L as CaCO3.

*** - Value indicated is for a hardness of 100 mg/L as CaCO3.

**** - Value indicated is for a hardness of 150 mg/L as CaCO3.

- Standards are hardness-dependent. Value indicated is for a hardness of 84.6 mg/L as CaCO3. Source:

http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/criteria/copper/2007/criteria-full.pdf.

a - Indicates value is a secondary maximum contaminant level (MCL) based on aesthetics (taste, odor, staining).

1. Montana Numeric Water Quality Standards - Circular DEQ-7. February 2012.

2. Current National Recommended Water Quality Criteria, U.S. EPA, http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/criteria/wqctable/#mm.

3. CMC – Criteria Maximum Concentration is an estimate of the highest concentration of a material in surface water to which an aquatic community can be exposed briefly without resulting in an unacceptable effect.

4. CCC - Criterion Continuous Concentration is an estimate of the highest concentration of a material in surface water to which an aquatic community can be exposed indefinitely without resulting in an unacceptable effect.

Appendix E: BMFOU Maps and Data Tables

MONTH	INFLUENT GALLONS	FIRST STAGE WASTING GALLONS	SECOND STAGE WASTING GALLONS	RETURN WATER GALLONS	LIME GRIT FLUSH WATER	HSB PLANT WATER GALLONS	BUTTE WATER	POWER KW-HRS	NAT GAS CU. FT.	LIME DELIVERE D	LIME #/TON	GALLONS PER DAY	LIME MG/L
JANAURY	161,169,072	2,135,252	3,335,374	11,665,020	1,401,579	161,992,064	63,510	337,162	9,513.7	1,191.02	3.55	5,199,002	1,772
FEBRUARY	142,678,720	2,396,866	2,281,329	10,629,990	702,321	146,336,144	380	307,604	7,680.2	1,109.19	3.73	5,095,669	1,864
MARCH	161,687,488	2,532,467	5,917,323	12,468,010	23,188	161,162,256	3,670	324,004	7,001.3	1,280.92	3.80	5,215,725	1,899
APRIL	156,308,480	2,074,856	7,035,819	12,316,990	1,185,827	150,825,984	1,120	301,134	2,945.4	1,198.17	3.68	5,210,283	1,838
MAY	158,086,688	2,515,535	4,303,672	12,713,000	769,333	160,642,432	8,740	327,304	2,044.3	1,281.15	3.89	5,099,571	1,943
JUNE	154,696,672	2,468,786	4,106,634	12,395,005	745,194	157,844,928	445	317,068	678.3	1,368.07	4.24	5,156,556	2,120
JULY	152,116,048	2,846,712	4,779,113	13,092,995	789,458	155,309,760	1,515	311,508	87.1	1,369.70	4.32	4,906,969	2,159
AUGUST	155,132,272	3,309,578	4,795,726	11,492,020	789,826	156,025,232	950	304,408	186.2	1,398.06	4.32	5,004,267	2,161
SEPTEMBER	149,055,504	3,460,337	4,234,045	12,376,590	817,794	151,199,520	630	303,774	952.4	1,565.58	5.04	4,968,517	2,518
OCTOBER	149,341,680	1,944,480	10,254,522	13,318,290	1,146,159	153,209,120	115,810	295,916	2,806.9	1,876.59	6.03	4,817,474	3,013
NOVEMBER	144,153,184	1,795,271	8,173,446	12,774,600	613,555	150,461,472	739	294,836	6,445.7	1,657.96	5.52	4,805,106	2,758
DECEMBER	152,144,768	2,825,276	3,680,873	12,470,490	764,713	158,127,248	360	316,332	7,687.2	1,348.02	4.25	4,907,896	2,124
TOTALS	1,836,570,576	30,305,416	62,897,876	147,713,000	9,748,947	1,863,136,160	197,869	3,741,050	48,028.7	16,644.43	4.35	5,031,700	2,173

Table E-1: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2010 Flow Totals

						-							
MONTH	INFLUENT GALLONS	FIRST STAGE GALLONS	SECOND STAGE GALLONS	RETURN WATER GALLONS	LIME GRIT FLUSH WATER	HSB PLANT WATER GALLONS	BUTTE WATER	POWER KW-HRS	NAT GAS CU. FT.	LIME DELIVERE D	LIME #/TON	GALLONS PER DAY	LIME MG/L
JANAURY	163,699,808	5,403,343	4,971,747	12,889,010	716,329	160,243,600	625	303,038	8,182.0	1,695.81	4.97	5,280,639	2,484
FEBRUARY	143,280,976	2,722,346	4,572,212	11,517,990	568,794	141,809,904	415	270,444	10,300.3	1,218.33	4.08	5,117,178	2,039
MARCH	155,398,688	3,153,725	3,997,181	12,836,300	640,137	155,300,432	325	296,800	8,114.9	1,421.57	4.39	5,012,861	2,193
APRIL	143,871,760	3,170,881	4,355,706	11,877,730	614,362	136,757,488	845	264,488	5,997.6	1,230.34	4.10	4,795,725	2,050
MAY	154,818,512	5,428,604	9,945,679	12,782,950	533,412	151,814,944	420	271,558	3,497.3	1,548.02	4.80	4,994,146	2,397
JUNE	151,167,840	129,876	22,042,580	10,400,910	293,514	145,362,192	1,695	230,204	2,271.3	1,699.40	5.39	5,038,928	2,695
JULY	161,733,845	11,169,374	7,401,758	11,813,020	268,221	147,324,499	940	281,906	216.9	2,057.42	6.10	5,217,221	3,050
AUGUST	162,752,240	16,863,280	898,500	10,124,990	163,541	149,395,200	2,560	297,428	80.7	2,276.00	6.71	5,250,072	3,353
SEPTEMBER	162,359,088	16,077,156	260,795	10,247,960	268,221	148,231,824	1,210	276,288	708.8	2,076.01	6.13	5,411,970	3,066
OCTOBER	172,049,232	15,091,591	4,059	10,394,940	311,135	164,251,232	39,691	288,248	5,874.8	1,984.46	5.53	5,549,975	2,765
NOVEMBER	167,355,008	4,714,817	4,729,821	11,071,320	639,020	162,923,920	16,929	343,586	7,931.2	1,586.04	4.55	5,578,500	2,272
DECEMBER	170,393,264	3,808,097	5,173,073	12,842,700	627,713	169,091,456	620	335,350	9,767.5	1,705.48	4.80	5,496,557	2,400
TOTALS	1,908,880,261	87,733,090	68,353,111	138,799,820	5,644,399	1,832,506,691	66,275	3,459,338	62,943.3	20,498.88	5.15	5,229,809	2,575

Table E-2: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2011 Flow Totals

MONTH	INFLUENT GALLONS	FIRST STAGE GALLONS	SECOND STAGE GALLONS	RETURN WATER GALLONS	LIME GRIT FLUSH WATER	HSB PLANT WATER GALLONS	BUTTE WATER	POWER KW-HRS	NAT GAS CU. FT.	LIME DELIVERE D	LIME #/TON	GALLONS PER DAY	LIME MG/L
JANAURY	174,516,720	3,407,875	7,423,728	12,815,000	590,485	170,943,440	600	351,384	8,431.2	1,557.21	4.28	5,629,572	2,139
FEBRUARY	162,879,088	3,376,336	8,308,840	12,247,050	631,113	159,682,192	400	334,428	8,435.1	1,319.98	3.89	5,817,110	1,943
MARCH	177,924,080	1,967,728	15,080,651	11,690,920	345,709	167,802,944	620	308,284	5,783.3	1,823.96	4.92	5,739,486	2,458
APRIL	163,063,112	0	11,682,950	10,112,000	410,589	157,943,440	1,460	277,516	4,483.3	1,465.19	4.31	5,435,437	2,154
MAY	189,253,600	625,610	18,575,966	12,436,320	572,663	171,003,360	670	371,094	3,804.5	2,486.09	6.30	6,104,955	3,150
JUNE	181,466,032	3,581,876	21,066,136	7,220,900	341,477	161,474,784	3,921,740	324,394	2,430.5	2,033.89	5.38	6,048,868	2,687
JULY	175,678,912	3,272,307	18,184,114	5,458,775	514,001	153,501,120	5,987,750	307,954	185.6	1,903.63	5.20	5,667,062	2,598
AUGUST	167,773,424	7,627,750	301,905	10,213,125	687,451	154,467,424	3,070		128.3	1,902.55	5.44	5,412,046	2,719
SEPTEMBER	101,811,464	5,575,419	1,867,941	8,899,100	573,111	92,277,992	72,640	216,924	437.8	1,061.54	5.00	3,393,715	2,500
OCTOBER	80,428,112	5,070,192	2,656,321	8,924,875	591,650	75,543,024	885	258,058	2,243.5	789.18	4.71	2,594,455	2,353
NOVEMBER	113,560,296	11,956,216	4,247,476	12,412,125	892,208	101,914,856	1,065	289,264	5,753.4	2,227.77	9.41	3,785,343	4,703
DECEMBER	139,945,104	12,353,625	3,355,337	1,554,400	2,114,672	128,020,480	980		9,275.2	1,872.71	6.42	4,514,358	3,208
TOTALS	1,828,299,944	58,814,934	112,751,365	113,984,590	8,265,129	1,694,575,056	9,991,880	3,039,300	51,391.7	20,443.70	5.36	5,009,041	2,681

Table E-3: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2012 Flow Totals

MONTH	INFLUENT GALLONS	FIRST STAGE GALLONS	SECOND STAGE GALLONS	RETURN WATER GALLONS	LIME GRIT FLUSH WATER	HSB PLANT WATER GALLONS	BUTTE WATER	POWER KW-HRS	NAT GAS CU. FT.	LIME DELIVERE D	LIME #/TON	GALLONS PER DAY	LIME MG/L
JANUARY	154,259,392	8,308,258	5,744,007	13,235,850	848,607	141,132,048	3,685	328,037	10,121.1	1,623.21	5.05	4,976,109	2,523
FEBRUARY	121,920,568	9,473,091	4,171,599	11,471,975	633,810	109,803,560	825	260,081	8,258.6	1,656.15	6.52	4,354,306	3,257
MARCH	125,073,800	4,031,172	4,251,868	12,576,985	672,414	119,060,064	910	302,742	6,831.7	1,316.40	5.05	4,034,639	2,523
APRIL	120,733,416	2,847,490	10,435,228	11,713,090	707,808	106,725,008	1,185	307,048	4,556.8	1,199.31	4.77	4,024,447	2,382
MAY	131,449,968	3,972,097	19,451,536	13,003,910	527,608	117,866,768	1,075	276,712	3,635.1	1,966.57	7.18	4,240,322	3,587
JUNE	120,014,880	1,053,934	13,058,299	9,962,910	449,090	110,542,384	850	238,902	1,500.2	1,309.47	5.23	4,000,496	2,616
JULY	132,187,528	10,706,314	2,128,315	7,079,880	2,212,211	119,080,528	1,040		163.2	1,727.22	6.27	4,264,114	3,133
AUGUST	138,581,392	7,097,660	3,613,095	0	592,290	128,892,912	100,360	325,603	287.1	1,690.97	5.85	4,470,367	2,926
SEPTEMBER	122,972,136	4,560,721	2,695,561	10,080,156	828,984	118,465,888	670	295,435	871.8	1,314.98	5.13	4,099,071	2,564
OCTOBER	128,973,552	3,888,730	3,179,443	11,786,010	755,255	123,655,128	965	308,318	3,632.5	1,365.50	5.08	4,160,437	2,538
NOVEMBER	128,341,064	5,421,061	2,561,082	11,532,980	734,750	120,150,144	785	355,305	6,214.8	1,374.14	5.14	4,278,035	2,567
DECEMBER	128,676,240	4,259,265	4,562,553	11,240,990	783,486	119,911,712	1,410	414,429	9,907.5	1,356.07	5.06	4,150,846	2,527
TOTALS	1,553,183,936	65,619,793	75,852,586	123,684,736	9,746,313	1,435,286,144	113,760	3,412,612	55,980.4	17,899.99	5.53	4,255,298	2,763

Table E-4: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2013 Flow Totals

MONTH	INFLUENT GALLONS	FIRST STAGE GALLONS	SECOND STAGE GALLONS	RETURN WATER GALLONS	LIME GRIT FLUSH WATER	HSB PLANT WATER GALLONS	BUTTE WATER	POWER KW-HRS	NAT GAS CU. FT.	LIME DELIVERE D	LIME #/TON	GALLONS PER DAY	LIME MG/L
JANUARY	139,362,976	4,022,062	7,211,427	12,527,030	778,144	126,513,928	830	418,023	7,259.2	1,621.83	5.58	4,495,580	2,790
FEBRUARY	116,962,840	3,537,114	4,597,618	12,537,000	697,959	112,357,400	710	363,447	9,571.2	1,267.96	5.20	4,177,244	2,599
MARCH	139,353,424	9,415,570	6,394,367	13,370,040	704,186	136,346,176	730	322,537	7,797.3	1,823.33	6.28	4,495,272	3,137
APRIL	140,402,832	6,646,256	5,475,065	16,599,125	733,036	144,673,760	830	321,558	6,099.6	1,567.91	5.36	4,680,094	2,677
MAY	141,402,416	6,828,967	13,507,322	16,000,525	730,183	141,110,960	1,700	302,672	2,730.5	1,885.39	6.40	4,561,368	3,197
JUNE	121,606,352	67,837	15,788,021	11,122,310	253,984	118,439,784	2,895	232,968	2,448.9	1,569.38	6.19	4,053,545	3,094
JULY	140,079,136	117,894	21,861,446	11,230,980	252,545	135,262,320	1,055	250,869	203.8	1,963.15	6.72	4,518,682	3,360
AUGUST	148,823,360	121,307	23,252,722	11,206,985	178,966	134,724,704	21,290	264,738	516.4	1,766.58	5.70	4,800,754	2,846
SEPTEMBER	141,249,056	1,677	24,112,596	10,127,015	120,098	132,888,736	6,220	259,398	1,449.8	1,944.23	6.60	4,708,302	3,300
OCTOBER	165,761,632	24,715	31,262,218	12,943,085	84,112	150,174,112	700	298,411	2,203.6	2,323.40	6.72	5,347,149	3,361
NOVEMBER	143,877,872	1,899,524	20,732,756	10,449,965	217,244	129,364,200	107,650	256,868	7,742.0	1,721.22	5.74	4,795,929	2,868
DECEMBER	151,712,400	12,716,291	13,699,133	12,913,950	102,760	151,712,400	1,705	409,360	10,550.9	2,386.23	7.55	4,893,948	3,771
TOTALS	1,690,594,296	45,399,214	187,894,691	151,028,010	4,853,217	1,613,568,480	146,315	3,700,849	58,573.2	21,840.61	6.20	4,631,765	3,097

Table E-5: Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant 2014 Flow Totals

	2	010	20)11	20	12	20	13	2	014
Month	Number of Birds Observed	Number of Fatalities	Number of Birds Observed	Number of Fatalities	Number of Birds Observed	Number of Fatalities	Number of Birds Observed	Number of Fatalities	Number of Birds Observed	Number of Fatalities
January	Frozen ¹	0	Frozen	0	0	0	0	0	0	NA
February	0	0	Frozen	0	76	0	0	0	0	NA
March	559	0	Frozen	0	628	0	1218	NA	868	NA
April	938	0	710	0	1378	1	1380	NA	2168	NA
May	337	0	1600	3	464	0	1642	NA	768	NA
June	20	0	3	0	5	0	0	NA	10	NA
July	8	0	0	0	2	0	0	NA	11	NA
August	1	0	33	0	245	0	14	NA	55	NA
September	16	0	23	1	253	0	85	NA	266	NA
October	10	0	67	0	47	0	18	NA	25	NA
November	337	0	165	0	353	0	528	9	404	NA
December	Frozen	0	0	0	100	0	0	NA	27	NA
Totals	2,226	0	2,601	4	3,551	1	4,885	9	4,602	NA

NA – Due to safety concerns following the February 2013 slope failure, number of fatalities is not available.

1. When the surface of Berkeley Pit is frozen, observation decreases substantially per the waterfowl mitigation plan. There is no exposure to the contaminated water when completely frozen and the observation program is designed to address the times and seasons when waterfowl may be exposed to Berkeley Pit water.

Figure E-1: BMFOU Three Camp System





Figure E-2: Potentiometric Map for the East Camp Bedrock Aquifer

Figure 3-3. Potentiometric map for the East Camp bedrock aquifer, December of 2009; arrows indicate direction of ground-water flow (contour interval is 10 feet).







Figure E-4: BMFOU Monitoring Well Locations East Camp Bedrock



Figure E-5: BMFOU Monitoring Well Locations East Camp Alluvial



Figure E-6: Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area

Site map for domestic well sampling locations; Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area (BABCGWA) boundary is shown in red.



Appendix F: Warm Springs Ponds Monitoring




















Appendix G: Rocker OU Data and IC information

					(senic C	oncentr	ation b	oy Yea	r (µg/l	L)				
Hydro- stratigraphic Unit	Well	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
	RH-60 ¹	110	155	313	277	315	245	252	299	1141	537	516	520	553	380	480	390
	RH-62 ¹	4,280	6,991	9,900	9,390	11,685	9,735	10,845	11,283	10,951	7,655	7,460	7,250	6,150	6,400	6,600	5,200
Shallow Alluvial	RH-17	76	119	151	94	38	39	29	32	36	53	53	55	57	45	49	43
	RH-44	553	403	395	258	244	175	196	163	135	213	254	328	348	365	410	540
	RH-52R ²	7	6	7	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	3	3	2	2	2	2
	RH-12R ²	10	9	9	8	8	7	7	8	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
	RH-14R	1,225	1,700	1,910	1,807	2,014	1,768	1,660	1,658	1,338	1,195	1,067	1,023	895	873	880	780
Deen Alburiel	RH-18	11	12	12	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	10	10	10	10	10	10
Deep Alluvial	RH-51 ²	7	8	7	6	7	6	6	6	6	6	5	5	5	5	5	5
	RH-55				10	10	12	13	15	14	13	13	13	11	12	12	12
	RH-76 ²				5	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	Ayers ²	13	12	11	11	11	11	11	12	11	10	10	10	10	9	9	9
	Palmer ²	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	3	5	4	3	3	3	3	3	3
	RH-06	1,024	745	584	338	207	99	92	148	141	126	116	97	110	150	200	150
	RH-36R ²	12	11	12	9	10	10	10	9	10	9	9	10	9	9	9	9
Tertiary	RH-43	13	12	11	9	8	9	9	9	10	9	8	9	8	8	9	9
Sediment	RH-46 ²	11	10	10	9	7	9	9	9	9	9	8	8	8	8	8	8
	RH-48	141	151	93	54	27	24	22	20	15	15	13	12	11	11	14	14
	RH-53 ²	11	13	11	12	14	11	12	13	13	12	11	12	11	11	11	11
	Town Pump ²	11	11	11	11	12	11	12	12	12	11	11	11	10	10	10	10

Table G-1: Mean Arsenic Concentrations by Year (Select Wells)

Notes:

1 - Designates a "gravel well."
2 - Designates a contingency well.
2014 mean concentrations for select key wells were calculated for this FYR and are discussed in the text.



Figure G-1: Wells with Arsenic Concentrations Greater than 10 µg/L since First Quarter 2011 (source: 2014 ESD)

Figure G-2: Rocker OU Controlled Groundwater Area





Figure G-3: Rocker OU Groundwater Closure Area



Figure G-4: Rocker OU Water Table Contour Map – Deep Alluvial Unit



Figure G-5: Rocker OU Water Table Contour Map – Shallow Alluvial Unit

Appendix H: BPSOU Maps and Supplemental Information

Butte Treatment Lagoons System Description

The following description is from the Quarterly Operations and Maintenance Report Butte Treatment Lagoon System – Fourth Quarter 2014.

The BTL receives impacted water from the West Camp Pump System (WCP-1), Missoula Gulch baseflow, MSD sub-drain, Butte Reduction Works (BRW) groundwater capture, groundwater capture by the HCC, and BTL system D-cells. These waters are conveyed to the BTL collection cell, D4. Collected waters are then pumped from D4 to the Chemical Addition System (CAS) building, where pre-treatment water quality is monitored at station CT-IN04.

The impacted water is mixed with lime slurry in order to reach a target pH, which allows metals to precipitate out via gravity as water flows through a series of lagoon cells in the remainder of the BTL system. The lime slurry is created by adding dry calcium hydroxide to a portion of the influent water split off into mixing tanks in the CAS building. The calcium hydroxide addition is delivered by an accurate measurement system, and is measured by milligrams of lime (calcium hydroxide) per liter (mg/L) of influent water. The slurry is then added back to the remainder of the influent, and pH-adjusted influent flow is then directed to three parallel lagoon cell systems – A, B and C – where the A system is oriented to the north and C oriented to the south.

A fourth series of smaller, non-treatment cells, the D cells, is located south of lagoons A2 and A3. The D cells act as hydraulic barriers between the treatment cells and Silver Bow Creek. The A cells are separated by solid berms with manually adjustable stoplog weir overflow structures (identified as OS-1, OS-5 and OS-7), while the cells within the B and C systems are separated by cobble berms. Control structures are installed in positions to allow diversion of flows from cells B3 (OS-2) and C3 (OS-3) to the A cells, the effluent pipeline, or to the D cells, which allows for recirculation of the treated water. Typically, a third of the influent flow is directed into each A, B and C lagoon system. Waters exiting at B3 and C3 are combined, routed to the effluent pipeline to combine with treated water coming out of A3, or to cell A2 for additional treatment, and then discharged to Silver Bow Creek at CT-EFS7.



Figure H-1: Butte Treatment Lagoon Sampling Locations



Figure H-2: BPSOU and BMFOU Water Collection Treatment System Flow Diagram



Figure H-3: Butte Alluvial and Bedrock Controlled Groundwater Area



Figure H-4: Clark Tailings Controlled Groundwater Area



Figure H-5: BPSOU Groundwater Technical Impracticability Zone

Appendix I: Press Notice







HECHNICAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE

PUBLIC OPEN HOUSE MEETING ON THE EPA FIVE-YEAR REVIEW

The US Environmental Protection Agency is conducting a 5-Year Review of the Superfund cleanup in and around Butte. <u>A vital part of that effort is comments from the public on that effort.</u>

COME TO THE MEETING AND MAKE AN IMPACT:

May 7, 2015 at the Butte Public Library, 226 W. Broadway Street, 6-8 PM

- > Become Well Informed
- > Understand and Participate in Decisions about the Environment we all share
- > Learn about the Process and Voice your Opinions

The public must be involved for a successful effort. CTEC is committed to helping ensure the public has the information and the opportunities to participate.

CTEC is a group of volunteer citizens who work with the Environmental Protection Agency, the state of Montana, responsible parties, and others to make the Superfund process and cleanup decisions in the Butte area understandable to everyone.

Office: 27 West Park – Butte Phone: 723-6247 Website: ButteCTEC.org

Monday - Thursday 10:00 – 3:00 pm E-Mail: <u>ButteCTEC@hotmail.com</u> Facebook: CTECbutte

CASING FIGHT Liability insurance in effect and cited for possession of Ottav												
	1201 11		OntheBooks									
challenged her to a fight, all matchemanors. Police adapting the finat and chapping the finat and chapping the finat finateming the, late Widendeday at the Magie the Kender Diamod Casino in Rocket. Diamod Casino in Rocket. Widendeday at the Magie the Kender Widendeday at the Kender Mission Thy were widended the area of Magin and the storage woman to the at her reachence. Step Magin and the Kender Mission The Step Magin dock east? Thrankays file Step Magin and the Kender Mission The Step Magin dock east? Thrankays file Step Magin and the Mission And Step Magin for disorder younder file Mission The Step Magin for disorder younder file Mission Mission And Step Magin for disorder younder Mission Mission And Step Mission Miss	va Street. LFTING usenan Matt, 20, of was caught by an open aduf Thursday and the second second from the Safeway, at Massachusett Ave- Matt, who was wanted warrant issued in Butte warrant issued in Butte warrant issued in Butte meanor theft. YASSMILD ne Avery Peters, 27, of was arrowed on two	parent or family mem- ext assuit also goldse recognized him diding a billion on Harrison Avenue late Wednonzlay. Delities age an argument between Preter and his 25-ymar-old district for the second second second between Preter and his 25-ymar-old district for the second second second between the second second between the second second second part of the second sec	NAY ARESTED Edward Cophing 23. Edward Cophing 19. Edward Cophin									

1.00

信

Rescaled Processing States of States and Sta AP photo Garrett Sidney Henderson Wadda admitted to dumping the body of a 21-year-oldwoman murdered on the Northern Cheyenne Indian Reservation. and never will," Wat-ten said. Watda, who was raised in Lame Deer, petendled to help in the search for Har-ris after her disperarance. Her maggot-ridden body was not discovered until four days later, and a cause of death could not be deter-mined.

3 percent. Wayne Kasworm, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Ser-

U.S. fish and Wildlife Ser-vice recovery coordinator in L&by, said augmenting the sparse population with transplanted Sears – an effort begun 1090 – has finally started to take hold. But every lost basis a blow to the Cabinet-Yaak con-tingent, and the discovery of another dead grissify in the Yaak last week high-lights then eed to carb human-caused mostallifes,

571

JOIN US!

EARLY DINING SPECIALS TIL 630 FM ONLY ⁵14.50

FEANUT CHICKEN MEXICAN HALIEUT

my me

....

47 E. BROADWAY . 723-6

Jue & Jue M

accessory after the fact for during is flart, partially clotted body at the Lame clotted body at the Lame Mark Could and the determined. The hadge expressed fructration that many details of Harch' Kill-ing manified unknown growt and the data of March' hody the cate of March' Kill-ing manified unknown offic, Jogenia Ann Powland. Browland was conteneed than faren the growt flan aleed for in select accession, we have a sentence than seven yeat. Develop days the second protect histogen for second -dragee marder. Days of the second of the second second second protect histogen for second -dragee marder. Days of the second second of the second second second second second to get a way with murder, go the second second second second second second second second of the second second second second second second second to get a way with murder, go

INW GTIZZICS EQ KALSPEIL (AP) - The emote spoulation of gir-chybers in the Cabine-thybers in the Cabine-thybers in the Cabine-thybers in the Cabine-thybers of the first time of both of the insure of possible of the term our population. Now, wildle official to possible of the term our population. number around 30, with a projected gowth of 14 percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annually. In contrast, the rebust girst populations of the percent annual the strong the percent and the strong the percent term of the strong the percent and the strong the percent and the strong the percent term of the strong the percent and the strong the percent term of the strong many of which are caused many of which are caund by hunters who minitals the threatened grindy for a klackbast, whose popula-tion numbers are dense in bindy of the state. Drindy of a state of the state into these main catego-rised with Montan Pitch, whild its and Parks, Kaswom sid the trend of the-mail one state into these main catego-rised determs. "Ristorically, we have

(1)

J



Sutertainment,

LIVE MUSIC THIS WEEKEND!

MUDDA CHEEK The fun begins at 5pm

2 E Galena + 299-3645

TO ADVERTISE ON THIS

PAGE, PLEASE CALL

496.5546

Friday Tom Susanj

Saturday: Chad Ball

ST WITH THE PLAN

YOUR GUIDE TO LOCAL

ENTERTAINMENT IN SOUTHWEST MONTANA!!

rit' family. Towaland told her inter-hr-law in January that whe had blacked out from drinking on the night of out the had blacked out from drinking on the night of drinking on the night of many sequences of the second was rescienced by Flarri screaming that Vadda was reging he, according to document filed by prot-second. Dulp Harris but that Harris hat her, which made her angry and then both dragod it outside, accord-ing to certifings. Those accusations were not repeated Thrusday and Wadda's satemenes was did to Barris' body after her death. Wadda admitted to mov-ing the body, but has denied harring Harris. Londrit . Benerhed – almost inter month after Harris' death – frustration with the space of the investigation dragod of builder for Halter Andread of people to araly on the southanter her deman ded batter for Halter Andread of barter for Halter Andread of barter for halter Andread of barter for halter Andread barts for hal

Public Input Opportunity EPA Five-Year Review of Silver Bow Creak/Buttle Area Court **Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site** AL PROTO

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is conducting the fourth corprehensive file-year review of remedial actions parformed under the Superfund program at the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Sile in Bute, Montana. The puppase of the fire-yeare review is to make sure the implemented remedies at the site continue to be protective of human health and the environment.

EPA first issued a notice of opportunity for public input in October 2014. EPA again invites community participation in the comprehensive five-EPA again invites community participation in the comprehensive tite-year review process. Community members are accuraged to contact EPA staff with any information that may help the agency make its determination regarding the protectiveness of the remedies at the site. A Comprehensive Five-Year Review Report describing the review; its findings, recommendations for follow -up actions and other information is expected to be finalized and available to the public by September 2015, although this date may be extended if needed to fully consider inform comments which EPA receives. For comments to be fully considered, they For comments to be fully considered, they should be admitted by June 30, 2015

The boundary of the site begins above Butte, near the Continental Div the Berkeley Pit and the interconnected mine workings and the Butte Priority Soils area in and near Butte, Montana, and extends westward for about 26 miles along Sover an enter these bounces, mounted a cent operations were stand to be about 25 milles along. Solare Bow Creak: The site also includes the former Bockar Treating Part and the Warm Springs Ponds (a water treatment area) near Warm Springs, Montana. The Salver Bow Creak-Butta Area also is non of four contamination areas, jointly known as the Clark Fork Basin Superfund Sites.

EPA is overseeing this cleanup for most areas of the site, in consultation with the EPA is overseeing this cleanup for most areas of the site, in consultation with the Montana. Department of Environmental Quality (EO) and site stakeholders. DED is the lead implementing agency for the Streamside Tailings area (main portion of Silver Bow Creek). Remedial actions thus far have included a combination of removal of mining waste, treatment of arsenic constrained eolisis, amendment and capping of mining waste, residential yard cleanups, storm water controls such as catch basins. and hydrodynamic devices, groundwater controls and groundwater capture and treatment, surface water controls (such as ponds, treatment plants and treatment resument, some weiter controls (social as ponds, resument practs and treatment systems), excassion of mine waste along the banks of Silver Bow Creek, and the reconstruction of Silver Bow Creek. The large source areas within the site that have posed the greatest threats to human health and environment have been mitigated.

More information is available at the site's information repository and on EPA's Website: EPA Superfund Records Center Montana Office 10 West 15th Street, Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626 (408) 457-5046 / or toll free at (868) 457-2690 http://www2.epa.gov/region 8/silver-bow-creek-butte-area

For more information or questions, please contact Nikia Greene, EPA Remedial Project Manager – 406 457-5019 Kris Edwards, EPA Remedial Project Manager – 406 457-5021

to 27 years in prison for rape BILLINGS (AP) – A Crow Agency man was been too a void office and gring and assisting in any setting for our setting bin behavior and a setting assisting and any setting over the setting of the set in the basis of the set in the set of the set in the



G.

Page 3A

Butte Weekly -June 10, 2015 s Depot

By: Dave Jordan

San Francisco is like a big brother city to Butte. In the late 1800's they shared the same reputation as where to go for a good time. There were lots of jobs, a free-wheeling attitude and short of actually shooting somebody you could get away with just about anything. When, I first went to San Francisco in 1966 there was a bar named Lefty's O'Doul's on Geary and Powell Street that had the Montana Standard every day and of course you'd meet Butte people there all the time back when I was 19 and could go there in uniform. I am at home in the SF to the point where tourists constantly ask me for directions.

Even though San Francisco and Butte have grown into far different cities we still have the same spirit. I was lucky enough to be stationed at Treasure Island or home ported in Alameda for more than seven years spread out during my time in the Navy. I know the City very well which is why when I heard the traffic in San Francisco magically sorts itself somehow and uptown Butte will learn to live with all the changes coming our way, I was amused. I don't mind stretching the truth to make a point but it will be amusing to watch uptown traffic sort itself out for the next couple years.

The good news is that I get shar-The other good news is that the traffic light on my corner is safe for awhile. The snap-shot of traffic on Main St. taken last month is being used to justify removing lights and it is a graphic example of manipulation of data. Everyone knows Main Street does not always need four lanes and the traffic may not always justify stop lights. There are peak periods when they are welcome for controlling traffic and winter on Main Street is going to be a real treat with no way to pass spun-out cars. The traffic light outside the Mother Lode Theater may only be

Public Input Opportunity IPA Five-Year Review of Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is conducting the fourth comprehensive five-year review of remedial actions performed under the Superfund program at the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site in Butte, Montana. The purpose of the five-year review is to make sure the implemented remedies at the site confinue to be protective of human health and the environment.

EPA first issued a notice of opportunity for public input in October 2014. EPA again invites commu alty participation in the comprehensive five-year review process. Community members are encour-aged to contact EPA staff with any information that may help the agency make its determination regarding the protectiveness of the remedies at the site. A Comprehensive Five-Year Review Report describing the review, its findings, recommendations for follow-up actions and other information is expected to be finalized and available to the public by September 2015, although this date may be extended if needed to fully consider information and comments which EPA receives. For comments to be fully considered, they should be submitted by June 30, 2015.

The boundary of the site begins above Butte, near the Continental Divide, includes the Berkeley Pit and the interconnected mine workings and the Butte Priority Soils area in and near Butte, Montano and extends westward for about 26 miles along Silver Bow Creek. The site also includes the former tocker Treating Plant and the Warm Springs Ponds (a water treatment area) near Warm Springs, Nontana. The Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area site is one of four contamination areas, jointly known as the Clark Fork Basin Superfund Sites.

EPA is overseeing this cleanup for most areas of the site, in consultation with the Montana Depart-ment of Environmental Quality (DEQ) and site stakeholders. DEQ is the lead implementing agency for the Streamside Tailings area (main portion of Silver Bow Creek). Remedial actions thus for have included a combination of: removal of mining waste, treatment of arsenic contaminated soils, mendment and capping of mine waste, residential yard cleanups, storm water controls such as catch basias and hydrodynamic devices, groundwater controls and groundwater capture and treatent, surface water controls (such as ponds, treatment plants and treatment systems), excavation ment, surrace water controls fault is points, fraunten points and control of Silver Boy Creek. Of mine wast along the banks of Silver Boy Creek, and the reconstruction of Silver Boy Creek. The large source areas within the site that have posed the greatest threats to human health and ment have been mitigated.

information is available at the site's information repository and on EPA's Website:

EPA Superfund Records Center interna Office: 10 West 15th Street, Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626

(406) 457-5046 / or toll free at (866) 457-2690

http://www2.epa.gov/region 8/silvar-bow-creek-butte-area http://www2.epa.gov/region 8/silvar-bow-creek-butte-area For more information or questions, please contract Nikla Greene, EPA Remedial Project Nanager 406 457-5019 or Kris Edwards, EPA Remedial Project Manager – 406 457-5021

		S	ıdok	a ar	swe	rs			Crossword Answers
5	8	7	4	2	6	1	3	9	PULE ALPHA MUST
6	9	4	8	3	1	2	5	7	KEGS ENUMERATOR
2	3	1	9	7	5	6	8	4	BAR PER AMIRS STOW TRADED EYE
7	2	9	5	1	8	3	4	6	ALE LOPER ABLE DISORIENTS
8	6	5	3	4	7	9	1	2	FLEDGESRONDURE
4	1	3	6	9	2	5	7	8	FEDERALISM ETAL RELET ERNE
9	7	8	1	6	3	4	2	5	CAT ATTACH MISC
3	5	6	2	8	4	7	9	1	NURSEMAIDS TITO
1	4	2	7	5	9	8	6	3	OBEISANCES HOER NASA SASSY ENDS

needed when there's a show; then it is essential for the handicapped. We applaud the BSB Commissioners who forced the higher-ups to modify the Omnibus Traffic Plan to address traffic lights at a later date and to ease some of the dangers to bicyclists originally proposed. In the final vote on the Bicycle Route plan Commissioners Henderson, Fisher and Purdue-Dolan, although favoring Bikable Butte questioned the safety issues that others chose to ignore. I find my-self a pariah to the biking community for speaking against something I feel

strongly about. I believe the biking community sacrificed their legal right to be treated like every other vehicle for a three foot wide strip that funnels them into conflict with turning cars. I was called a liar on this point by a crony of city hall

Births

May 26-A boy to Robin and Mark Johnson

May 28-A girl to Kylah and Bryan Fitzpatrick

May 29-A girl to Katle Robinson and Ryan Dobb

A boy to Candace Dorscher and Jacob Lehde

May 31-A boy to Levi Jakorac and Amanda Stimer

June 1-A girl to Trent and Scarlet Doyle A girl to Sierra Hjorth and Cody

Grantham, Deer Lodge A boy to Cassandra Reuss

Edward **Jones**

MAKING SENSE OF INVESTING te Father's Day by Inves Your Children's Future ng in

ther's Day is almost here. If you're a father, especi users sury is annest nere. It you're a father, especially one with young children, pair ready to add ho your calle-tion of homenaude cards, ties, goit tees or other such gifts designed to places you. Your grantest gift, of cause, is your children — and you would doubtlessly get great sat-isfaction from knowing that you've provided them with your children — and you would doubliessly get great sa-staction from knowing that you're provided them with financial resources that can benefit their lives in many ways. So, why not use this Father's Day as a storting point

ways, So, why not use this father's Uay as a starting point for investing in your childron's futures? Here are a few methods for doing just that: UDM/UTMA — If you would like to huy and sell securi-ties for the benefit of a child, you may consider opening a assisted accent known as either an UTMA (Uniform usfors to Minors) or UGMA (Uniform Gifts to Minors) sount. You would serve as the custodian for this account, ing you control of it unit your child turns either 18 or group you control at a uma your cano verse statist is of 21 (depending on your state of revisiona), at which point ha or she would take over awnership. Investment income fram an USMA/UTIAA account can receive favorable too router and the gas of the didle statistication of the outer age age 24 and a full-time student) and does not have earned income providing more than half of his or her support, the first \$1.050 of investment income is tax-iree, and the need \$1,050 will be taxed at the child's tax rate, which is head \$1,050 will be taxed at the child's tax rate, which is typically 10%. Investment income above \$2,100 will be typicary non-

Taxaet of the partner's tax true. Rath IRA – Even young children can contribute to a Rath IRA as long as they have some type of earned income from bahysitting, moving lawns or any other type of em-ployment. Your children can fund a Rath IRA and choose the source of Miller to may of the methanter — steder playment, tour concrete can tunn a noni new and choice from several different types of investments — stocks, bonds, government securities, and so on — and withdraw-als of contributions are tax-free. Rath IRA cornings are also tax-free, providing the investor is at least 59% and the last of the IRA corn. has had the account for at least five years. A Roth IRA can be used to help provide retirement income for your chil-dren, but it also affers penalty-free withdrawals of earn-

who didn't have the courtesy say "In my opinion ... " I actually researched my point and resent that people think I do not value safety. One of my other hats is Alpine Ski Instructor, I too understand safety. I ski with hundreds of kids every year and stress safety second! Comfort actually comes first because you can't learn or be safe unless you are comfortable (re. PSIA Pyramid of Self-Actualization). This counter-intuitive but much about safety is and it is why experts study these things.

I honestly hope that I am wrong. I'll use the bike-lanes with extreme caution and we'll support the decision by publishing the new rules. The liabil-ity for this action will probably fall to BSB's insurance, somebody should check our coverage.

Kecorc ne June 2-A girl to Regina Sorum and

Codie Camba, Anaconda June 3-A boy to Jim and Laura Wom-

mack A girl to Rick Hotfman and Kristin Grote Deaths

May 27-Richard Anthony "Ricki" Simon. 71

Donald Leonard Bailey, 62 May 29-Lester 'Les' M. Crowe, 65 May 30-Jean L. Webster, 53 Delsie Stella Honey, 87, Longview, TX May 31-Edith Davenport, 92 Leonard Keith Eagle, 37

June 2-Burr Leonard Lively, 88, Dillon

ings when the money is used for a first-time purchase of a home.

e firstime purchase of a home. 529 Plans – If you would like to give your drild the gift of educa-fion, earnings in a 529 college savings plan accumulate and are distributed tax free, provided they are used for qualified higher education expenses. (529 plan distribu-fices not used for qualified expenses may be subject to folderal and state income tax and a 10% (155 pendy on distributed tax free for the 500 elem existing the subject to the subject to the subject to 500 elem existing the subject to the subject to the subject to the subject to 500 elem existing the subject to the subj naity on inderal and stab income tax and a 10% 105 pearshy on the ourning.) Another benefit to 529 plan contributions is that they may be deductible formy over state taxos. How-ever, 529 plans vary, so be sure to check with your tax advisor regarding deductiblity. A 529 plan affers after benefits, too. For one thing, the lifetime contribution limits are generous while these limits vary by state, some plans aflew contributions well in access of \$200,000. And a 529 the to Backton and the set of \$200,000. And a 529 plan is flacible: If your child decides against co

plon is flactifie: If your child decides against college or vocational school, you can transfer the unused fouds to another family member tox and panalty free. Living and Testamentary Trasts — If you would like to leave a financial legacy for your childran, and even their childrae, but still maintain some control over whon they receive the money and how they can use it, you might consider speaking with an estate-planning atomay to affor leapters support to hairs or durities after show that accuse resonancing a trust, some markature rease a trust to affer long-term support to heirs or charities after denkt, whether for soveral decades or several generations. Be-fore you decide on any of these plans, consult with your tax and financial professioneds to make sure the arrange-ment you've solected is suitable for your needs.

mart you've saladad is suitable for you'r leads. But however ywe choese to help your children, your gen-cardy will make all the Faller's Days to come even more meaningful for you - so consider taking action soon. Edward Jones, ils employees and financial advisors are net estato jenames and canad provide trux or legal ad-vice. You should consult your estate-planning attorney or qualified tox advisor regarding your situation.

This article was written by Edward Jones for use by your local Edward Jones Financial Advisor.

Appendix J: Interview Forms and Community Correspondence

Correspondence	Date
Letter from citizen	1/12/15
Letter from citizen	5/6/15
Letter from Citizens	5/13/15
Technical Environmental	
Committee (CTEC)	
Letter from citizen	5/22/15
Letter from citizen	5/22/15
Letter from citizen	5/25/15
Petition from The Citizens for	5/29/15
Labor and Environmental	
Justice (CLEJ)- 218	
signatures	
Letter from CLEJ	5/29/15
Letter from George Grant	6/2/15
Chapter of Trout Unlimited	
Letter from citizen	6/22/15
Coalition letter representing 5	6/24/15
community organizations	
with 8 signatures	
Letter from Project Green	6/26/15
Letter from citizen	6/29/15
Letter from Indian People's	6/29/15
Action	
Letter from citizen	6/29/15
Letter from citizen	6/30/15
Letter from citizen	6/30/15
Letter from citizen	6/30/15
Letter from CLEJ	6/30/15
Petition from CLEJ- 64	6/30/15
signatures	
Letter from citizen	7/1/15

Table J-1: Summary of Community Correspondence Sent to EPA

Residential Interview Form

Site:	Silver Bo	w Creek/Butte Ar	rea		EPA ID N	No:	MTD98	0502777		
Interviewer:					Affiliatio	n:				
Subject:					Affiliatio	n:	Residen	t		
Subject Contact					Phone:					
Information:					r none:					
Time:					Date:					
Location:										
Interview Format:		In Person		Phone		en	ıail		Mail	
Interview Category:	Resident									

- 1. Are you aware of the former environmental issues at the Site and the cleanup activities that have taken place to date?
- 2. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?
- 3. What have been the effects of the Site on the surrounding community, if any?
- 4. Have there been any problems with unusual or unexpected activities at the Site, such as emergency response, vandalism or trespassing?
- 5. Has EPA kept involved parties and surrounding neighbors informed of activities at the Site? How can EPA best provide site-related information in the future?
- 6. Do you own a private well in addition to or instead of accessing city/municipal water supplies? If so, for what purpose(s) is your private well used?
- 7. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding any aspects of the project?

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund	Site Five-Year Review Interview Form
Site Name: Butte Priority Soils OU	EPA ID No.: <u>MTD980502777</u>
Butte Mine Flooding OU	MTD980502777
Interviewer Name:	Affiliation:
Subject Name: Daryl Reed	Affiliation: DEQ
Subject Contact Information: dreed@mt	t.gov 406-444-6433
Time:	Date:
Interview Location:	
Interview Format (circle one): In Perso	on Phone Mail Other: email

Interview Category: State Agency

Addendum to responses submitted by the State of Montana to United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) on May 15, 2015.

After the State responded to the Five Year Review Questionnaire that it received in connection with this Five Year Review, it received an order of the Montana Second Judicial District Court in the litigation known as *Silver Bow Creek Headwaters Coalition v. State of Montana, DV-10-431* (August 17, 2015). This litigation was brought by the Coalition seeking a declaratory judgment regarding the appropriate name to be applied to the area from Texas Avenue to the confluence with Blacktail Creek. As a result of that order and the judgment of the Court, the State of Montana requests that the EPA revise any references to "Metro Storm Drain," or "MSD" to "Silver Bow Creek above the confluence with Blacktail Creek." Similarly, the State requests that the name for the subdrain be revised to "Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit (BPSOU) subdrain."

Site:	Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area		EPA ID No	: MTD98	80502777
Interviewer:			Affiliation:		
Subject:	Matt Vincent		Affiliation:	Chief E	Executive, Butte-Silver Bow
Subject Contact			Phone:		
Information:			r none:		
Time:	10:00 AM		Date:	Septem	ber 30, 2014
Location:	Butte-Silver Bow County Cou	ırthouse			
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone		email	Mail
Interview Category:	Local Government				

1. Are you aware of the former environmental issues at the Site and the cleanup activities that have taken place to date?

Yes. I have worked around Silver Bow Creek since 1995 in different capacities.

2. Do you feel well informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

Yes. I have been getting information from the state agencies, who are the lead for Silver Bow Creek. I wish the same level of success and activity at Silver Bow Creek applied to the rest of the OUs. We're making progress. When I was interviewed for the last FYR, I was in a different position. Now as the Chief Executive, I'm in a position to try to get the other OUs to the status of Silver Bow Creek.

EPA has been very responsive to my and local governments' concerns about getting to the end game like Silver Bow Creek has gone. In particular, BPSOU. MDEQ has been responsive to a lesser extent.

We still have a ways to go. We need to figure out a final plan for the eastern area of the Site. If you had to put your finger on an issue about what the public is concerned about, it's the Berkeley Pit. We need to talk about what's going on at the Berkeley Pit. Anytime there is something that is unmanageable and needs to be cleaned up in perpetuity, there needs to be discussion. Even I don't know the end game for the pit. All I know is that there is a critical water level that will be reached in 10 years or so, but I don't know anything beyond that. We need to do better.

3. Have there been any problems with unusual or unexpected activities at the Site, such as emergency response, vandalism or trespassing?

Not as it relates to the remedy. We've had vandalism in the parks, park structures.

4. Are you aware of any changes to state laws or local regulations that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy?

No. I think the state's in the process of redefining the TNDLs for Silver Bow Creek so we're paying attention to that. We have to balance that with our ability to meet those standards. We have a naturally mineralized area that's unlike any other place. We want to maintain and improve the health of the creek first and foremost and want to make sure those limits are reasonable. We have background levels of zinc and copper in the creek and we can't be expected to go below those background levels. I know that's part of the Consent Decree – looking at alternative standards

5. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site?

No. we are wide open to do what we have to do in a land management perspective to do what's best for the creek. What are we going to do in the historic SBC channel – I don't think we have any commercial zoning in that corridor. We're here to cooperate.

6. Has EPA kept involved parties and surrounding neighbors informed of activities at the Site? How can EPA best provide site-related information in the future?

I think PitWatch – that's something our local government is in charge of – we need to start being more aggressive to use that as a way to disseminate information. That's an educational tool that was put together with funding from Atlantic Richfield. The educational tool was put together by the public advisory committee. The shortcomings and criticisms about not knowing about the BMFOU is probably more a function of the fact that we don't have a seat at the table with the BMFOU the way we do with BPSOU (where we are a PRP because our stormwater system was tagged as a conduit). When we're not at the table, we're left out. We've proven our value and cooperative nature in our discussion with the BPSOU, so we should be more involved in some of the discussions and decisions that are made about mine flooding. It stands out as one of the biggest disappointments in my professional career with EPA – when we as local government submitted 90 pages of comments for the Consent Decree for Berkeley Pit and not one thing was changed. We can do better there.

7. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the project?

It's not just taking the model from Silver Bow Creek and applying the remedy, we need restoration and collaboration. We've been doing work on BPSOU since 1988. But we should still try to do what's possible to incorporate restoration. We need better progress on the west side soils OU.

My two young boys are probably the first generation of people here where when you ask them where's your favorite place to fish, they would say Silver Bow Creek. This wasn't possible in the past.

95 percent of the project has been successful. It's getting to the point now where all the things that we do as local government and the agencies that are in charge of the unfinished

Superfund business in Butte. It's all done for the protection of Silver Bow Creek. Since I started working on Silver Bow, I never thought that in my lifetime we could catch a trout in Silver Bow Creek. Remarkable. That's the only word I can think of.

As a result we're doing a lot with stormwater here as a municipality. Things are underway with a 31 million dollar upgrade to our sanitary sewer treatment system.

There was a time where the mine waste contamination in Silver Bow Creek and nutrient contamination from sewer overall dampened the toxicity. Right now our nutrients are the limiting factor for the stream.

I understand some people have had issues with EPA. It is not an issue now with my new role. I feel positive about the relationship I'm forming with EPA.

Would like to see the same level of progress and effectiveness I've seen on Silver Bow Creek and the Middletown dam at other parts of the Site. We have to integrate the restoration that the state oversees with the remediation that EPA oversees. That hasn't been the case for the BPSOU. In fact, it pushed away from the bargaining table on the paired tailings and some of the things that have remained at the priority soils. It's been 4 years since the consent decrees were comprehensive. Butte-Silver Bow County is finally able to get back to the table with DEQ, NRD, ARCO, Butte-Silver Bow County. Last spring, we've reconvened those discussions. There's renewed commitment and understanding of where we need to be.

We really need more information and more progress related to understanding of the Berkeley pit. In the absence of good understanding on our part and where we are in the process, you get these alarmists, let's call them, who are saying that the Pit is overflowing, the sky is falling. I know it's not true but there's no information to the contrary. We need to be more proactive. People are sick of hearing about the critical water level, and that we have all the time in the world. That's no longer true. The time delta is now within the timeline of everyone's existence. We need to understand whatever adjustments or improvements that need to happen with the treatment plant. We need to know what's going to happen to the water. We need to keep options open and look to new technologies.

One of the complaints I've heard from some people is that there have been technologies brought to light that could have worked but because of the PRP's access they weren't allowed to try it.

The Rocker OU has an effect on the Rocker residents. The small area has resulted in the closure of wells in the area. Why can't we combine remedy with restoration for Rocker?

Site:	Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area		EPA ID No:	MTD98	0502777
Interviewer:			Affiliation:		
Subject:	Julia Crain		Affiliation:		ilver Bow County Special Manager
Subject Contact			Phone:		
Information:			Phone:		
Time:			Date:		
Location:					
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	en	nail	Mail
Interview Category:	Local Government				

1. Are you aware of the former environmental issues at the Site and the cleanup activities that have taken place to date?

Yes.

2. Do you feel well informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

I do, as an employee of the government, working in a job where it's my job to know what's going on. My job is a special projects planner for Butte-Silver Bow. I support the Superfund Coordinator, John Sesso, and Tom Malloy and I administer some of the tasks for Butte-Silver Bow.

We receive a lot of questions via the PitWatch website – receiving requests from schools around the region for information – including from Idaho. That resource is really helpful. We redesigned it last year and it has been a successful redesign.

3. Have there been any problems with unusual or unexpected activities at the Site, such as emergency response, vandalism or trespassing?

There was trespassing in the Mountain Con building (the hoist) in 2013 – but the trespasser was quickly captured by law enforcement.

People aren't destructive of the infrastructure. They are aware of the history and protect those things.

4. Are you aware of any changes to state laws or local regulations that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy?

No.

5. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site?

No.

6. Has EPA kept involved parties and surrounding neighbors informed of activities at the Site? How can EPA best provide site-related information in the future?

Yes. EPA has done a good job. I know that the RPM has a lot of one-on-one conversations with residents.

7. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the project?

No.

Site:	Rocker OU	EPA ID No:	MTD980502777
Interviewer:	Treat Suomi	Affiliation:	Skeo Solutions
Subject:	Albert Molignoni	Affiliation:	Chairman of the Board for the County Water and Sewer District of Rocker
Subject Contact Information:	1108 Grizzly Trail Butte, MT 59701	Phone:	(406) 723-9365
Time:	09:56 AM	Date:	November 3, 2014
Location:			
Interview Format:	In Person Phone	en	nail 🗌 Mail
Interview Category:	Local Government		

1. Are you aware of the former environmental issues at the Site and the cleanup activities that have taken place to date?

Yes. EPA and ARCO haven't had success with the work that they have completed. The injections they did have not worked properly. We are still under the restriction of the five-year control area. It was only supposed to take five years for us to regain access to our groundwater, and that hasn't happened. It was over 12 years ago when that work started, so we should have had our groundwater back in the control area again. We are disappointed as a community because we were promised that this would do the job and it didn't. The only option now is to do it again or remove the source material and the Rocker OU.

2. Do you feel well informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

No. An official (EPA, MDEQ and ARCO) should come in and explain to the Board why things haven't happened the way they were supposed to. Now we are buying water from Butte-Silver Bow and this is very expensive and inconvenient. The Board is the best vehicle for disseminating information to the local community.

3. Have there been any problems with unusual or unexpected activities at the Site, such as emergency response, vandalism or trespassing?

Not that I know of. The property is pretty barren.

4. Are you aware of any changes to state laws or local regulations that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy?

The new guidelines for arsenic are the only ones I am familiar with.

5. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site?

No.

6. Has EPA kept involved parties and surrounding neighbors informed of activities at the Site? How can EPA best provide site-related information in the future? No, they haven't. There are only a few wells they are testing and there are some hand-dug wells that are not being tested. These hand-dug wells are older wells that have been around for a long time. The Board has not received information on why some wells are sampled and other wells are not.

Meeting with the Board is the best way to communicate information to the community. The Board meets every third Tuesday of the month at 7 p.m. at the Rocker Community Fire Hall. A phone call to the Chairman of the Board would allow scheduling time with the Board.

7. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the project?

I am not a scientist but I know the project didn't work as planned. One of our prior board members who had a Ph.D. explained that sometimes these things that work in the lab do not work in the field. That's what happened here. Things didn't work out in the field the way they expected.

Site:	Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area	!	EPA ID No:	MTD98	80502777
Interviewer:	Self-Completion		Affiliation:		
Subject:	Tim Hilmo & Steve Walsh		Affiliation:	Atlantic Resourc	e Richfield & Montana ces
Subject Contact			Dhanas		
Information:			Phone:		
Time:			Date:	Decemb	ber 2, 2014
Location:					
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	⊠em	nail	Mail
Interview Category:	Potentially Responsible Part	ties (PRPs)			

1. What is your overall impression of the remedial activities at the Site?

The PRPs believe the remedial action is effective. Response actions have contained contaminated water in the East Camp and West Camp systems and prevented the release of contaminated water to the alluvial aquifer and Silver Bow Creek. The requirements of the Consent Decree Scope of Work for pre Critical Water level (CWL) water treatment are being met and valuable experience in operating the treatment plant has been acquired.

2. What have been the effects of the Site on the surrounding community, if any?

The remedy is protective of human health and the environment. Remedial activities in place prevent exposure to contaminated bedrock groundwater and surface water by humans and aquatic life.

3. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The remedy consists of many facets:

- A. Monitoring of groundwater levels and quality has been very effective. This monitoring provides a basis to reliably estimate the timing for evaluation of effectiveness and need for modification/upgrades of the water treatment facilities and to demonstrate that hydraulic gradients are maintained so that discharges to the alluvial aquifer and Silver Bow Creek do not occur.
- B. Operation of the water treatment plant and integration of 100 percent of the treatment plant effluent into Montana Resources' mine process has effectively limited surface inflows to the Berkeley Pit and prevented discharges to Silver Bow Creek. Treatment plant maintenance activities have been effective.
- C. Waterfowl mitigation efforts have been effective.
- D. Institutional controls are protective and through the Pit Watch program and others, provide valuable information to the general public.
- *E.* The schedule for future remedy requirements and the remedy adequacy review has been prepared and approved by EPA, and is being followed.
- 4. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding environmental issues or the remedial action from residents since implementation of the cleanup?

Yes. Some in the Butte community question EPA's remedy strategy at public meetings, in correspondence with the agencies or in letters submitted to the local newspaper expressing their opinion. In general, the issues raised by these citizens – timing of treatment of Berkeley Pit water (draining of the Berkeley Pit) and the CRITICAL WATER LEVEL – are similar to the issues raised by the public in 1994 and considered by the agencies (and documented in the ROD responsiveness summary) at the time the final remedy was selected. Recently, there has been renewed public interest in the slope stability of the walls of the Berkeley Pit. This year, at EPA's direction, the PRPs have conducted investigations that provide additional information concerning the structural stability of the walls of the Berkeley Pit.

5. Do you feel well informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

Yes. The PRPs communicate frequently with EPA and MDEQ project managers.

6. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

Not at this time.

Site:	Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area	I	EPA ID No:	MTD98050277	7
Interviewer:	Jenni Harris	A	Affiliation:	Atlantic Richfie	eld
Subject:	Tina Donovan	A	Affiliation:	TREC, Inc.	
Subject Contact Information:	tdonovan@treccorp.com	I	Phone:	(406) 490-5764	1
Time:	01:30 PM	Ι	Date:	December 17, 2	2014
Location:					
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	\boxtimes em	ail	Mail
Interview Category:	O&M or Remedial Contractor				

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

The project is well run. Schedules are adhered to, and the site is well maintained. The vegetative cap at the site is in excellent condition and vegetation is robust and relatively free of noxious weeds. We found no evidence of erosion at the site. Site security is maintained with a fence, which is in excellent condition. Recently, tanks that had been on site for over 10 years were removed. Although the site is fenced from public use, the tank removal enhanced the area's visual appeal. Groundwater conditions are monitored regularly. Although on-site groundwater is still above water quality standards in some wells, we found no evidence of groundwater degradation.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The remedy is simply to monitor conditions. This is being carried out as scheduled. The groundwater monitoring schedule is excessive, if anything.

3. What are the findings from the monitoring data? What are the key trends in contaminant levels documented over time at the Site?

The monitoring data indicate that, in general, groundwater arsenic concentrations have decreased since just after site remediation. Arsenic concentrations appear to be leveling off, although samples from one well indicates an increasing trend. Nearby domestic wells show no change in arsenic concentrations over time.

4. Is there a continuous on-site O&M presence? If so, please describe staff responsibilities and activities. Alternatively, please describe staff responsibilities and the frequency of site inspections and activities if there is not a continuous on-site O&M presence.

There is not a continuous on-site O&M presence. Personnel are on site quarterly for four to five days at a time, to perform groundwater monitoring. Quarterly monitoring occurs in February, May, August and November of each year. This monitoring consists of water level measurements in 50 wells and at four surface water sites. Thirty-four wells (31 monitoring wells, two domestic wells and one public water supply well) are sampled for water quality. Although the point of quarterly groundwater monitoring is not to inspect the site, personnel do make note of any site problems, and steps are taken to remedy any problems.

In addition to groundwater monitoring, there is an annual site inspection, typically in July or August of each year. The site is inspected for the condition of the vegetative cover, presence of noxious weeks, site security and site drainage. A form is completed and submitted to the Project Coordinator and Operations Project Manager. Any needed maintenance is noted and taken care of.

5. Have there been any significant changes in site O&M requirements, maintenance schedules or sampling routines since start-up or in the last five years? If so, do they affect the protectiveness or effectiveness of the remedy? Please describe changes and impacts.

There have been no changes in O&M requirements or maintenance schedules in the last five years, or since the O&M Plan was put in place. In the last three years, there have been deviations from the sampling routine. In an attempt to assess potential groundwater arsenic loading to surface water, surface water monitoring occurred in November 2011 and February 2014. Surface water monitoring consisted of collecting water quality samples and flow measurements at three surface water sites. Results of the surface water monitoring indicated that site groundwater does not load arsenic to surface water at a measurable level.

In the past year, several additional wells were sampled for water quality, and the analytical list was expanded at several wells. The additional sampling was performed to assist in completing a Site Conceptual Model. Expanded sampling occurred in May and November of 2014. Data collected in May 2014 was inconclusive. Data collected in November 2014 has not yet been fully interpreted.

None of the additional monitoring affects the protectiveness of the remedy.

6. Have there been unexpected O&M difficulties or costs at the Site since start-up or in the last five years? If so, please provide details.

New fencing was installed in 2011, at the request of the agencies. Tanks tha had remained on site from an in-situ treatment prior to development of the O&M Plan were removed in 2014.

7. Have there been opportunities to optimize O&M activities or sampling efforts? Please describe changes and any resulting or desired cost savings or improved efficiencies.

Several shallow alluvial wells are prone to heaving of the internal casings. When this occurs, it is necessary to trim the internal casing in order to put a locking well cap in place. Initially, the contractor hired a driller to complete this task. Rather than hire a driller each time a casing needs to be trimmed, the contractor purchased an internal casing cutter. This allows the contractor to trim the internal casing themselves, eliminating the need to subcontract with a driller.

The agencies have suggested conducting surface water monitoring on an annual basis moving forward. Surface water monitoring took place in November 2011 and February 2014 and will be done again in 2015. At first glance, it appeared that February would be the best month to perform surface water monitoring; this is the quarter when surface water was most likely to be gaining groundwater. However, past experience has demonstrated that climatic conditions make February a difficult month to attain daylong steady state surface water conditions. When trying to assess interactions between surface water and groundwater, steady state conditions are imperative. Therefore, it was decided that any future surface water monitoring will occur in February if conditions allow, or alternatively, in the final quarter of the year. This will eliminate the chance of repeated attempts to sample under steady-state conditions.

8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding O&M activities and schedules at the Site?

Groundwater monitoring since 1998 indicates minimal seasonal variation in groundwater arsenic concentrations. The monitoring schedule could be reduced from a quarterly schedule to a semi-annual schedule. Additionally, historical water quality results show that few metals are present in groundwater at concentrations that are a concern to human health or the environment, and groundwater metals concentrations show minimal variation over time. Thus, the analytical list could be reduced.

Site:	Rocker Operable Unit		EPA ID No:	MTD980502	777
Interviewer:	Self-Completed		Affiliation:		
Subject:	Tim Hilmo		Affiliation:	Atlantic Rich	field
Subject Contact			Phone:	(406) 490-43	275
Information:			I none.	(400) 490-45	75
Time:			Date:		
Location:					
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	\boxtimes em	ail	Mail
Interview Category:	Potentially Responsible Part	ies (PRPs)			

1. What is your overall impression of the remedial activities at the Site?

Remedial activities at the site have been completed and the site is in the Operations and Maintenance (O&M) stage. The site is managed in accordance with the site approved O&M Plan. The specific objectives of the Rocker OU O&M program are as follows:

- Confirm treatment results and track groundwater quality trends;
- Document the long-term efficacy of the iron/limerock/oxidant groundwater treatment process carried out in 1997;
- *Document potential migration of the plume, if any;*
- Document that nearby public or domestic water supplies remain unaffected by the Rocker site; and
- Document changes in water table elevation and flow patterns following excavation and treatment of the shallow alluvial hydrostratigraphic unit.

Currently, additional data has been collected (2014) and is being evaluated to develop an updated Conceptual Site Model in Q1 2015.

2. What have been the effects of this Site on the surrounding community, if any?

A Controlled Groundwater Well Area was established and a ban on additional wells is in place and an Alternate Water Supply is in effect for the Rocker community. However, the community (County Water and Sewer District of Rocker) has previously voiced concern regarding increased water rates to their current supply. They have also asked when their groundwater supply may be usable again.

3. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The remedy appears to be protective in that none of the contingency wells have been triggered to implement a contingency remedy. However an increasing arsenic trend has been observed in some wells internal to the site that has led to the additional sampling and development of the Conceptual Site Model mentioned above.

4. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding environmental issues or the remedial action from residents since implementation of the cleanup?

The County Water and Sewer District of Rocker have previously inquired about their water supply. They were concerned with Butte Silver Bow tax rate increases and a timeframe that their groundwater would be available again.

5. Do you feel well-informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

Yes

6. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

Possible reduction in analytes/monitoring frequency as the current groundwater monitoring program is quarterly and not semi-annual.
Site:	Warm Spring Ponds Operable Unit	EPA ID No:	MTD980502777	
Interviewer:		Affiliation:		
Subject:	Brian Wilkins	Affiliation:Operation Contractor, Pioneer Technical Services		
Subject Contact Information:	Pioneer Technical Services, Anaconda, MT	Phone:		
Time:		Date:		
Location:				
Interview Format:	In Person Phone	⊠em	nail 🗌 Mail	
Interview Category:	O&M or Remedial Contractor			

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

The Warm Springs Ponds is a unique site; it is a treatment facility but also a public use area. The ponds have transformed from a desolate area 20 years ago to a thriving biological system. The public is encouraged to visit the area to learn about the cleanup and result. Most people that visit do not realize it is an active treatment facility.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The remedy in place works as intended. The treatment system is efficient in precipitating heavy metals.

3. What are the findings from the monitoring data? What are the key trends in contaminant levels that are being documented over time?

The data fluctuates throughout the year. There are elevated arsenic levels during the summer months along with pH. The influent water from Silver Bow Creek has been changing over the course of the last five years, which could potentially affect the current treatment within the ponds system.

4. Is there a continuous on-site O&M presence? If so, please describe staff responsibilities and activities. Alternatively, please describe staff responsibilities and the frequency of site inspections and activities if there is not a continuous on-site O&M presence.

There is a seven-days-a-week, 365-day-a-year O&M presence. The main reason for this presence is dam safety. The main tasks for the operators of the facility are to inspect the embankments and structures and ensure the treatment system is operating as described in the O&M manual. Due to the size of the system, there is a need for presence on a regular basis.

5. Have there been any significant changes in O&M requirements, maintenance schedules or sampling routines since start-up or in the last five years? If so, do they affect the protectiveness or effectiveness of the remedy? Please describe changes and impacts.

Atlantic Richfield has incorporated routine inspection procedures for protective safety devices and critical equipment. A new maintenance management system has been implemented in the last year to assist operators in completing and tracking maintenance tasks and inspections. Sampling has remaining consistent throughout the life of the project.

6. Have there been unexpected O&M difficulties or costs since start-up or in the last five years? If so, please provide details.

There has not been any unexpected O&M difficulties or costs within the last five years.

7. Have there been opportunities to optimize O&M activities or sampling efforts? Please describe changes and any resulting or desired cost savings or improved efficiencies.

Due to the age of the equipment, most has met the design life. Atlantic Richfield has been in the process of updating treatment process equipment to continue to meet the requirements set forth in the UAO. New equipment is spec'd to help improve O&M efficiency as much as possible.

8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding O&M activities and schedules at the Site?

No.

Site:	Warm Springs Pond Operab	le Unit	EPA ID No:	MTD98050	02777
Interviewer:	Self-Completed	Affiliation:			
Subject:	Tim Hilmo	Affiliation:	Atlantic Richfield Company		
Subject Contact			Phone:	(406) 490-4	1375
Information:			I none.	(400) 490-	+375
Time:			Date:		
Location:					
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	\boxtimes em	nail	Mail
Interview Category:	Potentially Responsible Part	ties (PRPs)			

1. What is your overall impression of the remedial activities at the Site?

Remedial activities have been very successful and are in the O&M stage. There is an approved O&M Plan that is followed that fulfills the requirements of the two UAOs (Inactive and Active). Specifically, these tasks include:

- i. Routine O&M activities (e.g., site inspections, managing lime addition).
- ii. Routine surface water monitoring, sampling and analysis.
- iii. Routine groundwater monitoring, sampling and analysis.
- iv. Routine data management and reporting.
- v. Routine site management activities.
- vi. Dam stability inspections.
- vii. Other site ownership O&M as required.

Optimization studies are ongoing to mitigate the seasonal exceedances of pH and arsenic (as mentioned below) that include installation of Solar Bees and lime reduction evaluation.

2. What have been the effects of the Site on the surrounding community, if any?

The Warm Springs Ponds have become a very popular recreation area for the community. Atlantic Richfield manages the area as a Wildlife Management Area, with goals to maximize waterfowl use, fisheries, and preservation of existing flora and fauna. The area is open to the public and provides recreational and educational opportunities such as hunting, fishing, birdwatching and hiking. Local school groups take tours of the area several times each year.

3. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The Warm Springs Ponds capture the majority of constituents entering the system and the remedy is functioning as intended. Seasonal exceedances of pH and arsenic still exist, however. Optimization studies such as use of Solar Bees are ongoing and being evaluated to reduce these exceedances and increase the effectiveness of the remedy. The remedy is supporting a healthy, diverse and abundant aquatic, terrestrial and avian wildlife population as documented in the Site's Wildlife Management Plan. Annual and five-year dam inspections confirm that the dikes continue to function as designed.

4. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding environmental issues or the remedial action from residents since implementation of the cleanup?

The majority of the community sees the Warm Springs Ponds as a local recreational asset. However, as in all communities, there are a few vocal individuals who provide critical comments at public meetings or in local newspaper opinion pieces.

5. Do you feel well informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

Yes.

6. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

No.

Site:	Butte Priority Soils Operable	EPA ID No:	MTD98	0502777		
Interviewer:	Loren Burmeister		Affiliation:	Atlantic	Richfield Company	
Subject:	Josh Bryson	Affiliation:	Pioneer Technical Services, Inc.			
Subject Contact Information:	jbryson@pioneer-technical.com		Phone:	(406) 565-7164		
Time:	10:15 AM		Date:	April 17, 2015		
Location:	Pioneer Technical Services, 1101 South Montana Street, Butte, MT					
Interview Format:	In Person	In Person Phone		ail	Mail	
Interview Category:	nterview Category: O&M or Remedial Contractor					

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

The project has evolved over time where the BPSOU site had focused on active construction of the soils, surface water, and groundwater remedy to its current state that is more focused on finalization of site work to ensure the remedies success and active monitoring and maintenance to evaluate the effectiveness of the remedy.

Based on surface water monitoring results, reclamation driven cleanup has been successful. We are now to a point that we are attempting to identify small remaining contributions that adversely impact standards compliance. Once these are identified we will be able to implement final reclamation strategies and move to full compliance and protectiveness of the Butte residents and the local environment.

Atlantic Richfield's maintenance approach effectively identifies and implements measures to protect the remedy work completed to date. Water collection and treatment systems are maintained on a routine basis and have proven effective in promoting consistent and efficient site operations. Some maintenance activities related to source controls are performed by Butte-Silver Bow according to the BRES program – the effectiveness of this program in site assessment and corrective measures continues to improve year to year.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

Surface water and effluent discharge monitoring data indicates that the site remedy for soils, surface water, and groundwater is generally effective throughout the BPSOU. There are some areas remaining for improvement in regard to meeting wet weather in-stream water quality standards for dissolved copper. Implementation of upcoming storm water BMP projects will continue progress toward consistent compliance. Atlantic Richfield also believes waiver of existing Montana DEQ hardness-based standards to equally or more protective federal biotic ligand model standards would provide a better measure of remedy performance.

3. What are the findings from the monitoring data? What are the key trends in contaminant levels that are being documented over time at the Site?

Archived monitoring data indicates that total and dissolved forms of zinc, silver, copper, iron, and arsenic seen in surface water have decreased with time as the BPSOU remedy has been implemented. This is a result of both source area reclamation and the effectiveness of the groundwater collection and treatment system including the Metro Storm Drain, groundwater control features of the Butte Reduction Works, the Hydraulic Control Channel, and actual treatment occurring at the Butte Treatment Lagoons. Following major upgrades to the Butte Treatment Lagoons we have seen more consistent effluent discharge levels and improvement in effluent chemistry. No exceedances of Montana DEQ-7 aquatic standards have been observed since 2014.

4. Is there a continuous on-site O&M presence? If so, please describe staff responsibilities and activities. Alternatively, please describe staff responsibilities and the frequency of site inspections and activities if there is not a continuous on-site O&M presence.

Within BPSOU there is a continuous on-site OM&M presence. This includes a variety of Atlantic Richfield suppliers who perform routine operation and maintenance tasks related to groundwater, surface water, and soils media remedies. Butte-Silver Bow performs certain OM&M tasks related to BRES and other superfund related infrastructure with funding provided by Atlantic Richfield.. Pioneer maintains responsibility for operation and maintenance of water collection and treatment systems including the Metro Storm Drain system, the West Camp Pump Station, and all infrastructure within Lower Area One, including the Butte Treatment Lagoons. All Pioneer activities are scheduled and performed according to the current revision of the site's OM&M plan. The referenced OM&M plan contains checklists and logs to complete and document daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, and annual inspection and maintenance tasks.

5. Have there been any significant changes in site O&M requirements, maintenance schedules or sampling routines since start-up or in the last five years? If so, do they affect the protectiveness or effectiveness of the remedy? Please describe changes and impacts.

OM&M activities have always been conducted in accord with the most recent revision of the OM&M plan approved by EPA. General schedules associated with compliance monitoring have not deviated significantly. However, recent construction activities including an extensive upgrade of the Butte Treatment Lagoons treatment system has resulted in significant change in general duties over the last five year period. In general, operations have become more efficient due to the improved instrumentation and controls. Reliability has also been improved due to the complete redundancy of the water treatment system.

Inspection, testing, and maintenance schedules allow tasks to be completed within routine working schedules, and at planned intervals. Redundant systems are in place to allow maintenance activities to be completed without upsetting routine operation and treatment.

The site upgrades improve the protectiveness and effectiveness of the remedy through the addition of additional protective measures and have enhanced our ability to maintain consistent operations through non-routine events.

6. Have there been unexpected O&M difficulties or costs at the Site since start-up or in the last five years? If so, please provide details.

There have not been any unexpected OM&M difficulties or costs within BPSOU during the last five years.

7. Have there been opportunities to optimize O&M activities or sampling efforts? Please describe changes and any resulting or desired cost savings or improved efficiencies.

As previously identified, recent upgrades have improved operating efficiency and treatment reliability of the system. Consistent operation has reduced overall lime usage while maintaining effluent treatment goals of the system. Reduced lime addition directly reduces the amount of material that must be dredged. Configuration upgrades to the primary cells have also reduced labor requirements during dredging operations. Improved control systems have reduced manual adjustments to pump systems which have increased operation efficiencies. Scheduled equipment inspections are utilized to prevent unplanned equipment failures or outages.

As operator's become more familiar with the Butte Treatment Lagoons system additional OM&M efficiencies may be identified.

8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding O&M activities and schedules at the Site?

During this current 5-year shakedown period of the Butte Treatment Lagoons, and in consideration of the recently completed and pending construction upgrades, it would be most beneficial to remain consistent in ongoing OM&M activities. Additionally, changes in influent flow rates to the system and/or water chemistry could result in difficulties in continuing to meet effluent water quality standards. Once all planned improvements are made a better opportunity may arise to identify additional operational efficiencies.

Site:	Butte Priority Soils Operable	Unit 1	EPA ID No:	MTD980	0502777		
Interviewer:		1	Affiliation:				
Subject:	Loren Burmeister	1	Affiliation:	Atlantic	Richfield Company		
Subject Contact	loren.burmeister@bp.com	1	Phone:	(406) 72	23 1826		
Information:	toren.burmetster@bp.com	1	i none.	(400)72	23-1820		
Time:	1430]	Date:	April 28	3, 2015		
Location:	Atlantic Richfield Company, 317 Anaconda Road, Butte MT 59701						
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	\boxtimes em	ail	Mail		
Interview Category:	Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs)						

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the remedial activities at the Site?

Significant progress has been made in implementation of the Remedy for all impacted media including groundwater, surface water, and solid media. The groundwater remedy of capture and treatment of impacted water has proved effective in protecting surface water. The surface water remedy is continuing to be implemented and significant improvements have been observed as evidenced by recent monitoring. The solid media remedy for mine dumps and other impacted soils in Butte has essentially been fully implemented. All known locations of solid media that exceed human health criteria have been remediated and are maintained under the BRES program.

Additional groundwater and surface water evaluations are underway which may identify additional actions. Selection of any related projects will be subject to the outcomes of an inprogress surface water technical impracticability (TI) evaluation by the EPA and ongoing Consent Decree (CD) negotiations between the Agencies and PRPs.

2. What have been the effects of this Site on the surrounding community, if any?

Remedial activity has had a positive impact throughout Butte. The community has benefitted not only from the improvements in their health and environment, but also, remedial activities have resulted in repurposing of areas for public use and enjoyment. Specific examples include the Granite Mountain Memorial, the Copper Mountain Sports Complex, and the Original Mine Yard.

3. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The remedy is protective of human and environmental receptors and complies with exposure levels stated within the Record of Decision for solid media. Remediation of impacted groundwater has been deemed Technically Impracticable, although it is collected and managed through a water collection and treatment system. The groundwater control area maintains protectiveness of residents of central Butte by prohibiting development of residential wells for purpose of consumption or irrigation. Effluent discharge from the Butte Treatment Lagoons system and of surface water is, in general, compliant with existing Montana DEQ-7 aquatic life standards, including during recent construction periods. The surface water remedy has not achieved compliance with the standards identified in the ROD, but is compliant with other protective measures of aquatic acute toxicity such as the Biotic Ligand Model.

4. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding environmental issues or the remedial action from residents since implementation of the cleanup?

Multiple complaints and inquiries regarding environmental issues and the remedial process are directed to Atlantic Richfield each year. Atlantic Richfield attempts to address each specific complaint or inquiry based on the best available information and within the framework of Atlantic Richfield legal policy and the CERCLA process. Recent contention has focused on the results and interaction of Atlantic Richfield and the EPA during completion of the Health Study and concern of ardent citizenry regarding the completeness and effectiveness of the remedy completed to date.

5. Do you feel well-informed regarding the Site's activities and remedial progress? If not, how might EPA convey site-related information in the future?

Yes.

6. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

Monitoring and maintenance programs associated with the remedy should be continually evaluated for effectiveness. Value-added data should be considered and, based upon experience, support performance-based decision making for adjustment of operations, performance of maintenance, or implementation of remedial actions going forward. Maintenance inspections and collection of monitoring data that does not support attainable remedy improvement or trending data should be discontinued.

Site:	Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit	EPA ID No:	MTD980502777
Interviewer:	Self-Completed	Affiliation:	
Subject:	Joe Griffin	Affiliation:	Montana DEQ
Subject Contact Information:	jgriffin@mt.gov	Phone:	(406) 560-6060
Time:		Date:	May 15, 2015
Location:			
Interview Format:	In Person Phone	\boxtimes em	ail Mail
Interview Category:	State Agency		

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

Implemented remedy has resulted in significant improvement towards protection of human health and the environment and compliance with ARARs in the BPSOU. However, the State believes further refinements are necessary.

The <u>Residential Metals Abatement Program</u>, which is managed by Butte Silver Bow County government, is effective at protecting the citizens of Butte from exposure to lead and arsenic. The recent study that examined Butte resident's exposure to lead – which included direct involvement by the public - helped show that the Residential Metals Abatement Program is effective. Continued efforts are necessary, however, to ensure that exposure standards conform to the most current information regarding protective human health levels.

The <u>mine waste capping program</u>, which is a major component of protecting human health and a major component of protecting Silver Bow Creek within the OU, has, in large part, addressed sources of surface contamination to Silver Bow Creek. Refinements to this aspect of the implemented remedy can further decrease metals loadings to Silver Bow Creek.

Continued evaluation to determine whether reclaimed sites are operational and functional is important to protecting the implemented remedy. The program currently lacks an essential step between design/build and passing reclaimed sites on to an in-perpetuity operations and maintenance program. The program does not use the performance evaluation tool – Butte Reclamation Evaluation System (BRES) – to determine whether sites are operational and functional as required. On-going evaluations of the capping program, as well as performance evaluations of re-vegetation efforts are necessary to ensure protectiveness of the remedy and compliance with reclamation standards.

Ongoing <u>streamside waste removals and ground water management</u> have been effective at significantly reducing the levels of in-stream metals. However, the State continues to disagree with the ground water remedy that left accessible, major sources of groundwater contamination in place (e.g., The Parrot, Northside, and Diggings East). Removal of such wastes would eliminate a threat to Silver Bow Creek, substantially reduce the toxicity, mobility and volume of groundwater contamination, and greatly increase the permanence and long-term effectiveness of the remedy. The State also believes further removals on the banks and beds of Silver Bow Creek are needed.

Although early source removals and rebuilding the MSD channel have had substantial effects on reducing metals discharged to Silver Bow Creek during wet weather events, additional work is necessary to meet surface water standards. The State believes the most successful approach to address wet weather contaminant loadings to Silver Bow Creek has been the retention/detention basin approach in Missoula Gulch. This approach would be equally successful in the Buffalo Gulch and MSD areas. Since removing the streamside tailings at Lower Area One and constructing the retention/detention ponds in Missoula Gulch in the mid-1990s, there has been significant improvement in storm water quality at Missoula Gulch, but not a similar level of improvement in storm water quality at the major municipal storm water system outfalls at Buffalo Gulch and MSD. EPA's 2008 Surface Water Characterization Report recommended that: "Detention/retention basins need to be installed at the base of Buffalo Gulch and the MSD subdrainages as soon as possible to reduce the suspended contaminant load."

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The actions taken have improved water quality in Silver Bow Creek. However, State water quality standards have not yet been met and thus additional technically practicable actions are necessary. Ground and surface water improvements will rely on effective management of stormwater, sediments, and remaining wastes, as well as continued evaluation of those remedy components through effective monitoring.

3. Are you aware of anycomplaints or inquiries regarding site-related environmental issues or remedial activities from residents in the past five years?

Yes, the citizenry has articulated concerns regarding stormwater management to EPA Region 8 and the State of Montana. The opinions expressed are focused on water quality, the need for additional action, and the long term stewardship of waste left in place following completion of remedial action.

4. Has your office conducted any site-related activities or communications in the past five years? If so, please describe the purpose and results of these activities.

The State, through the Natural Resource Damage Program, along with the BNRC, has produced a number of ground water studies that examine ground water contamination in the MSD-Parrot Tailings-Northside Tailings-Diggings East corridor.

5. Are you aware of any changes to state laws that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy?

Not in the last five years.

6. Are you comfortable with the status of the institutional controls at the Site? If not, what are the associated outstanding issues?

For the most part – yes. A concern is the lack of comprehensive evaluation of domestic use of ground water – including drinking water and irrigation - within the established controlled ground water area (BABCGWA). The current evaluation is limited to the ground water TI zone. The Agencies will need to revisit this issue.

7. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site?

Yes, development in Butte continues to change the urban landscape. As such, future construction and infrastructure projects may potentially intersect areas not investigated. Thus, a portion of the institutional control program will have to provide for effective management of contaminated substances containing principal threat materials leading to future remedial actions.

8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

The implemented remedy has resulted in improvements in water quality, as well as provided protections of human health and the environment through the Residential Metals Abatement Program. The State looks forward to working with EPA to refine the implementation of remedy components, including those discussed above. The State believes that continued evaluation of surface and groundwater remedy components, as well as evaluation of unreclaimed and previously reclaimed surface source areas is necessary to ensure protectiveness of human health and the environment and compliance withARARs.

Site:	Butte Mine Flooding Operal	EPA ID No:	MTD980	0502777	
Interviewer:	Self-Completed	Affiliation:			
Subject:	Joe Griffin	Affiliation:	Montana DEQ		
Subject Contact Information:			Phone:	(406) 84	1-5041/ (406) 459-8569
Time:			Date:	Novembe	er 18, 2014
Location:	Helena, MT				
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	en	nail	\boxtimes Mail
Interview Category:	State Agency				

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

The project team of representatives from Atlantic Richfield, Montana Resources, EPA and DEQ is working well together to initiate the steps needed to evaluate the adequacy of the existing water treatment plant to treat the combined flows from the East Camp groundwater and the Horseshoe Bend surface water.

The robust monitoring program implemented by the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology is effectively tracking water level and water quality changes in the East Camp and West Camp.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The Horseshoe Bend (HsB) Water Treatment Plant (WTP) has been operating since 2003 and although treated water is used in the mining circuit the operators have gained valuable operating experience. Performance tests showed that the WTP could treat the HsB surface water and meet discharge standards if required.

The monitoring program is continually evaluated, revised and improved including installing pressure transducers in selected wells to obtain more frequent water level data.

As discussed in the agencies' Feb 20, 2014 letter to AR and MR, future remedy protectiveness remains a concern. In that letter, the agencies requested that the Settling Defendants take a proactive approach towards long-term protectiveness by starting work now on the items identified in the Five-Year Review Report recommendations and follow-up actions. The State continues to support this proactive approach.

3. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding site-related environmentalissues or remedial activities from residents in the past five years?

Following reports of pit wall slope failures in 2013, citizens expressed concerns that future slope failures could potentially cause overflow of the pit water. It has also been expressed that the Horseshoe Bend Treatment Facility has not yet been operated at capacity with Berkley Pit waters and as such it has not been sufficiently evaluated as a key part of the long term remedy.

4. Has your office conducted any site-related activities or communications in the past five years? If so, please describe the purpose and results of these activities.

DEQ continues with Management Assistance activities in coordination with EPA.

- Are you aware of any changes to state laws that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy? No.
- 6. Are you comfortable with the status of the institutional controls at the Site? If not, what are the associated outstanding issues? *Yes.*
- 7. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site? *No.*
- 8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy? *The project team is working well to address the Remedial Action Adequacy Review.*

Site:	Rocker Timber Framing Ope	EPA ID No:	MTD98	80502777	
Interviewer:	Self-Completed	Affiliation:			
Subject:	Daryl Reed	Affiliation:	Montan	ha DEQ	
Subject Contact Information:			Phone:	(406) 84	41-5041/ (406) 459-8569
Time:			Date:	Novemb	ber 18, 2014
Location:	Helena, MT				
Interview Format:	In Person	Phone	e	email	Mail
Interview Category:	State Agency				

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

The Remedy has failed to meet the Remedial Action Objectives set forth in the Record of Decision but the current groundwater monitoring indicates the rebounded arsenic plume is not expanding.

Recently there has been a working group with Atlantic Richfield, the agencies and their consultants tasked with updating the Conceptual Site Model, better understand the complex geochemistry and hydrogeology, and evaluate the remedy.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

The dissolved arsenic groundwater plume has rebounded to concentrations similar to those observed before the remedy implementation. This is most likely due to remaining source material below the depth of the remedy excavation. Arsenic in a downgradient well, RH-44, has been increasing since 2007.

The current groundwater monitoring adequately assesses the arsenic plume but could likely be enhanced. It is anticipated that groundwater monitoring optimization will be addressed by the working group.

3. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding site-related environmentalissues or remedial activities from residents in the past five years?

The Rocker Water and Sewer District has expressed their desire to have the Controlled Groundwater Area revised to release some of the groundwater for use by the community.

4. Has your office conducted any site-related activities or communications in the past five years? If so, please describe the purpose and results of these activities.

DEQ continues with Management Assistance activities in coordination with EPA.

5. Are you aware of any changes to state laws that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy?

The Arsenic Rule, which established a new MCL drinking water standard, was promulgated by EPA in the Federal Register (FR) on January 22, 2001 (FR 2001). This changed the arsenic MCL standard from 50 micrograms per liter (μ g/L) to 10 μ g/L, with the new standard becoming enforceable on January 23, 2006. The State of Montana adopted this standard under its Safe Drinking Water Act in 2008. The new standard was promulgated based on a finding that the 10 μ g/L standard was necessary for the protection of human health. EPA completed an ESD (September 2014) that changed the ARAR for arsenic in groundwater standard from 18 ug/L to 10 ug/L.

- 6. Are you comfortable with the status of the institutional controls at the Site? If not, what are the associated outstanding issues? *Yes.*
- 7. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site? *No.*
- 8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy? *The recent collaborative efforts by the working group are encouraging.*

Site:	Warm Springs Ponds Operable Unit			EPA	ID No:	MTD98	0502777	
Interviewer:	Self-Completed			Affil	iation:			
Subject:	Daryl Reed			Affil	iation:	Montan	a DEQ	
Subject Contact					Phor		(106) 8/	41-5041/(406)459-8569
Information:					F HOI	le:	(400) 84	1-30417 (400) 439-8309
Time:					Date	:	Novemb	er 18, 2014
Location:	Helena, M	Т						
Interview Format:	In Person Phone				e	email	\boxtimes Mail	
Interview Category:	State Agen	су						

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area NPL Superfund Site 5-year Review Interview Form

1. What is your overall impression of the project, including cleanup, maintenance and reuse activities (as appropriate)?

Overall, the Warm Springs Ponds are being operated as intended in the Interim Record of Decision. The Ponds are mostly effective at removing the divalent metals in the influent surface water. However, there is ongoing concern about elevated arsenic, pH, and occasionally ammonia in the pond discharge and recent studies indicate a high degree of variability in biotic indicators downstream. These ongoing concerns warrant additional efforts to understand and correct the elevated arsenic, pH and ammonia discharges from Warm Springs Ponds.

2. What is your assessment of the current performance of the remedy in place at the Site?

Copper and Zinc concentrations in the influent water exceed water quality standards a majority of the time.

Compliance with the arsenic discharge standard is a continuing concern. Atlantic Richfield has made progress in understanding the complex biogeochemistry within the Ponds and initiated a liming rate optimization program to reduce the alkalinity stored in the bottom sediments which may be contributing to arsenic desorption during warmer weather with increased biological activity.

In addition to arsenic compliance, elevated pH and suspected elevated ammonia concentrations in the Warm Springs Ponds discharge are an unresolved concern. Exceedances of the pH discharge standard are common from the late spring through the fall. Additionally, ammonia concentrations above the chronic aquatic life standard were observed in Silver Bow Creek below the ponds on March 19, 2014, at about the time when dimictic mixing of the ponds would have likely occurred¹. These concerns are heightened by recent

¹Ammonia concentration was 1.08 mg/L in Silver Bow Creek at Warm Springs (DEQ site SS-25; co-located with USGS gauge 12323750) on March 19, 2014 and progressively lower at each of the next three Clark Fork River sample sites downstream(near Galen, at Galen Road, and at Gemback Road). On that same day, ammonia was not detected at either of two sites in the Mill-Willow Bypass. No other surface water sample collected under the DEQ monitoring program since 2010 (n = 249) has detected ammonia in concentrations above the analytical reporting limit (0.05 mg/L).

results of macroinvertebrate biointegrity, trout density, and trout survival monitoring at sample sites immediately downstream from the Warm Springs Ponds. Mr. Dan McGuire has observed sharp declines in macroinvertebrate biointegrity scores at sites immediately downstream from the ponds in certain years². At sample sites immediately downstream from the Warm Springs Ponds, Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks observed a nearly four-fold reduction in brown trout density between 2008 and 2009; from 708 (± 102) fish per mile to 185 (± 73) fish per mile³. Since 2009, brown trout density has gradually increased to 1,878 (± 283) fish per mile in 2013⁴. Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks also observed that survival of juvenile brown trout in the Warm Springs Ponds outfall was significantly lower than in any other Clark Fork River site during the spring and summer of 2013⁵.

In light of these concerns, we encourage efforts to better understand the causes and options for correcting the elevated pH and ammonia concentrations in the Warm Springs Ponds discharge. Investigations are warranted to determine if dimictic mixing in the Ponds contributes to episodic toxic water discharges, and whether these conditions are contributing to the documented variability in macroinvertebrate biointegrity, trout density, or trout survival observed below the ponds.

The Pond berms have been strengthened to increase the dam stability and vegetation within the reconstructed Mill-Willow Bypass is maturing well.

3. Are you aware of any complaints or inquiries regarding site-related environmentalissues or remedial activities from residents in the past five years?

No.

4. Has your office conducted any site-related activities or communications in the past five years? If so, please describe the purpose and results of these activities.

DEQ continues with Management Assistance activities in coordination with EPA.

²**McGuire, D., 2013**. *Clark Fork River biomonitoring macroinvertebrate community assessments, 2012*, presentation at Clark Fork River Basin Meeting, USGS – Wyoming-Montana Water Science Center, Helena, MT.

³ Lindstrom, J. 2011. *Upper Clark Fork River fish sampling, 2008-2010*, prepared by Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks, Deer Lodge, MT.

⁴ Leon, J., P. Saffel, B. Liermann, J. Lindstrom, and T. Selch, 2013. *Upper Clark Fork River fisheries monitoring study: 2013 Annual Report*, prepared by Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks, Missoula, MT.

⁵ Leon, J., P. Saffel, B. Liermann, J. Lindstrom, and T. Selch, 2013. Upper Clark Fork River fisheries monitoring study: 2013 Annual Report, prepared by Montana Fish, Wildlife, and Parks, Missoula, MT.

For details see: **Ingman, G.**, *Clark Fork River Operable Unit monitoring, first quarter 2014 monitoring event preliminary data review*, prepared by RESPEC, Helena, MT, for Montana Department of Environmental Quality, Helena, MT.

- 5. Are you aware of any changes to state laws that might affect the protectiveness of the Site's remedy? No
- 6. Are you comfortable with the status of the institutional controls at the Site? If not, what are the associated outstanding issues? *Yes.*
- 7. Are you aware of any changes in projected land use(s) at the Site? *No*.
- 8. Do you have any comments, suggestions or recommendations regarding the management or operation of the Site's remedy?

The Warm Springs Ponds operators are implementing the Interim Remedy in a professional and diligent manner. The State encourages further investigation into the Warm Springs Ponds discharges, as discussed above.



BUTTE-SILVER BOW OFFICE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE Courthouse, 155 W. Granite Street, Suite 106 Butte, Montana 59701-9256

July 31, 2015

Nikia Greene and Kris Edwards U.S. EPA Region 8 Montana Office Federal Building 10 W. 15th St., Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626

RE: 2015 Five-Year Review Comments Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site

Dear Mr. Greene and Ms. Edwards:

Thank you for providing an opportunity to provide input as part of the latest Five-Year Review of the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Superfund Site. On behalf of the consolidated City-County Government of Butte-Silver Bow, including its newly formed Superfund Advisory and Redevelopment Trust Authority, we submit the following comments:

Streamside Tailings Operable Unit (Silver Bow Creek)

This remedial work for this component of the Site, which we define generally as the floodplain and riparian areas of Silver Bow Creek, extending 26 miles from a point near the overpass structures of 1-90/15 to the Warm Springs Ponds, is nearly complete. The transformation of this creek corridor over the past 20 years is nothing less than remarkable. Although there is some remedial work that remains, for example, through the Durant Canyon and other sub-reaches along the way, the creek today is tremendously improved. Fish have returned, and find their way upstream again to spawn and thrive. The water quality is getting better and better, as the final remedial tasks are brought on line.

Further, the integration of the remedial work these past 15 years with the restoration measures implemented by the Greenway Service District (through the Natural Resource Damage Program (NRDP)) has become a model and prototype for all other components within the Site. The successful effort has also been done cost-effectively and the results – a clean, thriving stream from Butte to the Warm Springs Ponds – will serve the communities along the corridor for decades to come. This leads to our main comment...

Just like the commitment made to clean up and restore the stream, the Agency needs to ensure that there is an equal commitment to maintain the corridor long into the future. We hope monitoring and maintenance plans are in place among the U.S. EPA, the Montana DEQ and the local Greenway Service District to sustain the benefits of the remediated/restored stream corridor. By 2020, when the next five-year review is done, Silver Bow Creek should be well on its way to full recovery.

1

PHONE: (406) 497-6220 • FAX: (406) 497-6224 • E-MAIL: chiefexec@bsb.mt.gov • www.bsb.mt.gov

Lastly, it is our understanding that there are sufficient funds remaining in the Trust Account for the Streamside Tailings Operable Unit to ensure a robust monitoring and maintenance program, and in addition, a surplus that will be directed back to the NRDP for further restoration work in the Silver Bow Creek watershed. It is our expectation that those surplus funds will be invested in the first mile of Silver Bow Creek within the urban area of Butte, as part of a joint effort with the Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit remedial work. Addressing remaining contamination issues at the Silver Bow Creek headwaters is without question the best use of these remaining funds and will ensure that the long-term remedy is protected and maintained in perpetuity. Legal issues and bureaucracy have hampered the comprehensive cleanup of the headwaters for far too long. The model used along Silver Bow Creek downstream, i.e., to integrate remedy and restoration activities, should now be applied in the headwaters area to forge the best, most comprehensive clean up and restoration possible including removal of the Parrot, Northside and Diggings East tailings.

Rocker Timber Framing and Treatment Plant Operable Unit

An often-overlooked component of the Site, the Rocker Timber Yard was the first of the remedial actions declared to be complete. It was largely an in-situ cleanup process, and has been in "operation and maintenance (O&M)" for several years. Very little information is disseminated about the effectiveness of the cleanup, and we would ask the Agency to provide a more frequent update on the performance of the remedy and how it will be sustained in the long-term. As long as the groundwater within the community of Rocker is unusable by a significant number of its residents (e.g. Controlled Groundwater Area/"well ban"), it can be argued that the remedial action could do more. Removal of the arsenic and organic contaminated soils should be considered in order to restore beneficial uses of the groundwater and to further protect Silver Bow Creek.

Warm Springs Pond Operable Unit

Like the Rocker Timber Yard, the Warm Springs Ponds remedial action was also completed several years back, or declared to be complete and in the O&M phase now. Again, the only comment from Butte-Silver Bow would be to provide periodic updates as to the performance of the remedy and how it will be sustained in the long-term. For example, what is the water quality of the water flowing out of the Warm Springs Ponds? How is that water monitored? Does the water meet the same standards that are imposed at all other Operable Units within the Site? Combined with Warm Springs Creek, water discharged from the Ponds are essentially the headwaters of the Upper Clark Fork River, and it would be useful to know that the discharge water is meeting all current and applicable standards, and those standards are being applied consistently throughout the Site. There have been recent significant declines below the Ponds in trout numbers of the Upper Clark Fork River; likewise, the UCFR is also being remediated and restored to the tune of tens of millions of dollars. The Warm Springs Ponds are the integral unit linking a restored Silver Bow Creek to an eventually restored Upper Clark Fork River. More information needs to be released on the performance of the remedy at the Ponds now and into the future, as the river's long-term health is at stake.

Mine Flooding Operable Unit, aka Berkeley Pit and West Camp

There has been and continues to be great interest among Butte residents about the ongoing implementation of the remedy for the Berkeley Pit. Although there has been a substantial monitoring program in place since the pumps were turned off in 1982, and it does appear that the monitoring data show that the water in the Pit is rising as expected, citizens remain rightfully concerned. As the critical water level approaches, better assurances are needed that the remedy in place will perform effectively, in perpetuity.

For example, has a contingency plan been developed to deal with impacts in the event of a larger scale failure of a Berkeley Pit wall? Will the Horseshoe Bend Treatment Plant be ready to operate at full capacity when necessary? Will the discharged water from the Plant meet all standards for use and/or discharge to the restored watershed? Early tests and demonstrations were spotty, e.g., the presence of certain contaminants in the discharge water that would lead to gypsum scaling along Silver Bow Creek. It is also unclear how much, if any water will actually be discharged from the Plant, as opposed to being used to support active mining operations. The fact that we are getting closer than we've ever been to reaching the Critical Water Level and these answers have not been adequately answered is unacceptable. More specifically, Butte-Silver Bow would like to see a fullscale ramp up of the Horseshoe Bend Plant to full capacity to ensure proper operation and performance capability. In addition, BSB is requesting detailed water quality monitoring/modeling at and downstream of the proposed discharge point(s) to accurately determine the effects on Silver Bow Creek and the rest of the Upper Clark Fork River Basin. Changes to the chemistry of water in Silver Bow Creek could not only lead to quality impacts, but also significantly affect compliance for Superfund stormwater standards as well as BSB's wastewater treatment permit standards. These are very real and serious concerns; our community deserves answers.

Lastly, we understand the next step in the long process leading up to eventual remedial action will be a technology review, to confirm that the best available treatment method will be used at the Horseshoe Bend Plant. As we have commented for the past 20 years, Butte-Silver Bow continues to ask the Agency to compel the responsible parties to fully consider resource recovery steps. When the Horseshoe Plant was built in 2002, it was understood that there was space for a front-end module that would allow for metals and minerals recovery from the mine water – if technically and economically feasible; no technology had been identified that met these latter criteria at that time. Since construction, we are unaware of any further tests to identify emerging resource recovery and/or alternative treatment technology for Berkeley Pit water. After another decade of technological advances, we are hopeful the treatment of Berkeley Pit water will be a world-class model. We shouldn't wait any longer to test newly available technologies, or to insure that the technology at the existing plant is ready and able to operate at full capacity, in perpetuity.

Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit

To a certain extent, it may be inappropriate for Butte-Silver Bow, as a named PRP for the Butte Priority Soils, to make any comments on this component of the Site. The City-County has an integral role in the Residential Metals Abatement Program and the long-term operation and maintenance of the caps over source areas as well as the storm water control facilities. We look forward to seeing the results of the Five-Year Review, and with ARCO and the railroads, address any pertinent issues of concern. That said, we do want to make a few points.

First, we are hopeful that the water quality standards and performance measures for the Priority Soils remedy, i.e., water quality on Silver Bow Creek, will be consistent with the standards the City-County will have to meet (in the long-term) for other discharges within the OU. Butte-Silver Bow cannot be obligated to perform under the former without assurances that said performance will not create untenable obligations under the latter. Butte-Silver Bow would ask the Agency to consider parallel pathways to address long-term compliance with our municipal wastewater discharge permit, TMDL Limits, and MS4 discharge permit – all in light of Superfund decisions on ground water, storm water and surface water discharges to the one receiving stream – Silver Bow Creek.

A related concern is recognition that Butte-Silver Bow's municipal wastewater treatment plant plays a significant role in the overall collection and treatment of storm water (e.g. inflow and infiltration), and by extension, the metals removal challenges on Silver Bow Creek. The City-County sanitary sewer treatment plant has been identified and characterized in published Priority Soils documents as a significant loader of metals (primarily copper) to Silver Bow Creek. We are hopeful that \$34 million improvement under construction will make a difference, both in terms of nutrients removal (the primary objective) and also metals treatment. However, there needs to be consideration relative to BSB's wastewater collection and treatment systems and potential improvements to Priority Soils surface water quality objectives.

All stakeholders in the process, including BSB, ARCO, the railroads, EPA and DEQ, are in agreement that a clean creek is the end goal. Butte-Silver Bow is committed to do its part. However, Butte ratepayers cannot be expected to absorb significant additional costs to address metals removal (e.g. tertiary metals treatment on its WWTP, expedited replacement of sanitary collection system, etc.), or be forced to demand unreasonable pretreatment requirements on potential users of the wastewater system. Any final solution for Priority Soils must consider potential impacts to current and future municipal wastewater collection, treatment operations and discharge permit compliance.

A second main comment on the Priority Soils cleanup is the need for greater commitment for a complete integration of the remedy and restoration components along the historic Silver Bow Creek corridor, which runs through the heart of the Butte community. In general, it appears there is substantive agreement that a robust restoration action can be implemented in a way that provides full protection of (if not potentially improve) the investments in remedy and its long-term maintenance. Through a collaborative effort, as was the case for the other 26 miles of Silver Bow Creek (see Streamside Tailings comments), the final restoration of the corridor can incorporate end land use features that are beneficial to the community, not to mention sustain the infrastructure role of the Creek corridor in the overall management of storm water.

In 2004, Butte-Silver Bow developed a set of criteria that we hoped would guide groundwater and surface water cleanup and restoration actions in the historic Silver Bow Creek corridor, as follows:

- Meets current water standards, thus ensuring the long-term protection of Silver Bow Creek and downstream water resources;
- Provides aesthetics (i.e., look good from afar, particularly from the Interstate) so as not to degenerate into the same "Colorado tailings mess" present for decades;
- Allows for the maximum reuse of the Lower One Area, including a pleasant walking trail, wildlife viewing areas, interpretive displays, and even space for a fairgrounds;
- Ensures a facility that is practical to maintain and operate; and
- Includes a trust fund to operate/maintain/monitor/upgrade facility in perpetuity.

We think it's time to revisit these criteria, and forge a final solution for the Priority Soils area that results in the best, most comprehensive cleanup and restoration for our citizens. The resources are available through remedy and through restoration, both from the Butte Area One/BNRC settlement and from remainders in the Streamside Tailings settlement account. The conceptual plans have been developed and released for public review. The opportunity is knocking. It's time to get it done.

Again, on behalf of all the citizens of Butte-Silver Bow, thank you for the opportunity to comment and participate in the Five-Year Review for the Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area Site.

Sincerely,

Matt Vincent Chief Executive

Ce: Julie DalSoglio, EPA Governor Steve Bullock, State of Montana Sen. Jon Tester Sen. Steve Daines Rep. Ryan Zinke Butte-Silver Bow Legislative Delegation Butte-Silver Bow Commissioners Superfund Advisory and Redevelopment Trust Authority Public file (posted to Butte-Silver Bow website)

Letters from Community Organizations

P.O. Box 593 Butte, MT 59703 (406) 723-6247 buttectec@hotmail.com



May 13, 2015

Nikia Greene and Kris Edwards U.S. EPA Region 8 Montana Office Federal Building 10 W. 15th St., Ste. 3200 Helena, MT 59626

RE: 2015 Five Year Review Comments

Dear Nikia and Kris,

CTEC recognizes that progress has been made in Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area National Priorities List (NPL) site remedy over the last decade. Many reclaimed and rebuilt areas are so well-established that local residents have forgotten the hills of bare mining wastes that existed here only a few years ago. Aquatic and terrestrial wildlife populations in and around Silver Bow Creek continue to increase, as does recreational use of restored reaches.

While strides have been made, the long-term success of the remedy depends on learning from past experience and addressing deficiencies in the remedy where they exist. This letter describes aspects of the remedy that remain a concern to CTEC members in the expectation that they will be addressed by the Five Year Review now underway.

We have detailed comments provided starting on page 3. A summary of these comments is as follows:

- The Parrott Tailings and other buried MSD waste should be removed; recent studies substantiate this.
- 2. Storm runoff needs to meet water quality standards. Now is the time to evaluate what storm water BMPs and controls are effective and pursue installation of significant new storm water controls. CTEC believes that vigorous action on stormwater control is critical to continuing improvements in Silver Bow Creek. This could include the construction of additional retention ponds/basins which have proven to be both effective and sustainable, a continued comprehensive public education program and continued oversight and coordination on all aspects of institutional controls at BPSOU.
- The downstream-first approach to remedy creates a risk of recontamination of restored areas. Upstream areas including the BPSOU must be remedied before recontamination can happen.
- Remedial action levels/remedial goals need to be reviewed against current standards and science.
- 5. Environmental justice must be served to the Butte community. Health impacts must not be concentrated among any segment of our community.

- 6. Cap design should be improved where caps are compromised.
- 7. The community needs certainty that Berkeley Pit water treatment remedy is ready for use when the Pit reaches the critical water level in 2023.
- 8. Remedial investigation of the Westside Soils Operable Unit must begin.
- 9. Unilateral Administrative Order and Remedy Work Plan guided work through 2013. The community needs to know what authority is driving the current work.
- 10. The Five Year Review Protectiveness Statement needs transparency. The conclusions in the Five Year Review must be current and not based on the expectation that someday all remedial goals will be met.

We look forward to release of the current Five Year Review.

Respectfully, Del ast

David Williams President CTEC Board of Directors

cc: Board of Directors CTEC (via Email) Julie DalSoglio, EPA Sara Sparks, EPA Daryl Reed, DEQ Joel Chavez, DEQ

Pat Cunneen, NRDP Doug Martin, NRDP Matt Vincent, BSB Jon Sesso, BSB

Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area National Priorities List (NPL) Site-wide Comments

1. The Parrott Tailings and other buried MSD waste should be removed.

CTEC has contended since our March 14, 2005 Position Paper and comments on the BPSOU Proposed Plan that the MSD buried mining waste and tailings must be removed. Public sentiment and State of Montana official position echo this opinion. Data and new studies since the 2010 Five Year Review have further substantiated this opinion.

- 1. MBMG (2010b, 2012) studies showed the middle alluvial aquifer is confined from much of the MSD subdrain capture system.
- MBMG (2012) identified metal loading to Blacktail Creek between Oregon Ave and George St.
- 3. Parrott tailings water quality monitoring suggest a worsening of water quality in the plume and that leaching is active (MBMG 2010a, 2012).

The ROD needs to be modified to require removal of buried waste at the Metro Storm Drain (MSD) as outlined in the Butte Area One Final Restoration Plan prepared by the Butte Natural Resource Damage Restoration Council (BNRC). The remediation should be paid for by the responsible parties and not with State of Montana NRDP restoration funds which are for restoration and replacement of injured natural resources.

2. Storm runoff needs to meet water quality standards.

The BPSOU ROD pp 12-42 indicates that storm water BMPs shall be given 15 years to achieve surface water standards. Given the 2006 date of issuance for the ROD, surface water standards must be met by 2021. After this, retention and lime treatment of storm runoff is required by the ROD. CTEC considers lime treatment a last resort, given the costs, need for perpetual treatment, and uncertainty of responsibility and funding for perpetual maintenance and operation. Greater efforts to control and treat storm water using BMPs or retention/detention basins is needed immediately.

The most recent data publically available, Atlantic Richfield 2013 Wet Weather Compliance Ratio Charts show that during wet weather, runoff total recoverable copper concentrations are always exceeding and commonly up to 40 times the standards. Given this it is imperative that full efforts and funds be put into implementing storm water controls during this BMP cycle. The following needs to be considered in this Five Year Review:

- Are issues with caps or is the waste left in place preventing attainment of storm water goals?
- 2. Are soil water metal salts accumulating during the summer and being flushed by storm events?
- Are retention basins significantly more effective than hydrodynamic devices (HDDs) at treating storm water? If so then now is the time to construct additional retention/detention basins to eliminate storm flow metal loading to Silver Bow Creek.

3. The downstream-first approach to remedy creates a risk of recontamination of restored areas.

While voluntary and interim actions including those required by the 2011 Unilateral Administrative Order (UAO) such as storm water controls, waste capping, and groundwater capture and treatment have improved protection of human health and the environment in Butte, metals can still migrate downstream and recontaminate remediated reaches of SBC. The Stream Side Tailings (SST) OU is being remediated ahead of Butte Priority Soils, and the Westside Soils OUs in the headwaters is at the beginning of Superfund assessment and actions. The 5-Year Review is an opportunity to evaluate how individual OUs are progressing and how well NPL remedy is progressing as a whole. It is a chance to make sense of the patchwork of interim actions by targeting final remedy for the entire NPL site, ensuring that OU cleanup is properly prioritized so as to not recontaminate downstream areas.

The Five Year Review needs to include a section describing how the remedy is progressing sitewide as a whole, what contingencies are considering:

- 1. the vastly different schedules for remedy completion,
- 2. effects that slower cleanup upstream has on achieving remedial goals downstream,
- 3. potential for recontamination of remediated areas downstream.
- 4. evaluate if source controls and caps in the BPSOU are sufficient to withstand a 100-year storm event.

This site-wide progress section should contain a list of issues from the individual OUs and evaluate how to prioritize follow-up actions based on the severity of risks to humans and the environment and the potential for issues from one OU to affect remedy success at another OU.

4. Remedial action levels/remedial goals need to be reviewed against current standards and science.

EPA indicated at the October 2014 CTEC public meeting that solid media action levels have been reviewed. The Five Year Review needs to describe how action levels have been reviewed.

In 2012, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) defined a new reference blood lead level of 5 micrograms per deciliter (μ g/dL) to identify children with elevated blood lead levels. Risk assessments for the site have based exposure scenarios on the former level of concern of 10 μ g/dL of lead in blood. If solid media action levels will not be changed by this current information, the Five Year Review needs to clearly articulate why and how public health is protected.

Since the last Five Year Review EPA issued an Explanation of Significant Differences (ESD) outlining new sampling and cleanup standards for residences. The Five year Review should require that funds are available so that RMAP can resample and remediate residential lawns that were sampled under the old protocol when requested by the land owner.

5. Environmental Justice.

Low-income residents may bear a disproportionate impact of waste left in place and require specific targeting for voluntary residential abatement because low-income households are concentrated in the heavily contaminated portions of the BPSOU and because these households are more likely to be renters relying on property owners to initiate residential sampling and abatement. The Five Year Review should specifically examine:

- What provisions have been made to specifically reach out to low-income residents, residents who are not well connected to mainstream communication media, and citizens who are new to the area.
- 2. The potential for exposure to contaminated indoor dust by residents is high if their homes have not been assessed for contaminants and contaminated indoor dust is not removed.
- 3. Disproportionate exposure to toxins by low income citizens living in uptown Butte.
- 4. The challenges that low income citizens face in minimizing exposure to toxins given limited financial resources, reliance on landlords to invoke abatement, and run-down structures being prone to leaking toxic dust into living areas.

6. Cap design should be improved where caps are compromised.

The integrity of caps on waste left in place in Butte are important because they will likely be there for hundreds of years where the land is eventually developed, and in perpetuity for undeveloped areas. The 2010 Five Year Review indicated widespread issues with cap integrity. The current review should update progress made in the last five years.

If cap integrity remains a problem then the review should identify cap design methods which provide better protection and evaluate which are best applicable to the BPSOU. The review also needs to evaluate whether cap failure presents an unacceptable risk to human health which should be dealt with immediately under ROD authority or time critical removal action. The review should evaluate if funding is inadequate for Butte-Silver Bow to perform needed cap O&M.

A butte resident explained at CTEC's public meeting that soil adjacent to the Blacktail Creek Trail near California Ave shows copper accumulation at the surface. This area is overlying the Northside Tailings (EPA 2004) and the blue copper on the surface is clearly seen on recent aerial photography (Google Earth). The public is concerned about human exposure, especially children, to contaminated surface soils such as these. The soils also show a significant problem with the waste left in place decision for the Metro Storm Drain buried wastes in that the buried metal waste can wick to the surface, leaving metal precipitates which humans are exposed to and which can be washed away during storm events.

The 5-Year Review should also evaluate the effects that waste left in place has on water quality if the integrity of caps are compromised. Analytical testing of surface water runoff and groundwater leaching of contaminants from capped areas should be recommended in the 5-Year Review and provisions made if exposure to contaminated water can occur or if contaminants are determined to be mobilizing and impairing surface water quality.

7. The community needs certainty that Berkeley Pit water treatment remedy is ready for use when the Pit reaches the critical water level in 2023.

The Horseshoe Bend Water Treatment Plant has seen only minimal shakedown testing. A rigorous and long term test of the treatment capability is needed to ensure that water quality standards will be met when the plant is operating. The Pit is expected to reach the critical water level in 2023, shortly after the next 2020 Five Year Review. Additional testing of the plant must be performed during this interim so that any problems can be identified in the next Five Year Review and so that solutions are up and running significantly prior to the Pit reaching the critical water level.

There is also concern that discharge from the plant will cause gypsum scaling of Silver Bow Creek. The public has been told that EPA and Montana Resources are working on review of scaling question but has not been informed how or when that is being evaluated and the results. The Five Year Review should specifically address what is being done and provide a schedule for the public to have the results of this review prior to the next Five Year Review.

8. Remedial investigation of the Westside Soils Operable Unit must begin.

The 2010 Five Year Review indicated that remedial investigation of the Westside Soils OU would begin in 2013. This OU is a popular recreation area in Butte. The public is concerned that the area has not been evaluated for contaminants and risks to public health. The OU also drains to Silver Bow Creek and may contribute contaminants which cause water quality standards to be exceeded or present a risk of recontamination of the restored creek. Work on the OU must begin in next year. The Five Year Review should identify this as a goal and present a timeline for remedial investigation.

9. 2011 Unilateral Administrative Order and Remedy Work Plan.

The UAO Partial Remedy Implementation Work Plan guided work through 2013. The community needs to know what requirements and schedule is driving the current and future work at the site.

10. The Five Year Review Protectiveness Statement needs transparency.

Disconnect between the data presented and conclusions made in previous Five Year Reviews have not helped the public to follow statements regarding how the actions completed to date indicate that long-term protectiveness is achieved. The connection between the data and conclusions needs to be made clear. Previous Five Year Reviews have also relied on the expectation that someday all goals will be met and when that occurs that the remedy will be protective. The Five Year Review needs to evaluate the current status of the remedy and identify the risks to the public and the environment that currently exists.

References

AR, 2013. Wet Weather Compliance Ratio Charts. Downloaded from http://bpsou.com/site/documents.php.

EPA, 2004, Final focused feasibility study for the Metro Storm Drain, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit.

MBMG, 2010, The Parrot complex: A drilling investigation of historic mine waste left in place; tailings and overburden volumes, leachability and economic feasibility for recovery, and water quality along the upper metro storm drain in Butte, Montana (CD only): Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 590, by Tucci, N. J.

MBMG, 2010b, Aquifer test evaluation conducted on the middle gravel unit of the alluvial aquifer in the Upper Metro Storm Drain area, Butte, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 592, by Tucci, N.J., and Icopini, G.A.

MBMG, 2012, Geochemical and Hydrogeologic Investigation of Groundwater Impacted by Wastes Left in Place in the Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Butte, MT: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 613, by Tucci, N.J., and Icopini, G.A.

CITIZENS FOR LABOR AND ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE



8 WEST GRANITE STREET, BUTTE, MT 59701

5/29/2015

Nikia Greene, RPM U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8 Helena Office, Federal Building 10 West 15th Street, Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626

Re: Five Year Review - Butte Priority Soils - Lower Area One Groundwater

Dear Nikia,

The selected remedy for groundwater promulgated in the BPSOU ROD [1] within what was termed the "Technical Impracticability (TI) Zone" was based on a model of the alluvial aquifer which has been subsequently shown to be incorrect. This area includes the Metro Storm Drain (MSD), a key component in the selected remedy, as well as wastes left in place, about 1.4 million cubic yards of contaminated tailings including the Parrott Tailings, the North Side Tailings and the Diggings East.

The ROD describes the underlying aquifer as a surface layer of reworked fluvial sediments and debris including slag and waste rock down to about 25 feet, a. shallow coarse permeable layer down to about 70 feet deep and a relatively homogeneous layer of poorly sorted rocks sands and clays down to about 250 feet. Further, the groundwater movement in the upper MSD is said to be influenced primarily by the groundwater divide characteristic creating a vertical gradient for groundwater movement. Resulting calculations for contaminant movement indicated that the Parrott Tailings would not affect the middle reaches of the area for at least a century. It was also shown that the groundwater in the MSD area ultimately expresses as surface water near the confluence with Blacktail Creek.

The North Side Tailings and Diggings East Tailings were shown to be the major contributors to shallow groundwater contamination in the MSD area. A subdrain was installed in the MSD channel to collect contaminated groundwater which would ultimately be treated in a lagoon system in Lower Area One (LAO).

Studies conducted by the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology subsequently showed that the alluvial aquifer was structured differently than assumed in the Rod and that it consisted of three differentiable regions, an Upper, Middle and Lower alluvial aquifer. The Middle layer was found to be contaminated by the Parrott Tailings, highly transmissible and isolated from the MSD sub drain. Rather than migrating vertically, the contaminated groundwater from the Parrott Tailings is moving

horizontally parallel to the MSD subdrain. The 2010 MBMG report shows hydraulic conductivity is one to two orders of magnitude larger than that of the 2004 EPA data used in the ROD[2]. The direction of this plume is not well known and could overwhelm or entirely miss the capture system in place, which was designed on an entirely different picture of groundwater movement.

Once data showed that the operational model for the proposed remedy was incorrect, a responsible approach would have been to recognize that the wastes left in place actually satisfied the definition of Principal Threat Wastes, in that they are surface soil or subsurface soil containing high concentrations of contaminants of concern that are potentially mobile due to subsurface transport[3].

The State of Montana has responded to the situation under the 2008 Montana v. ARCO Consent Decree to propose removal of the wastes left in place as part of the Conceptual Restoration Plan for Butte Area One[4]. In a recent letter, the official EPA position was stated that it is "supportive of the State's decision and is working with the State to fund and implement the State's restoration plan in coordination with EPA's Superfund remedial actions" [5]. While CLEJ applauds this attitude, it still feels that the ROD should be amended to include removal of the threat wastes from posing a serious challenge to the ill-conceived remedy in place and the already remediated lower Silver Bow Creek.

Next week CLEJ will send additional comments on other aspects of the Five Year Review.

Sincerely,

S/Mary Kay Craig and Steven F. McGrath for CLEJ

cc: Citizens Technical Environmental Committee, Butte Rob Collins, Montana Dept. of Justice, Natural Resources Damage Program, Helena Daryl Reed, Project Officer, Montana Department of Environmental Quality, Helena Erik Nyland, Director, Butte Office, Senator Jon Tester

REFERENCES

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2006, Record of Decision, Butte Priority Soils Operable Unit, Silver Bow Creek/Butte Area One Superfund Site, Butte, Montana
- Tucci, N.J., and Icopini, G.A., 2010, Aquifer test evaluation conducted on the middle gravel unit of the alluvial aquifer in the Upper Metro Storm Drain area, Butte, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 592
- 3. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1991, A Guide to Principal Threat and Low Level Threat Wastes, A Quick Reference Fact Sheet
- Montana Department of Justice, natural Resource Damage Program, 2014, Draft Conceptual Restoration Plan Butte Area One
- Communication from D. Henry Elsen, Attorney, Legal Enforcement Division, May 18, 2015 to Mary Kay Craig of Butte Citizens for Labor and Environmental Justice

May 29, 2015 Page 2



PO Box 563 Butte, MT 59703

June 2, 2015

Nikia Greene, RPM U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8 Helena Office, Federal Building 10 West 15th Street, Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626

RE: EPA Five Year Review: Butte Priority Soils, Lower Area One Groundwater

Dear Mr. Greene:

On behalf of the George Grant Chapter of Trout Unlimited I would like to take this opportunity to comment on the remedy for treating groundwater on Butte Priority Soils, Lower Area One, specifically the Northside Tailings, Diggings East Tailings and the Parrott Tailings.

It appears that the information for basing the current Record of Decision for treating the groundwater in this area, leaving the mine wastes in place, has subsequently been found to be inaccurate and that the prescribed treatment will not be effective in keeping water quality in Silver Bow Creek and subsequently the Clark Fork River from being continually degraded.

It's our understanding that data collected through recent studies conducted by the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology shows that the original operational model for the proposed remedy was incorrect and that leaving the wastes in place, as outlined in the current ROD, would very likely not be an effective remedy for improved water quality.

While there is little doubt that much of the restoration effort in Silver Bow Creek and the upper Clark Fork River are showing remarkable improvements for fish, we believe that the recent studies showing leaving mine waste in place at the headwaters puts these restoration efforts at grave risk.

We understand that the State of Montana has recently responded to this new information and has proposed the removal of these wastes. The George Grant Chapter of Trout Unlimited formally requests that EPA amend the Record of Decision to include removal of the wastes to insure the future health of Silver Bow Creek and the upper Clark Fork River.

Thank you for your serious consideration of this request.

Sincerely,

Rich Day, President

June 24, 2015

Nikia Greene, RPM U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 8 Helena Office, Federal Building 10 West 15th Street, Suite 3200 Helena, MT 59626

Dear Nikia:

Project Green, Butte Citizens Technical Environmental Committee (CTEC), Citizens for Labor and Environmental Justice (CLEJ) and other concerned individuals/groups are interested in improving the quality of life for citizens of Butte-Silver Bow and Anaconda-Deer Lodge counties and the Clark Fork Valley watershed as a whole. This coalition of individuals and groups has developed the following vision statement:

Clean the Silver Bow Creek corridor to restore Silver Bow Creek and create a greenway for public enjoyment. To accomplish this requires the removal of the Parrot Tailings, Northside Tailings and Diggings East. Removal of the tailings and restoration of the creek will safeguard protection of superfund cleanup actions downstream to Missoula and Columbia River Basin.

Testing of soils and ground water over the past several years shows each of these areas continues to be a source of contamination. We are concerned that if the soils from the above locations are left in place, the contamination will continue to move downstream and negatively affect stream remediation and restoration work to Missoula. The tailings areas are in the heart of Butte and the potential negative impact to our citizens is too big to ignore.

Our group has reviewed the technical information and conceptual design developed by BNRC and the NRDP to develop a contamination free greenway from Texas Avenue to Montana Street. The greenway area will provide an opportunity to expand the Greenway Trail and replace lost recreation resources as well as provide economic growth opportunities for the community.

Removing the contaminated soils along this corridor (Parrot Tailings, Northside Tailings, and Diggings East Tailings) will be consistent with other cleanup activities in Butte and areas downstream to Missoula; and safeguard the remedy already completed and the millions of dollars already spent in the basin. It will create a free-flowing creek and will enable a storm collection system to be designed that can accommodate contamination and storm water concerns, and we urge EPA to work with Butte-Silver Bow to accomplish this goal. We urge EPA to work with Butte-Silver Bow, Atlantic Richfield and the State of Montana to accomplish this goal.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment.

Sincerely,

GREE ICOT

BNRC Chaire

Mary Kay Cr lindor Sens dubar & 61 Environmental Justice ASLK) TEADWATENS UDU lich IOU 2 AL a rour Unlimite D Geor a 1 Don 00 Menber - BNRC, CTEC President 11